

Exploring the Wild in Narratives, Practices and Place in Dark Green Spirituality

Brissman, Ive

2021

Document Version: Peer reviewed version (aka post-print)

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Brissman, I. (2021). Wild Enchantments in the Anthropocene: Exploring the Wild in Narratives, Practices and Place in Dark Green Spirituality. [Doctoral Thesis (monograph), Centre for Theology and Religious Studies]. Lund University.

Total number of authors:

General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights.

• Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
 You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Exploring the Wild in Narratives, Practices and Place in Dark Green Spirituality

Ive Brissman



DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of The Faculty of Humanities and Theology, Centre for Theology and Religious Studies, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Lux C:121. Date, 4 February 2022, at 10.00 am.

Faculty opponent
Professor in Religious Studies Graham Harvey, Open University, UK.

Organization LUND UNIVERSITY	Document name Doctoral Dissertation
	Date of issue February 4th, 2022
Author to Drivers	
Author: Ive Brissman	Lund University

Wild Enchantments in the Anthopocene – Exploring the Wild in Narratives, Practices and Place in Dark Green Spirituality

Abstract

The aim of this thesis is to study the intersection between dark green spirituality and the green movement in relation to climate change and ecological crisis, and to explore how some ecologically concerned people try to orientate themselves in facing the challenges and especially the role of spirituality in this context. The study is set in the period 2009-2015. My fieldwork was conducted in Devon and Dartmoor, UK. The work relates to the scholarly approaches to the geological epoch the Anthropocene. Given the aim and the field presented. I formulate three research questions: What are the points of negotiation in the intersection of spirituality and the green movement? What motivates individuals to turn to spirituality in relation to the challenges of climate change and ecological crisis? What is the relation between narrative, practices and place? The result shows that spirituality offers frames which enable reflections, and ways of working to explore the emotional, existential and ethical dimensions of facing these challenges. Further I have found three points of negotiation at the intersection between the green movement and dark green spirituality. Negotiating spirituality concerns how the trust in scientific reports on climate change comes together with a dissatisfaction with the disenchanted tale of science, in contrast to an "enchanted alter-tale" (Bennett). Negotiating ecological self-awareness is a form of ecognosis (Morton) which relates to the rewilding of the human mind - or the wild mind. Negotiating baselines refers to practices that work to read landscapes, to restore the lost memories and relate to deep time perspectives. The third question focuses on the relation between narrative, practice and place. In exploring various workshops, I found that narrative, practice and place form a node, which together offer ways to cultivate wild enchantment.

The theoretical framework relates to enchantment as a complex mood (Bennett) and making kin (Haraway) with the larger-than-human world (Harvey). Based on the study I chisel out my view of 'wild enchantments' which show various ways to cultivate wild enchantments or to work with wonder and wounds. 'Wild enchantments' is an invitation to wild places, it is an encounter with the eerie, ecological shadows and the riddling power of the Anthropocene.

Key words Wild enchantments, Anthropocene, ecological self-awareness, negotiating baselines, dark green spirituality, rewilding, the wild mind, wild places, deep time, the eerie, ecological shadows, riddling power, wonder and wounds, making kin, the larger-than-human world

Classification system and/or index terms (if any)

Supplementary bibliographical inform	nation	Language English
ISSN and key title Wild Enchantme	nts in the Anthropocene	ISBN 978-91-89415-05-8
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 334	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation.

Signature Date 2021-11-29

Exploring the Wild in Narratives, Practices and Place in Dark Green Spirituality

Ive Brissman



Coverphoto Dartmoor by Ive Brissman

Copyright Ive Brissman

The Faculty of Humanities and Theology Centre for Theology and Religious Studies

ISBN 978-91-89415-05-8 e-ISBN 978-91-89415-83-6

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



To Henrik, Lizzie and Fox

Table of Contents

Α	Acknowledgements	15
Chapte	er 1 Exploring Wild Enchantments	17
	.1. Introduction and Aims	
	1.1.1 Research questions	
	1.1.2 Background – Presentation of the Field	18
	1.1.3 Setting the Task	20
	1.1.4 The Purpose – Contribution to Religion and Ecology	21
	1.1.5 Studying Spirituality in the Field – Locating Spirituality	23
	1.1.6 Studying Contemporary Religions and Spiritualities in a	
	Social and Societal Perspective	25
1	.2. Method	28
	1.2.1 Doing Ethnography	28
	1.2.2 The Ethnographic Study	
	1.2.3 In Conversation – Working with Reflexive Interviews	
	1.2.4 The Insider/Outsider Perspectives	
	1.2.5 Theory Development – Writing and Storytelling	
	1.2.6 Writing Ethnography	
	1.2.7 Analysis and Theoretical Tools	34
1	.3 Theory – Religion, Ecology and the Environmental Humanities	35
	1.3.1 Religion and Ecology	36
	1.3.2 The Environmental Humanities and the Environmental Turn	
	1.3.3 The White Thesis	
	1.3 4 White's Legacy and The Greening of Religion Hypothesis	
	1.3.5 Dark Green Religion and the Dark	
	1.3.6 Green Spirituality	
	1.3.7 Deep Ecology	
	1.3.8 Dark Green Spirituality and Rewilding	
	1.3.9 Religion and Spirituality	
	1.3.10 Spirituality of Life and Alternative Spiritualities	
1	.4 Theory – Enchantment, Environmental Humanities and Eco-criticism	
	1.4.1 The Tale of Enchantment	
	1.4.2 Enchantment in its Own Terms	52

1.4.3 The Iron Cage of Rationalisation and the Possible Escape (of
Rewilding)	54
1.4.4 Disenchantment – The Death of Magic and Nature	
1.4.5 Disenchantment – a Tameable World	
1.4.6 Re-enchantment in the Heart of Modernity	
1.4.7 Enchantment as a Complex Mood	61
1.4.8 Eco-enchantment and Paganisation	
1.4.9 Wild Enchantments and Eco-occulture	64
1.5 Theories of the Environmental Humanities	65
1.5.1 Anthropocene – a New Geological Epoch	65
1.5.2 La Longue Durée and Deep Time	
1.5.3 Central Concepts in Environmental History – Shifting	
Baselines, Ecological Awareness and Social Resilience	71
1.5.4 Concepts of Environmental History – Collapse, Thresholds	of
Vulnerability and Slow Violence	
1.5.5 Cultural Frames of Climate Change	75
1.5.6 Hybrid Disasters and Ambivalent Apocalypses	
1.5.7 Environmental Criticism – Eco-Criticism	79
1.5.8 Reading the Landscape – Hybrid Landscapes	
1.5.9 Narratives and Practices	
1.5.10 The Postmodern Notion of Place	86
1.6 Outline	88
Chapter 2 Contextualisation – Public Discourse on Climate Change and	
Britain in Times of Crisis	
2.1 Setting a British Context	
2.1.1 Prelude – a Short Reflection Before Setting Out	
2.1.2 Climate Change and Political Policymaking	
2.1.3 Copenhagen Climate Summit 2009 – The Last Hope	
2.1.4 Paris – the Deepening of the Crisis	
Climate Change	
2.1.6 A Point of Departure 2009	
•	103
2.2 Climate Change in British Public Discourse – the Case of	100
Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto	
2.2.1 Presentation of the <i>Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain</i>	
Manifesto	104
2.2.2 Climate Change as a Future Risk	
2.2.3 Climate Change – a New Reality	10/
2.2.4 Telling the Story of Climate Change – Imagine Future	100
Scenarios.	
2.2.5 The Age of Ecocide and the Jilted Generation	
Z Z D AT THE EAGE OF TIMES — THE COHADSE OF CIVILISATION	114

	115
2.2.8 The Principles of Uncivilisation	118
2.2.9 The Myth of the Modern Man	120
2.2.10 Beyond Civilisation – Wilderness and the Wild	121
2.3. Contextualisation – Setting a British Landscape	124
2.3.1 The Green and Pleasant Land – The Emblem of the English	
Countryside	124
2.3.2 The Social Construction of the Landscape	126
2.3.3 Idyllisation and the Pastoral	128
2.3.4 The Green and not so Pleasant Land – the New Eerie and	
Eco-occulture	129
2.4 Historical Perspectives on Landscapes and Conceptions of	
Landscapes	
2.4.1 A Historical Interlude	
2.4.2 The Countryside as a Spiritual Resource	
2.4.3 The Sacramental Values of Wilderness and the Enchantmen	
of Rewilding	
2.4.4 Dartmoor National Park – The Trouble with Wilderness	
2.4.6 The Loss of Wilderness and Radicalisation	143
Chapter 3 Dark Green Spirituality in Times of Climate Crisis and Ecocid	
3.1 Exploring Narratives and Points of Negotiation	
3.1.1 Spirituality and Living Through Climate Crisis	
3.1.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Religion	150
3.1.3 Spirituality On Its Own Terms: "Spirituality for Me is	
Compassion and Creating Community"	
Compassion and Creating Community"	153
Compassion and Creating Community"	153 154
Compassion and Creating Community"	153 154
Compassion and Creating Community"	153 154 157
Compassion and Creating Community"	153 154 157 157
Compassion and Creating Community"	153 154 157 157
Compassion and Creating Community" 3.1.4 Spirituality, Community and Social Resilience 3.1.5 The Spiritual Value of the Countryside 3.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.1 Dark Green Spirituality – Beyond Traditional Forms of Activism 3.2.2 The Moment You Realise Climate Change – The First Follower 3.2.3 The Therapeutic Importance of Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.4 The Environmental Movement, Science and the Role of	153 154 157 157 159
Compassion and Creating Community" 3.1.4 Spirituality, Community and Social Resilience	153 154 157 157 159 160
Compassion and Creating Community" 3.1.4 Spirituality, Community and Social Resilience 3.1.5 The Spiritual Value of the Countryside 3.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.1 Dark Green Spirituality – Beyond Traditional Forms of Activism 3.2.2 The Moment You Realise Climate Change – The First Follower 3.2.3 The Therapeutic Importance of Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.4 The Environmental Movement, Science and the Role of	153 154 157 157 159 160
Compassion and Creating Community" 3.1.4 Spirituality, Community and Social Resilience 3.1.5 The Spiritual Value of the Countryside 3.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.1 Dark Green Spirituality – Beyond Traditional Forms of Activism 3.2.2 The Moment You Realise Climate Change – The First Follower 3.2.3 The Therapeutic Importance of Spirituality and Ecological Awareness 3.2.4 The Environmental Movement, Science and the Role of Engagement 3.2.5 How to Work for Change?	153154157157159160163166

3.3.2 Emotional Aspects and Place – a Strong Spiritual	
Connection to this Place	
3.3.3 The Loss of Place – Learning to Live with Uncertainty	
3.3.4 Emotions and Losses	176
3.4 What Brought you here? Personal Change, Spiritual Change and Social Change.	179
3.4.1 Narratives of personal changes	
3.4.2 A Spiritual Process	
3.4.3 Hope is to Plant a Tree	
3.5 Conclusions	
Chapter 4 Reflective and Utopian Practices	191
4.1 Reflective Practices	191
4.1.1 Creating Alternative Spaces	
4.1.2 Forming Circles of Silence and Sharing	
4.1.3 Take Your Question to the Fields and the Forest	
4.1.3 Being in Silence – Skills and Spirituality	
4.2 Practices and Place – Working with the Woods and the	
Larger-than-Human World	198
4.2.1 The Difference Between Comfort and Shelter	
4.2.3 Finding the Tree that is Calling You	
4.2.5 Trees Representing the Larger-than-Human World	
4.3. Working with Geological and Global Perspectives	205
4.3.1 The Deep Time Walk	
4.3.2 The Earth Meditation	208
4.3.3 Bodies-as-Places	209
4.3.4 Earth and Body	211
4.4 Practices – Everyday Life and Work	212
4.4.1 Places with the Power to Enchant	
4.4.2 Being Grounded	213
4.4.3Work as Everyday Life	
4.5 Discussion and Conclusions	218
Chapter 5 Places with the Power to Enchant – Dartmoor	221
5.1. Reflective Practices and Place – Dartmoor	221
5.1.1 Dartmoor and the Collapsing Bronze Age Civilisation	
5.1.2 Shifting Baselines and Negotiating Baselines	
5.1.3 The Collapse of Civilisations	
5.2 Dartmoor – Wilderness in an Increasingly Human-centred World	228
5.2.1 The Loss of Wilderness	
5.2.2 Rewilding Dartmoor – the Pastoral Wilderness	

	5.2.3 The Sacramental values of wilderness and the Enchantment	
	of Rewilding	
	5.2.4 Dartmoor – the Ancient Landscape	
	5.2.5 Dartmoor a Time Capsule	233
	5.2.6 The Making of the Moor – The Sacramental Values of	
	Isolation	235
	5.3 Dartmoor – a Space for Encounters with the Larger-than-Human	
	world	
	5.3.1 The Misty Moor – Getting Trapped on the Moor	
	5.3.2 Windswept Dartmoor	
	5.3.3 The Darkness of Dartmoor	
	5.3.4 The Overuse of Dartmoor	
	5.3.5 The Raven that Circled above Us	
	5.3.6 In the Eye of the Fox	
	5.4 The Mythological Landscape of Dartmoor	248
	5.4.1 The Lore of Dartmoor	248
	5.4.2 Storytelling in the Anthropocene - Local Lore and Legends	
	5.4.3 Dartmoor the Shape-shifter – Places Long to Speak	
	5.4.4 Embodied Stories – Voice and Listening	
	5.4.5 Stories Told in the Dark	
	5.4.6 Indeed, Indeed, Indeed or Staying with the Trouble	256
	5.5. Dartmoor the Wild	
	5.5.1 Dartmoor and Wistman's Wood	257
	5.5.2 Approaching Wistman's Wood	258
	5.5.3 The Embodied Experience of Place	259
	5.5.4 Thin Places – Places with the Power to Enchant	261
	5.5.5 A Solitary Flute in the Wood – Ecomusicology and	
	Enchantment	
	5.5.6 The River and the Tor	
	5.5.7 Riddling Power – Creativity and Imagination	265
	6 Conclusions	267
6. Ar	nalysis, Theoretical Discussion and Prospects for Further Research	271
	6.1 Recapitulating the Queries	
	6.2 Motivations – Turning to Spirituality	
	6.2.1 The role of Spirituality in Coping with Crisis	
	6.3 Points of Negotiation at the Intersection between the Green	
	Movement and Spirituality	279
	6.3.1 Negotiating Spirituality – Spiritual Crisis and Spiritual	,,
	Change	279
	6.2.2 Negotiating Ecological Self-Awareness and the Wild Mind	
	6.2.3 Negotiating Baselines	

Bibliography	317
6.4 Prospects for Further Research	315
6.3.5 The Wild – Wild Places as Spiritual Resources	312
6.3.4 Tales of Enchantment and the Art of the Anthropocene	309
6.3.3 Reflective Practices – Working with Wonder and Wounds	s307
6.3.2 Wonder and Wounds	304
6.3.1 Cultivating Wild Enchantments	301
6.3 Narrative, Practice and Place – Cultivating Wild Enchantments	300

Acknowledgements

I remember wondering, as I initiated my PhD studies, what it would be like when I wrote this, would I ever get so far as to complete my work. Back then I thought that writing the acknowledgements would be a somewhat special moment, and therefore as I write this, I take I deep breath and try to come into that mood. Doctoral dissertations are far from solitary achievements. There are some people who have followed this journey of research all the way and provided daily encouragement and support, while others have been more occasional encounters, but together they have all helped in the work. They have contributed in various ways to improving this thesis, but the shortcomings and possible errors and mistakes are of course my own.

My first thanks go to my supervisors: Johanna Gustavsson Lundberg, associate professor of ethics (who supervised the final part of the work), who has done so much to bring clarity and depth to this thesis, and Ann-Christine Hornborg, professor emerita of history of religion (who supervised the first part of my work), whose deep engagement in and knowledge of green concerns goes beyond a scholarly pursuit and who has always been a source of inspiration. Olle Ovarnström, professor of history of religions, also assisted in supervising this thesis in the initial stage. Special thanks to David Larsson Heidenblad, associate professor of history, whose careful reading of the manuscript and comments have contributed much to improving this thesis, and Catharina Raudvere, professor of history of religions at Copenhagen University, for all the good advice and encouragement at the final seminar that gave inspiration to complete the work. I owe thanks to participants in the seminar on history of religions who have contributed in various ways: Dr Anthony Fiscella, Dr Martin Lund, PhD candidate Bo Carlsson, Dr Andreas Johansson, Dr Anders Ackfeldt, Associate Professor Paul Linjamaa, Dr Tao Thykier Makeeff, Dr Johan Nilsson, PhD candidate Olivia Cejvan. Professor of missionary studies Mika Vähäkangas, Associate Professor Magdalena Nordin, Associate Professor Jan Hermanssson, Associate Professor Svante Lundgren, and PhD candidate Matz Hammarström. Special thanks to Jonas Otterbeck, professor of Islamology, for inspirational conversations. Thanks also to Sigurd Bergmann, professor of religious studies, whose knowledge of eco-theology has been valuable. My warmest thanks to the professor of religion and nature at Florida University, Bron Taylor, and the professor in religious studies at the Open University, UK, Graham Harvey, who both have visited CTR and Lund University and offered inspiration and much good advice for my further research.

I would especially like to thank Alexander Mauritz for his support in finishing this thesis after I was away for academia for three years because of cancer treatment. I would also like to thank Agnes Borg for the joyful tea breaks. There are three persons I want to thank who were there at the beginning but are no longer with us: Tord Olsson, professor emeritus of history of religions, whose profound knowledge of the field was rare. Ann-Louise Svensson and Ingvar Bolmsten, who were part of

the everyday life at CTR and who were always helpful and friendly. I would like to thank my proofreader, Alan Crozier, who has improved the English and the readability of the text. The journeys necessitated by my research were made possible thanks to financial support from the Andreas Rydelius Stiftelse, and the Lars Hierta Memorial Foundation.

My deeply and honest thanks to Satish Kumar, and Stephan Harding at Schumacher College. Satish for his profound knowledge in the tradition of non-violence and Stephan for his guidance in Gaia's footpaths. You have both shown me that education can be different from the scholarly pursuit of academia, that learning in nature is closer to life than libraries, and that honest and curious questions can widen your perspective and reflections. You have offered a good lesson in how to let the walk be the talk. Throughout this work, I have met people of various ages, from all corners of the world, who have taught me so much about what it means to be human in times of climate change. I am grateful to you all for sharing your experience of that both difficult and delightful thing called life, which we all are part of. I have had the great privilege of coming back from the field and saying not only that I have done a study, but that I have learned a lot. Hopefully I have become somewhat wiser on the journey. If so, it is all thanks to you.

I want to thank three teachers who contributed a great deal in my journey towards university studies. Karin Åberg, teacher in Swedish literature, at Per Brahe Gymnasium in Jönköping, and Sven-Olof Josefsson, teacher in history and political science, and Hans Nilsson, teacher in philosophy and literature at Södra Vätterbygdens Folkhögskola, Jönköping. You set me off on an educational journey that led further than we could have imagined at the time. I have been lucky to be born in a time and a nation where high-school education and higher education have been accessible for everyone, and I feel grateful towards the educational system that allow such journeys.

My parents Mai and Gösta Appelqvist did not live to see me finish my thesis, but they were there to see when I started my PhD studies. For them it would have been a proud and joyful moment, and they would probably have said that I was curious and wilful already as a child. My deepest and heartfelt thanks go to my nearest and dearest, my family: Henrik, Lizzie and Fox. More than anyone, you have followed the work of writing this thesis daily. Henrik, almost as a third supervisor in endless conversations about the thesis, and the little ones, Lizzie and Fox who have forced me to take my mind from the computer and come back to life. You had to cope with my awful stress levels and followed me on a journey that has not been easy. Still, you have been faithful and convinced me that once that thesis is done, things will get better. With all your love, you have stood by me to the last page. To dedicate this book to you is a sign of my deepest love and gratitude, but it cannot compensate for what you have done.

Chapter 1 Exploring Wild Enchantments

This dissertation is about how some ecologically concerned people try to orientate themselves in facing the challenges of living in times of climate change, ecological crisis and loss of biodiversity, how they strive to find alternative ways of living, and, not least of all, the role of spirituality in this context. The aim is to study the intersection between spirituality and the green movement in relation to climate change and ecological crisis. Modern environmentalism is based on the twofold assumption that the current Western, urban consumerist lifestyle causes too much pressure on natural resources, and that humans need to "go back to nature" in order to reform their way of living. This is an invitation to follow on a journey that will explore a green landscape and a green mindscape in contemporary green spirituality.

1.1. Introduction and Aims

Let us start from central London: from Paddington station the journey goes westwards, approximately three hours before arrival in Totnes in the south coast, in Devon, UK. In Totnes the cab takes you for a twenty-minute trip further into the countryside, outside Dartington, to the Old Postern, just by the church. Indeed, on arrival this place offers a scenery that evokes the green and pleasant land, the emblematic image of the English countryside, and this is where Schumacher College is located. This medieval English country house (which has its origin in the fourteenth century) is a point of gravity; people come from various places in the world to visit the college, and distinctive green thinkers are invited to host courses and workshops. My approach to understanding the green mindscape is to stay close to the green landscape. I explore the various practices that are performed and created in workshops that takes place in nature rather than in seminar rooms. These practices are intimately related to narratives using themes from environmental discourse, myths or legends. They are co-creative workshops which allow things to grow in an organic sense, and moreover, they take place, and 'place' and the landscape form a distinctive site for presence. Narrative, practice and place form a node, and together they offer ways of working which range between wonder and wounds. The theoretical framework of this study relates to enchantment, and my analysis will be carved out in conversation with a number of scholars who approach enchantment on its own terms. On the basis of their contributions I formulate my 'wild enchantments'. This work is set in the context of the Anthropocene, that is, in a contemporary context, and it relates to the parallel development of climate change and ecological crisis. My fieldwork was done in 2013 and 2014 but I set the frame between 2009 and 2015.

1.1.1 Research questions

Given the aim I have presented, and the field I study, I have formulated the following questions that I hope to be able to answer:

- What are the points of negotiation in the intersection of spirituality and the environmental movement?
- What motivates individuals to turn to spirituality in relation to the challenges of climate change and ecological crisis?
- What is the relation between narratives, practices and place?

My first question focuses on points of negotiation, and I do not consider points of negotiation to be conflicting lines, but rather ongoing constructions and adjustments to changes. In asking for the motivations, I consider personal stories which I have taken part of in conversation with people in the field. The third question focuses on the relation between narratives, practices and place, and initially I answer the question: Why focus on narrative, practice and place? My simple answer is that both narratives and practices take place. To study narratives without consideration of practices would make them rather airy constructions with little support in the social or cultural context. To study narratives and practices illustrates that creating and performing narratives and practices is something that is *done*, in the sense that these are part of an ongoing social construction, but more so, the social construction that is done in narrative and practice takes place. In considering narratives and practices in relation to the place, the place is not to be seen as a passive backdrop, a décor or a stage; it is "the ground" and it forms the basis that contributes to the social construction in the most concrete ways.

1.1.2 Background – Presentation of the Field

This study takes its departure from Schumacher College in Dartington, outside Totnes, in Devon. At the time I did my fieldwork it was located in the Old Postern beside Dartington Church, but since then the school has moved to Dartington Hall Estate. I say that my study takes its departure from this because the college is more like a hub than the centre of this thesis. Schumacher College offers one-year courses for a master's degree (Economics for Transition, Holistic Science, Ecological

Design) in cooperation with Plymouth University, as well as short courses of variable duration, often one to three weeks. The college was established in 1991. funded by the Schumacher Trust together with Dartington Hall Trust, and is named after the British economist E.F. Schumacher, Schumacher is the author of Small is Beautiful (1973), an influential book in the green movement, and founder of Resurgence magazine (1966), which is a central organ for environmental discourse in the British public sphere. The college is well-known for its ability to attract guest lecturers who hold prominent positions in the green movement. The list includes names such as James Lovelock, founder of Gaia theory; Polly Higgins, eco-barrister and proponent of eco-rights; Bill McKibben, the American environmentalist who received the Right Livelihood Award in 2014; Vandana Shiva, Indian environmentalist and author; Joanna Macy, American environmentalism and Buddhist scholar; Rev. Peter Owen Jones, who has done several programmes on British television on religion, to mention just a few. A central figure is Satish Kumar, editor of *Resurgence* magazine who was part of the original initiative to create the college. Kumar is a long time peace and environmental activist, author of many books and a well-known public figure in Britain. Kumar has been the subject of a BBC documentary titled Earth Pilgrim, which is set in Dartmoor.¹

Why is this a suitable place for a study of alternative green spiritualities? It must be made clear that Schumacher College is not a confessional institution, it rather gives a space for various spiritual approaches, and in this it is testimony to the complexity of the phenomenon of alternative spiritualities. I want to emphasise that this is not a study of Schumacher College based on the ambition to picture life at the College. From my perspective, Schumacher College forms a hub with distinctive relations reaching beyond the institution. Firstly, it is a part of an environmental discourse, with leading environmental activists invited as lecturers, and it is related to the British journal Resurgence & Ecologist. Secondly, it is a distinctive part of the landscape, Devon, in the south of England, where it is located. I think many of those who have visited Schumacher College would agree that the landscape of Devon and the closeness to the Transition town of Totnes are distinctive features in the experience of visiting this place. Part of the education takes place in the landscape and excursions allow participants to visit places in the area such as Dartmoor National Park, a place that occupies a special position in this study. Therefore, I approach Schumacher College as part of the landscape, and of the environmental discourse. Education at the college is not restricted to the classroom, and walks in the landscape are organised as part of the courses. Education coexists with other practices which are organised as workshops, and a central feature here is

¹ Earth Pilgrim was televised in the autumn of 2008, and it was watched by over 3.6 million people. Earth Pilgrim in available on DVD, and on the cover it is presented as "Conservationist Satish Kumar spends a year exploring the beauty of England's Dartmoor". In the portrait Kumar is wandering the landscape of the moor, interwoven with nature scenery and wild life, and the "Dartmoor scenes and that most inspire him" and he also visit Wistman's wood, and he tells the story of Wistman's wood as a place once sacred to the Druid in the wood.

that these often take place outdoors, in the landscape surrounding the college. It may be a simple walk in the countryside, or it may be excursions to various sites. Dartmoor is a central place and a recurrent site for outings for participants of the College.² Therefore, what I study is the practices performed in these various workshops, and particularly in relation to place and narrative.

In this thesis, Dartmoor is central, and I devote chapter 5 to Dartmoor. Dartmoor became a National Park in 1951, and it is famous for its open moorland with characteristic craggy granite tors standing out as silhouettes in the landscape, and for its reminiscences of the Bronze Age settlements that are found across the moor. Dartmoor is often described as one of the few remaining areas of wilderness in Britain; it is visited by tourists, roamers, outdoor adventurers and environmentalists. Apart from that, the ancient landscape has a spiritual attraction for many visitors because the place has so many legends and myths attached to it and it has gained a reputation as being one of the most haunted places in England. The place is a mythological landscape; archaeological reports as well as local legends bear witness to its ancient history. Dartmoor is a place that is frequently visited by Schumacher College, as it is located within easy reach of the college. The moor is a place for learning in nature, and a place for leaning from nature, and the place works as an example of how humans affect their environment. Apart from the beautiful moorland, pictured in any tourist guide, the place has a long history and Dartmoor has its own narrative.³ Thus, the visit to Dartmoor is not only a roaming expedition for healthy outdoor exercise but also an example of the reflective practices I study. Dartmoor illustrates the importance of place as a node where narrative and practice come together, and I give fuller accounts of this further on in this thesis.

1.1.3 Setting the Task

The question of how we relate to nature is at the core of the activist discourse and practices that are studied in this thesis, and, for the sake of simplicity, I use the term 'nature', although in doing so I follow Donna Haraway's term 'natureculture' that renders the conventional binary oppositions of culture and nature redundant. Although this is not a study of Schumacher College, what the people in this study have in common is that they have been visiting the college, and while this group of people are recognisable by their ecological awareness there is a large amount of heterogeneity among these people, for example in age, nationality or in the way they choose to work for change. Nor should their ecological awareness be taken to mean that they are followers of a particular view or form of environmentalism. On the contrary, today the green movement is characterised by heterogeneity, and this concerns the relation to spirituality as well. This makes the task somewhat

² Field notes 2013, 2014.

³ Dartmoor is the setting for *Earth Pilgrim*, the BBC programme where Satish Kumar talks about his view of life and nature.

challenging for me because those I have met in my field are not a distinctive spiritual group, but persons with various approaches to spirituality; some are interested in spirituality, others are not. The task for me has been to find those who are drawn to spirituality, and my ways of doing so have been to listen to people, and if they express themselves in spiritual terms, and I have been careful not to be the first to use concepts of spiritual/spirituality. Hence, I focus on those who have spontaneously introduced spirituality in any form in the conversation. The study is based on fieldwork but adds further material such as internet resources, articles in journals or other publications, for example, *Uncivilisation —The Dark Mountain Manifesto* (2009).

As stated above, my aim is to study the intersection between spirituality and the green movement in relation to climate change and ecological crisis. A clarifying question is: if my focus of study concerns the role of spirituality, why do I choose to look at people who are part of the green movement? Why not go directly to a spiritual group? We might think of the green movement⁴ as consisting of dedicated activists engaged in campaigning or in direct action, for example, to protect a forest from destruction; however, the activist's work includes more reflective practices, for example, strategic discussions on what kind of actions are meaningful, or deeper ethical or philosophical questions such as how mankind relates to the larger-thanhuman world. The scholar of social movements Alberto Melucci⁵ pictures this as the invisible laboratories of social movements. To study these invisible laboratories means to form an understanding of social movements beyond public spheres, and to study what goes on behind the scenes. In simple terms, this can be preparations and organisational work, in relation to campaigns, but the work of social movement likewise includes activities such as ideological or strategic discussions, or more reflective discussions or practices. Social movements may gain or lose momentum, they are not static movements, they are, as the sociologist Emanuel Castells notes, emotional movements, and emotions play a vital role to keep them alive and kicking. 6 I think this is particularly true in times of challenges, and this momentum sums up the state of the green movement of today. The persons in my study all share an ecological concern, but they are not followers of a specific doctrine or ideology that is outlined in advance. My study does not target a particular organisation; therefore, organisational analysis or membership criteria are not relevant here.

1.1.4 The Purpose – Contribution to Religion and Ecology

My purpose with this work is twofold. The first purpose is that my empirical study may contribute to the knowledge of contemporary challenges of climate change, the

⁴ For a discussion of the green movement see Jamison and Eyerman 1995; Jamison 2001. For historical perspectives see Radkau 2014. Worster 2017.

⁵ Melucci 1989.

⁶ Castells 2012.

loss of biodiversity and environmental degradation in relation to alternative or green spiritualities. The second purpose is to contribute to theoretical discussions on enchantment and alternative spiritualities. This second purpose has emerged in the process as I have found that existing theoretical understandings in scholarly work on religion and ecology are based on an assumption that the love of nature is the basis for an environmental ethos. I found that these are somewhat outdated for working in relation to climate change, where the experience of loss of biodiversity and environmental degradation gives rise to very emotional and existential experiences of grief and loss. Therefore, I carve out my terms 'wild enchantments', 'negotiating baselines' and 'dark green spirituality', not only as I walk through my field, but also in continuous reflection and analysis and thereby I hope to contribute to the theoretical discussion as well.

From a general perspective my work is set within the theme of religion and ecology, the emerging field of environmental humanities and the scholarly interest in the geological era of the 'Anthropocene', which all have gained increasing importance in the last decade. A broader aim of this dissertation is of course to contribute to this field in my study of the intersection between the green movement/environmental movement and alternative/green spiritualities. Many scholars note that it is in the boundaries that the interesting things happen. The boundaries between the green/environmental movement and alternative/green spiritualities are one such boundary field.

Among scholars in the field of religion this intersection has been approached mainly from two perspectives: Either to study environmental activists as part of activist work or social movements in campaigning or protests and look at how they relate to spirituality, or to look at a specific religious/spiritual group and consider how it relates to the green movement. Examples of the first approach are Bron Taylor's works on Earth First! and Sarah Pike's study Into the Wild among young tree huggers who struggle to protect forests in the Appalachian Mountain. Andy Letcher has studied activists at roadblocks in the UK and what he refers to as "the pagan sentiments". Taylor, Pike and Letcher show how these activists often give expression to alternative spiritualities which form a vital part of their green concern and ecological awareness. The second approach proceeds from specific pagan groups and pays attention to their environmental concern and activism. Graham Harvey has introduced the concept Eco-Pagans, and Åsa Trulsson's study of the Goddess Movement depicts these women's concern for the Earth, showing that they often have a background in the women's movement, the peace movement or the green movement.

These approaches are equally workable within the scholarly study of religions; I find their coexistence to be a benefit because together they give a comprehensive picture of the intersection between environmentalism and alternative spiritualities. Nonetheless, there is a choice to be made, whether you take the first or the second approach. The field illustrates that interesting things happen at the boundaries. This is not to say that boundaries are definitive lines, but rather a space that works as a

common ground; therefore, boundaries are emergent spaces, and the construction or transgression of the boundary is of interest to study, because it is a space for unexpected encounters. Encounters are often the prelude to things that happen. My approach relates to the first perspective: I study activists and how they relate to alternative spiritualities, or rather turn to spiritualities, but there is a distinct difference in my approach because this is not a study of activists in relation to direct action, in campaigns, or protests. Instead my focus is on what I refer to as *reflective practices*. In taking the study beyond direct action it is possible to find otherwise elusive patterns and to consider a more complex picture of the various ways people try to work for change. As a historian of religion my aim is of course to explore the role of spirituality in this field.

1.1.5 Studying Spirituality in the Field – Locating Spirituality

The object of study for historians of religion is not only historical processes, including social and cultural dimensions, but the elusive and complex phenomenon we call 'religions' or 'spiritualities'. The concept of 'religion' is hard to define despite decades of scholarly pursuit; classic efforts such as those of Clifford Geertz and Emile Durkheim⁷ are challenged by contemporary contributions such as Talal Assad.⁸ Given this, it is no surprise that religions are a complex phenomenon to study. Whether you are studying religion or spirituality - or religions and spiritualities – you need to define what exactly you are studying, and what the focus of interest is. Religion as well as spirituality can be related to traditions, rituals, cosmology, worldview or a doctrine, or the teachings of a certain religious or spiritual leader. Whitney A. Bauman, Richard R. Bohannon II, and Kevin J. O'Brian argue that we need to study worldviews as well as practices, and in doing this we need to relate practices to activism.⁹ A further approach is lived religion, which studies everyday life. Graham Harvey is a scholar who has developed this perspective. ¹⁰ In one sense this is a study of the everyday life of activists that may include practices that at first sight are not associated with activism. If the aim is to study religion in the field, in an ethnographic study you must ask: where to go, where to find a suitable place for a study?

Kim Knott's answer is that we need to *locate religion in seemingly secular spaces*, and this offers a valuable point of departure, ¹¹ because it raises the basic

⁷ For discussion see Bauman, Bohannon and O'Brian 2011.

⁸ Asad 2003, 2018.

⁹ Bauman et al. 2011.

¹⁰ Harvey 2013.

¹¹ Knott 2005 and 2008. Knott draws on the spatial turn and asks how it can be relevant for religious study, because apart from some geologists of religion she found very little done within the field of religious studies in relation to space and religion.

question: where do we study religion, in which places? A central theme is the study of sacred places; however, Knott considers this to be problematic.

The initial problem with these was their predication upon religion or the sacred either as an essential aspect of human experience of the landscape or as a condition of the domain to be studied. In my view I needed an approach to place and location that did not import religion or the sacred through its theoretical precepts or methods. ¹²

In re-evaluating old ways of seeing space or place within the discipline — which often have focused on sacred places, she turns the attention to secular spaces, to places formerly unstudied by scholars of religion, such as street corners, her daughter's playground, or a walk in the local park, and with the insight gained in such places it is possible to return to sacred spaces with a fresh eye. I take the intention to locate religion in apparently non-religious secular places as a guide in my field. Knott draws together resources and develops a methodology for the study of religion, in order to consider the relationship between religion, locality and community, and here 'locality' is a keyword. It think Knott's approach — turning to places formerly unstudied — leads the study to a new and unexpected perspective. The benefit of locating religion is that it invites us to study religion as part of society, not set apart from it. The secularist constitution in Western society may (mis-)lead scholars to study religion as distinct from society, from politics, economics or ecology, which may follow from a secularist perspective where religion is restricted to the private sphere rather than the public.

In my approach to locate *spirituality* I start from the environmental and green movement to find new intriguing perspectives on alternative spiritualities. For my study, in treating 'locality' as a keyword, the southern English landscape of Devon becomes one such locality, which includes not only Schumacher College but also the countryside at Dartington Estate, outside Totnes, and the surrounding landscape of Devon where it is located, and particularly Dartmoor, which is frequently visited. Again, this is not a study of Schumacher College, the aim is *not* to study the life at the college from the perspective of the education and everyday life, it is a study of workshops held *in relation to* Schumacher College: some are held as part of the education, others are part of other activities. My focus is on the workshops that are held outdoors: in the garden, in forest that surrounds the college, at various sites in the landscape, along the coastline, and at Dartmoor. My main interest, how the landscape and various narratives and practices are performed, might lead us to rather unexpected places in which to locate spirituality.

¹² Knott 2005:156.

¹³ Knott 2005: 177.

¹⁴ Knott 2005:1.

1.1.6 Studying Contemporary Religions and Spiritualities in a Social and Societal Perspective

In studying religions and ecology in relation to climate change, loss of biodiversity and environmental degradation you set off with a perspective that relates the study to central issues in the contemporary historical context. As a historian of religion, I find writing on contemporary history to be a feasible task, because historians are not only antiquarians dedicated to times long gone. Nonetheless, being a historian, working with a contemporary material does give rise to specific challenges. I first began my study in 2011, conducted my fieldwork in 2013 and 2014, and as I write this a decade has passed. Given that time never stands still, a contemporary study turns into history by *fiat* because it takes time to finish a scholarly work. Working with contemporary material sets your study as part of a contemporary society. This calls for special approaches as the work should to be guided by a conscious contextualisation and a social perspective.

The theologian Elspeth Whitney emphasises the necessity to anchor the study in social experience and in a historical context. Religious belief and practices are themselves "shaped by the societies that espouse them and therefore we must be considered in conjunction with their social, economic, and political contexts." Consequently, Whitney argues, we cannot study religion as theological doctrines as determined by internal logic, standing in isolation from other aspects of cultural and social experience. Religious practices are anchored in concrete, time-bound, historical contexts. Hence, we need to look at the mechanisms by which beliefs are put into practice; religious values must be embodied in cultural and institutional practices to have a lasting and far-reaching effect beyond the individual, according to Whitney.

Overall, it seems more faithful to human experience to conceptualize values, religious and otherwise, as a state of continual interaction with economic, political, and social conditions rather than as free-standing, completely autonomous agents of historical change. ¹⁶

I adopt the perspective of religion "as a state of continual interaction" rather than "free-standing" in my study. From a historical perspective, religion is set in a historical context, and it is change that is relevant to study. This concerns a double change because just as much as society, or economic, political and social conditions change, the phenomenon that is the object of the study, i.e., 'religion', is in transformation. Today there is a vital development in what Christopher Partridge refers to as alternative spiritualities in the West, and the spiritualities that are emerging today are not only quite different from the dying forms of religion which

¹⁵ Whitney 2006:27.

¹⁶ Whitney 2006:27.

are in serious decline. Partridge links this to a "new spiritual awakening" ¹⁷ and the ways it "makes use of thought-forms, ideas and practices which are not at all alien to the majority of Westerners." ¹⁸ Contemporary alternative spiritualities emerge from an essentially non-Christian religio-cultural milieu; a milieu that both has resources and is resourced by popular culture or the 'occult milieu', in what Partridge refers to as 'occulture'. ¹⁹ He gives direct advice on how to study this and...

...to keep our fingers on the pulse of contemporary religion and culture, we must make sure that the body of evidence we are testing is alive and kicking, not some dead cadaver that few outside the cosy halls of academia would recognize.²⁰

To keep our fingers on the pulse of contemporary religion, to establish something that is "alive and kicking" may sound like a doctor's advice to reject the notion of the death of religion. Today climate crisis, loss of biodiversity and environmental degradation raise challenges for contemporary societies, and scholars in different fields need to study how societies respond to these challenges. Of course, in any given society there are various individuals, groups, organisations and institutions who in various ways try to face and tackle this new reality, but this thesis is on the theme of religion and ecology. Bauman, Bohannon and O'Brian stress the importance of the relation between religion and ecology, but more so, that this is particularly important and in flux today because of the reality of environmental degradation. Therefore, studying something which is in flux is itself a challenge. If reality is not fixed and steady, how can you give an account of it?

The anthropologist Tim Ingold, who suggests a relational perspective, gives one answer to this question. Ingold is a proponent of the relational turn, and while the relational turn has been fashionable and widely used among scholars, he is nevertheless critical of how the relational approach is used by many scholars. Ingold claims that these may be good at proposing arguments for relational perspective, but the problem is that they pay less attention to the question: what is a relation?²² Relations are never static but always in flux, and Ingold uses a river metaphor to illustrate it. If we illustrate social interaction with two persons standing on the opposite banks of a river, then their relation is often pictured as a bridge between them, and this may sound reasonable; it is the bridge that makes it possible for them to reach each other. To pass over the bridge becomes the focus. Ingold finds this metaphor misleading because it is the river that we ought to focus on; it is the river

¹⁷ Partridge 2005:3.

¹⁸ Partridge 2005:3.

¹⁹ Partridge 2005:3.

²⁰ Partridge 2005:3.

²¹ Bauman et al. 2011:1.

²² Ingold, Tim Lecture in Lund, 20 September 2016.

that constitutes the relation between them, and this relation, just like the river, is in constant flux, or flow. ²³ To follow this river metaphor, it would be necessary to dive and swim in the river to make a study of it, not just stand safe and dry on the riverbank or on the bridge. Ingold's river metaphor does not only illustrate the understanding of a relational approach, but also sheds light on the role of metaphors. Metaphors are an important tool for conceptualising our worlds, and I say it is equally true in everyday life and in art as for scholars for whom metaphors can contribute to the discussion, as illustrated by the river metaphor above. Metaphors, as the anthropologist Andreas Hejnol notes, are "always a double bind: they at once allow us to see and stop up our abilities to notice" ²⁴ and they may betray us because they cannot capture the complexity of the world. I find the ambition to capture the complexity of the world to be far beyond our task. Rather the awareness of the complexity of the world is necessary to approach the larger-than-human world. Hejnol adds further to the power of metaphors:

Metaphors are not static; they change because the world always exceeds them. While our vision and form of inquiry are undoubtedly shaped by metaphors of our times the world remains able to surprise us and disrupts our frames. The empirical is always stranger than we imagined.²⁵

Indeed, the empirical *is* stranger than we imagined, and this can be given as an instruction tag to any scholar who sets off to do fieldwork, and metaphors can be both surprising and disrupting. At best they allow us to reflect that research does not just depend on theoretical concepts, but that metaphors play a vital role in how we conceptualise the world. I find the power of metaphors to be that they make things visible that otherwise would have been elusive. Terms may refer to things in a distinctive way but the imagery that metaphors offer deepens the perspective considerably. Perhaps the best ways to capture the flux of the river, not to be swept away or swallowed by it, is to go with the flow, and in this movement something "stranger than we imagined" may emerge. Of course, the strangeness is not the point here, the challenge is instead to recognise the previously unrecognisable, the new emergent shapes. In the words of Partridge, we might find that the emerging spiritualities are quite different from the dying forms of religion. ²⁶ My hope is to contribute to the mapping of these emerging spiritualities that takes place in the awakening of the Anthropocene.

²³ Ingold, Tim Lecture in Lund, 20 September 2016.

²⁴ Hejnol 2017:100.

²⁵ Hejnol 2017:100.

²⁶ Partridge 2005:3.

1.2. Method

My work is an ethnographic qualitative study conducted according to ethnographic methodology. This study is based on participating in various practices, and in conversation with the people in my field. Throughout the work I have considered ethics in relation to my own role as a researcher, being open with my work in relation to my PhD dissertation. In writing from the collected accounts, I have been required to anonymise the individuals involved. The exception is public persons who figure with their name as they participate in their public role. Participating observations and conversations with participants are the primary sources of data in this study, but in addition there is a bewildering variety of documentary materials that have contributed such as web pages, journals and so on.

1.2.1 Doing Ethnography

Ethnography is described as a common-sense approach to the field, and it may sound simple, however, in order to make a scientific study, you must explain what you are up to. Therefore, what is ethnography and why is it common sense? Martin Hamersley and Paul Atkinson²⁷ offer a now classic introduction. Ethnographic work means participating in people's daily lives, watching what happens, listening to what is said, asking questions. This way of working throws light on the issues that the researcher wants to find out more about. Ethnography assumes that people, scholars or not, make sense of their everyday life in social interaction with others all the time. Thus, trying to find out what is going on is an everyday activity, and therefore a researcher doing fieldwork is well trained for the job. This is not to say that an ethnographic study is just like hanging around to see what is happening, rather that the social character of common-sense knowledge makes the field accessible. There are refinements to add to a study as it requires reflecting on the role of participation, and the research work has to be guided by reflection. ²⁸ Being in the field means "to observe our activities 'from outside' as objects in the world". ²⁹ Rather than engaging in futile attempts to eliminate the effects of the researcher participating in the social interaction, participation in social interaction is the key to understanding the field. I think the strength of this approach is that by keeping it simple, it is possible to gain in clarity. I found that what you need in order to combine the common-sense doings of participation and the reflexivity that is required in your role as a researcher is what I describe as a listening skill: a kind of sensibility which allows things to emerge, lets them grow gradually into a pattern, and guides where you go next in the study.

²⁷ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993.

²⁸ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:16.

²⁹ Hammerslev and Atkinson 1993:16.

1.2.2 The Ethnographic Study

The ethnographic study is characterised by flexibility, because it does not entail extensive pre-fieldwork design. The strategy and the direction of the research can be changed relatively easily, in line with changing assessments of what is required by the process.³⁰ The study is not designed in the pre-fieldwork phase; nonetheless. it begins with what Bronislaw Malinowski refers to as 'foreshadowed problems', which are not to be mixed with preconceived ideas, which is pernicious in any scientific work. 31 Foreshadowed problems are part of the researcher's skills, it is the knowledge of the field that can be gained from theoretical studies. The aim in the pre-fieldwork and the early steps in the field is to turn the foreshadowed problems into a set of questions to which the analysis may offer a theoretical answer. whether this be a narrative description of a sequence of events, a generalised account of the perspectives and practices of a particular group of actors, or a more abstract theoretical formulation. ³² Initially, as I set out on this study I wanted to find out how climate change and environmental degradation affected people in their lives and how they related this to spirituality, and I wanted to explore the intersection between the green movement and green spirituality. Turning these foreshadowed problems into research questions is done in close encounter with the actual field.

Hence, the ambition is to approach your field without a heavy load of theoretical assumptions, a little like being empty-handed, with nothing but your notebook and pen in your hands. A similar ambition to set out into the field without a preconceived research problem is central in grounded theory.³³ Although my study is *not* a study following this methodology, I found straightforward advice here: in the initial phase of going into the field, the researcher should not have made up a definitive research question. Instead, the researcher should point at a field that is to be studied, and the first task in entering this field is to try to understand, what is the problem that the informants of this study experience? The researcher should not assume that categories concerning, for example, gender or class, are relevant, because such categories should earn their way into the study by proving to be relevant; nor should the researcher assume that certain theories are relevant for the study in advance, but concepts and theories have to earn their place in the study. This make the study grounded, which means firmly related to the field. As I first entered the field, I felt overwhelmed by the amount of things that happened, and the amount of information, but eventually I was able to find some clues that made me figure out the problem that the people in this study were trying to handle. I was surprised to find that climate change and the ecological crisis were such an emotional matter, and that coping with these feelings was such a motivation to turn to spirituality.

³⁰ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:24.

³¹ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:29, Malinowsky 1922:8-9.

³² Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:32-33.

³³ Glaser and Strauss 1967.

1.2.3 In Conversation – Working with Reflexive Interviews

In my field I have chosen to work with conversational situations rather than interviews, and the difference is that in participating you take part of conversations all the time. The benefit with this way of working is that the conversation and the question emerge in a social context of participation and interaction. I prefer the term conversation, and conversational situations rather than interviews that seem to force a researcher-informant structure on the study. My ambition has rather been that of an encounter between participants. It allows the conversation to be part of an emerging field. Nonetheless, conversation must be guided by reflexivity. According to Hammersley and Atkinson, the reflexive interview means that the ethnographer does not decide beforehand what question to ask, though they may enter the interview with a list of issues to be covered. Question should be non-directional or open-ended.³⁴ The role of the interviewer, however, is not passive. Their advice is: to be "an active listener" and to "listen to what is being said in order to assess how it relates to the research focus and how it may reflect the circumstances."35 Hence. listening skills are central in these conversations and this is likewise emphasised by the sociologist Richard Sennett.

[A]nthropologists and sociologists can suffer from a peculiar challenge in conducting discussions. They are sometimes too eager to respond, going wherever the subjects lead. They do not argue, they want to show that they are responsive, that they care. A big issue lurks here, a dialogic conversation can be ruined by too much identification with the other person.³⁶

The listening skill is a central skill that a researcher needs in doing fieldwork, and this is of course not only the ability to hear, rather, it is the ability to read what is going on in social and psychological interplay, or rather a kind of sensibility towards the field. Therefore, I say that it is not only in conversations that listening skills are up for a test; it is rather a central feature in participant fieldwork. An oft-repeated critique of working with interviews is that what people do and what they say that they do, does not always correspond. Therefore, if conservations take place in conversational situations, what you do and what you say that you do are easily coordinated. In this way something unexpected emerges beyond the control of the researcher. I want to stress the importance of listening rather than questioning, although I do not understand listening as simply being quiet, but rather being reflective in conversation. How to be part of a conversation without steering it but following where it leads? Part of this challenge is the recognition of the complexity of the field, which may be hard to handle at first. What can be gained in this approach is a sensitivity which is based on the recognition that frames may add

³⁴ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:113.

³⁵ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:115.

³⁶ Sennett 2013:20.

clarity to the picture, but they always leave something outside. Sensibility means noticing nuances and the small things that may be the tip of an underwater iceberg, and it allow the questions to emerge in that particular situation. My conversations have been part of conversational situations which have arisen in relation to practice and place and have not been planned in advance. This approach has been made a lot easier by the fact that my study was conducted in a place where deep and ongoing conversations are common, and I have found myself in conversations on life and death while cleaning the toilets, doing kitchen work or participating in a walk on Dartmoor. This leads to the question of the role of the researcher in the field, and this is discussed in terms of insider/outsider perspectives.

1.2.4 The Insider/Outsider Perspectives

The reason for doing research is to gain knowledge of that particular field through participation. Participation is a method to gather information, but it also leads to questions about the role of the researcher in the field. The insider/outsider perspective makes epistemological assumptions about the benefits of the respective perspectives. The outsider may study something that is unfamiliar to the researcher, and thus the argument for the outsider perspective is that being an outsider makes you see things that are taken for granted and never spoken of in the social context. It is by being from the outside, and by distancing yourself from what is going on that you can understand what is going on. The insider perspective assumes that the researcher needs to have special knowledge of the field, because it is only by being part of the culture that it is possible to understand what is going on. The insider perspective assumes that it is from the inside that it is possible to see these unspoken things, and you have to blend into the social context to reveal the social codes and interplay. The researcher's experience or identity is the key to the field, and the researcher's role is not to distance yourself from what is going on, instead participating full-out and being part of the social interplay in the field that makes an understanding of the field possible. Hence, the difference between the positions is not simply different methods such as observation or participation. The discussion of outsider/insider perspectives offers two alternative positions for the scholar; however, as Signe Buskin concludes from her study, the insider/outside perspectives are not simply approaches that the research chooses in advance in doing fieldwork. Rather the researcher becomes, or is constructed, as an insider or outsider in the field in a fluidity of roles, rather than fixed positions or social identities.³⁷ Buskin writes:

-

³⁷ Buskin 2019.

Independent of the researcher's role as sponsored by the organization, the interactions with organizational members and context determine whether the researcher is assigned a role as insider or outsider, or even both within the same context.³⁸

So, how can I apply this discussion to my own work? Would I consider myself, or did others consider me, as an outsider or an insider? In my fieldwork I have participated in various workshops, for example sharing circles, meditations and walks, to mention just a few. Before entering the field, I had had various experiences of these kinds of circles, for example in my practice of yoga and meditation. I have also worked in movements, for example in relation to the alter-globalisation movement and the World Social Forum movement. From my personal experiences I was familiar with these ways of working as I set out to do my fieldwork. This had been a great benefit in research work, not only that I knew in advance how these circles were done, they were recognisable to me, but more so, I knew that they are often modified, you cannot take for granted how they will be done in various contexts. Given this, many doors were opened in the field.

In one sense, my personal experiences made me an insider, I could feel at home in this context, but I found that participating in a workshop as a researcher differs from simply participating. Your sense and eye as a researcher cast a shadow or perhaps a light over your doings, and it helps you to get the sensibility of noting things that are significant in the study, that is, your perception becomes tuned into the study. This is of course something that emerges during the study as it becomes clearer what your focus will be. The reflexivity that guides your activities as a researcher forms a kind of estrangement, to borrow the term from Bertold Brecht's drama theory, as you need to take a step back and reset the scenery. You may step back occasionally to take notes, but when you cannot take notes, you must memorise things worth paying attention to make notes later. Therefore, you need a sharp eye, even in participating, and it seems that even though you want to be an insider, there is something "outsider-ish" that calls for attention from time to time. Still, this is not only about seeing, in the sense of being observant. You must tune in to the field and be receptive to others, and this is a further feature that makes fieldwork different from simply participating.

I find it misleading to assume that you must be an outsider *or* insider, in the sense of being in a fixed position throughout the fieldwork; it is rather different kinds of in-between positions that emerge in the field. Participating fully means that you forget that the reason you are there is that you are doing a study. This may indeed be the case sometimes. Participating means that you participate, but simultaneously you need to keep your mind alert and note – even make notes of what is going on. Being a participant in practices is in the core of participant fieldwork; here I want to emphasise the importance of what I call a listening skill, more generally listening to your field.

³⁸ Buskin 2019.

1.2.5 Theory Development – Writing and Storytelling

The work of a thesis is in many ways a journey, not just in term of travelling to your field and back. Steinar Kvale uses a traveller metaphor for the process from research to writing. Indeed, doing research is like being a traveller, and those who have been on a journey have a story to tell when returning home.³⁹ What distinguishes a researcher from an ordinary traveller is of course that the story is not just your own story, but the focus of interest is the stories of those you have met in the field. The role of an ethnographic researcher is to see the world through the eyes of those you met on the journey, but also to add the analytical perspective. To take this traveller metaphor a step further, I would add that often you must rely on these people to know where to go next, just as when you are on a journey and have lost your way. You need to ask a stranger how to find the way. From time to time, I have depended on their guidance. Throughout this work, I often felt that I am indeed lucky working with the material that I had, because I often felt that these people have taught me so much, about what it means to be human in times of climate change, being young or old, from all corners of the world. I am grateful to all those who have taught me so much, not just in sharing their experience, but that sometimes difficult, sometimes delightful thing called life, which we all share. I have had the great privilege of coming back from my field and saying not just that I have done a study, but that I have learned a lot, and perhaps I have become somewhat wiser on the journey. If so, it is all thanks to them.

Ethnography has sometimes been characterised as simply descriptive, or as a form of storytelling. However, the intention is not only to find out what people do, but also why people do the things they do. This takes the perspective a step further from simply being a description of what is going on, to a process guided by questions, and these questions replace the scientific experiment. Experiments are questions to the world: what would happen if? Such questions are common in everyday life, and scientific experiments are simply copied from it.⁴⁰ Hence, comparing the ethnographic study to storytelling emphasises the role of writing as a vital part of the whole research process; from the initial field notes to the theoretical reasoning that is part of the conclusive discussion. Hammersley and Atkinson remind us that the various products of ethnographic work, from description to theories, take on the forms of texts, therefore, ethnographic analysis is not only a cognitive activity but a form of writing guided by the principle of reflexivity. 41 The actual writing or the construction of the researcher's account is, in principle, no different from other varieties of description. There is no neutral language of description, no neutral mode of report. The reflexive ethnographer must be self-conscious of the style or modes of writing, and these should not be taken for

³⁹ Kvale 2008:19.

⁴⁰ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:15.

⁴¹ Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:206.

granted. Being a reflexive researcher means being self-conscious as an author.⁴² In the following I discuss my own reflection on the process of writing ethnography.

1.2.6 Writing Ethnography

From my experience of doing fieldwork and writing I say that being a participant in various workshops leaves few opportunities to take notes during the practice, and if it is possible, it will only be a few words which work as memo notes. Actually, the notes are often not more than a few scribbled words, illegible to others. Therefore, you need a different writing technique than if you are conducting participant observations. To put it simply, when you are participating your hands are occupied with whatever you are doing. Therefore, taking notes in direct relation to the practices you are participating in may be difficult, and it may be limited to taking short notes. Hence, field notes in the form of memo notes, means that you need to return to these later and write a more elaborate account. It means that you must add what was left out in the first notes, which may have the form of simple jottings. Returning to the notes means thinking again.

In working with the notes you ask for details you might have missed, ponder your memory of the things that happened. Therefore, I found that your own body and senses become the record of the things you have participated in. Reading the notes makes you remember, recollect the things storied in your mind and body. Then you take the writing to a further level where you need to clarify details, for example. This means that when starting to work with your text as you write the account, you will not have that kind of body of text where it is possible to sample for certain codes. This is different from qualitative studies such as transcriptions of interviews, which consist of a distinctive body of text to code and to extract categories from. Hence, being a participant in one sense leaves your body to be the record of everything that goes on in the field. Writing the first draft from the memo notes offers an empirical and descriptive account of what happened, for example, in a particular workshop. Writing should be based on the effort to be close to the field, to mediate a sense of being there to the reader, but it should also take a further step towards analysis, and relate to a theoretical discourse as well, and at this stage it is a good thing to mind the gap.

1.2.7 Analysis and Theoretical Tools

Analysis forms the bridge between the empirical account and a theoretical approach. The leap should be small steps rather than a great jump; research is a process in several stages. In simple terms, being in the field and writing the empirical accounts is the basis for the analysis and theory, and if done accordingly the study can be

-

⁴² Hammersley and Atkinson 1993:206.

considered as being grounded. Being grounded concerns questions of how to relate to theory. The analysis should be guided by questions rather than theories in order to mind the gap between data and theory, and Kenneth Pike's distinction between emic and etic terms is central here. Emic terms are the terms that the informants use themselves, while etic terms are the corresponding terms that the scholar uses in analysis. Many in my study refer in various ways to 'spirituality' as an emic term, and I have chosen to use 'spirituality' and not 'religion'. But the emic/etic distinction sheds light on the fact that writing, analysis and developing theory is a form of translation of the original field notes. This translation must be characterised by transparency.

The analysis needs to be guided by 'theoretical sensitivity', meaning that the theoretical consideration should not be directed by theories. Tord Olsson, professor of the history of religions, often noted that "concepts can be useful to think with", they may allow us to formulate, to question, to address things that otherwise would have been unnoticed, and help to elaborate the analysis. For example, in my study, in asking why people are attracted to a place like Dartmoor, I have had great help from Jane Bennett's "places with the power to enchant", or Christina Fredengren's "riddling power" to further my discussion, and the question can be modified to ask what values people find in this site. I like the notion of theoretical tools, because it highlights that theories have to work in relation to the material, to enable a deeper understanding. Treating theories like tools draws attention to what a certain theory or theoretical concept can do for the study. If the tools work, they shed light on things otherwise unnoticed. The analysis should be driven by questions, and theories are not the answers to these questions; nonetheless, theoretical concepts and theories may be helpful to formulate the answers in an accurate way.

1.3 Theory – Religion, Ecology and the Environmental Humanities

In this section I position this thesis within the theme of religion and ecology, and the field of environmental humanities, and I present the theoretical conceptions of enchantment and (re)enchantment, disenchantment. Further I relate to theories of climate change and the Anthropocene, and further conceptions from the environmental humanities such as slow violence, and I discuss the concepts of narrative practice and place.

-

⁴³ Pike 1967.

1.3.1 Religion and Ecology

The field of religion and ecology investigates religious dimensions of ecological relations, it employs the methods and theories of religious studies, it includes perspectives from anthropology, history or cultural studies, and it extends central arguments in religious studies into a new domain. Religion and nature are a central theme in religious studies and traditions, as is seen in various creation stories, mythologies or cosmologies, but today the term 'ecology' sets religion in relation to modern environmentalism. Bauman, Bohannan and O'Brien consider the relation between religion and ecology to be in constant flux because of the reality of environmental degradation.⁴⁴ The field's two organising concepts and ways of connecting them are vigorously debated among scholars in the field.⁴⁵ The concept of 'religion' is a subject of extensive scholarly debate, and some suggest that "culture" or "spirituality" are far more suitable concepts. 'Ecology' is likewise debated; it has developed into a discipline of its own since the term was coined by Ernst Haeckel in the late nineteenth century. 46 Ecology, which comes from Greek oikos (household), assumes the interconnectedness and interrelatedness of all living organisms and creatures in the ecosystem. Almost a century later, the ecologist John Passmore (1974) distinguished between problems in ecology, which are properly scientific issues to be resolved by the formation and testing of hypotheses in ecological experimentation, and 'ecological problems', which are "features of our society, arising out of our dealings with nature". 47 Ecological problems include society as part of ecosystems and it is this sense of ecology that is part of religion and ecology, an interdisciplinary branch of scholarship that touches upon ecology as the scientific study of ecosystems. Therefore, religion and ecology relate to the theme of religion and science, and this is, of course, distinctive in relation to climate change, which is based on scientific research.

Furthermore, religion and ecology relate to the theme of religion and politics, in relation to environmental policies, but also in relation to ethics, justice and law. According to Bruno Latour: "Ecology can be summed up not as politics taking nature into accounts, but rather, as the end of the Nature that served as the consort of politics." For Latour the new climate regime is politics where the role of Nature is explicit, which has profound consequences not only for politics but for human self-conception. This shows the complexity of the field, how matters of ecology include society and politics, and why an interdisciplinary approach is preferable. The professor of religion, ethics and environment Willis Jenkins sees this as a sign

⁴⁴ Bauman et al. 2011:1

⁴⁵ Jenkins, W 2017:23. Jenkins notes that the field of religion and ecology is characterised as a first-generation scholarship that tries to establish coherence within its own discipline and research programme.

⁴⁶ Bauman et al 2011.

⁴⁷ Passmore 1974:44, in Garrard 2012:6.

⁴⁸ Latour 2017:61.

of intellectual vitality, because robust academic fields typically foster arguments about how much diversity a coherent field can accommodate, and what terms of inquiry should inform new scholarship. Despite the range of the field, there is a core of implied assumptions, according to Jenkins.

Among the minimal assumptions that make debate possible across diverse research programs is at least this: humanity's ecological relations have religious and cultural dimensions [...] engaging them has potential to connect environmental questions with fundamental human questions of meaning, value, and purpose. 49

I agree that "humanity's ecological relations have religious and cultural dimensions", but as a historian I want to add the historical dimensions. My study concerns the environmental questions in connection to questions of meaning, value and purpose, and I set my work within the environmental humanities, relating to the environment and matters of ecological concern, where the critical study of relations between man and nature becomes a core object of research.

1.3.2 The Environmental Humanities and the Environmental Turn

The field of religion and ecology is part of a broader intellectual collaboration of culture-focused approaches to environmental topics, which are gathered under the label of "environmental humanities". These inquiries are distinguished by humanistic practices; they employ historicising methods, cultural memory, interpretative tools, evaluative skills or critical dispositions in order to interpret environments and engage ecological questions. The field is characterised by interdisciplinary approaches. The psychoanalyst Sally Weintrobe notes:

It is increasingly clear that understanding human responses to climate change is just as important as - if not more important than - understanding climate change itself.⁵¹

Environmental humanities studies *human responses to the challenges* of climate change, and human culture in relation to our use of nature.⁵² What can unite such a complex research field? Jenkins proposes an epistemological claim that there can be no adequate ecological knowledge without understanding the culturally embedded humans who are changing ecological systems.⁵³ The field of religion and ecology adds the religious dimensions of the human experience, which cannot be left out. Jenkins stresses that:

⁵⁰ Jenkins, W 2017:22.

⁴⁹ Jenkins, W 2017:22.

⁵¹ Weintrobe 2013:1.

⁵² Jenkins, W 2017:23.

⁵³ Jenkins W 2017:24.

Situating religion and ecology within the environmental humanities allies the field with a broad intellectual challenge to divisions of knowledge that continue to impede public understanding of complex ecological questions. In a context of a pervasive anthropogenic change, everything that shapes human action – from imaginations and ideas to technology and economic policies – reverberates throughout ecological systems. Disciplines interpreting the human condition therefore bear renewed importance for understanding the changing human role in nature. ⁵⁴

As a historian of religion, situating my study within the environmental humanities, my approach is not that of a theologian. From my perspective, religion is a social construct, therefore, the study needs to see religion as part of society, culture, everyday life, and a historical context. Hence, my work is set in a distinct historical context, in a contemporary perspective, and the historical contextualisation will contribute to the understanding and analysis, particularly in relation to the challenges of the geological era the Anthropocene, which brings exceptional long-term perspectives. It is, as Jenkins notes, "a context of a pervasive anthropogenic change that shapes human action", 55 and it focuses on how humans affect their environment and the emerging ecological crisis. This perspective is known as the environmental turn, and one of the first proponents is Lynn White Jr. with the White Thesis.

1.3.3 The White Thesis

In 1967 Lynn White Jr. published "The Historical Roots of Our Ecological Crisis". The article would set the agenda for the discussion of religion and ecology for decades to come. White, a scholar of medieval history, claimed that "Especially in its Western form, Christianity is the most anthropocentric religion the world has seen". Fancis of However, he found an alternative Christian approach in Saint Francis of Assisi, whom he designates as the patron of ecologists. White argues that Western Christianity's anthropocentric approach to nature, its linear conception of time, and the coming together of science and technology had been the basis for man's exploitation of natural resources that in the mid-twentieth century had reached a state where the ecological crisis was obvious. Half a century later the ecological

⁵⁴ Nye et al. 2012 in Jenkins, W 2017:24.

⁵⁵ Nye et al. 2012 in Jenkins, W 2017:24.

⁵⁶ White 1967

⁵⁷ Bauman et al. 2011:59. Bauman, Bohannan and O'Brien claim that scholarship on religion and ecology began in large part because of White's influential article, and since then scholars and practitioners have produced a large array of literature to rediscover, recover, reform, and sometimes replace Christianity in the light of the ecological crisis. For eco-theology's answer to White, see Hessel and Radford Ruther 2000 call for an ecological reformation. See also Hamlin and Lodge 2006.

crisis has deepened, and scholars read the article in a new light.⁵⁸ Historians have been critical of Lynn White's thesis because it attributes too much impact to religious ideas and values, and White's view of technology is too deterministic.⁵⁹ The historians of science and technology Christopher Hamlin and David M. Lodge depicts, it as "vast and vague; it involved assumptions about causations with which historians were uneasy."60 A further point concerns the role of religion in historical change. The environmental historian Donald Worster sees Max Weber's approach to religion as major source of inspiration for White, who maintained that culture "whether it is overtly religious or not, is shaped primarily by its religion." Western culture was predominately Christian, therefore, Christianity, in White's words, "bears a huge burden of guilt" for the ecological crisis. Historians still hold different views on whether culture, as an independent non-material force, determines human/nature relations or whether culture is only a reflection of a society's technology, ecological conditions, and modes of production, as a Marxist materialist approach would assume.⁶² Worster argues for a modified position that falls between the Marxist and idealist positions given above,

Whatever connection religious ideas have with material reality, they are not sovereign powers that can summon new areas, new technologies, or new ecologies into being by fiat. They grow out of historical circumstances and, once again, reflect the constantly shifting human imperative to capture energy and dissipate it efficiently. Their power lies to a great extent in their proven efficiency for the task.⁶³

As I agree with Worster and consider the historical circumstances, which here relate to environmental changes brought about by climate change, and the Anthropocene. These material conditions form a bedrock, but this does not entail material

At the time of the publication, the article immediately received harsh criticism, although the criticism came primarily from Christians, not from scholars. In response to the harsh criticism White wrote a second article where he sought to clarify his points. (White 1974) For further discussion of White see Worster 2017, and Hamlin and Lodge 2006. The lack of scholarly responses was primarily due to the fact that White was very much a pioneer in the field that is now known as environmental history. The environmental historian Donald Worster describes White as one of the first to appear on the scholarly scene, both as an analyst and advocate of a new paradigm. White was one of the first historians to make "the environmental turn"; to draw scholarly attention to a formerly neglected and unstudied issue. It is notable that the publication of the article in 1967 coincided with the birth of the new environmental movement in the late 1960s and early 1970s, where Rachel Carson's *Silent Spring*, published in 1962, often is seen as a kick-off. Few historians formulated any critique at the time because the historical relations of religion and nature did not become a major focus of research until decades later. In 1967 environmental history as a discipline barely existed.

⁵⁹ See Whitney 2006.

⁶⁰ Hamlin and Lodge 2006.

⁶¹ White 1967.

⁶² Worster 2017:350.

⁶³ Worster 2017:351.

determinism. There is no rule for how the response to the challenges is formed; rather, religious ideas 'grow' out of historical circumstances, as growth in the organic sense indicates a kind of zigzag movement. To understand and explain how historical circumstances challenge religious ideas, climate change offers a case that is equally challenging for researchers as for religious practitioners. White was one of the first to formulate the question of the role of religion in relation to the ecological crisis. Although my project partly follows White's pioneer work, my work is not to study the *roots* of the ecologic crisis. My aim is contemporary and to study how people react and respond to the ecological crisis, more precisely, how they react and respond to the challenges that faces us living in times of climate change, and what role they give spirituality in this.

1.3 4 White's Legacy and The Greening of Religion Hypothesis

Apart from being a pioneer in discussing ecology and religion, I would say the lasting legacy of White is twofold. Firstly, the centrality of the distinctions between anthropocentric and ecocentric in order to differentiate and categorise various religious tradition, and, secondly, that a shift to, or a (re)turn to, a more ecocentric view (in White's version the tradition of Saint Francis) would be the remedy or cure for the ecological crisis. Many studies are occupied with the categorisation of religious traditions as being anthropocentric/ecocentric, or picture – and sometimes promote – a process of revaluation of the religious tradition towards a greener, that is, a more ecological/ecocentric stance. This has, for example, been a major task for eco-theology that in various ways and to various extents has rejected or embraced White's critique of Christianity.⁶⁴ Thus, at the core of this is the question: How do religious traditions respond to the challenges of the ecological crisis? Representatives of religious traditions, and scholars of religion, have responded to the challenges of the ecological crisis and climate change. Parallel to religious traditions going through transformation in relation to green matter, research on these changes becomes increasingly relevant.

The anthropologist of religion Bron Taylor labels subsequent claims that the world's religions are becoming more environmentally friendly as 'The Greening of Religion Hypothesis'. Taylor distinguishes between green religion and dark green religion. In simple terms, green religion can be characterised as anthropocentric, and

40

My point is not to reject the anthropocentrism/ecocentrism distinction, but there are further concepts to add (technocentrism, biocentrism or androcentrism, see Davies 2009.) to the discussion to cover the complexity of the field. A simple categorisation of my material as ecocentric/biocentric does not answer my questions. Neither would a model of anthropocentrism towards ecocentrism as a shift of worldviews cover the nuances of the material. In my work the focus is on a contemporary field, the historical perspective on the current situation is set in a historical contextualisation as part of the analysis.

⁶⁵ Taylor 2016:268.

dark green religion as eco- or biocentric.⁶⁶ Taylor argues that Christianity may reform and become greener but will always look at the environment from an ethical perspective and will never give priority to nature, as dark green religions do. Of course, several scholars and eco-theologians have rejected this critique of Christianity.⁶⁷ Taylor sees Christianity as firmly based on anthropocentrism, but a shift towards an ecocentric worldview is needed; dark green religion is the alternative, representing eco- or biocentric, or Earth-based religions. The shift from anthropocentrism to biocentrism is a shift of a moral paradigm, in Taylor's words it is a step "from a stewardship ethic to an ethic of reverence for the land."

1.3.5 Dark Green Religion and the Dark

Green religion is characterised as anthropocentric, dark green religion, as eco- or biocentric, ⁶⁹ and Taylor elaborated on the differences; green religion poses environmental-friendly behaviour as a religious obligation, dark green religion looks at nature as sacred, it has intrinsic value, is therefore due reverent care. Green and dark green religion are often in tension, sometimes in direct conflict. My contribution here is to relate to rewilding and investigate the intersection between rewilding and this spiritual field. In this thesis dark green religion is relevant, and a question is: why the *dark* of dark green religion? ⁷⁰ Taylor makes some remarks on the term *dark* green religion'. He wants to avoid using deep ecology because it is

66 Taylor 2010:10.

⁶⁷ Hamlyn and Lodge 2006.

⁶⁸ Taylor 1991:265. In this critique of Christianity Taylor relates to the British historian Arnold J. Toynbee. In 1974, Toynbee argued that Christianity was doomed to an anthropocentric stance. Hence, Toynbee's criticism of Christianity was even more conclusive than White's. Toynbee advocated turning to Mother Earth – indigenous religions – as an alternative. It is notable that White, in his critique of Christianity in its Western form, saw an alternative in the Christianity of Saint Francis' ecocentric view, and therefore Taylor sharpens the critique of Christianity. When White wrote the article in the mid-sixties, he did not see Eastern religions, more precisely Buddhism as an alternative to Christianity because of cultural differences. Just a few years later, the alternative, counterculture of the hippie movement, did embrace various Eastern spiritual teachings, and Eastern religions have gained attention among counterculture ever since. Christopher Partridge has described this as part of an Easternisation, that together with Paganization is among the re-enchantments that are found in alternative spiritualities. I discuss Partridge further on.

⁶⁹ Taylor 2010:10.

Taylor defines dark green religions as developing from a deep sense of belonging to and connectedness in nature, while perceiving the earth and its living systems as sacred and interconnected. Dark green religion finds its roots within animism and nature religions, often called "Earth-based religions", that is, religious traditions that emphasise nature or its "green" sides. For example, Neo-paganism, Druidry, Wiccan religion, new forms of spirituality such as deep ecology, ecofeminism, anarcho-primitivism, liberation theology. Taylor's research on dark green religion in relation to American radical environmentalism shows the importance of the intersection between dark green religion and politics.

associated with the philosophy of Arne Næss and the politics of radical environmentalism, and because some proponents of deep ecology reject the idea that it has anything to do with religion. Taylor explains his use of 'dark' as a signifier, because it had not been used before, it had no baggage, positive or negative, nor any obvious meaning that would preclude the ability to give it an operational definition. Taylor clarifies the meaning of the dark:

A second reason is that by adding the modifier dark I could through wordplay present a useful double meaning -dark as in a deep shade of green, involving a belief in the intrinsic value of nature, and dark as in perilous, evoking some people's fear of places without light.⁷²

Since Taylor formulated dark green religion, a decade ago, the *dark* has become even more significant in relation to environmentalism. Taylor introduced dark green religion in 2010, when *Dark Ecology* by Timothy Morton (2016) had not yet been published. Various references to the dark are seen in relation to climate change as a distinctive dark time that entails exceptional challenges, and one use of the modifier dark that I will elaborate in this thesis is the darker emotions (such as fear and grief, or the eerie or uncanny) which are emotional responses to wounded places, or more generally, to the state of the world confronting climate crisis, environmental degradation or the loss of biodiversity. These darker aspects of our emotions can find expression in various practices and in artworks, in what I refer to as eco-occulture. A further feature of the dark is the loss of dark places in relation to light pollution, which I discuss in relation to Dartmoor.

To conclude, I am affirmative towards Taylor's 'dark green religion', and my hesitation concerns the use of the term 'religion' (which I discuss further on). Therefore, I modify the conception to dark green *spirituality*. In this, I avoid the term 'religion', but furthermore, I can relate to Roger Gottlieb's term Green Spirituality, which I present next.

1.3.6 Green Spirituality

The term 'green spirituality' was introduced by Roger Gottlieb, who, like Taylor, emphasises the relation between green religion and politics. A spiritual perspective, in Gottlieb's use, means a discovery of sense of selfhood beyond the ego. Paper Spirituality does not require a conventional (Western) religious attachment to a personal God, nor does the spiritual imply "a *denial* of the manifest horrors of

⁷¹ Taylor 2010:224.

⁷² Taylor 2010:223.

⁷³ Gottlieb 1996:521.

⁷⁴ Gottlieb 1996:521.

human experience". 75 Gottlieb sees spirituality 6 as "distinct from dogmatic religious attachment", and he states that "an authentic spirituality does not ignore social suffering". 77 Gottlieb develops a model of socially engaged spirituality in a normative manner, not primarily as a descriptive notion in relation to a particular field; he is rather a player in the field. In this his perspective differs from mine as my intention is to depict how spirituality is understood in my field. Although he emphasises social justice, he is less concerned with the larger-than-human world. Despite my objections. I find Gottlieb's discussion of spirituality, politics and ethics to be fruitful in relation to my work. He emphasises the political aspects of green spirituality where religious environmentalism led to a convergence of the spiritual and political to such an extent that in some cases it may be hard to tell them apart.⁷⁸ He claims that environmental crisis and climate change give rise to ethical challenges which we cannot solve as individual, and therefore there is a need for political solutions. Through this new spirituality the Greens have then moved "beyond materialist values while at the same time embracing some preindustrial values derived from indigenous non-European cultures. These value shifts have been tied to specific issues that are crucial for the Greens but often ignored by the Democratic Left". 79 Hence, in going "beyond the materialist values" green spirituality is set in relation to theories of new social movement (NSM), which assume that social movements are based on immaterial values such as justice or liberation. Gottlieb claims that it is in the global environmental movement that the divide between religion and politics finally has been overcome. 80 The benefit of Gottlieb's approach is that he relates spirituality to politics and social movements. and asks: what gives this wide spectrum of green politics a religious or spiritual dimension? 81 According to Gottlieb this dimension is especially clear in deep ecology. As we have seen, Gottlieb, like Taylor, considers deep ecology as a major source of inspiration for green spirituality and dark green religion, and therefore I offer a short presentation of it here.

75 .

⁷⁵ Gottlieb 1996:521–522.

⁷⁶ Gottlieb 1996:521–522.

⁷⁷ Gottlieb 1996:521–522.

⁷⁸ Gottlieb 2003a:489.

⁷⁹ Gottleib 2003b:501

⁸⁰ Gottleib 2003b:498–499. Gottlieb gives a historical perspective on the great divide between religion and progressive politics starting from the early nineteenth century. It was weakened by Protestant abolitionism, the social teachings of the Catholic Church, and this was taken further in the social gospel of the late nineteenth century, when it was abolished by Gandhi and King and the religious presence in the peace and anti-apartheid movements. It is notable that Gottlieb does not imply any inspiration from Eastern religions in this transformation.

⁸¹ Gottlieb 2003b:499.

1.3.7 Deep Ecology

In 1973 the philosopher Arne Næss published an article in *Inquiry* titled "The Shallow and the Deep". The 1960s and 1970s is pictured as a kick-off for modern environmentalism, and deep ecology was an important source of inspiration, although it received harsh criticism. Deep ecology formed an incentive for a new approach to science as well as politics, and the sociologist Andrew Jamison describes the period as "a phase of politicisation of the environmental movement". Næss's distinction between shallow and deep ecology aims at a critique of the shallow environmental movement for focusing on preservation and conservation of nature but neglecting the deeper questions. The opening of the article sums up the message:

Ecologically responsible policies are concerned only in part with pollution and resource depletion. There are deeper concerns which touch upon principles of diversity, complexity, autonomy, decentralization, symbiosis, egalitarianism, and classlessness.⁸⁴

Thus, 'shallow ecology' is occupied with preserving nature without posing the deeper questions of how we live in modern society. Deep ecology stresses the relation between nature and society, and it assumes that our way of thinking about nature is reflected in how we live, in the social relations and organisations that are created and maintained in society. Næss set out a new vision for a deep ecological movement, a new global movement. The old or shallow movement fought against pollution in the wealthy industrialised countries alone. The deep ecological movement goes to the roots of the fundamental eco-problems in the structures of societies and cultures around the world. Næss considered deep ecology to be a philosophy, a quest for Sophia – a deeper wisdom, or ecosophy. This is perhaps a reason why it has been a source of inspiration for green thinkers, as well as for religious traditions that reformulate their ideas about the ecological crisis and the

Q

⁸² Deep ecology has received critique from a leftist position. According to the environmental scholar Mark Dowie, deep ecology became an "ideal counterpoint to the centralized, bureaucratic environmental activism that in recent years has actively restrained radical thought. By challenging reform environmentalism's unwillingness to criticize industrial society, technological culture, and capitalism, deep ecology attempts to set a new agenda and strategy for environmentalism." Dowie 1995:227. But an unfortunate result of their tactics was that the deep ecological movement distanced themselves from the working man and women, particular rural blue-collar workers. The critique of consumerism and their arguing for reduced human standards of living were not popular notions among people living close to the edge, and they "tend to sanctify the species workers see as threatening their standard of living. The way to the logger's heart is not through the nest of a spotted owl. It's through the home of fellow workers", according to Dowie. The same dilemma was expressed by Murray Bookchin in his essay "Ecology and Revolutionary Thought" in 1964. Bookchin argued that before humans can be in harmony with nature, they have to be in harmony with each other.

⁸³ Jamison 2001:156.

⁸⁴ Næss, Arne 1973.

challenges of climate change in the way described in the greening of religion hypothesis. Bill Devall and George Session claim that Næss had no objection towards those who emphasised or elaborated the religious aspects of his ecosophy. Although Næss distinguishes between deep ecology as a philosophy and a movement, there is no priority as these are equally necessary. Deep ecology emphasises relationism, assuming that the world is a network of relations, not an assembly of things. No object, animal or person has any identity without its essential connection to the world of relation around it. Today deep ecology is well integrated in the green movement, and there will be examples of this in my study as well. From a scholarly perspective much research has been done in relation to deep ecology, religion and environmentalism. I do not to deny the importance of deep ecology which is firmly set within the field, but the source of inspiration that I explore in relation to dark green spirituality is rewilding.

1.3.8 Dark Green Spirituality and Rewilding

Dark green spirituality is the term I introduce because I need to modify Taylor's and Gottlieb's terms in relation to my own study. I modify Taylor's dark green religion because I want to avoid the term religion, as I prefer 'spirituality', as the ambition is to ground the study in the fieldwork and spirituality seems to capture the reflective practices that I spotted in my fieldwork.⁸⁹ I elaborate this discussion of religion and spirituality further on, in the next section. A further reason for my conceptual demarcation towards Taylor and Gottlieb is their emphasis of deep ecology while my study focuses on rewilding. Hence, the conceptual modification is for the sake of analytical and theoretical clarity. My contribution in this scholarly approach to rewilding is to investigate the intersection with dark green spirituality

The philosophy of deep ecology is one example, while another is the biochemist James Lovelock's Gaia hypothesis or theory, which he developed with Lynn Margolis. The Gaia theory is named after the Greek earth goddess. Lovelock elaborates the idea of ecosystem, and he sees the whole earth, its biosphere, as an ecosystem, a self-regulating and self-sustaining system. The idea of a living earth –

⁸⁵ Barnhill and Gottlieb 2001

⁸⁶ Devall and Session 1985

⁸⁷ Næss explicitly said that he was walking in the footsteps of Mahatma Gandhi, the non-violent tradition, the Buddhist tradition as well as Baruch Spinoza, his ambition being not just philosophical but to formulate a deep ecological platform for non-violent activism. He transformed this ambition into non-violent practice in relation to the Alta River in Norway that was threatened by dam building in the 1980s.

⁸⁸ Rothenberg 1995:202.

⁸⁹ My perspective also differ from Taylor as I make no claims on the role of Christianity, and this is perhaps due to the fact that I study a British context. In Hayes and Marangudaki's study (2001) of religion and attitudes towards nature in Britain they found no significant difference between Christians and non-Christians concerning environmental attitudes.

Gaia – is taken further to various spiritual versions of Mother Earth, for example inspired by Native American spirituality, or pagan goddess spirituality. Today both deep ecology and Gaia are well-established sources of inspiration within (dark) green spirituality, and just as with deep ecology, much research is done in relation to Gaia and religion, therefore my focus is yet another source of inspiration: rewilding. It is notable that these sources of inspirations come from outside religion. Deep ecology, formulated by the philosopher Arne Næss, Gaia theory, formulated by the biochemists James Lovelock and Lynn Margolis, and rewilding, advocated by the biologist Edward O. Wilson. That is, deep ecology is considered as a philosophy, while Gaia theory and rewild are theories formulated within a biological scientific context.

The term 'rewilding' was coined by Dave Foreman and became in use among grassroot activist in the US in the 1990s. 90 The biologist Edward O. Wilson's entry to this debate brought attention to matters of ethics. In recent years, rewilding has had a major influence, and part of its attraction is, no doubt, that it addresses the loss of biodiversity. 91 According to the UN report Living Planet Report (2018) the populations of living wild animals have declined by 60 per cent since the 1970s. Rewilding put forward a positive vision, that is, the mass restoration of ecosystems, but it also suggests the rewilding of the human mind. It is primarily the second form that is relevant to my study. The rewilding of the human mind brings, similar to deep ecology, critical and societal matters into the picture, but it addresses a deeper criticism of the human self-image; it challenges anthropocentrism, exceptionalism, and the myth of the modern man, and I develop this throughout this thesis. Wilson suggests in Half Earth that half of the Earth should be set aside for animals and wildlife. 92 In actively giving more of the Earth to non-humans, the mass restoration of natural eco-systems is perhaps the strongest way to hand power back to other species and to provide them with the living space to resist human domination. Wilson introduced the term 'biophilia', referring to what he sees to be a natural human instinct: a case of inner nature providing a more solid foundation to ecology for the protection of external nature. 93 I suggest that rewilding and biophilia can be summed up as a love of the wild. This love of the wild, or simply "the wild" is central in this thesis; it is a major inspiration for dark green spirituality. Similar to Taylor's dark green religion, the pagan traditions, or indigenous traditions, are important in this love of the wild, although it needs to be said that love here is not a romantic notion of love. It includes all the emotional aspects that a love relation can include, from the mesmerising joy of life to the deepest sorrow. Therefore, the love of the wild resonates with my conception of wild enchantments, and it is found in various

⁻

⁹⁰ Johns 2019.

⁹¹ UN report Living Planet Report (2018). The report is based on a study of the population of 4000 wildlife species.

⁹² Wilson 2016.

⁹³ Wilson 1984.

expressions of eco-occulture, of which I give examples further on. This love of the wild is central in dark green spirituality. What emerges here is how sources of inspiration outside spirituality or religions become distinctive.

1.3.9 Religion and Spirituality

I have set my work within the field of religion and ecology, and I have introduced my term dark green spirituality; my next step is to discuss religion and spirituality. The term 'religion' has been subject to much scholarly discussion, and classic scholars such and Emile Durkheim (the sacred) or Karl Marx have contributed their definitions of religion. Clifford Geertz's definition was, for many years, in common use. In recent time a criticism has been formulated by various scholars: Russell McClutcheon argues that the understanding of religion within the academic study of religion in the West has been shaped by Protestantism, which is seen in the focus on faith and the individual's relation to God. 94 Talal Asad argues from a postcolonial perspective that Geertz's definition is difficult to apply to religious traditions outside Christianity where community and rituals are far more distinctive than faith. 95 Given that the term 'religion' is much disputed, some have suggested talking about 'the religious'. Others such as Timothy Fitzgerald go further and suggest that 'religion' should be banned altogether and replaced with 'culture'. 96 A further challenge to 'religion' is 'spirituality', and Christopher Partridge has drawn attention to new forms of alternative spiritualities.⁹⁷

Followers of these alternative spiritualities often questions firm conceptions of what religion is, and distance themselves from traditional faith traditions. I return to Partridge further on, but before continuing to spirituality, I give a brief reflection on religion and change. Roger Gottlieb distinguishes between four different approaches to religious change as answers to climate crisis:⁹⁸ (i) the recovery of neglected proenvironmental parts of their spiritual tradition, (ii) reinterpretations and/or critique of existing traditions, (iii) evaluation of new models within existing traditions, and (iv) radical innovation in creating entire new liturgies, rituals and stories etc. The third and fourth models of religious change have a more critical approach to pre-existing religious traditions and give an incentive to entirely new practices, and these are the ones that resonates with my field.⁹⁹ An example of evaluation of new models within existing traditions is how deep ecology has inspired religious

⁹⁴ McCutcheon 1997.

⁹⁵ Asad 2003.

⁹⁶ Fitzgerald 2007.

⁹⁷ Partridge 2005.

⁹⁸ Bauman et al. 2011:115.

⁹⁹ For discussion see Bauman et al. 2011.

traditions to become greener. ¹⁰⁰ The fourth approach suggesting radical innovation, and the creation of entire new liturgies, rituals and stories etc., is the most radical form of religious change. In this approach, there is an openness towards new forms of spirituality, which emphasise nature or its "green" sides and inspire to new practices. Gottlieb's model of religious change proceeds from existing religious traditions, and he does not discuss the difference between religion, or religious traditions, and spirituality. When he discusses green spirituality, he emphasises the importance of the civil rights movement, and Martin Luther King Jr. and the nonviolent tradition, but also liberation theology. The sources of inspiration are not only religious/spiritual but also political and non-religious, or spiritual. Bron Taylor mentions various sources of inspiration in dark green religion: deep ecology, neopaganism, Druidry, Wiccan spirituality, ecofeminism, anarcho-primitivism, which often blend with radical environmentalism. I recognise the importance of such sources in formulating my conception of dark green spirituality, as my primary interest is rewilding.

Given these insights, we can understand not only the challenges of climate change and how this can push religious traditions towards change, but more so how the response can be to create "radical innovation" and "entire new liturgies, rituals and stories". The purpose of this discussion is not to question whether religious traditions may transform and become 'spiritual' or try to depict the extent that they encourage change, their affirmative or their conflicting sides. Instead, they form a bricolage where adherents mix their own blend. From a theoretical perspective, it is possible to define religion to cover these forms of alternative spiritualities as well, but this would require a theoretical sensitivity in relation to that particular field of study. As I focus on spirituality, I do not consider the religion *versus* spirituality discussion, instead I turn to Paul Heelas's "spirituality of Life" and Christopher Partridge's alternative spiritualities.

1.3.10 Spirituality of Life and Alternative Spiritualities

Paul Heelas's analysis of religions in the modern world takes a general approach from the secularisation thesis, and he sees a distinct feature: whilst institutionalised religions are not faring well, it appears that spirituality is flourishing. Heelas rejects the idea that the religious is giving way to the secular; rather the religious is giving way to the spiritual. This can be compared to a kind of religion-will-eat-itself process, that is, in order to survive it must transform completely. Heelas sees two distinct features in religion and spirituality: Religion can be defined in terms of obedience to a transcendent God and a tradition which mediates his authority;

¹⁰⁰ Gottlieb 2003.

¹⁰¹ Heelas 2005.

spirituality is defined as experience of the divine as immanent in life. ¹⁰² In simple terms it characterises religion as transcendence and spirituality as immanence. Heelas sums up the key characteristic, which has come to be associated with 'spirituality'. "Spirituality has to do with the personal; that which is interior or immanent". ¹⁰³ Therefore, Life, rather than what transcends life, becomes God, and contemporary spirituality may more precisely be termed 'spirituality of life'. ¹⁰⁴ Heelas's definition resonates with my material, where the personal, the immanent, existential and the lived experience are in focus. ¹⁰⁵ However, this assumption of spirituality as immanence, personal or as "spirituality of life" should not lead us to take for granted that this spirituality of life is necessarily individualistic. ¹⁰⁶ Paul Heelas claims on the contrary that spiritualities often challenge the notion of the bounded self as foundational to modern being, as they foster a relational subjectivism, rather than an individuated one. ¹⁰⁷ ¹⁰⁸ According to Heelas new spiritualities radicalise the expressivist strand in modernity; they both affirm the modern values and react against them. Although spiritualities are shaped by their time, they likewise encourage resistance and alternative to this.

As seen previously, following Gottlieb, radical innovation – creating entire new liturgies, rituals etc. ¹⁰⁹ – is distinctive, it is a reason not to be too firm on defining 'spirituality' as the phenomenon is a shapeshifter. Hence, the theoretical discourse on spirituality sheds light on a complex phenomenon, and there is a need for a modifier to the term spirituality, and Christopher Partridge suggests alternative spiritualities. Partridge finds a paradox between the contemporary situation and the secularisation thesis: while religion appears to be in decline or on the retreat, conversely, spirituality seems to be alive and kicking. Partridge investigates the alternative spiritual milieu in the contemporary Western world, and the variety of ways an increasing number of Westerners are discovering and articulating spiritual meaning in their lives. Although new ways of believing are not allied to the state or located in large buildings next to the village green they are still socially

_

¹⁰² Heelas 2005:413.

¹⁰³ Heelas 2005:414.

¹⁰⁴ Heelas 2005:414.

What I object to is that Heelas refers to 'God' and to New Age as an example of the spirituality he has analysed, and to label dark green spirituality as a form of New Age is not only problematic but even a mistake.

Bauman et al. 2011. Lisa Sideris relates religion to institutions and spirituality to the individual. These two positions of religion/institution, and spirituality/individual sets spirituality as part of the private sphere and the private life of the individual, and this model is part of the process of secularisation, where secularisation and differentiation work to push religion back into the private sphere. Given this, it is reasonable to assume that these general conditions in late modernity also apply to spirituality, and these perspectives often found in studies of new age spiritualities.

¹⁰⁷ Heelas 2008.

¹⁰⁸ Heelas and Woodhead 2005:97.

¹⁰⁹ Bauman et al. 2011:115.

significant.¹¹⁰ Alternative spiritualities are found outside institutions, and are entwined with popular culture and urban myths.¹¹¹ Again this relates to how sources of inspiration that is non-religious are an incentive for spiritual reflection, and this is central in my study, which is set in the intersection between spirituality and the environmental movement. In exploring these new forms of spiritualities it should be noted that the interest in alternative spiritualities is not a new phenomenon. Non-traditional re-enchantment has been a long time coming, particularly in the past forty years, according to Partridge. It has been a distinctive part of popular culture and counterculture since the 1960s. Nonetheless, the contemporary context, in relation to climate change and ecocide, poses a specific challenge. Partridge poses popular culture as a,

...key component of an occultural cycle, in that it feeds ideas in the occultural reservoir and also develops, mixes and disseminates those ideas. This is important because, more generally, popular culture is also a key element in shaping the way we think about world.¹¹²

Partridge expands the narrow, technical definition of the term 'occult' to include a vast spectrum of beliefs and practices sources such as Eastern spirituality, paganism, spiritualism, theosophy, alternative science and medicine, popular psychology, and a range of beliefs emanating from a general interest if the paranormal. 113 Partridge carries out his task at the interface between contemporary spirituality and popular culture, he sees occulture as the new spiritual movement in the West, as "the reservoir feeding new spiritual springs; the soil in which new spiritualities are growing". 114 The reason they are flourishing is because they function in a very different way, having adapted to a new environment, according to Partridge. Hence, those who study contemporary religion in the West need to reassess their methodologies, definitions of religion, and the criteria used in assessing 'social significance'. Partridge warns scholars not to use inappropriate criteria in their survey of the religious landscape. The risk is that they either fail to notice central features or else misinterpret these as temporary outcrops or minor seasonal variations. Partridge hopes that his discussion is convincing to persuade others to continue the exploration, and I give credit to Partridge for setting my study off in this direction. As Partridge notes, the new religio-cultural milieu is in flux, and flourishing, therefore, in taking the intention further I modify the term 'occulture' to 'eco-occulture' referring to the counterculture of environmental movement and what today is seen as dark ecology.

¹¹⁰ Partridge 2005:3.

¹¹¹ Partridge 2005:2.

¹¹² Partridge 2005:4.

¹¹³ Partridge 2005:4.

¹¹⁴ Partridge 2005:4.

1.4 Theory – Enchantment, Environmental Humanities and Eco-criticism

The strength of enchantment as a theoretical framework is that it can be related to the emotional, existential and ethical considerations that are at the core of my field. Enchantment addresses how humans relate to nature in a discourse that involves spirituality. My ambition is to formulate a view of enchantment which resonates with the material that I study, and I call this 'wild enchantments'. I will also draw from the environmental humanities and eco-criticism.

1.4.1 The Tale of Enchantment

There is a renewed scholarly discourse on enchantment that goes beyond the dichotomisation between disenchantment and re-enchantment. The feminist philosopher Jane Bennett rejects the notion of modernity as a process of disenchantment. Bennett distinguishes between two tales: the tale of disenchantment and the tale of enchantment which tell different versions of the modern world. Too often the tale is told from the perspective of disenchantment, and so the story goes:

There was once a time when Nature was purposive, God was active in the details of human affairs, human and other creatures were defined by a preexisting web of relations, social life was characterized by face-to-face relations, and political order took the form of organic community. Then, this premodern world gave way to forces of scientific and instrumental rationality, secularism, individualism, and the bureaucratic state – all of which, combined, disenchant the world. 115

The story of how various forces disenchant the world has, according to Bennett, contributed to the very condition it describes. Its rhetoric powers have real effects. The tale of disenchantment depicts nature and culture as orders no longer capable of inspiring deep attachments, inflecting the self as a creature of loss and thus discouraging any discernment of the marvellous vitality of bodies human and non-human, natural and artefactual. Bennett offers an alter-tale; the tale of enchantment, setting enchantment as the prime interest. Bennett sees enough evidence of everyday enchantment to warrant the telling of this alter-tale, and my hope is to contribute some further evidence. Bennett tells a story of contemporary life that accentuates moments of enchantment and explores the possibility that the affective force of those moments might be deployed to propel ethical generosity. She claims that the contemporary world retains the power to enchant, and that humans can cultivate

¹¹⁵ Bennett 2001:7.

¹¹⁶Bennett 2001:91.

themselves to experience more of that effect.¹¹⁷ I think that the benefit of seeing disenchantment and enchantment as tales is that we turn our attention from the scholarly pursuit of arguing in favour of dis- or re-enchantment. The disenchantment process is assumed to be accompanied by secularisation and rationalisation, and the assumed decline of religion. Consequently, the reenchantment is, in simple terms, the revival of religion. Bennett's approach to enchantment is not as a reminiscence of a premodern world, nor as a remake of something lost; instead, it never really left the world, but merely changed its forms. What can be gained with this approach is that it addresses the relation between man and nature, or to the larger-than-human world, which is in focus in this study. The similar formulation of culture and nature is much contested in scholarly discourse. I discuss the relationship between man and the larger-than-human world from an epistemological perspective, and thus I do not assume that these are ontologically separate. I study how narratives and practices are created and constructed, and how this relation is expressed, especially in relation to place. In emic terms there is a variety of expressions which I discuss further on. In simple words, enchantment is a mood that is related to nature in a highly intimate way. The mood of enchantment is closer to life than to logos. Nonetheless, from a theoretical perspective, approaching enchantment as distinct from disenchantment has the analytical advantage of addressing the contrast to the structural social process of rationalisation of society, as well as to technology and science.

So far, I have introduced the theme of religion and ecology, but this theme includes religion and science, as well as religion and politics. This is particularly clear in relation to climate change, as climate change is a phenomenon that is defined in scientific terms, it is part of a context which leads to political policies and legislation, and, at the same time, it is an incentive for new forms of spirituality. Therefore, to approach this field, I not only relate to theories of enchantment but also to disenchantment and re-enchantment, but my purpose in this discussion is to bring clarity to enchantment.

1.4.2 Enchantment in its Own Terms

Ian Alexander Cuthbertson advocates an appraisal of enchantment in its own terms. The problem of enchantment is that it is too often discussed as *dis*enchantment or *re*-enchantment, which has the consequence that enchantment does not get the attention it deserves. The discourse on enchantment show both disparate and contradictory views, and therefore Cuthbertson's advice to scholars is set out exactly what they mean by the term in the first place. 119 Enchantment has no

¹¹⁷ Bennett 2001:3-4.

¹¹⁸ Cuthbertson 2018:1–8.

¹¹⁹ Cuthbertson 2018:6.

essential core, and it is necessary to specify precisely how and why the term is deployed.

For those who describe disenchantment, enchantment often signifies belief in otherworldly influences or entities while for those who describe re-enchantment, enchantment often signifies an intense, if fleeting, affective attachment to the world. 120

Cuthbertson sees a need of a new appraisal of enchantment following Bennett's view that "enchantment never really left the world but only changed its forms." Rather than a return to a premodern way of thinking, enchantment involves fostering fleeting moments of affective attachment with the aim of experiencing wonder. The Gordian knot here is that the term 'enchantment' (as well as disenchantment and reenchantment) is related to modernity, which is distinctive in the self-understanding of Western culture. The trajectory from a premodern state of enchantment towards a disenchanted rationality is part of the process of progress that is distinctive in the story of modernity. Consequently, a possible return to an enchanted worldview challenges the narrative of modernity.

In discussions of disenchantment, the term is often used as a marker of difference between a perceived modern, rational, mature, and usually Western us and a presumed non-modern, irrational, immature, and often non-Western or rural them. Consequently, the term carries an explicit value judgement and serves to single out "other" individuals, groups, societies, spaces, or places that are described as "enchanted." ¹²² Scholars have to be wary of presuming to know how premodern individuals conceptualised their world. While premodern or contemporary "nonmodern" individuals might very have felt or continue to feel themselves to be porous and vulnerable to supernatural influences, this "fact" should not be taken for granted. If Christopher Partridge is correct and modern individuals are increasingly engaging with posited supernatural realities, then the automatic association of enchantment with perceived "others" is questionable. 123 Cuthbertson argues that owing to societal pressures coupled with the potential pleasure it provides, disenchantment constitutes a societal and/or personal project that reinforces and reifies a particular normative view of how modernity *ought* to be and how modern subjects ought to think and behave. Descriptions of disenchantment and appraisals of re-enchantment that encourage "rational" enchantments contribute to the very process, that is, rationalisation, which they describe or question, Cuthbertson concludes. I think Bennett's suggestion of two tales is a way out of this dilemma of rationalisation of enchantment. It should be noted that Max Weber's theory of

¹²⁰ Cuthbertson 2018:1.

¹²¹ Bennett 2001:91.

¹²² Cuthbertson 2018:6.

¹²³ Cuthbertson 2018:6.

disenchantment was formulated in the early twentieth century. 124 Today postmodern scholars offer an updated reading of these theories. In my perspective, hence, to address enchantment in its own terms is to release enchantment from Weber's sociological theory where the process of rationalisation sets the direction and renders enchantment a premodern state that we have left behind. In focusing on enchantment, I do not claim that disenchantment is a state left behind, or irrelevant. On the contrary, there are insights to gain from disenchantment as well. One key to escape the rationalisation of enchantment is to approach it through a particular metaphor – the iron cage of rationalisation.

1.4.3 The Iron Cage of Rationalisation and the Possible Escape (of Rewilding)

Weber's sociology of religion is an account of the emergence and development of religion, but more so, of modern Western culture and disenchantment. Weber pictures social processes on a structural level of capitalist modernity, and as my study is not a work in sociology my perspectives differs, I found Weber's metaphor of the iron cage of rationalisation to be a powerful image. The iron cage is an image that seems to give the process a bitter end and raises the question of a possible escape. Could enchantment hold the key to the cage? Can it offer an escape from the cage? For my part, in the perspective of rewilding, the iron cage of rationalisation becomes an even more powerful image, as rewilding sets out the prospect of the escape from any kind of cages. In order to put this metaphor to work I have to ask, what is this cage, what does it consist of?

One distinctive feature of the iron cage is, according to the sociologist Nicholas Gane, the devaluation of values, and the basic assumption of disenchantment is the possibility to master all things with calculation. This disenchanted scientific discourse is seen in my field where a central claim is that anthropogenic climate change, as a phenomenon in scientific discourse, is unable to relate to deeper meaning or to discussion of fundamental values of life, such as the value of community or respect for all living creatures. Therefore, I linger a little on the role of science and disenchantment.¹²⁵ In simple terms, the process of disenchantment

the accompanying dis-enchantment (Entzauberung) of religious institutions and myth.

54

¹²⁴ Gane 2002:15. The sociologist Max Weber (1864–1920) published the account of disenchantment in 1917. For a century the disenchantment of the modern world has been central in academic discourse on the role of religion in modern society. Weber's sociology of religion contains an account of the emergence and development, not just of religion, but of modern Western culture. This account reads the history of the West in terms of two interconnected processes: (i) the rise and spread of Occidental (instrumental) rationalism, and the process of rationalisation, and (ii)

¹²⁵ Gane 2002:15. Disenchantment is a process with several incentives. It was initiated with the elimination of prehistoric magic religiosity, continued in the rise of universal religion, and the subsequent disenchantment of universal religion with the emergence of modern rational science and the advance of the capitalist order.

and rationalisation is a quest for rational knowledge, and it is likewise a process where values are pushed into the background. In Gane's critical approach, disenchantment "lent legitimacy to a secular science that in turn rejected and *devalued* all religious values." This is *a loss of both values and meaning* which engenders a shift of the social order. It is a process of "depersonalization of the social world", where "instrumental calculation steadily suppresses the passionate pursuit of ultimate values." ¹²⁹

This depersonalisation and the suppression of values will be relevant in my material further on, where "the personal" and "values" will be central. 130 The loss of values and meaning is one feature of disenchantment, which comes with the loss of unity that was present in premodern culture. 131 and a central split is between religion and science. There can be no reconciliation of modern values through modern science, and the conflict between science and values will be discussed in this thesis in relation to climate change. Scientific reports offer empirical evidence for the reality of anthropogenic climate change, which gives rise to questions of ethical concern, such as the role of humans as agents causing climate change. Although anthropogenic climate change is defined in scientific term, science cannot answer the ethical questions. This is relevant in my work because no scientific procedure can answer the question of values that arises in relation to climate change. The irony is that scientific knowledge is unable to resolve the very crisis it inaugurated, according to Gane. 132 The loss of values, meaning and unity forms a distinctive part of the grid of the iron cage of disenchantment. Richard Jenkins adds a further loss; disenchantment is the historical process "by which the natural world and all areas of human experience become experienced and as less mysterious". 133 The grid of the cage seems to consist of a number of losses: the loss of values, meaning or mysteries, the death of magic, and the death of nature.

¹²⁶ Gane 2002:21.

¹²⁷ Gane 2002:15.

¹²⁸ Gane 2002:26.

¹²⁹ Gane 2002:26 for discussion see 23-27.

¹³⁰ Talal Asad (2018) discusses this depersonalisation in relation the calculative reason and secularisation "secularization doesn't merely enable human being to see the world as it really is; it does this by establish a distance between self and external reality, something the primitives (so the Europeans believed) can't do." Asad 2018:16.

¹³¹ Gane 2002:35.

¹³² Gane 2002:35 "[S]cience disenchants the traditional (religious) basis upon which values have been legitimated but itself provides no grounds upon which questions of values may finally be resolved. Rather, questions of value and meaning lie outside of the realm of science for they demand a subjective preference, the rightness of which cannot be proven through scientific means."

¹³³ Jenkins, R 2000:12.

1.4.4 Disenchantment – The Death of Magic and Nature

Many scholars discuss re-enchantment and the vitality of magic in modern society, ¹³⁴ for example in relation to New Age, but in my perspective magic is a key to understand modern forms of spirituality, especially in relation to art and other forms of expression that can make us understand how humans relate to their environment, particularly in the art of the Anthropocene. Magic is not left behind but has prevailed; the so-called erosion of magic was rather a differentiation of magic, that is, magic became restricted, not only to the private sphere of secular religion, but to certain areas of life, but this should not be mistaken for the death of magic. The historian of philosophy and science Robert Ralley argues that magic differs from religion because it concerns matters like the need like food, shelter, avoiding and recovering from disease. It requires minimal theory and infrastructure. 135 This notion of the benefit of magic as meaning, as "the ideas and practices [...] that gave meaning to the smallest aspects of daily life"136 is a minimalistic notion of 'magic'. This may seem a modern secular version, but it makes it possible to find forms of magic that would otherwise have gone unnoticed, and this minimalist magic works in relation to my thesis. To reject the notion of the 'death of magic' means that it is still alive. Consequently, in being alive it is a phenomena that has undergone changes and continues to do so. Today's magic is not necessarily the same magic as in premodern times, but it may share the feature of offering meaning to life and events that otherwise would be hard to understand.

The distinction between religion and magic is implicit in the scheme; religion is considered to be a more developed form of culture than magic, which is seen as 'primitive' or premodern. Again, the understanding of the premodern society and modernity, which was discussed in relation to disenchantment, comes into the picture. Today scholars criticise the evolutionism of Weber's account of disenchantment, '137 which assumes that humans gradually become more developed, and even more civilised. If disenchantment, as part of rationalisation and progress, is considered to be a unidirectional process and a universalising tendency of modernity then this may be the case. Clearly his notion of religion as replacing magic falls prey to some evolutionistic traps in the trajectory of modernity. Edith Hanke, Lawrence A. Scaff and Sam Whimster consider the evolutionism as an

_

¹³⁴ Hanegraaff 2003. Hanegraaff argues that that the transformation of magic under the impact of modernisation and secularisation resulted in the paradoxical phenomenon of a 'disenchanted magic', and it is in this form that magic has survived the disenchantment of the world.

Ralley 2010: 142–143. In a historical perspective there was no theology or organising principles governing the divine powers harnessed by magicians as these powers were understood to operate automatically there was no question of having to behave with moral probity in order to be successful. Perhaps most importantly, there was no continuously existing group comprising practitioners and clients: practitioners were called in by clients each time they were needed.

¹³⁶ Ralley 2010:142.

¹³⁷ Hanke, Scaff and Whimster 2019.

erratic character of the theory which has become obsolete. ¹³⁸ In a global perspective, modernity is far from a universalistic process. There are, as postcolonial voices such as Talad Asad have noted, multiple modernities. ¹³⁹ Further, the theory of modernity depicts the social organisations of modern societies, but the notion of the modern man, as distinct from so-called primitive man, is nonetheless proven to be a myth, because the evolution of mankind shows that the species *Homo sapiens* is far older than the coming of modernity in the sixteenth century. Today the myth of the modern man, is challenged by the Anthropocene and the sixth mass extinction, which will be discussed later in this thesis. There is reason to reject, not only the evolutionistic bedrock, but even more the trust in continuous progress which may indicate a deterministic bedrock.

The argument rejects the evolutionistic notion of magic as a state left behind in human development, and the same is true of enchantment. Hence, rather than an evolutionistic model where magic and enchantment are left behind, they were never really ruled out by the power of rationalisation. Although magic and enchantment may have persisted like any other social phenomena, they have changed throughout history, and 'magic' rather points towards art and an animated world within contemporary alternative spiritualities. Ian Alexander Cuthbertson notes that in arguing that the world is re-enchanted, scholars typically do not mean that there is a renewed preference for "magical means" over "technical ones" or a resurgence of belief in "spirits", but rather that there is a renewed interest in the wonders and marvels that are associated with enchantment. 141

1.4.5 Disenchantment – a Tameable World

The metaphor of the iron cage, and the prospect of a possible escape, is central for the development of wild enchantment. Richard Jenkins contributes to these metaphors that deepen my analysis as he states that in a disenchanted world everything is *tameable*, and this tameable world is of course a powerful counterimage to rewilding. Jenkins offers a critical contemporary rereading of Weber's

Hanke, Scaff and Whimster (2019) claim that Weber's interpretation proceeds from the view that the history of religion must be understood in developmental or evolutionary terms, although the concept of 'evolution' should never be identified with that of Charles Darwin. Weber was always sceptical about his own time, and he often placed the word "progress" in quotation marks.

¹³⁹ Asad 2005.

Ralley puts Max Weber in the same corner as Sir Edward Burnett Taylor and Sir James Frazer, who placed magic in their evolutionary schemes of how mankind developed from 'savagery' to that epitome of civilisation, the modern West. They are proponents of the assumption that magic belongs to a particular period of society's development. They further claimed magic was being removed, or even should be removed from the world. In contrast we have Emile Durkheim (1858–1927) Marcel Mauss (1872–1950), and Henri Huber (1872–1927), Bronislaw Malinowski (1884–1942), Sir Edward Evans Pritchard (1902–1973).

¹⁴¹ Cuthbertson 2018:5.

theory of disenchantment, where scepticism about a certain concept includes a definition of what it is.¹⁴² Disenchantment is a historical process by which the natural world and all areas of human experience become "less mysterious":¹⁴³ The world becomes knowable, predictable and possible for humans to manipulate. It can be said that the world becomes numb. Thus, the world is conquered and incorporated into the interpretive schema of science and rational government. Jenkins draws the coordination between the less mysterious and tameable world and an increasingly human-centred world.

In a disenchanted world everything is understandable and tameable, even if not, for the moment, understood and tamed. Increasingly the world becomes human-centred and the universe – only apparently paradoxically – more impersonal.¹⁴⁴

Metaphorically speaking, the tameable world could easily end up in the iron cage of rationalisation. These metaphors of disenchantment, the "tameable world" or "the iron cage" contribute to a discussion of the wild enchantment I picture in relation to rewilding. I emphasise Jenkins' notion of a disenchanted world as "tameable", and disenchantment as an increasingly human-centred world, which will be important for my own analysis in relation to rewilding.

The tameable world addresses a distinctive feature in disenchantment: the belief that it is possible to master all things - especially nature - by calculation, and capitalism is the archetypical example of the ambition to master all things by calculation; a further one is science. Today in the era of Anthropocene, scholars such as Bruno Latour note that this control of nature is no longer possible. Thus, the process of disenchantment was most evident in the West, and Protestantism, the Enlightenment and capitalism were distinctive aspects of this, accompanied by rationalisation, and progress is one of its most distinctive features. Progress is, together with development and growth, central in modern history of the West, but it is subject to hard critique, not only as a scholarly pursuit; it is central in the environmental discourse, as will be discussed in this thesis. These metaphors – the iron cage and the tameable world - have the ring of Carolyn Merchant's Death of Nature. Merchant offers a feminist perspective as she depicts how the modern mechanistic/scientific conception of nature as dead matter, with proponents such as Francis Bacon and René Descartes, replaced an earlier of conception of Mother Earth. The androcentric worldview, that is, the domination of women, is an expression of the human domination of nature, and consequently, nature has been pictured as feminine, wild, in need of control, and should therefore be kept under the domination of male power. Merchant saw the death of nature as a shift from an organic world to a mechanistic worldview, a shift that was conducted by the proponents of rationalisation

¹⁴² Jenkins, R 2000:12.

¹⁴³ Jenkins, R 2000:12.

¹⁴⁴ Jenkins, R 2000:12.

in the birth of modern science. Bacon, saw knowledge of nature as a means for power and control over nature, and Descartes proposed a mechanistic worldview where the cry of an animal in pain was nothing but the creaking of the machinery. Merchant describes the scientific revolution as a process whereby,

...the image of an organic cosmos with a living female earth at its centre gave way to a mechanistic world view in which nature was reconstituted as dead and passive, to be *dominated by humans*.¹⁴⁵

The dead and passive nature has been the bedrock for an anthropocentric and androcentric worldview, and this is distinctive in the project of exploiting and conquering the world. Hence, the death of nature was a precondition for taming it. Merchant's and Jenkins' notion of a disenchanted world as "tameable" and increasingly human-centred world is highly relevant to my work as I discuss the challenges of rewilding. Disenchantment is an instrument for power and control of the world, but more so, of the larger-than-human world. In this sense it is not only the death of magic, but the death of the wild. Jenkins' analysis of disenchantment as the tameable and increasingly human-centred world contributes to my concept of wild enchantments. As I proceed from Jenkins' disenchantment metaphor of a tameable world, it is possible to escape creating a bipolarity or a dichotomisation between the terms, as I see wild enchantments as enchantment in its own terms.

1.4.6 Re-enchantment in the Heart of Modernity

Richard Jenkins and Christopher Partridge argue that enchantment and reenchantment are found at the heart of modernity, not as a reminiscence of a premodern world but as a distinct feature of an alternative modernity where enchantment forms an alternative. Richard Jenkins stresses co-existence, in respect to disenchantment and (re)enchantment, as modern societies are an array of opposing tendencies, themes and forces. ¹⁴⁶ Despite the scepticism about the disenchantment thesis, as a one-directional view of history, it is not necessary to get rid of the notion of disenchantment altogether. ¹⁴⁷ Jenkins considers enchantment and re-enchantment as equally distinctively modern. These are responses to modernity, and while disenchantment has been the stimulus to re-enchantment, enchantment may generate its own disenchantments. ¹⁴⁸ In respect of disenchantment and (re)enchantment, modern societies are an array of opposing tendencies, themes

¹⁴⁵ Merchant 1990:xvi italics added

¹⁴⁶ Jenkins, R 2000:11. Jenkins draws from his study of the Millennium Dome in London, and the celebrations of the millennium shift.

¹⁴⁷ Jenkins, R 2000:13.

¹⁴⁸ Jenkins, R 2000:11.

and forces, according to Jenkins.¹⁴⁹ As scholars focus on enchantment in its own term, and various forms of enchantment are suggested, the further ambition is to free enchantment from the discussion on the role of religion in modern secular society, and the academic quest concerning the disappearance or revival of religion.

Christopher Partridge sets the re-enchantment in the contemporary West in the alternative spiritual milieu, which concerns a variety of ways an increasing number of people are discovering and articulating spiritual meaning in their lives. 150 It involves new ways of believing and the transmission of those beliefs in societies where the old ways of believing are declining. Partridge claims that these spiritual reflections are entwined with popular culture and urban myths. Although new forms of spirituality differ from traditional religious forms, it would be a mistake to dismiss them. New spiritualities may not require their adherents to sit in pews and believe in systematic theologies; it is erroneous to simply compare this spirituality to mainstream religious beliefs and consider it to be insignificant in the lives of those people. These new ways of believing are not allied to the state or located in large buildings next to the village green, but this is not synonymous with them being socially insignificant. Partridge emphasises that beliefs may be transmitted through popular culture, but this does not mean that they are trivialised. 151 He describes "the alternative and holistic spiritual milieu" as a "constantly evolving religio-cultural milieu." Re-enchantment takes place in alternative spiritualities, in a non-Christian milieu that falls outside traditional notion of religious institutions. Institutions are replaced with other forms of social organisations, and religious traditions, with their religious canon and authority, are replaced with popular culture. In formulating his ideas of 'occulture' Partridge goes beyond what Colin Campbell defines as 'the cultic milieu' and he defines the 'occulture' in popular culture as the new spiritual atmosphere in the West; the reservoir feeding new spiritual spring; the soil in which the spiritualities are growing, the environment within which new methodologies and worldviews are passed on to an occulturally curious generation.¹⁵³

¹⁴⁹ Jenkins, R 2000:13.

¹⁵⁰ Partridge 2005:1 Partridge's definition of re-enchantment is partly an answer to the secularisation discussion that is going on within the study of religion. Partridge argues that traditional forms of religion, such as Christianity in the West, might be part of a process of secularisation, but this is far from the whole picture.

¹⁵¹ Partridge 2005:1.

¹⁵² Partridge 2005:2. Partridge argues in polemic with Steve Bruce, who is known as a proponent of the secularisation thesis. Partridge claims "What we are witnessing in the West is a confluence of secularization and sacralization. Spiritualities emerge that are not only quite different from the dying forms of religion, but are often defined over against them, and are articulated in ways that do not carry the baggage of traditional religion. Unlike those forms of religion which are in serious decline, the new spiritual awakening utilizes thought forms, ideas, and practices which are not at all alien to the majority of Westerners. They emerge from an essentially non-Christian, religio-cultural milieu." Looking at traditional religion and leaving out alternative and holistic milieus leads to erroneous assumptions about the continuous secularisation of the West, Partridge concludes.

¹⁵³ Partridge 2005:2.

1.4.7 Enchantment as a Complex Mood

Jane Bennett's phenomenological approach pictures the enchantment of modern life, and it is worth noting that while Weber considered the disenchantment of the *world*, Bennett's enchantment is a complex *mood*. This mood may include a sense of wonder, but this is not the whole picture. She approaches enchantment with a certain degree of caution, and even warns that enchantment may charm and disturb. ¹⁵⁴ In Bennett's view enchantment involves an *encounter* and a meeting with something unexpected. ¹⁵⁵ I consider this important because the kind of enchantments that I am interested in are not only inner transcendental experiences.

[E]nchantment entails a state of wonder, and of the distinctions in this state is the temporary suspension of chronological time and bodily movement. To be enchanted, then, is to participate in a momentarily immobilizing encounter; it is to be transfixed, spellbound. [...] The mood I'm calling enchantment involves, in the first instance, a surprising encounter, a meeting with something that you did not expect and are not fully prepare to engage. ¹⁵⁶

Bennett offers a number of synonyms for being enchanted; "a momentarily immobilizing encounter; it is to be transfixed, spellbound" and "a surprising encounter, a meeting with something that you did not expect and are not fully prepare to engage."157 Rather than simply asking for a definition or analysis of enchantment, Bennett asks: What does it mean to be enchanted? How does it feel be enchanted? In what circumstances does this mood come to us? I include these questions in my study, as I develop my notion of "wild enchantment", in conversation with Bennett. The enchantment Bennett pursues involves momentary or fleeting attachments: "moments of enchantment rather than an enchanted way of life", 158 but these moments can be fostering moments with the aim to experiencing wonder. What is relevant in relation to my work is that Bennett describes deliberative strategies for fostering enchantment, for experiencing or engaging with enchantment, and I relate this to various practices that I have studied. 159 Further, Bennett separates enchantment's affective appeal from any intellectual engagement with posited supernatural beings or moral forces. Rather than enchantments in the form or 'spirits' or magic, she turns the attention to "natural and cultural sites that have the power to enchant", 160 and in my work I present of a number of places at

¹⁵⁴ Bennett 2001:34.

¹⁵⁵ Bennett, 2001:5.

¹⁵⁶ Bennett 2001:5.

¹⁵⁷ Bennett 2001:5.

¹⁵⁸ Bennett 2001:10.

¹⁵⁹ Bennett 2001:4.

¹⁶⁰ Bennett 2001:3.

Dartmoor in Devon, UK. Visiting these sites that have "the power to enchant" offers experiences of the complexity and hybridity of the natural world.

As I draw on Bennett, the question is why I need to the modifier wild enchantments. The mood Bennett calls enchantment involves a surprising encounter, a meeting with something unexpected. This contains both a pleasurable feeling of being charmed by the novel and yet unprocessed encounter and "a more unheimlich (uncanny) feeling of being disrupted or torn out of one's default sensorypsychic-intellectual disposition." ¹⁶² Taken together this gives the overall effect of enchantment "as a mood of fullness, plenitude or liveliness, a sense of having had one's nerves or circulation or concentration power turned up or recharged." ¹⁶³ Bennett mentions fear as one of those extraordinary states, although she states that "fear cannot dominate if enchantment is to be". 164 At this point I find Bennett's view insufficient, and my critique is that Bennett do not offer a way to overcome the fear or the moods of uncanniness, and these darker moods become distinctive in relation to climate change, loss of biodiversity and ecological crisis. I develop this throughout this thesis, as I elaborate on my own concept of wild enchantments, in relation to my field and in discussion with Bennett. Next, I turn to another important contributor, Christopher Partridge.

1.4.8 Eco-enchantment and Paganisation

Christopher Partridge introduces eco-enchantment, which is a form of enchantment of green concerns. Partridge distinguishes eco-enchantment from eco-theologising within contemporary mainstream religious traditions, sometimes referred to as the greening of religion. Eco-enchantment is the sacralisation of nature and environmental ethics; it is an alternative spirituality that can be found within the green movement, one that is particularly influenced by Paganism and deep ecology and which, according to Partridge, can be understood as essentially neo-Romantic in orientation. Partridge sees two distinctive forms of eco-enchantment: Paganisation, and Easternisation, that is, they draw mainly on Pagan or Eastern sources of inspiration. I focus on paganisation and the reason why paganisation is relevant in my work, despite the fact that I do not work exclusively with Pagan groups, is that there is an important intersection between rewilding and Paganism and particularly between the conception of 'the wild' and 'the pagan' that I am exploring. I share Partridge's focus on the eco-enchantment and green concerns, and eco-theologising in religious traditions falls outside my discussion.

¹⁶¹ Bennett 2001:3.

¹⁶² Bennett 2001:5.

¹⁶³ Bennett 2001:5.

¹⁶⁴ Bennett 2001:5.

The strength of eco-enchantment is that it relates to the green movement, and there is a further point and that is the relation to the dark. Partridge argues that "environmental concern has much in common with key occultural themes and tends to be inherently eclectic, it has a strong socializing bias". 165 He uses the term 'occulture' to refer to these darker sides of the alternative spiritualities which are related to popular culture. Partridge makes a distinction between occulture and esoterism. While the esoteric tradition goes back to the Hellenistic world, what today is referred to a contemporary esoteric thought can be traced back to the Renaissance, to the modern revival and romanticism in the nineteenth century, and to the late modern period in the 1960s. The western tradition of esoterism is challenged by the emergence of a political and cultural context that has proved particularly conducive to the proliferation of broadly esoteric ideas. What Partridge refers to as 'occulture' is not occultism or esoterism in the sense of being hidden or exclusive only for the few who have been initiated or concerned with a Gnostic privilege. Occulture is embedded in a culture, and primarily in the focus is on popular culture or counter-culture, and, in the words of Partridge; occulture is ordinary: it is neither hidden nor unfamiliar, but ordinary and part of everyday life. 166 The term 'occulture' has been criticised for being vague, as it could include a vast range of popular cultural phenomenon. Still, the advantage for my part is that the term 'occulture' refers to darker sides of the alternative spiritualities. 167 It relates to the darker sides, as seen in my concept of dark green spirituality.

My interest is in counter-*culture*, rather than popular culture, because the relation between counter-culture and social movements is quite distinctive, and in my case, it is the green movement. Through this relation to social movements, counter-culture has a social and political ambition to contribute to change. Therefore, I modify 'occulture' to introduce the term 'eco-occulture', which refers to the cultural expressions of darker sides of the green spiritualities. My interest in the dark is seen in my critique of the simple sense of wonder. In times of climate change and ecocide there is a need to address the darker moods, and Partridge's approach contributes here. My term 'eco-occulture', referring to forms of expressions of counterculture within the green movement, thus defines counterculture in relation to social movements.¹⁶⁸

_

¹⁶⁵ Partridge 2005:43.

¹⁶⁶ First, the term 'occulture' has been criticised for vagueness; it can include any sort of references in popular cultures and popular cultural phenomena. Moreover, it can be objected that occulture, and its relation to popular culture, is a trivialisation of the occult. Popular culture may be in sharp contrast to, or even a contradiction to, occultism and esoteric teaching of the hidden knowledge, which is only open to the initiated.

¹⁶⁷ Partridge 2005:43.

¹⁶⁸ Braunstein and Doyle 2002.

1.4.9 Wild Enchantments and Eco-occulture

In dark times, facing anthropogenic climate change, it may be difficult to maintain feelings of wonder and enchantment. The loss of these moods would indeed be a tragedy, but fortunately, this is not the state of the world. Although wonder and enchantment do not stay unaffected by the times we are living in. I have found that the reconciliation between the sense of wonder and enchantment and the darker moods – such as grief over the loss of biodiversity – to be the core of my work. 'Wild enchantments' is the term I use in relation to my own field, and it is notable that I refer to enchantments in the plural, as one way to mark the complexity of the term. As we have seen, Bennett's view contribute a great deal to my conception of wild enchantments, but I also gain insights from scholars such as Jenkins, Partridge, and a number of others, and draw on their contributions in formulating my understanding of wild enchantments. Following Cuthbertson, enchantment ought to be addressed in its own terms, that is, not just as form where the prefix, disenchantment or re-enchantment, determines the discussion and makes enchantment secondary. Therefore, I set out with the aim to approach enchantment in its own terms, but as Bennett shows, it is a complex mood we are dealing with. Hence, to get rid of the prefix, there may still be a need for an accompanying term to make clear what exactly what kind of enchantment is being discussed, and to further analyse the complexity of enchantment.

In introducing my term 'wild enchantments', I follow the model of other scholars who have contributed to the analysis of enchantment in a number of suggestions that elaborate on the term; such as Partridge's eco-enchantment. A further contribution is the archaeologist Christina Fredengren's 'deep time enchantment', which contributes significantly to my notion, as well as the anthropologist Jay Griffith's 'reciprocal enchantment', and the historian Patrick Curry's 'radical enchantment'. I discuss these contributions continuously in this thesis and develop my conception of 'wild enchantment' in a discussion with them. Further; 'enchantment' has been applied in a number of studies where it is related to new areas and practices, such as enchantment and skill in relation to craftsmanship, enchantment and nostalgia, enchantment and heritage, enchantment and storytelling, enchantment as method, to mention just a few works, and I come back to these later on. I take all these studies as a sign of how 'enchantment' is a frame that make us able to see and to address something that otherwise would escape our attention.

I introduce the term 'wild enchantments' because I need to address the full range of the complex mood of enchantment, and to reach beyond the simple notion of enchantment as a sense of wonder, or emotions such as love and reverence. Environmentalists are often pictured, or even stereotyped, as activists driven by the love and reverence towards nature which they work to protect, but this is just half the picture. Environmentalists may work to protect a site they love, such as a beautiful forest, but all too often they fail to protect it and instead they have to witness how timber companies turn it into a clear-cut. These places are ecologically

wounded places and they give rise to feelings of grief and sorrow. In times of climate change, these feelings are not only related to specific places, but more generally, the emotional responses that come with the global threat of climate change and ecocide. Thus, the moods that are set in play here range from the "dark" shades of grief and sorrow to eeriness or uncanniness, and they include bright moods, such as love, reverence and a sense of wonder. Therefore, this colourful spectrum of moods ranges from light to darkness, and it is necessary to be able to address this from a theoretical perspective.

1.5 Theories of the Environmental Humanities

Theories of the environmental humanities are characterised by interdisciplinary approaches that are distinctive in the field, and this chapter opens with a discussion of the Anthropocene. I present theories from environmental history and ecocriticism, and introduce central concepts and conceptions, I discuss narrative, practice and place, which I take to be in the centre of my study.

1.5.1 Anthropocene – a New Geological Epoch

Climate change will change the world, and there is a name for this new world: the Anthropocene. Paul Crutzen and Eugene Stoemer¹⁶⁹ introduced the term in 2000, characterising the present as a shift between geological epochs; the Anthropocene is a new geological epoch, and its condition differs greatly from the old epoch, the Holocene, that has come to an end. The idea of a shift between geological epochs and the terms Anthropocene and Holocene has steadily gained acceptance, not only among scientists, but among scholars of the environmental humanities. The Anthropocene illustrate the interdisciplinarity of environmental humanities, which often relates to scientific conceptions or reports. Scientific evidence has increasingly mounted that the changes wrought by global warming will affect the world's climate and biological diversity as well as geology, and not only in this century, but for millennia to come. The idea behind the term Anthropocene is that we have entered a new epoch in Earth's geological history, an epoch that is characterised by the advent of human species as a geological force. ¹⁷⁰ The human species is a geological force, due to its numbers, and the statistics on population growth predict an accelerating number to come, and secondly due to its lifestyle that is based on overuse of nature resources. This should not be taken to mean that man is in control. On the contrary, the control, in the sense that man has the power to tame nature, was

¹⁶⁹ Crutzen and Stoermer 2000.

¹⁷⁰ Scranton 2015:20.

to a certain extent possible in the Holocene as the climatological stability offered a world that was predictable and controllable, but that stability is now lost.

Climate change is not the only thing that calls for a geological time perspective, the sixth extinction, or the sixth mass extinction, is part of the conception of Anthropocene. The present can be understood as a key period, where the transformation of the earth is happening at such an accelerated rate that it could threaten the life conditions for many species on the planet, a situation that is referred to as the sixth mass extinction, which is an extreme form of loss of biodiversity. Biodiversity is a term that refers to life on Earth in all aspects of its diversity, interactions living organisms, and importantly, the fates of these organisms.¹⁷¹ The notion of the sixth mass extinction and the massive loss of biodiversity that are taking place right now was suggested in 2008 an article by David B. Wake and Vance T. Vredenburg,¹⁷² This is not a unique incident – five extinctions have happened before, but what is unique is the cause:

Intense human pressure, both direct and indirect, is having profound effects on natural environments. [...] The increasing pressure from habitat destruction and climate change is likely to have major impacts on narrowly adapted and distributed species. ¹⁷³

Wake and Vredenburg refer to research that shows that we are now entering a profound spasm of extinction and that one of its main causes is global climate change. Furthermore, both global climate change and many other factors (e.g., habitat destruction and modification) behind extinction events are directly related to the activities of humans.¹⁷⁴ In the words of Wake and Vredenburg: "One weedy species has unwittingly achieved the ability to directly affect its own fate and that of most of the other species on this planet."¹⁷⁵ Elizabeth Kolbert writes that if they are correct, "those of us alive today not only are witnessing one of the rarest events in life's history, we are also causing it."¹⁷⁶ Extinctions have happened before in geological history, and can be seen as natural, but the sixth has, according to Kolbert, "an unnatural history". Hence, the notion of the sixth mass extinction challenges the survival of life on earth, and furthermore, challenges human species who are causing this through climate change.

Living in times of climate change is a gigantic change of the conditions on planet Earth Bruno Latour, anthropologist of modernity, compares it to a "counter-

¹⁷¹ Wake and Vredenberg 2008.

¹⁷² Wake and. Vredenburg 2008.

¹⁷³ Wake and Vredenberg 2008.

¹⁷⁴ Wake and Vredenberg 2008.

¹⁷⁵ Wake and Vredenberg 2008.

¹⁷⁶ Kolbert 2014.

Copernican revolution". ¹⁷⁷ Latour describes the Anthropos of the Anthropocene as Babel after the fall. Humans are no longer set apart from terrestrial history. ¹⁷⁸ From now on we will be living in the New Climate regime. The New Climate regime forces humans to turn their gaze towards the Earth – to face Gaia. Facing Gaia means losing the modernist/scientific *control of nature*, where the laws of nature were considered to be stable. It is no longer possible to contemplate the tragedy from a distant shore, as a place that has *no history*. Latour claims: "from now on there are no more spectators, because there is no shore that has not been mobilized in the drama of geohistory." ¹⁷⁹ This marks the end of the distinction between nature and culture, and in its place, Latour puts 'the world,' or Gaia. Thus, Gaia forces us to give up looking at the Earth as an object, and humans as the only creature worthy of being subjects. Latour claims that "the Earth is no longer 'objective,' in the sense that it can be kept at distance, considered from the point of view of Sirius". ¹⁸⁰ Besides questioning who can be a subject, he likewise asks what it means to be a subject; especially in encounters with nonhuman beings.

As soon as we come close to nonhumans beings, we do not find in them the inertia that would allow us, by contrast, to take ourselves to be agents but, on the contrary, we find agencies that are no longer without connection to what we are and what we do. 181

Being subjects poses everything as agents in the network, and this includes nonhumans as well. Latour's agency theory is much discussed and criticised, I not take sides in this criticism because it would lead astray in the discussion here, but I see one benefit with the perspective of agency, which is based on my (possible fallible) understanding of Latour, and which contributes to my work. In simple terms the perspective of agency encourages us to turn the analysis away from asking what something is (as an object) and instead ask what it does (as a subject). This has the consequence of allowing us to see old things in a new perspective and to see new thing, previously unseen, but more so how to be able to be less anthropocentric in your study. To shift the question to ask; what climate change does - not just to human beings, but more generally to all living things on earth, will contribute much to the analysis in this thesis. Applied to climate change, defining anthropogenic climate change as increasing temperature due to emission of carbon dioxide is not an analysis that adds anything new. However, if we ask what climate change does, the answer might be that it will change living conditions on Earth dramatically. The analysis leads further by asking how it will change our living conditions, self-

¹⁷⁷ Latour 2017:61, italics added.

¹⁷⁸ Latour 2017:122.

¹⁷⁹ Latour 2017:40.

¹⁸⁰ Latour 2017:62.

¹⁸¹ Latour 2017:62.

understanding, and how it is possible to adjust to these changes. Facing Gaia concerns questioning man's self-image as a creature that is given a privileged position, separate from the rest of the living world. The Anthropocene is not an immoderate extension of anthropo*centrism*; it means that humans are no longer set apart from terrestrial history. The Anthropocene means living on a planetary scale.

1.5.2 La Longue Durée and Deep Time

For a scholarly pursuit, it may seem to be an immense task to study the shift between the Holocene and the Anthropocene in a contemporary perspective; in a Foucauldian spirit, however, it is precisely shifts and discontinuities, rather than epochs and continuity, that are of interest to study. Thus, for a historian working with a contemporary study, it means writing history in real time, because this is not a shift in the sense of entering a new *historical* epoch; it is the new *geological* era. This is somewhat extraordinary; it forces historians to approach a new kind of shift, and it strengthens the perspective of environmental history. The timespan that becomes part of the perspectives is far wider than what historians usually deal with. Being in the midst of shifting geological epochs is rare; we are in a kind of in-between days, which poses particular challenges for the historical discipline. It concerns firstly, the understanding of time and epochs, secondly, man's relation to nature/culture and to geological processes, and thirdly, it is in these in-between days that our fundamental values are on trial. Taken together these challenges make it all the more interesting to study, because this shift means totally different living conditions.

How can historians reach beyond the time range of human history? It challenges the frame of the discipline to go beyond the well-known footprints of human history. Two theoretical terms that enable us to think these new time scales are *la longue durée* and deep time. As the first concerns millennia, the second refer to ranges of geological scale. Climate change marks the beginning of the Anthropocene, the new geological era that follows the Holocene, the era that was characterised by climatological stability. The loss of stability is one of the key features of Anthropocene. The present is a key period, where the transformation of the earth is happening at such an accelerated rate that it could threaten the life conditions for many species on the planet. In order to understand the present, this extended time perspective, *la longue durée*, is necessary. Hence, the Anthropocene is more than a

¹⁸² Latour 2017:122.

Weintrobe 2013:xix. The psychoanalyst Sally Weintrobe writes: "After 12,000 years of unusual stability, the world's climate is on the move. The magnitude of the changes and their impacts on humans have so far been modest. But the scientific evidence shows that evolving patterns of temperature and precipitation will become increasingly apparent and significant, as will slow but incluctable sea level rise. [...] The nature and scale of the challenge is daunting. Indeed, it is already too late to avoid some climatic change as the Earth's systems respond to the disturbance we have already created."

historical epoch which may last for decades or centuries. This is quite extraordinary; the present shift is different from the shift between historical epochs, such as between, let us say, the Middle Ages and the Renaissance. The philosopher Timothy Morton¹⁸⁴ stresses the difference between being in the Anthropocene and other eras, because the very idea of being 'in' an era is in question. We are, Morton notes "'in' the Anthropocene, but that era is also 'in' a moment of far longer duration."¹⁸⁵ Thus, the challenge of the Anthropocene is to face the task of thinking on temporal and spatial scales that are unfamiliar, even monstrously gigantic, and I come back to this throughout the thesis.

Thus, living in a geological era means covering long-term perspectives, beyond the range of human history: The Anthropocene is the first fully anti-anthropocentric concept, because it becomes necessary to question many of the taken-for-granted boundaries, such as human and non-human. As noted before, the Anthropocene is, despite its name, not an immoderate extension of anthropo*centrism*. Latour pictures the Anthropos of Anthropocene as Babel after the fall, when humans no longer are set apart from terrestrial history. ¹⁸⁶ To think of human history as part of terrestrial history would extend our time scale considerably. Modern industrialisation took off two hundred years ago; this is a very short period, set within the perspective of terrestrial history. Yet, during the industrial period, the consequences of fossil fuel combustion and accelerating use of natural resources have caused the current climate crisis. How could such a short moment become so distinctive for times to come? How can we put this short moment in a context?

There is a concept for thinking these extended time scales — 'deep time'. The concept of deep time is related to the ancient landscape because it illustrates the intersection between long-term geological and relatively short historical processes. 'Deep time' is rooted in challenges to the biblical narrative. James Hutton observed deep stratigraphy exposed in the strata of Scottish sea-cliffs, and he concluded that the Earth was 4.5 billons years old, much older than Bishop James Ussher's proposal that it had been created in 4004 BC. ¹⁸⁷ The deep time perspective concerns the important relationship between history and natural science, as firmly acknowledged in the current era of major climate and environmental challenges. Yet how this relationship is actually nurtured and worked out is often more uncertain. ¹⁸⁸ Natural science concerns not just the facts about the reality of climate change but also biology and zoology, how man and the larger-than-human world has interacted. Environmental historian Dipesh Chakrabarty argues that that in order to understand our situation and responsibilities within the contemporary world with its climate and environmental problems, we need to question the barriers between histories of

¹⁸⁴ Morton 2016.

¹⁸⁵ Morton 2015.

¹⁸⁶ Latour 2017:122.

¹⁸⁷ Fredengren 2016:484.

¹⁸⁸ Fredengren 2016.

geological deep time, natural and human history. This has major implications for how history is studied and comprehended. Such a union has the capacity to query what a world without humanity might be like, and analysing the important boundary of the Anthropocene, where following the Holocene, human beings are understood to have crossed the nature/culture boundary to become one of the main actors in global geological change. ¹⁸⁹ Chakrabarty offers arguments for the need for deep time perspective in a theoretical discourse, and as the philosopher Timothy Morton notes, we live on more timescales than we can grasp. ¹⁹⁰ This gives rise to challenges in relating these perspective to a field study. The question is: how this can deep time perspective be brought on board in an empirical study?

The archaeologist Christina Fredengren argues that archaeology may contribute to the anthropogenic predicament, not just that the encounter with heritage may stimulate engagement, but from a more theoretical perspective, the need for a shift from an understanding of heritage as social constructs to an acknowledgement of heritage as an emerging onto-ethic-epistemological phenomenon.¹⁹¹ In this deep time perspective, encounters with materiality from the past contribute to the discourse on environmental ethics. Fredengren discusses the intersection between deep time and history and her study concerns how people's experiences of meeting with materialities from the past may give rise to religious effects, which she refers to as deep time enchantment (as in experiences of the otherworld, in enchantment, hierophanies or hauntings), which may inform modern ecological ethics. 192 Fredengren's study and her term 'deep time enchantment' is an important contribution to my conception of 'wild enchantment'. This deals with how the encounter with archaeological deep time, in past and present, can be powerful. I give examples of such encounters of deep time in my study, which partly takes place in Dartmoor, a place famous for archaeological remains from the Bronze Age. Deep time and history contribute to discussions on environmental engagement, spirituality and religion. Fredengren formulates a number of questions that are relevant for my study. How can meeting with the deep-time archaeological material provide encounters that give rise to enchanting effects? How can these deep time

¹⁸⁹ Chakrabarty 2009:213-20.

¹⁹⁰ Morton 2015.

¹⁹¹ Fredengren 2016 discusses archaeology's central role in drawing the long-term perspectives that cover climatological and environmental changes in ancient times. This is referred to as deep time perspective. This is not simply a matter of constructing long-term models of palaeo-environmental change. Archaeology has a central role in evidencing anthropocentric impact, and thus achieving a well-founded evaluation of "the anthropogenic predicament". The subject has the potential to contribute to the wider debate on environmental humanities. Though it deals with memory and time, considers archaeological deep time materialisation processes. When deep time and material formation processes came to the fore in discussions about climate and environmental change, the deep time perspective is distinct from the social constructivist heritage research which argues that heritage should be understood in a contemporary context.

¹⁹² Fredengren 2016.

encounters play a role in development of environmental ethics and issues of intergenerational care?¹⁹³

In my study I give accounts of participants' experiences of the ancient landscape of Dartmoor, and I have participated in workshops that work with conceptions of deep time, which try to give an answer to the challenge of how to make these vast time spans into something that we can grasp. I think these perspectives contribute to my study, as they offer models of "the anthropogenic predicament" in relation to deep time perspectives which contribute to the discourse on environmental ethics, and second, in my thesis I give accounts from my field, with visits to Dartmoor, a famous for its Bronze Age remains, where the encounters with archaeological materialities will be discussed in relation to deep time enchantments. My theoretical contribution here is to bring together deep time perspectives, and "deep time enchantment" with another central concept in environmental discourse, shifting baselines, because I have found that many of the workshop are working to negotiate baselines.

1.5.3 Central Concepts in Environmental History – Shifting Baselines, Ecological Awareness and Social Resilience

There is no lack of theoretical models that explain why people do not see or engage in environmental degradation, but these theories can be helpful in analysing those who actually do engage. 'Shifting baselines' is a central term in environmental discourse. The term was introduced by S.K. Papworth, J. Rist, and E.J. Milner-Gulland.¹⁹⁵ Due to short life-spans and faulty memories, humans have a poor conception of how much of the natural world has been degraded by our actions, because our 'baseline' shifts with every generation, and sometimes even in the life of an individual. What we see as pristine nature would be seen by our ancestors as hopelessly degraded, and what we can see as degraded our children will see as 'natural'. The experience of current conditions of nature is taken for granted and seen as natural as when experience of past conditions is lost. If we cannot remember how things were before the environmental degradation, then we will be blind to the changes that have taken place. This is a form of amnesia. The words of Milner-Gulland:

The shifting baseline syndrome is the situation in which over time knowledge is lost about the state of the natural world, because people don't perceive changes that are

¹⁹³ Fredengren 2016.

Fredengren's notion of deep time enchantment departures from heritage as deep time phenomena. Fredengren 2016:493.

¹⁹⁵ Papworth, Rist, and Milner-Gulland 2009.

¹⁹⁶ Hance 2009:1.

¹⁹⁷ Papworth, Rist, and Milner-Gulland, 2009:93.

actually taking place. In this way people's perceptions of change are out of kilter with the actual changes taking place in the environment. 198

Thus, the shifting of baselines takes place on a personal level in an individual life, as well as on a more long-term level, between generations. It is a loss of memories on a personal and intergenerational level: as people no longer remember how it once was, they are blind to the environmental degradation that has taken place.

In this thesis I take this notion further to discuss some practices which aim to make people remember how it actually was, to realise to what extent humans throughout history have reshaped the landscape, and to allow them to imagine how it once was. I conduct this discussion in relation to Dartmoor and in what I refer to as negotiating baselines. Hence, if shifting baselines refers to the inability to see ecological degradation, ecological awareness asks what it means, not only to see the change that is taking place but the insight that follows. The philosopher Timothy Morton claims that ecological awareness forces us to think and feel at multiple scales, scales that disorient normative concepts like 'present', 'life', 'human', 'nature', 'thing', 'thought' and 'logic'. These are all "layers of attunement to ecological reality more accurate that what is habitual in the media, in the academic and in society at large." Thus ecological awareness goes beyond the perspective of consumers' lifestyle choices; it is a rather a radical co-existence. Morton call this ecognosis, which he sees as a form an attunement.²⁰⁰ Hence, ecological awareness is not simply awareness of the outer world or nature as the other, but a form of selfawareness. The geologists Owain Jones and Katherine Jones note that becoming self-aware in terms of an ecological self means putting oneself in a very ethical and emotionally challenging position.²⁰¹

A further concept that is central in environmental discourse is social resilience, which is increasingly replacing 'sustainability' which has been heavily criticised for being trivialised and misused. Social resilience addresses how people cope with the changes that come with environmental crisis, and thus it refers to a property of the social dimension, different from sustainability which may concern economy or technology. Markus Keck and Patrick Sakdapolrak suggest that social resilience has three capacities: (i) coping capacities – the ability of social actors to cope with and overcome all kinds of adversities; (ii) adaptive capacities – their ability to learn from past experience and adjust themselves to future challenges in their everyday

¹⁹⁸ Hance, Jeremy (2009) "Providing the 'shifting baselines' theory: how human consistently misperceive nature", *Mongabay*, 24 June 2009.

¹⁹⁹ Morton 2015:2.

²⁰⁰ Morton 2015:2.

²⁰¹ Jones and Jones 2017:157.

²⁰² See Bauman et al. 2011.

²⁰³ Keck, Markus, and Sakdapolrak, Patrick (2013) "What is Social Resilience? Lessons Learned and Ways Forward" *Erkunde* Vol. 67, No. 1, 5–19

life, and (iii) transforming capacities – their ability to craft sets of institutions that foster individual welfare and sustainable societal robustness for future crisis. ²⁰⁴ This model of social resilience to meet a process of change can be summed up as: coping, adapting and transforming.

1.5.4 Concepts of Environmental History – Collapse, Thresholds of Vulnerability and Slow Violence

Environmental history sees environmental degradation and climate change as parts of social, economic and cultural processes in society, and I take these theoretical perspectives and conceptualisations further in my analysis. The framing of climate change in terms of collapse will be the first one, and the most familiar contribution is that of the geologist Jared Diamond. ²⁰⁵ Diamond claims that civilisations collapse when they reach the full demand of their ecologies, because at that state they become highly vulnerable to natural fluctuations. No doubt history has seen the rise and fall of many civilisations: the Roman Empire, Easter Island, to mention just two. Diamond does not only look at these examples of collapsing civilisation from an historical interest; he claims that there are parallels between these collapsing scenarios and our own civilisation.²⁰⁶ The historian Brian Fagan proceeds from a long-term perspective, ranging from the period in European history in the seventeenth century known as the Little Ice Age, towards a contemporary age. Fagan asks: what is distinctive about modern man's relation to nature, to changing climate and changing living conditions? Human history is, in one sense, the story of changing climate, of crop failure, humiliation, even disasters, as well as adaptation and human responses, and this is a spiral that continues today. Fagan argues that modern society and progress, despite all its benefits, has led to an increasing threshold of vulnerability. 207 Fagan argues that humans' relationship to the natural environment and short-term climate change has always been in flux. To ignore

_

²⁰⁴ Keck and Sakdapolrak 2013.

²⁰⁵ Diamond 2005.

Diamond 2005. Diamond's collapse theory has been taken further by many scholars, such as John Michael Greer, who describes the current crisis in the West as a slow decline. Rather than an instantaneous collapse, beginning at the centre and spreading through the country, the collapse as a slow decline, starting in the periphery rather than the centre, and more so, in certain areas the collapse has already taken place. According to Diamond, the historical examples of collapsing civilisations are caused by ecological misuse of the resources, but the historical examples all escaped climate change. This is a difference that has to be kept in mind. Ecological misuse means facing a situation with empty warehouses. Climate change might bring empty warehouses, but the instability and vulnerability are caused by a sudden change of conditions.

²⁰⁷ Fagan 2004:xv. Fagan writes "Humanity had stepped over a threshold of vulnerability into a world where the costs of rolling with climate shifts were infinitely higher. With population growth, urbanization and the global spread of the industrial revolution, this vulnerability has only increased. [...] today, in a much more heavily populated and warmer world, the potential for disaster is open-ended."

climate is to neglect one of the dynamic backdrops of human existence. What is new in our time is that humanity has become more and more vulnerable to long- and short-term climate change, as it has become even more difficult and expensive for us to respond to it. For tens and thousands of years, the human population was miniscule, and everyone lived from hunting and the gathering plants for food. Survival depended on mobility and opportunism, on flexibility of daily existence that allowed people to roll with the climate punches.²⁰⁸ With population growth, urbanisation and the global spread of the industrial revolution this vulnerability has increased and continues to do so.

A further example is the professor of English, Rob Nixon, who offers valuable theoretical contributions to the field. Nixon has studied the processes in relation to privatisation of land and environmental refugees in the global south, what he describes as the environmentalism of the poor, and in this he introduces the term 'slow violence'. ²⁰⁹ In simple term, it concerns how violence may have long-term and intergenerational consequences. Thus, the violence wrought by climate change takes place gradually and is often invisible, and Nixon argues that it is urgent need to rethink this – politically, imaginatively and theoretically. ²¹⁰ One of the features of environmental history that Joachim Radkau stresses is the difficulties of writing from a general perspective since every time and place has its own formulation of environmental degradation.²¹¹ Radkau observes that the research done on environmental movements, despite the vast literature on the field, contains major gaps that are particularly striking for a historian. There is an extensive no-man'sland between pièces d'occasion and general works, between theoretical models and journalistic reportage, between literature about what is and literature about what

²⁰⁸ Fagan 2004:xiv.

²⁰⁹ Nixon 2011:2. Nixon claims that slow violence is not just something that affects those living in that area today; slow violence is a form of violence that reaches in between generations, the descendants of those who have been driven away from an area due to privatisation of land. It takes generations to form the kind of relation to a place again, Nixon argues. A similar concept is "time violence", introduced by the peace researcher Johan Galtung, meaning violence against future generations.

²¹⁰ Nixon 2011:2. "By slow violence I mean a violence that occurs gradually and out of sight, a violence of delayed destruction that is dispersed across time and space, an attritional violence that is typically not viewed as violence at all. Violence is customarily conceived as an event or action that is immediate in time, explosive and spectacular in space, and erupting into instant sensational visibility. We need, I believe, to engage a different kind of violence, a violence that is neither spectacular nor instantaneous, but rather incremental and accretive, its calamitous repercussions playing out across a range of temporal scales. In so doing, we also need to engage the representational, narrative, and strategic challenges posed by the relative invisibility of slow violence."

²¹¹ This is something I recognise from my own work in writing this thesis. Much history of the environmental movement focuses on the USA, as the "fathers of environmentalism" such as Henry Thoreau, or John Muir, or following the publication of Rachel Carson's Silent Spring in 1962, the kick-off for modern environmentalism in the USA. As I write from a British perspective, this has to be considered.

ought to be (that is, between descriptive and normative works).²¹² Radkau emphasises the perspective of writing contemporary history: "Environmental movement and politics are a theme without end, and we certainly do not know the end of the (hi)story".²¹³ My own work is an effort to write contemporary history, and in working with local material my ambition is to relate to a more general perspective, for example in the conceptualisation of climate change.

1.5.5 Cultural Frames of Climate Change

Environmental history as a scholarly discipline was established before climate change appeared on the agenda, and environmental history had to find ways to address this as well. The British geologist and historian Mike Hulme is one of the most prominent representatives of climate change and humanities. Hulme focuses on the relation between science and political policy making, and he emphasises the need to look at the social meaning of climate and climate change. ²¹⁴ In a long-term perspective of the last two thousand years, the modification and control of nature has been an enduring theme; nonetheless, it is in the last two to three hundred years that human either through technology or by the sheer weight of numbers, have realised to a full extent their influential abilities. Hulme stresses that the idea of climate exists as much in the human mind and in the matrices of cultural practices as it exists as an independent and objective physical category. The multiple meanings of climate, and the ideological freightage we load onto interpretations of climate and our interactions with it, are, according to Hulme, an essential part of making sense of what is happening around us today in our climate change discourses.

Understanding climate – and hence understanding climate change – as an overly physical phenomenon too readily allows it to be appropriated uncritically in support of an expanding range of ideologies [...] The important point is that by disconnecting climate from its cultural forms – by framing climate as overtly physical and global – we allow the idea of climate change to acquire a near infinite plasticity. Detached from its cultural anchors, climate change becomes a malleable envoy enlisted in support of too many rulers.²¹⁵

²¹² Radkau 2014:5. Movements are shy about themselves and written records suitable for research tend to have been kept only at a certain level of solidification. It is therefore not surprising, according to Radkau, that theoretical studies of ecological movement are more common than empirically based investigations, and the empirically based investigation that are to be found are mostly "comparative transnational literature".

²¹³ Radkau 2014:5.

²¹⁴ Hulme 2009:21.

²¹⁵ Hulme 2009:28.

Hulme stresses that climate change has to be considered in a context of Western intellectual and cultural history. Although changing climate has been part of human history, what we now refer to as climate change appeared in public debate in 1988, in what Hulme calls the greenhouse summer. ²¹⁶ Although the phenomenon 'climate change' was first conceptualised in scientific discourse, the environmental humanities have added a new perspective. Hulme points to a scientific definition of 'climate change' as referring to the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere. This is described as 'anthropogenic' climate change. ²¹⁷ The understanding of climate change as 'anthropogenic', defined as "the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere" is not the only definition. It is a narrow definition that focuses exclusively on the emission of carbon dioxide. Lucy Sargisson offers an alternative definition, as: "Climate change presents multiple and interwoven problems", which includes the social dimension as well.²¹⁸ It has to be made clear that the first use addresses climate change in a strict sense, referring to climatic changes with increasing temperatures caused by emissions of greenhouse gases and caused by human activity (i.e. anthropogenic climate change), while the second addresses climate change as multiple and interwoven problems, which takes anthropogenic climate change to be part of the picture, but not the whole picture. Hence, climate crisis as multiple and interwoven problems puts climate change or climate crisis in a wider social, cultural and political perspective that include the economic crisis, the energy crisis, peak oil (peak everything). It is an ecological crisis that concerns the use of natural resources, as well as social and cultural processes, socially and culturally framed in terms of disasters, collapses or apocalypses.

1.5.6 Hybrid Disasters and Ambivalent Apocalypses

Natural disasters are part of the Earth's geo-history and human history. Volcanos have erupted, hurricanes and blizzards has ruined landscapes and lives, but climate change, ecological devastation or the sixth extinction are not natural disasters, they are hybrid disasters. According to one definition, "a hybrid disaster is a manmade one, when forces of nature are unleashed as a result of technical failure or sabotage" Anthropogenic climate change is one such hybrid disaster. It may come as floods, hurricanes or other phenomena that we can recognise as natural disasters,

²¹⁶ Hulme 2009:234. In the English language, the terms most frequently used to describe the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere have varied over time, according to Mike Hulme. Initially, between the 1980s and the 1990s, the 'greenhouse effect' was widely used, but it has been replaced, either by the evocative expression of 'global warming' or the more generic term 'climate change'.

²¹⁷ Hulme 2009.

²¹⁸ Sargisson 2012:116.

²¹⁹ Boyarsky and Shneiderman 2002.

but these are not natural, but caused by human industrial activity, the combustion of fossil fuel and the emission of greenhouse gases.

Historians refers to the earthquake that levelled Lisbon in 1755 as the first modern disaster: it was a natural disaster. What marks it as modern is that it could be explained by science and geology, according to historian Marie-Hélène Huet. As science provided a rational understanding it repudiated the supernatural causes that had long attributed disaster to cosmic influences of the wrath and punishment of gods. The Enlightenment project is widely credited with the recognition that natural disasters were not sent by a wrathful god but stemmed from the workings of a violent universe.²²⁰ If volcanoes erupted and the earth shook, and this had nothing to do with any kind of divine intent. Humans were left with an even greater damage, and the grievance to bear. Thus Huet examines how reactions to natural catastrophes may lead to political upheavals, and argues that the state of emergency that characterises current Western culture – which is related to 'a state of exception' – stems from a pervasive anxiety about catastrophic events now freed from their theological meaning and worsened by human failures.²²¹ What distinguishes 'modern disasters' is not that they have ushered in rational discourse about disasters, nor is it the recognition that humans bear a responsibility for all forms of disasters. What Huet finds to be strikingly modern is that it gives evidence of a "anthropologically primitive fear and need to control rebellious nature". 222 By getting rid of the divine will and making disasters a properly human concern, humans are left with the task of handling them on their own. Huet notes: "Each natural disaster challenges both the mastery that was our goal and the political system that was put in place to serve such a purpose."223 Thus, humans end up in a position where they are left to handle the consequences of disaster, but in hybrid disasters man is likewise the cause of these disasters, and therefore man has to face a deep moral responsibility in the midst of crisis.

The intellectual historian Susan Neiman draws on Auschwitz which is called the first postmodern disaster. Neiman claims that at the beginning of the modern world the Lisbon earthquake became an example of "natural evil", but today we do not think of earthquakes as evil; the concept is reserved to describe human actions, and the paradigmatic example is Auschwitz. Through the centuries evil has been transformed from the 'natural evil' of Lisbon to the 'moral evil' of Auschwitz.²²⁴ But where does this lead in relation to anthropogenic climate change? The point here is not to compare these historical events, but to illustrate humans' moral responsibility. Thus, Auschwitz was caused by humans, who bear the full moral responsibility, but nonetheless I think the distinction between natural and moral evil

²²⁰ Huet 2012:2.

²²¹ Huet 2012:2.

²²² Huet 2012:6.

²²³ Huet 2012:7.

²²⁴ Neiman 2002:22.

raises the question whether, in times of anthropogenic climate change (that is, climate change, caused by human industrial activities), climate change may be seen as a 'moral evil', side by side with Auschwitz rather than Lisbon. Indeed, climate change raises the moral issues in relation to the deep responsibilities of living, in a world where neither God nor nature seems to offer a remedy.

'Apocalypse' is, in simple terms, not only a story of the end of the world, but more so, a promise that a new and better world will emerge in its aftermath. Although 'apocalypse' may have an origin in religion it is frequently used in secular versions today. Bron Taylor sees apocalypticism as part of radical environmentalism.

What often makes religions politically rebellious and sometimes violent is a millennial or apocalyptic expectation, which is often combined with a belief that it is a religious duty to resist or usher in the impending end, or to defend sacred values in the face of an unfolding cataclysm. Thus, what separates radical environmentalism from many other forms of dark green religion is apocalypticism. But it is an apocalypticism that is radically innovative in the history of religion – because it is the first time an expectation of the end of the known world has been grounded in environmental science. ²²⁵

An apocalypticism grounded in science may lead to expectations which Taylor characterises as "inseparability of pessimism and optimism, and the ambivalence about the coming catastrophe". 226 The ambivalence in the core as the collapse of human societies may pave the way back to an earthly paradise. Today scientific models agree on the problem, climate crisis is not just a prophecy of some environmental group; it is a problem that a majority of society agrees on even if there might be strongly divided views about the cure. Nor is the theme of a civilisation in deep crisis restricted to radical environmentalism. Taylor argues that ecological problems reflect and express a profound change in cultural models which are fused together, like bricklayer or mason piecing together a wall or a building with mortar and stone. Today there is a global environmental milieu where shared ideas incubate, cross-fertilise and spread. It is a process characterised by hybridisation and bricolage.²²⁷ As apocalypses may offer a way towards something different to come, the interest turns to what is to come, that is, the post-apocalypse. The post-apocalyptic theme, according to the political scientist Lucy Sargisson, "strips away society to see what lies beneath." This is in tune with the etymology of apocalypse, which is connected to 'uncovering' and 'revelation'. 229 Postapocalyptic fiction, then,

²²⁵ Taylor 2011:84.

²²⁶ Taylor 2010:85.

²²⁷ Taylor 2010:14.

²²⁸ Sargisson 2012:114.

²²⁹ Sagission2012:114.

...imagines human society after the removal of current institutions, structures and norms. Dystopias are often pessimistic about human nature. But these examples of twenty-first century, post-apocalypse dystopias are ambivalent.²³⁰

The ambivalence in the core of these apocalypse is the vague hope that it offers; that somehow the collapse of human societies – which may cause the decline or collapse of ecosystems – may pave the way for an alternative future. In this sense 'apocalypse' or apocalypticism is used in rhetoric in order to increase mobilisation. The political journalist Sasha Lilley refers to this as catastrophism, ²³¹ which presumes that society is destined for a collapse. Although climate change apocalypses are based on science, or they are framed in a narrative that is recognisable from ancient religious traditions, these are, as Taylor notes, "radically innovative". ²³² This relation to science is not a minor difference; climate crisis is not a prophecy. Nonetheless; 'apocalypse' arouses associations with some kind of doomsday, and the sociologist Immanuel Wallerstein finds reason to talk about "doomsday" today as virtually everyone agrees that there has been a serious degradation of the environment in which we live. 233 To sum up, climate change is often framed as 'catastrophes', 'disasters', 'apocalypses' or even 'doomsday', and these are used metaphorically and in rhetoric. Therefore, in writing about climate change one has to be careful with words, in order to avoid such references to doom and gloom.

1.5.7 Environmental Criticism – Eco-Criticism

To approach environmental problems in cultural terms can be seen as a manual for how to conduct eco-criticism.²³⁴ The eco-critic Greg Garrard writes:

²³⁰ Sargisson 2012:114.

²³¹ Lilley 2012.

²³² Taylor 2010:85.

²³³ Wallerstein 1999:76. "Of course the appreciation of the degree of the problem of seriousness of the contemporary problem ranges from those who consider doomsday as immanent to those who consider that the problem is one well within the possibility of an early technical solution. I believe the majority hold a position somewhere in-between."

²³⁴ It would be a misunderstanding to claim that eco-criticism simply concerns reading and analysis of texts from an environmental perspective. An eco-critical perspective may ask "how is nature represented in this poem?" or "how has the concept of 'wildernesses in British poetry changed over time?" The eco-critic Cheryll Glotfelty offers the following definition: ecocriticism is the study of the relation between literature and the physical environment. Just as feminist criticism examines language and literature from a gender-conscious perspective, and Marxist criticism brings an awareness of modern production and economic class to its reading of text, ecocriticism takes an earth-centred approach to cultural studies.

[E]nvironmental problems require analysis in cultural as well as in scientific terms because they are the outcome of an interaction between ecological knowledge of nature and its cultural inflection.²³⁵

Eco-criticism offers a critical approach to the conceptualisation of landscapes.²³⁶ and Garrard has drawn attention to how modern environmentalism relies on literary genres, such as the pastoral as well as apocalypse, and these rest on pre-existing ways of imagining the place of humans in nature that may be traced back to such sources as Genesis and Revelation, the first and the last books of the Bible.²³⁷ For example, the pastoral landscape resonates with the paradisiac, a harmonious place for humans in nature, but from a critical perspective it is an anthropocentric landscape, shaped by utility and use. ²³⁸ Garrard finds a number of eco-critical tropes, such as 'Pastoral', 'Wilderness', 'Apocalypse', and 'Earth', and while the 'pastoral' is the most deeply entrenched, the analysis leads to the most conclusive construction of the 'Earth', the whole.²³⁹ I discuss 'wilderness' in relation to Dartmoor, 'the pastoral' in relation to the English countryside, or 'the earth' in relation to the practices of Earth Meditation and Deep Time Walk. Eco-criticism contributes here because it offers a "reading" of the landscape, as well as a wider cultural analysis. This perspective on places or landscapes is referred to as the social construction of the landscape. Constructivism is a powerful tool for cultural analysis, but the social construction is not simply an image, a conception, or an idea. I agree with Garrard who claims that,

...it does suggest that 'nature' is only ever a cover for the interests of a privileged or embattled social group. The challenge for eco-critics is to keep one eye on the ways in which 'nature' is always in some ways culturally constructed, and on the other on the fact that nature really exists, both the object and, albeit distantly, the origin of our discourse. ²⁴⁰

This takes eco-criticism beyond the study of landscapes in classical literature, for example in nature writing, and turns the eco-critical gaze directly to the landscape, to read the landscape as if it were a text. A reading of the landscape turns the

²³⁵ Garrard 2012:16.

²³⁶ Glotfelty 1996: xix as quoted in Garrard 2012:3. For discussion see Garrard 2012:3ff.

²³⁷ Garrard 2012:2.

²³⁸ Garrard 2010:16. Garrard writes: "The study of rhetoric supplies us with a model of cultural reading practice tied to moral and political concerns, and one which is alert to both the real or literal and figural or constructed interpretations of 'nature' and 'the environment'. Breaking these monolithic concepts down into key structuring metaphors, or tropes, enables attention to be paid to the thematic, historical and geographical particularities of environmental discourse, and reveals that any environmental trope is susceptible to appropriation and deployment in the service of a variety of potentially conflicting interests."

²³⁹ Garrard 2010:17.

²⁴⁰ Garrard 2012:10.

attention to how human agency and the use of natural resources created the landscape as well as the mindscape of the landscape. The contribution of these readings of landscapes is the reflection of cultural landscapes: Robert MacFarlane, a scholar in English literature, who explores what he refers to as "the new eerie of the English landscape" in relation to environmental degradation, and Rob Nixon, whose contribution to the postmodern notion of place I present further on.

1.5.8 Reading the Landscape – Hybrid Landscapes

The archaeologist Francis Pryor stresses the need to read the landscape, to uncover the topography, and to ask, for example, how come a city was placed in a particular location. What were the values that people saw in this particular place that made them settle here? Was it arable land, a river for transportation, a forest that offered protection from the wind and rain, as well as timber, which all can be seen as economic or utilitarian values, or perhaps a sacred grove that would be seen as a spiritual value. The question is: What do people value in relation to nature? Mark J. Smith offers a model to approach the relation between society and nature, in asking, first, ²⁴¹ how we value the environment, and, secondly, what implication these values have for how the environment is affected by human agency. These questions relate values to human agency, and the consequence of it.

The environmental historian William Cronon²⁴² claims that, in a historical and cultural perspective of urban industrial civilisation, we have been accustomed to seeing and valuing nature in some places but not in others. If the extent to which we evaluate something as nature is dependent on the extent to which human beings are present – real nature is a less populated place, it is the wilderness. Cronon's criticism of the romanticism of wilderness gives proof of the ambivalence in man's relation to nature. Wilderness as 'pure or pristine nature' makes human presence complicated. Nathalie B. Corbett turns the attention from the conception to how nature is communicated²⁴³ because a great deal of what is communicated is both unrecognised and unstated, and not even recognised as being communicated at all.²⁴⁴ The attention to landscapes is a central theme in the environmental turn. Linda Nash argues that previous scholars have been too preoccupied with lamenting the narratives of environmental decline; instead environmental history needs to push the insights on hybridity. The conceptualisation of landscapes as hybrid goes beyond

²⁴¹ Smith 1998:8-9.

²⁴² Corbett 2006: 4–5.

²⁴³ Corbett 2006. Corbett claims that to understand how human beings relate to nature, we have to make a reading of how our society is constructed. Roads crossing the landscape or bottled water from a certain well are everyday things that have a taken-for-granted quality, particularly for those who feel that the environment exists somewhere "out there" and distant from our lives. Corbett 2006:2.

²⁴⁴ Corbett 2006:2–3.

either natural or social/cultural, and Nash sees the task, insisting that the world is natural *and* social.

(T)o show how changing material worlds have altered the very possibilities of being human in particular times and places, to insist on the place of the physical-material world in the (always contingent) shaping of human bodies, societies, and understanding.²⁴⁵

The modern world, including those aspects most worth advocating for, is thoroughly hybrid. The task for environmental history is that the concepts "still need to be brought down to earth", ²⁴⁶ Nash concludes. My contribution takes Nash's attention to the hybridity of landscape further in relation to my fieldwork, particularly in Dartmoor. A further contribution is the anthropologist Andrew S. Mathews' approach to the complex Anthropocene landscapes. The perspective of historical ecology pays attention to the partial and historical relation between plants, animals, soils, and politics. Mathews suggests reading ghost forests, where "the ruin of past landscapes of cultivation remain ghostly present", 247 and which contrast the "past histories" with the "present-day", and the "possible Anthropocene futures". Through this historical ecology, it is possible to find out what ghost forests and natural history have to say about the Anthropocene. The practice of reading ghost forests can be seen as a form of ecological awareness where landscapes require a close and speculative attention to what we see and how we describe or categorise it.²⁴⁸ The reading of ghost forests tells us how the forms of trees derive from partial relations between multiple actors and the actors themselves are constantly changing as a result of the relations with others. The theme of "the ghostly" has been given increasing attention in relation to environmental degradation and the arts of the Anthropocene, and I consider this in relation to the haunted Dartmoorian landscape.²⁴⁹

1.5.9 Narratives and Practices

In my approach to narratives, I consider two levels, personal narratives and more general narrative on the changes brought by climate change, loss of biodiversity and ecological crisis. These are corresponding in that the personal stories are set within the general frame. As my study is based on fieldwork, my approach to narratives is

²⁴⁵ Nash 2013:134.

²⁴⁶ Nash 2013:135.

²⁴⁷ Mathews 2017:147.

²⁴⁸ Mathews 2017:154 Thus, Mathews advocates "paying attention to the coemergence of material forms and linguistic terms, of causal accounts, and of histories that can multiply our way of thinking and acting in the face of overwhelming environmental change."

²⁴⁹ For a more general discussion on the ghostly see Lincoln and Lincoln 2015.

not primarily narratives as texts, but mostly in the form of storytelling. I have worked with the conversational situation where I have heard personal narratives. Pertti Alasuutari describes life-story narrating as an everyday-life phenomenon, which serves certain functions.²⁵⁰

Individuals do not have their readily narrated life-stories in their back pockets or in the back of their minds, waiting for the researcher to collect them. Any account of one's personal past (also when to told a researcher in a life-story interview) makes a point and serves a function. A particular case of life-story narration must be related to its local setting in order to see what it is needed or used for.²⁵¹

My accounts of personal life-story narration will be related to the local setting, that is, where my fieldwork took place. These stories are related to the more general narrative of life in the Anthropocene. Linda Nash sees a need in the contemporary world for "stories that show how human aspirations are grounded in and achieved through finite material worlds – in people's continuing ability, or inability, to engage in diverse ways with the multiple potentialities of the earth."²⁵² My ambition is to contribute to these stories in my own research.

The geologists Owain Jones and Katherine Jones offer a methodology that is helpful here. They relate narrative and ecology, in an approach that is based on the interconnectedness of ecology and "the ability of stories to creatively capture the complex ecology of the unfolded (history and unfolding world)."253 They picture stories and storytelling as "the key fabric by which we construct the world individually and collectively". 254 Stories relate the individual to a global scale, the present to deep time. To capture this complexity requires some effort in "imaginal groundwork", as the ecological networks "are extraordinarily opaque, complex, long and entangled."²⁵⁵ I take this methodology as a springboard towards narratives that can picture, not only the interconnectedness but also the complexity of the Anthropocene. Complexity is more or less about the density of interaction within systems. Hence, to tell the story of a complexity – or to tell complex stories – will allow the teller to "move from one point to another in terms of connection". 256 For example, in my visits to Dartmoor, historical Dartmoor becomes present for contemporary visitors in the telling of the stories of how it used to be, in the longlost forest of Dartmoor, and in local lore and legends. According to Jones and Jones, narratives created in such a way are 'alive' to the ecology of the world, these stories

²⁵⁰ Alasuutari 2004: 111.

²⁵¹ Alasuutari 2004: 111.

²⁵² Nash 2013:135.

²⁵³ Jones and Jones 2017: 157.

²⁵⁴ Jones and Jones 2017: 157.

²⁵⁵ Jones and Jones 2017: 157.

²⁵⁶ Jones and Jones 2017: 150.

are flexible enough to gather all the complexity, and follow it wherever it leads, and make paths through it. The philosopher Donna Haraway proposes a multispecies storytelling, which is about recuperation in complex stories that are as full of dying as living, as full of endings, or even genocides, as beginnings.²⁵⁷ It is, in the words of Haraway, "a multispecies storytelling and practice of companions". Haraway's multispecies stories allow us to see a radical relatedness, to form a community in relation with the larger-than-human world. Haraway sets herself a task, to make kin, "to settle troubled waters and rebuild quiet places".²⁵⁸ Multispecies storytelling, to make kin with other species, is part of the art of the Anthropocene. The anthropologists Elaine Gain, Anna Tsing, Heather Swanson and Nils Budant address the traces of the more-than-human histories through which ecologies are made and unmade.²⁵⁹ The new stories are the stories of the Anthropocene, which are created in various practices, such as storytelling and constructed in relation to place, such as Dartmoor.

To approach narratives as storytelling emphasises the closeness between narratives and practice. The historian and anthropologist Marcel Détienne, who examines ancient Greek stories, considers stories to be practices.²⁶⁰ Détienne chose to tell stories because stories are not objects of knowledge or objects to be known. Tales, stories, poems, and treatises are already practices. They say exactly what they do and constitute an act which they intend to mean. There is no need for a gloss to know what they express, or to wonder what they are the metaphor of. The story does not express a practice, it does not limit itself to telling about a movement. In Détienne's words: "It makes it." ²⁶¹ In simple terms stories that cease to be told cease to exist, but myths and legends seem to have a remarkable ability to survive, albeit by transformation. Storytelling is a practice that, following Walter J. Ong, ²⁶² can be described as secondary orality, or oral culture, and it differs from old or traditional notions of oral tradition because it depends on literacy and text as well. I discuss this further on, but first I examine stories and place. The anthropologist Tim Ingold's phenomenological approach considers the telling of a story of a place as a way of being intimate with places. The telling makes the landscape unfold, and it creates an ambience of the place. Rather than the form of landscape, Ingold focuses on 'temporality' as a key term. Taken together, these activities make up what Ingold refers to as 'taskspace'. 263

Within the field of religion practices are often related to beliefs, and this gives an argument for studying religion beyond theological doctrines. The theologian

²⁵⁷ Haraway 2016:10.

²⁵⁸ Haraway 2016:1.

²⁵⁹ Gain, Tsing, Swanson and Budant 2017.

²⁶⁰ de Certeau 1984: 80.

²⁶¹ de Certeau 1984: 80.

²⁶²Ong 1971.

²⁶³ Ingold 2000:194.

Elspeth Whitney argues that we need to look at the mechanisms by which beliefs are put into practice; how religious values are embodied in cultural and institutional practices, and how these practices may have a lasting and far-reaching effect beyond the individual.²⁶⁴ Practices do not stand alone, in isolation from other aspects of cultural and social experience, instead they are anchored in concrete, time-bound, historical contexts. Taking practices into consideration therefore emphasises the necessity to anchor the study in social experience and in a historical context. Practices are, following Whitney, "shaped by the societies that espouse them and therefore must be considered in conjunction with their social, economic, and political contexts." Bauman et al. argue that we need to study both worldviews and practices, and in doing this we need to relate practices to activism. ²⁶⁶

In simple terms, a practice is a way of doing things. For example, in my study, the telling of stories is a central practice. This is not only the implication of ideas put into action, distinct from theory. Social practices are a way of doing things that makes sense in a social context, whether customary or habitual. According to the social theorist and geographer Theodore Schatzki, ²⁶⁷ practices make up people's "horizon of intelligibility", and the practices people perform make sense to them. In Schatzki's work, practices are defined as "open-ended spatial-temporal manifolds of actions", 268 they are sets of hierarchically organised doings/sayings, tasks and projects. ²⁶⁹ However, what is distinctive in my material is that people consciously try to do things differently, to experiment, modify and elaborate alternative ways of doing things, as in the many workshops I have studied. The political scientist Lucy Sargisson's term 'utopian practices' is central in my study. Utopian practices are ongoing experiments at many levels, such as social structure, the relationship with each other and the larger-than-human world, as well as "economic, ethical and spiritual forms of activity, behaviour and expectations."270 In defining 'utopian practices' Sargisson points to a set of utopian functions: (i) profound creativity, (ii) the creation of new conceptual and real spaces, and (iii) the imagination of alternatives. Sargisson stresses the heuristic function of utopias: they allow us to explore alternatives and the relation between imagination and practice emphasises the feature of trying out. Sargisson refers to them as experimental utopias. ²⁷¹

²⁶⁴ Whitney 2006:27.

²⁶⁵ Whitney 2006:27.

²⁶⁶ Bauman et al. 2011.

²⁶⁷ Schatzki 1996 and 2002.

²⁶⁸ Schatzki, 2005: 471.

²⁶⁹ Schatzki, 2005: 471.

²⁷⁰ Sargisson 2012:132.

²⁷¹ Sargisson 2012:127.

1.5.10 The Postmodern Notion of Place

'Place' is, according to the eco-critic Lawrence Buell, an indispensable concept for environmental humanists, "not so much because they have precisely defined and stabilised it as because they have not; not because of what the concept lays to rest as because of what it opens up."²⁷² Buell draws on the contrast between traditional place-centredness and postmodern displacement.²⁷³

One cannot theorize scrupulously about place without confronting its fragility, including the question whether "place" as traditionally understood means anything anymore at a time when fewer and fewer of the world's population live out their lives in locations that are not shaped by a great extent by translocal – ultimately global – forces. ²⁷⁴

Examples of the traditional notions of belonging or dwelling as discussed by the anthropologist Tim Ingold, are not the focus of this thesis. The postmodern notion of place lies within the local-global distinction and considers its fragility. The postmodern notion of place, sometimes referred to as post-place, focuses on the loss of place and the loss of meaning in relation to places. Rob Nixon introduces the concept 'displacement' to refer to a situation where people are forced to leave their land because of privatisation of land and large-scale projects, such as dam building or mining, Nixon proposes a more radical notion of displacement, as "displacement without moving". Nixon stresses that looking at landscapes makes it necessary to have several perspectives because there is not just the environmental asset stripping, but more so "the mingled presence in the landscape of multiple generations, with all the hindsight and foresight that entails." Against this backdrop Nixon argues for the temporalities of places.

Place is a temporal attainment that must be constantly renegotiated in the face of changes that arrive from without and within, some benign, others potentially ruinous. To engage the temporal displacements involved in slow violence against the poor thus requires that we rethink questions of physical displacement as well.²⁷⁷

Displacement is not only related to the spatial dimension, but to the temporal. Displacement is a form of violence that ranges in time, even between generations. Edward S. Casey has a phenomenological approach to place, stressing the importance of place in human life, and he proceeds from a fundamental question

²⁷² Buell 2055:62.

²⁷³ Buell 2005:61.

²⁷⁴ Buell 2005:62.

²⁷⁵ Nixon 2011.

²⁷⁶ Nixon 2011:17.

²⁷⁷ Nixon 2011:18.

that cannot be neglected: Can you imagine what it would be like if there were no places in the world? Casey's answer is that we cannot begin to comprehend a world without places, a placeless void. Yet the experience of displacement is not unusual: wartime refugees, people lost in a snowstorm, those whose house has burned down can experience something that Casey calls 'place-panic'. Place-panic strikes when we confront the immanent possibility of there being no place to be or to go. This is not just about displacement, it is being without a place. Placelessness is the reality for refugees from natural catastrophes or strife-torn countries, the homeless on the streets of modern cities, human refugees as well as "stray" animals. To bring in the animal perspective here helps to add a new angle to the concept of place and displacement.

The anthropologist of religion Graham Harvey notes that nature wildly refuses to recognise artificial boundaries, such as urban and rural realms or areas seen as wilderness or the countryside. This is a "messy context", and it challenges what we mean when we talk about wilderness or wild places.²⁷⁸ It gives rise to the simple question: Where are these places to be found? Harvey offers some direction here as these places are often *marginal places*, and such places can be found, for example, on the outskirts of towns. These places are often set on the periphery rather than at the centre. These marginal places have a special attraction, as being ambivalent places. The notion of marginal places contributes to my study because it addresses the places that are to be found. In Britain, as elsewhere, distance from urban construction is deemed emblematic or definitive as 'nature', and as urban construction increases the required distance is harder to find. A further notion of place is Marc Augé's term non-place, which refers to generic places, such as bus depots, train stations, and airports which, however elaborate and grandiose, do not confer a feeling of place. ²⁷⁹ In direct contrast to places which we tend to think of as being relational, historical, and concerned with identity, non-places are designed and intended for the frictionless passage of a nameless and faceless multitude. Augé discusses non-places in urban settings, but I find the term to be useful to address places created by industrial exploitation of natural resources, for example sites of deforestation. In one sense these places are rural non-places, they become places void of meaning.

While the boundary between the urban, rural and wilderness may be strictly defined in a theoretical discourse and separated in the human mind, the landscape we face might force us to reconsider our notions, and I take this question with me, particularly in relation to Dartmoor. As I draw on a postmodern notion of place I add further critical perspective. While the postmodern notion of place, sometimes referred to as post-place, focuses on the loss of place and the loss of meaning in relation to places, Thomas F. Gieryn pays attention to how places make people

²⁷⁸ Harvey 2012: 270.

²⁷⁹ Augé 2008

believe.²⁸⁰ How come certain assertions or propositions or ideas become credible and believable by being located somewhere on the skin of the earth? Gieryn asks what things are to be experienced at a certain spot and how that place is culturally understood. He refers to the anthropologist Clifford Geertz: "Place makes a poor abstraction. Separated from its materialization, it has little meaning."²⁸¹ The notion of places as truth-spots contributes to my study, in being complementary the postplace theories, particularity as Gieryn refers to actual places to which he relates narratives, and places such as the oracle at Delphi of the Acropolis in Athens, or Henry Thoreau's transcendentalist nature philosophy and Walden Pond. In my study, Dartmoor is the actual place that will be given our attention.

A theoretical challenge for me and my study in relation to the notion of place is to relate these notions of place to Knott's approach to place, and the intention be able to locate religion in apparently non-religious of secular places. For example, how can the notion of locating religion in secular places be compatible with displacement, marginal places or non-places? I take these challenges with me as the adventure begins.

1.6 Outline

The thesis has the following outline. Chapter two offers a contextualisation in relation to the period of time studied, 2009–2015, and particularly in relation to climate change and the environmental discourse, and the rise of scholarly interest in the Anthropocene. I relate my study to its particular British context and the ecocritical discussion of the landscape. The following three chapters are dedicated to the accounts from the field. In Chapter 3 I offer accounts from personal stories of how people turn to spirituality in response to the challenges of ecological crisis, and I ponder on the question of what motivates people here. In chapter 4 the study focuses on reflective practices and how workshops are constructed in order to explore new ways of interacting with nature. I discuss the relation between narrative, practice and place in various workshops that take place in nature and that relate to the Earth, the larger-than-human world, and deep time perspectives. Chapter 5, visiting Dartmoor, proceeds from Bennett's notion of places with the power to enchant. I discuss how Dartmoor both challenges conceptions of wilderness and illustrates themes of environmental discourse, and what is distinctive here is the use of local lore and legends. I examine how all this comes together in a landscape that I characterise as a wild place. In this discussion I outline my concept of negotiating baselines, which relates to how the history of a place can offer perspectives that

²⁸⁰ Gieryn 2018.

²⁸¹ As quoted in Gieryn 2018:19.

²⁸² Knott 2005:177.

enable reflection of how man is remodelling the landscape. I go on to present the points of negotiation that I have found in the material and relate the discussion to the research questions. Concluding, I present my conception of wild enchantment, hopefully contribute to the theoretical discussion, and outline the prospects for further research.

Chapter 2 Contextualisation – Public Discourse on Climate Change and Britain in Times of Crisis

To introduce the reader to this field I offer a contextualisation in relation to time, place and themes. First, I consider the period studied in relation to the reality of climate change, and I define and discuss climate change in relation to political policymaking (the climate change summits in Copenhagen 2009 and Paris 2015). Secondly, I present the environmental discourse in a British context. I consider environmental debate in British public media, paying attention to a particular case: the publication *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto* (2009). I will relate to the cultural framing of climate in relation to civilisation. Thirdly, I present the British environmental discourse and relate to various conceptions of the landscape, such as the countryside as a safe place, the pastoral notion of the countryside as "the green and pleasant land", but also to the contemporary changes in the landscape and the increasingly man-made landscape of Britain. I will also relate to the sacramental values of wilderness and the new interest in 'wild places'.' I will present Dartmoor National Park, which is a distinctive place in this thesis.

2.1 Setting a British Context

My approach to understanding the green mindscape is to stay close to the green landscape. I have invited my readers on a journey take departure from central London: from Paddington station the journey goes westwards, approximately three hours before arrival in Totnes, in Devon, UK. Journey give you time for reflections as well as unexpected encounters.

2.1.1 Prelude – a Short Reflection Before Setting Out

On my first visit to Totnes, Devon, in February 2013, the fields of Devon passing outside the train window were flooded, and the rivers were running wild, coloured reddish-brown from the soil they brought with them in the stream. The summer of

2012 had been the rainiest summer for a hundred years. ²⁸³ On the seat beside me an elderly man was sitting and as he commented on the flooding we started to chat. He told about the last week's continuous rain and the damp and wet weather throughout previous summer, and I said something about the strange weather these days and mentioned the extremely cold winter we just had in Sweden, without saying anything about climate change. Still, the subject seemed to linger because, like an answer to an unspoken question, he said that he did not believe in climate change. I did not argue – knowing that simply listening is sometimes the best way to have your question answered. He continued; the weather had been extreme during the war as well. The wartime winters had been long and cold indeed. As the man turned out to be a historian, he was looking into diaries from the Second World War to understand the experiences of the war, these wartime experience became the topic of our further conversation. Being born in London 1937 he had experienced the London Blitz, because he was too young, so his mother did not want to evacuate him to the countryside where British children were sent away from cities to be safe from the air raids. He asked if I had seen the famous photograph of St Paul's Cathedral that stands out as a silhouette against the bombed and burning city. I nodded, and he said that he had seen that in real life; his mother was carrying him in her arms, and he recalled what she had said "This is war, this is what war does to people", and he added, "and she was Irish". He told me about the scarcity of food during the war and how the problem lingered in the post-war decades.

As a scholar you may find input in various ways during the intellectual process of research, and for me this conversation was one of these occasions. The man declared that he did not believe in climate change, despite the flooded landscape that was passing outside the window of the train, and the unusually heavy rain that had fallen since the last summer. The weather had been strange even during the war, he declared. His view illustrates both the common confusion of climate and weather, but his disbelief in climate change illustrates that in 2013 some chose not to "believe in climate change". Despite our different views of climate change, the conversation with this man made me reflect on the similarities between these different ages in history: The man's memories of the war bore witness to the experience of living through crisis, and this crisis theme relates his personal story of Britain and the wars of the twentieth century to the contemporary climate crisis in the twenty-first century. These historical periods share some features concerning the relation between cities and the countryside, or the urban and rural life, not ignoring the differences such as the emergency of actually living through the Second World War. People were leaving the cities to find safety in the countryside in the war, when cities were bombed and ruined. The countryside became the safe place to turn to, and it had the benefit of food production. Today food production is an emerging

⁻

²⁸³ Rowell, Alexis (2013) "Will extreme weather bring climate action", *Transition Free Press*, Issue No. 1, spring 2013.

global issue, not only a national one.²⁸⁴ During the war, the countryside was a safe place, and I asked myself how much of this wartime conception of the countryside as a safe place lingers today. As we have seen, my study is located in rural Devon, in the south of England, and the theme of the English countryside is part of the field. People come here from various parts of the world, it is an international milieu, and just like myself, they make a journey to get there. Therefore, I focus on the urban-rural relation, and how the conception of the pastoral countryside corresponds to the countryside as a safe, or at least, a safer place, and a place to seek shelter and escape the dangers of the crisis. What is distinctive here is the coming together of the notion of climate change as a spiritual crisis, and the countryside as a spiritual resource.

2.1.2 Climate Change and Political Policymaking

I initiated my PhD studies in 2011, and I choose the period 2009–2015 to frame my study because it is the years between of two Climate Change summits: 285 the Copenhagen Climate Change summit in December 2009 and the Paris Summit in November 2015. In Copenhagen the world leaders failed to reach an agreement. The hopeful expectations of the Paris summit were overshadowed by the terror attack in the French capital. The summit took place in the shadow of security restrictions and the protests and demonstrations in support of an agreement were cancelled. There were high hopes of the Paris agreement, and the strategy was to reach a noncompelling agreement that proposed voluntary efforts on the part of the nations that signed the agreement. The agreement was much criticised because the voluntary approach made the settlement weak. To study the period between 2009–2015 is to follow the process when climate change was redefined.

The climate summits of Copenhagen and Paris set the framework, but I give a short historical background. In 1997, the Kyoto Agreement was signed in Tokyo, the summit having gathered many of the world's leading nations, but in 2001 the US president George W. Bush decided to withdraw from the agreement.²⁸⁶ He claimed that the agreement gave the US, the world's leading nation when it came to the use of fossil fuel and emission of carbon dioxide, an unfair burden compared to other countries. Bush claimed that there was no scientific support for the reality of climate change. Bush's withdrawal from the agreement was not only a national

²⁸⁴ Rob Hopkins discusses the experience of food production during the Second World War as a source of important knowledge for the ecological transition today in *The Transition Handbook – From Oil dependence to Local Resilience*, published 2014.

²⁸⁵ The year 2009 is in one sense the prelude to my fieldwork that took place in 2013 and 2014. Nonetheless, as historian you must turn the perspective; you cannot look at the period studied from a present-day perspective, you have to go back further and, so to speak, look from behind to get a historical perspective.

²⁸⁶ The Senate never ratified the Kyoto Agreement; therefore, it had not been implemented in political decisions when Bush withdrew from it.

concern for the US, but an affair of global concern.²⁸⁷ In 1997 Al Gore, at the time vice president, had signed the settlement on behalf of the US, and later Gore became a distinctive voice, calling for political action in relation to climate change. In 2006 his documentary *An Inconvenient Truth* brought the subject to a wider public. The focus of the movie was the robust scientific research giving support for anthropogenic climate change, i.e., that the changing patterns in climatological reports of increasing temperature were caused by human activity in the form of industrial burning of fossil fuel. Gore's account of the scientific data was illustrated in hockey-stick models of rising temperatures and emissions. The movie was awarded an Oscar for best documentary in 2007, which further emphasised the movie's impact on public concern for climate change.

The debate in the first decade of the new millennium concerned the question whether there was scientific support for anthropogenic climate change, or, as the climate sceptics maintained, that the changes were natural occurrences that had happened repeatedly throughout history. Parallel to this, the UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) released reports that formed a compilation of scientific research. The IPCC was established in 1988, with the ambition to provide the world with scientific information relevant to understanding the scientific basis of the risk of human-induced climate change, as well as its natural, political and economic impact. It formed an expert panel on the risks and possible response options. The IPCC published its first Assessment Report in 1990 and since then report has continuously been released: in 1995, 2001, 2007, 2014, and currently the panel is planning to release a sixth report in 2022. The reports have given increased evidence for the reality of climate change. The third report in 2001 stated that most of the global average warming over the past 50 years is "very likely", with greater than 90 per cent probability, due to human activities. The fifth report, in 2014, sharpened the statement and stated that human influence on climate system is clear: "It is extremely likely (95–100% probability) that human influence was the dominant cause of global warming between 1951 and 2010." That the reports were formulated in terms of probability and offered increased numbers from 90 to 95-100, led to a comprehensive discussion on the difficulties of scientific discourse communicating with the public.

The fact that the report did not offer 100 per cent certainty became a point of criticism and opened a door for sceptics to refute the report. Researchers replied that science can hardly ever give that kind of support, because researchers are aware that theories may be falsified later. The geologist and environmental historian Mike Hulme points to this as one of the reasons *Why We Disagree on Climate Change* (which is the title of his book, published in 2009). There are several difficulties in communicating a complex scientific phenomenon such as climate change, the common mix-up between weather and climate being just one. These obstacles concern the public sphere, or the common man or woman, as well as politicians,

²⁸⁷ Borger, Julian (2001) "Bush kills global warming treaty" *The Guardian*, 29 March 2001.

where the reports are the basis for political decision and policymaking. This concerns the relation between science and laypersons which is much discussed in the environmental movement, and which I discuss in this thesis.

At the end of the first decade, in the new millennium, the impact of the inconvenient truth (i.e. Al Gore's movie) resonated in the world, and climate deniers seemed to be in retreat and decline. There appeared to be increasing knowledge and concern that the shifts in climate that were occurring were caused by human activity in the form of emissions of greenhouse gases, created by the combustion of fossil fuel. However, in 2008 the economic crisis stuck hard, and the consequences of the crisis spread around the world. Many in the Western world experienced economic hardship, particularly young people, in countries like Greece and Spain, which added to a general feeling of crisis. In 2011, a 26-year-old vegetable dealer in Tunisia was driven to despair as he was facing economic ruin and set fire to himself as a protest. This would be the spark that initiated the Arab Spring, the series of uprisings that spread through the Arab world, where youth were often in midst of the action.²⁸⁸ Similarly, in the US the Occupy movement dedicated their protest to the moneymen in power on Wall Street, and the Occupy movement spread beyond the US. Young people were at the centre of these protests. For example, in Britain the protests were coordinated with protests about the inflation of higher education, as many who had paid expensive fees for their education did not get any employment after taking a degree. The social unrest in relation to these various social movements has to be kept in mind, as it created an atmosphere that resonates in this particular period. I think it is fair to say that there was a general mood of crisis that echoed through the world, and climate change was considered to be part of a larger predicament. My fieldwork took place between the climate summits of Copenhagen 2009 and Paris 2015, and I met various approaches to possible settlements. While some looked forward to the Paris summit and hoped for an agreement, others considered the climate summit in Copenhagen 2009 as the last and lost opportunity to stop the increasing global temperatures caused by emissions of carbon dioxide. This illustrates the different approaches to climate change policymaking among the participants, bearing witness to hope as well as disillusion.

2.1.3 Copenhagen Climate Summit 2009 – The Last Hope

Since George W. Bush's withdrawment from the agreement, strong voices in the environmental movement called for a political decision to limit emissions of greenhouse gases and prevent global warming from becoming real by limiting the warming to 2 degrees (compared to pre-industrialised levels). Before Copenhagen many had had hopes for an agreement that would come to terms with climate change. The Copenhagen conference had created a narrative of Copenhagen as the

_

²⁸⁸ Mason 2012.

last hope. Both the expectations before and the disappointment afterwards played on the theme of the last hope which contributed to this narrative. The failure of an agreement is often pictured as a deciding moment as the summit was viewed by many as the last chance for a political solution, because time was running out. When the summit postponed the agreement, *The Guardian* published an editorial that likened the global community to...

an alcoholic who has decided to save up for a liver transplant rather than give up drinking. It is a sad tribute to collective failure that the all-important question at the end of Copenhagen is: what happens next?²⁸⁹

This sad tribute to the failure sums up the mood in the aftermath of Copenhagen, and the lingering question – what happens next? – seemed to give little hope. The American environmentalist Bill McKibben expressed his disappointment; after Copenhagen there is a need to face the reality of climate change:

As many people had invested great hope that the Copenhagen conference would mark a turning point in the climate change debate. If it did, it was a turning point for the worse, with the richest and most powerful countries making abundantly clear that they weren't going to take strong steps to address the crisis before us. [...] To see hope dashed is never pleasant.²⁹⁰

Similarly, when Naomi Klein reflects upon the Copenhagen summit 2009 in retrospect, she sums it up "That's what happened with Copenhagen in 2009. A lot of people got deeply depressed afterwards." The Copenhagen conference turned into a narrative of lost hope where the postponed climate agreement was considered to be the last – and lost – chance. Within a few years, before 2009, the situation changed drastically: the reports on melting ice sheets in the Arctic, deforestation, desertification, loss of biodiversity, rising temperatures, and repeated incidents of extreme weather all over the world; together it was taken as a sign that there was no time to lose – climate change was already taking place. Scholars who commented on the Copenhagen climate conference likewise described it as a turning point. Clive Hamilton, a scholar in public ethics, considered it "the last hope for humanity to pull back from the abyss". 292

But a binding commitment from the major polluting nations to shift their economies immediately onto a path of rapid emission cuts proved too hard. In the light of the

²⁸⁹ "Copenhagen climate conference: The grim meaning of 'meaningful'" *The Guardian*, Editorial, Saturday 19 December 2009.

²⁹⁰ McKibben 2010:xiv.

²⁹¹ Rousseaux, Agnes. Chapelle, Sophie (2015) "Naomi Klein: If you can marry an economic justice agenda with climate action, people will fight for that future" *Basta!* 24 April.

²⁹² Hamilton 2010:xi.

fierce urgency to act, there was a sense at the Copenhagen conference that we were witnessing not so much the making of history, but the ending of it.²⁹³

The Copenhagen Conference marks a distinct date in history but it is not an isolated event. In 2012 it was followed by the UN's Climate Change Conference in Doha, which was a new failure by world leaders to achieve an agreement concerning climate crisis. This put further pressure on Paris. What many activists that I have spoken to testify to is how *the process* whereby meetings repeatedly postponed an agreement not only led to disappointment, disillusion or frustration, but to a growing distrust of the possibility of a political solution to the climate crisis. ²⁹⁴ For some this led to distrust in the politicians, and an urge to replace the politicians. Other said that they lost their trust in the political system, and efforts to affect the politicians and world leaders so they would take action to prevent the situation from getting worse seemed to be in vain. At the same time, activists I have spoken to refer to a parallel trajectory where the continuous publications of scientific reports on the reality of climate change brought attention to the emergency of the crisis. ²⁹⁵

2.1.4 Paris – the Deepening of the Crisis

In the aftermath of Copenhagen scientists began to express the fear that now haunts them – that the consequences of global warming are much worse than we thought, and the world will not act to stop it.²⁹⁶ The sociologists David Ciplet, Timmons J. Roberts and Mizan R. Khan argue in Power in a Warming World: The New Global Politics of Climate Change and the Remaking of Environmental Inequality that the Copenhagen climate summit 2009 has to be considered as a failure. The world leaders did not reach any agreement, and the attempt to prevent global warming from rising, which the activists had hoped for, was suddenly a lost cause. Although Copenhagen did not become the positive turning point that many had hoped for. Ciplet, Roberts, and Khan argue that Copenhagen did become a different kind of turning point. Before Copenhagen, the Kyoto Agreement had been a binding agreement where the nations were obliged to fulfil their share of the reduction of emissions of greenhouse gases. In Copenhagen, very much due to the initiative of the US President Barack Obama, this was replaced by voluntary agreement. The nations would themselves propose what they were ready to do. The voluntary agreement meant that the instrument for balancing the inequality between the Global South and the Global North was taken away. Therefore, the agreement became a weaker tool for implementing change. Furthermore, since the Copenhagen summit the repression of protests – that is, protests in *support* of a potent agreement – at the

²⁹³ Hamilton 2010:xi.

²⁹⁴ Field notes 2013–2014.

²⁹⁵ IPCC reports 1990, 1995, 2007, 2014, Hulme 2009.

²⁹⁶ Hamilton 2010:2.

summits has increased. Those in authority want to keep the people away from the summit, Ciplet, Roberts and Khan conclude.²⁹⁷

While massive demonstrations had been planned in Paris in support of an agreement, the right to demonstrate was reduced due to the emergency power acts introduced after the terror attack in Paris on 13 November. The demonstrations, which were expected to gather thousands of people, were replaced by the 20,000 pairs of shoes that activists placed on the Place de la République "Pour le Climate". Although the Paris summit succeeded in reaching an agreement, the comments in its aftermath were far from celebratory. The focus in Paris was to reach an agreement on carbon dioxide emissions, and the ambition to keep the global warming under two degrees from the pre-industrial temperature. Paris left a record of voluntary contributions, and the future would tell whether they will be fulfilled or not. The Paris Agreement put an increased focus on technical solutions rather than global justice, which was subject to much criticism after the settlement. The environmental historian Mike Hulme writes:

...the truth of the matter is that neither 2 degrees nor 1.5 degrees of global warming is 'safe'. There are huge burdens of disease, poverty, violence, unemployment, political oppression and war which today make life miserable for billions of people. And here is the rub. "Climate change" is concerning, but not primarily because of changes to climate. The discourse of climate change has drawn attention to many issues, but the political concern, civic passion and diplomatic energy thereby released should be used to address the many social, ecological and political ills in the world. ²⁹⁸

Hulme's argument that political concern in relation to climate change should be used to address these ills in the world illustrates a fundamental question: is climate change a crisis that concerns the increasing global temperatures due to emissions of carbon dioxide, or, as Hulme stated, something that should be used to address many social, ecological and political ills in the world? Hence, the narrative that emerges here is that climate change is a far more complex crisis than the notion of anthropogenic climate change suggests. A further voice is the anthropologist Chris Smaje, who rejects the common faith in technology, which holds that the converging crises of our times can be reduced to a set of 'problems' in need of technological or political 'solutions', but he also adds a spiritual dimension: 299

At issue here is partly a range of other problems which are wholly or partially independent of climate change – habitat and biodiversity loss, other forms of air and water pollution, loss of cultivated diversity, deforestation, overdriven water use, the

298 Hulme, Mike (2015) "Living with climate change, with or without the Paris Agreement", http://www.mikehulme.org/2015/12/living-with-climate-change-with-or-without-the-paris-agreement/ accessed 13 January 2016.

²⁹⁷ Ciplet, Roberts and Khan 2015.

²⁹⁹ Smaje, Chris. 30 December 2015 "After Paris" the dark Mountain Blog" http://dark-mountain.net/blog/after-paris/ accessed 13 January 2016.

mining of soils and minerals, not to mention social justice and the burden of human diseases. More importantly, these are surely all symptoms of a deeper malaise connected to the ways that we relate economically, socially and spiritually to other people, other beings and other things.³⁰⁰

Smaje depicts climate change as a deeper malaise that concerns how we (humans) relate economically, socially and spiritually to other people, as well as other beings. This is not only a concern for economic and social relations, but also spiritual relations, which indicates that climate crisis is a *spiritual crisis*. Hulme's and Smaje's comments in the aftermath of the Paris settlement illustate the conception of climate change as a crisis that is far deeper concern than the emission of carbon dioxide, and technological solutions. In the aftermath of Paris, the understanding of climate change as a far more complex phenomenon is emphasised, and this takes us to the next question; how does the cultural framing of climate change?

2.1.5 Conceptualisations of Climate Change – Cultural Framings of Climate Change

As a scientific phenomena climate change can be properly defined, and this is addressed as anthropogenic climate change, i.e. emissions of carbon dioxide causing higher temperatures. The discussions following the Paris settlement illustrate disagreements concerning the understanding of climate change: the settlements focus strictly on emissions of carbon dioxide causing higher temperatures, but the critics sees a far more complex crisis, which includes social and economic dimensions of society and culture. As seen in the discussion above, there are two different definitions of (i) climate change as anthropogenic climate change, and (ii) climate change as far more complex crisis, that include the social dimension as well as the spiritual.

The geologist and historian Mike Hulme draws attention to the social construction of climate throughout history. He points to the scientific definition of 'climate change' as referring to the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere, 301 known as 'anthropogenic' climate change. 302 These human modifications depend on the use of fossil fuels, with the emissions of carbon dioxide, which has increased continually since the industrial revolution. Changing climate has been part of human history, and colder and more temperate climates have prevailed throughout history and have occasionally led to drastic changes, such as the period known as Little Ice Age that began in Europe in the late

³⁰⁰ Smaje, Chris 2015 30 December "After Paris" the dark Mountain Blog http://dark-mountain.net/blog/after-paris/ accessed 13 January 2016.

³⁰¹ Hulme 2009.

³⁰² Hulme 2009.

fourteenth century and lasted in the following centuries. ³⁰³ What we now refer to as 'climate change' appeared in public debate in 1988, in what Hulme refers to as the greenhouse summer. 304 As soon as the issue of climate change first hit the public there were disagreements in a debate that reached outside scientific society and that would continue in the following decade.³⁰⁵ What brought about a public interest in anthropogenic climate change was, according to Hulme, a convergence of politics, institutional innovation, and the intervention of prominent public and charismatic individuals.³⁰⁶ Today the idea that humans not only could be, but really are, warming the planet's climate are firmly embedded beyond the confines of science, among the world leaders, national politicians and the media.³⁰⁷ The series of UN reports, published in 1990, 1995, 2007, 2014, and forthcoming 2020, 308 has offered increased evidence for the reality of anthropogenic climate change. Climate change is a phenomenon that is defined in scientific vocabulary, but it is communicated to a wider society in political policymaking and mediated by the environmental

³⁰³ Fagan 2000.

³⁰⁴ Hulme 2009:234. In the English language, the terms most frequently used to describe the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere have varied over time. Initially, between the 1980s and the 1990s, the 'greenhouse effect' was a term widely used. but it has been replaced, either by the evocative expression of 'global warming' or the more generic term 'climate change'.

³⁰⁵ See Hulme 2009. Initially there were two positions in climate change debate: those who argued that there was enough scientific support for climate change and those who denied that this was the case, often called climate change deniers or climate sceptics. The problem in focus was: Is there scientific evidence to show that climate change is real, and a result of human activity? In this debate evidence from nature science was in focus, and it was a debate that was to a large extent conducted between researchers from the natural sciences, or it was research from these sciences that was referred to for support. The disagreement concerned the reality of climate change, that is, the physical transformation of the global climate through human modification of the atmosphere. There was also disagreement as to whether the changes in climate were caused by human activity in the form of emissions of greenhouse gases, that is anthropogenic climate change, or if it was so-called natural variations in temperature that had been seen repeatedly in history.

³⁰⁶ Hulme 2009:63-64.

Hulme 2009:65. The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC, was established in 1988, mandated by the UN General Assembly to undertake international assessments of scientific knowledge about climate change, its impact, and the range of possible response strategies. Whilst the Panel consisted of scientists, its work was seen to be serving the needs of government and policy, but the reports played a major role in public debate on climate change, and in creating a public awareness of the matter. Hulme 2009:96.

The IPCC is supposed to assess: the risk of human-induced climate change, its potential impacts, and possible options for prevention. "The IPCC was created to provide policymakers with regular scientific assessments on climate change, its implications and potential future risks, as well as to put forward adaptation and mitigation options. Through its assessment, the IPCC determines the state of knowledge on climate change, it identifies where there is agreement in the scientific community on topics related to climate change, and where further research is needed. The report is drafted and reviewed in several stages, thus guaranteeing objectivity and transparency." See further https://www.ipcc.ch accessed 8 November 2019.

³⁰⁸ See further https://www.ipcc.ch/reports/ accessed 8 November 2021.

movement to the man in the street.³⁰⁹ The fact that climate change is a scientific phenomenon emphasises the relation between the environmental movement and science, and this turns out to be a somewhat ambivalent liaison, to which I will return later on in this thesis.

'Anthropogenic' climate change, defined as the physical transformation of global climate through human modification of the atmosphere, focuses exclusively on the emission of carbon dioxide and its consequences. Within the environmental humanities, scholars such as Hulme have emphasised the social dimension of climate change, for example, by examining the social construction of 'climate' in Western intellectual history (which will be discussed below). Climate change is not a problem waiting for a solution, it is an environmental, cultural and political phenomenon, which reshapes the way we think about ourselves, our societies and humanity's place on Earth, according to Hulme.³¹⁰

The full story of climate change is the unfolding story of an idea and how this idea is changing the way we think, feel, and act. Not only is climate change altering our physical world, but the idea of climate change is altering our social worlds.³¹¹

The story of climate change is about the meeting between Nature and Culture, Hulme sums up. The political scientist Lucy Sargisson likewise includes the social dimension and writes: "Climate change presents multiple and interwoven problems." Similarly Dipesh Chakrabarty describes "climate change not simply on its own but as part of a family of interlocking problems" Climate change as multiple and interwoven problems assume that anthropogenic climate change is part of the picture, it is, however, not the full picture of this troubled world and it is necessary to bring in the social dimension to fully understand the situation. This view of climate change as multiple and interwoven problems resonates with the Brundtland report *Limits to Growth – Our Common Future*. The report, published in 1987, emphasises the notion of 'sustainability' and uses the concept of 'interlocking crises'.

In addition, key contributions of *Our Common Future* to the concept of sustainable development include the recognition that the many crises facing the planet are *interlocking crises* that are elements of a single crisis of the whole.³¹⁴

The report brought attention to a planetary scale, showing that "the many crises facing the planet" were interlocking crises. Although the report was published a year

310 Hulme 2009:xxxviii.

³⁰⁹ Hulme 2009:65.

³¹¹ Hulme 2009:xxxviii.

³¹² Sargisson 2012:116.

³¹³ Chakrabarty 2016:380.

³¹⁴ The Brundtland Report: Limits to Growth Our Common Future 1987.

before climate change was introduced, its definition of 'sustainability' as "development that meets the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs"³¹⁵ has been integrated in the discussion of global climate change. Thus, to use resources with a thought for future generations means to bring in considerations of the social and cultural dimension, and this has had an increasing impact on the understanding of the climate crisis.³¹⁶ The social dimension of climate change presents multiple and interwoven problems and includes cultural, economic and political perspectives. It is an ecological crisis that concerns the use of natural resources, it is part of the economic crisis, the energy crisis, referred to as peak oil, and it is related to ecological issues such as the loss of biodiversity (the sixth mass extinction) deforestation, desertification. The social dimension of climate change stresses social and global justice, but parallel to the accelerating loss of biodiversity the question of eco-justice has been increasingly emphasised during the period.

Consequently, these different conceptions of climate change led to different suggested solutions. Anthropogenic climate change relies on technological solutions to handle climate change, as seen in the critical comments on the Paris Agreement. If climate change is seen as "multiple and interwoven problems"³¹⁷ then the crisis calls for solutions that include the social and cultural dimension, and, therefore, a far more complex pattern of both crisis and solutions emerges in this field. Although some solutions may be technological, technology alone cannot solve the deeper predicament. Instead, climate change is an indication of a deeper cultural crisis; the multiple and interwoven problems, or the interlocking crisis, is a complex pattern of economic, political, social and cultural crisis and to describe this as a whole is beyond the scope of this thesis. My contribution to the discussion, taking the perspective of history of religion, is to explore how climate change is seen as a cultural crisis, or in an emic discourse a spiritual crisis. A question I ponder on is how this conception of climate crisis as a spiritual crisis is related to the reenchantment that Christopher Partridge argues is taking place in the environmental movement today.

_

³¹⁵ The Brundtland Report: Limits to Growth Our Common Future 1987.

³¹⁶ Sustainability has become a buzz word within green discourse – sometimes describes as sustainababble – and it has been much criticized, partly for being trivialized (Bauman), and therefore the term 'resilience' is often posed as an alternative, and 'social resilience' is often emphasised among radical environmentalists. 'Sustainability' and 'resilience' should not be seen as synonyms because there are differences: The terms 'sustainability' and 'resilience' are both originally from research on material. Sustainability refers to the ability of harder material to resist changes, while resilience refers to softer material and its ability to adjust to changing conditions. Sustainably as the ability to stand against environmental changes presupposes the control of nature, which Latour, for example, argues has been lost in the Anthropocene, and therefore resilience, the ability to adjust to changes, is more in tune with an understanding of man as part of nature, rather than master or crown of creation. For discussion see Bauman et al. 2011:96-111.

³¹⁷ Sargisson 2012:116.

2.1.6 A Point of Departure 2009

Historians writing a study have to define the period they study and answer the question why they chose to study this particular period. I set the year 2009 as a point of departure in relation to climate change; it is the year of the climate change summit in Copenhagen, which many considered to be the last opportunity to reach a political agreement that could help to manage the future. 318 The world leaders failed to arrive at an agreement that was pictured as the last hope. In 2009 the disagreements concerning the scientific evidence for climate change were pushed into the background. Voices within the scientific community were now heard who proclaimed that climate change was a new reality. At the time, there was evidence for actual events that could be related to climatological changes. In 2009 Johan Rockström and his colleagues at Stockholm Resilience Centre published an article in the respected journal *Nature*, claiming that Anthropogenic climate change is now beyond dispute, and it is time to create "a safe space for humanity". 319 The year 2009 is a crucial year in relation to climate change as the year of the failures of Copenhagen, but from a British perspective there is a further reason for setting this as a distinctive year. The year a small self-published pamphlet titled *Uncivilisation*: The Dark Mountain Manifesto stirred up a heated public debate about the reality and consequences of climate change in Britain. The debate concerned whether climate change was a new reality; would it even be the end of industrial civilisation?

2.2 Climate Change in British Public Discourse – the Case of *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto*

Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto was written by British environmental activists, journalists and writers Paul Kingsnorth and Dougal Hine.³²⁰ I will pay much attention to this publication in this chapter because I consider it to be crucial material in my study. Therefore I will approach it in relation to the public debate and furthermore, as I have had the opportunity to meet Kingsnorth and Hine I will offer a more elaborate discussion.

³¹⁸ McKibben 2010:xiv.

³¹⁹ Rockström, Johan et al, "A Safe Operating Space of Humanity" *Nature* Vol. 461, 24 September 2009.

³²⁰ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009. The publication *Uncivilisation: The Mountain Manifesto* is freely available online: https://dark.mountain.net/about/manifesto, or https://dark-mountan.net/product/uncivilisation-the-dark-mountain-manifesto, accessed 21 November 2021.

2.2.1 Presentation of the Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto

The title *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto* (DMM) is inspired by the American poet Robinson Jeffers.³²¹ In the 1930s Jeffers saw the rearmament before the Second World War and wrote in a poem about the "masses dragged down the dark mountain". Kingsnorth and Hine consider our time to be in a similar momentum as in 1939 when Jeffers saw the war approaching, because today we have to face climate change.³²² The manifesto's call for uncivilisation implies a profound criticism of "civilisation" but it also questions man's self-image, and it gave expression to ideas inspired by American radical environmentalism. Kingsnorth and Hine claim that rather than continuous campaigning to stop climate change, we have to admit that it is too late to stop climate change – it is already happening. They portrayed climate change as a cultural crisis, as a crisis for industrial civilisation:

And over it all looms runaway climate change. Climate change, which threatens to render all human projects irrelevant; which presents us with detailed evidence of our lack of understanding of the world we inhabit while, at the same time, demonstrating that we are still entirely reliant upon it. Climate change, which highlights in painful colour the head-on crash between civilisation and 'nature'; which makes plain, more effectively than any carefully constructed argument or optimistically defiant protest, how the machine's need for permanent growth will require us to destroy ourselves in its name. Climate change, which brings home at last our ultimate powerlessness. 323

The manifesto's authors received responses from many readers that expressed a profound sense of relief that someone had expressed in words their own feeling that it actually was too late to stop climate change. 324 Kingsnorth and Hines claim that the manifesto met enthusiastic support from people who "did not believe that the future would be an upgraded version of the present". 325 The DMM sets out to reveal "the myths of progress" and civilisation and to forge this criticism into a new cultural response to the human predicament, and call for "a vision of the future that is far outside the mainstream". 326 It places climate crises alongside ecocide and the crisis of industrial civilisation, it exposes environmental and political ideologies in

³²¹ Field notes 2014.

³²² Field notes 2014.

³²³ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009

³²⁴ Kingsnorth 2010 "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain", The Guardian, 29 April 2010.

³²⁵ Field notes 2014.

³²⁶ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009.

the search for new visions and "a clear-sighted view of humanity's true place in the world". 327

Apart from the responses from the readers, *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto* gave rise to a harsh debate in significant British periodicals such as *The Guardian* and *The New Statesman*, although in this context, the response was very different. They were called both 'apocalyptic' and 'luddites' and the manifesto was characterised as "pretty gloomy stuff", ³²⁹ and the Dark Mountain was renamed the "gloomy mountain". As a reply to the criticism, Kingsnorth wrote in *the Guardian* "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain":

Together we are able to say it loud and clear: we are not going to 'save the planet'. The planet is not ours to save. The planet is not dying; but our civilisation might be, and neither green technology nor ethical shopping is going to prevent a serious crash.³³¹

The theme of a civilisation as dying is significant here, but Kingsnorth dismisses solutions in the form of green technology or ethical shopping. What I consider to be central in this debate is that the manifesto has a new approach to climate change: it is no longer a *future* threat, it is not something that *might* happen; climate change is here already. The British environmentalist and writer George Monbiot replied in *The Guardian* that he did not agree with this, however, his objection did not concern whether the industrial civilisation will come to an end or not. Monbiot admits that it will, but not right now: "not in this century, perhaps not even in the next". The end of industrial civilisation is, in Monbiot's view, still at a comfortable distance in the future, for future generations to handle. Still, to say climate change has stopped being something that might happen in the far future, and that it now had become a new reality, as Kingsnorth and Hine claimed, was not uncontroversial at that time. For some the claim that climate change was a new reality was like an unwanted wakeup call early on a Sunday morning, when everyone expected to sleep at least until brunch-time.

³²⁷ Apart from the publication of the manifesto, they initiated the Dark Mountain Project that gathers artists and writers to work for forthcoming publications in the same spirit.

³²⁸ Appleyard, Bryan 2014 "The new Luddites: why former digital prophets are turning against tech", The New Statesman 29 August 2014.

³²⁹ Townsend, Solitare (2010) "Get down off your Dark Mountain: you're making matters worse", The Guardian, 4 June 2010.

³³⁰ Townsend, Solitare (2010) "Get down off your Dark Mountain: you're making matters worse", The Guardian, 4 June 2010.

³³¹ Kingsnorth, Paul (2010) "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain", *The Guardian*, 29 April 2010.

³³² Monbiot, George "I share their despair, but I'm not ready to climb the Dark Mountain", The Guardian 10 May 2010.

2.2.2 Climate Change as a Future Risk

2009 is a distinctive year because by then some voices were starting to talk about climate change in the present tense. When climate change was introduced in public media in the last decade of the twentieth century, there were generally two assumptions: first, it was pictured as something that *might* happen, and secondly; if it did, then it would be in the far future. In 2008 the British environmentalist and journalist Mark Lynas wrote 6 Degrees – Our Future on a Hotter Planet, which he describes as "a degree-by-degree guide to our planet's future" and a "journey into humanity's likely future". The process of writing made Lynas feel "like Dante at the gates of Inferno – privileged to see what few others have laid eves upon, but also deeply worried by the horrors that that seemed to lie ahead."334 Lynas does not claim that the scenarios pictured will come true exactly as described, nonetheless, climate change is "the canvas on which the history of the twenty-first century will be painted."335 Lynas sets climate change in our own century; it is no longer a threat in the far future, the future is getting closer. Still, at this time, the idea of climate change as something that might happen in the far future seemed to have stuck to the concept.

In 2009 the sociologist Anthony Giddens described global warning as a future risk. It is a problem unlike any other, because of the scale, and because it is about the future, this makes the dangers seem abstract and elusive. To cope with them we need to mobilise on a level comparable to fighting a war, and the challenges are "of epic proportions". Giddens does not underestimate the efforts needed; nonetheless, climate change is a future risk, not yet a reality. Giddens claims: "We are currently living in a civilisation that, as far as we can determine future risk, looks unsustainable." Although climate change is referred to as a "future risk", the calculation and prediction of how fast climate change proceeds turned out to be a tricky task for scientists. There are several reasons why it has been difficult for researchers to predict how fast global warming will increase the temperature. Scientists talk about 'feedback mechanism', and 'tipping points' which lead to a

³³³ Lynas 2008:xvi.

³³⁴ Lynas 2008:xxii.

³³⁵ Lynas 2008:xxii. Lynas writes: "I would be foolish to expect that prediction to come true in any literal sense – history teaches us that human events are too unpredictable to support such a deterministic approach. But on this I have no doubt: climate change is the canvas on which the history of the twenty-first century will be painted."

³³⁶ Giddens 2009:10. Giddens points to a number of books that describe future scenarios in relation to climate change, and he sees these books as a special genre, 'Doomsday books'. My point here is not to categorise *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto*, or 6 *Degrees* as doomsday books, rather to consider the historical context where they were published.

³³⁷ Giddens 2009.

³³⁸ Giddens 2009.

complexity which makes it hard to calculate.³³⁹ What I want to emphasise here is the change in the conception of climate change, from a future risk to a new reality, which I consider to form a distinctive mark of change. And it seems that around 2009 the first voices that made such claims were heard.

2.2.3 Climate Change – a New Reality

When Paul Kingsnorth and Dougal Hine came together in 2008 they had both spent years campaigning in the environmental movements, but they had come to share a realisation that climate change was no longer a future threat but a new reality. In order to deal with this new reality they started to write the manifesto, with the intention of asking for different narratives, "beyond the false hope of environmentalism". 340 They wanted to look "beyond the self-satisfied stories" 341 of man's ability to "manage the future". 342 Instead they turned to literature, music and art, rather than environmental campaigning. The manifesto called, not for new technological innovation, but for new stories, and it suggested that art and literature offer tools for coping with the challenges of climate change. The publication of Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto would initiate The Dark Mountain Project, a new offspring of the three environmental movements. What is unique here is the focus on art and literature, and on new stories. Kingsnorth describes it as "a new cultural movement for an age of global disruption."343 The Dark Mountain Project is a network of writers, artists and thinkers, centred on the Dark Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain" have also arranged Uncivilisation festivals and hold courses at Schumacher College.

In the summer of 2014, in June, a short course was held at Schumacher College; *Dark Mountain: New Stories at the Cliff Edge*, and the hosts were Paul Kingsnorth and Dougal Hine. The course offered a space for reflection and communication about what it means to live in times of climate change, and at the same time it was a sort of fifth anniversary of the publication of *Uncivilisation – The Dark Mountain Manifesto* in 2009.³⁴⁴ The anniversary gave them a reason to look back and ask what had happened in public approaches to climate change during the interim period.

³³⁹ Empson 2014:257–260. Feedback mechanisms mean that melting ice and warmer oceans cause further warming. This is sometimes called runaway climate change, it is unpredictable and beyond control, and it is heading towards a tipping point. A tipping-point is when an environmental system moves from one steady state to another, but radically different state.

³⁴⁰ www.paulkingsnorth.net Accessed 2011-11-20.

³⁴¹ Kingsnorth (2010) "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain" *The Guardian*, 29 Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain", 29 April 2010

³⁴² Kingsnorth (2010) "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain", The Guardian, 29 April 2010.

³⁴³ Kingsnorth (2010) "Why I gave up environmentalism and started the Dark Mountain", The Guardian, 29 April 2010.

³⁴⁴ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009.

During the course, they made a public speech in the Earth Talk series³⁴⁵ titled "Five Years on the Mountain". Kingsnorth and Hine see a major changes in the discourse on climate change in public debate: in 2014 it would have been much easier to say what they said in 2009, and it would not have stirred up so much agony. During the in-between years, the reality of the climate crisis became more apparent, and it was increasingly difficult to neglect the signs of what was happening. When Kingsnorth and Hine said that climate change was a reality in 2009, few agreed, but five years later, they were no longer solitary voices. The transformation of the understanding of climate change, from future risk to a new reality, was a process that that took years, but the Uncivilisation debate illustrates an initial step in this transformation, and I see this as a reason why this pamphlet provoked such an infected debate. In the Dark Mountain Manifesto they pose a crucial question: How do we tell the story of climate change? In this they wanted to go beyond scientific reports and political policy documents. Before continuing the discussion of Kingsnorth and Hine I will linger on the scientific reports on climate change.

2.2.4 Telling the Story of Climate Change – Imagine Future Scenarios

In the initial phase, the climate change scientists and environmental activists hoped to raise awareness in support of political policymaking in order to limit the emission of greenhouse gasses and prevent global warming from rising above two degrees from the pre-industrial levels. Two degrees was the threshold where the tipping point would be passed.³⁴⁸ Today, more than a decade later, many voices talk about climate change in the present tense; it is no longer a possible future scenario, it is happening right now. In 2019 an article published in *Bioscience* stated that the climate crisis is accelerating faster than any research could have predicted. Some 11,000 experts stand behind the article, led by ecologists William Ripple and Christopher Wolf.³⁴⁹ They describe the current situation as "a climate emergency". In 2021 the *Climate Adaptation Summit* – the first summit dedicated to the question of how to adapt to climate change – took place.³⁵⁰

³⁴⁵ The Earth Talks are public events held at Schumacher College that are available on Youtube: Earth Talk https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KPteW0dvOHI accessed 17 December 2015.

³⁴⁶ Field notes 2014, also seen in Earth Talk https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=KPteW0dvOHI accessed 17 December 2015.

³⁴⁷ Field notes 2014.

³⁴⁸ Empson 2014:261. Recent research, such as James Hansen, the head of NASA's Goddard Institute for Space Studies, in 2008, argues that old calculations are too generous, and the threshold and tipping point will be sooner than anyone thought.

³⁴⁹ Ripple, William J. Wolf. Thomas et al (2017) "World Scientists' Warning to Humanity: A Second Notice" *BioScience*, Volume 67, Issue 12, December 2017, Pages 1026–1028.

³⁵⁰ Climate Adoption Summit: https://www.cas2021.com/ accessed10 November 2021.

What would it be like, living in times of climate change? Science pictures scenarios of extreme weather: floods and rising sea-levels, storms, hurricanes as well as heatwaves and droughts that may lead to forest fires are part of the scenarios of what can be expected.³⁵¹ The social dimension brings in a far more complex estimation of the risk of conflicts (for example in relation to lack of water resources, or food crisis), which put pressure on humanity. From a biological perspective, in times of extreme extinction of species and loss of biodiversity, there is no guarantee that human beings are immune to the same fate that many other species have faced as their numbers have been decimated. The link between rapid climate change and human extinction is that the planet will become uninhabitable for humans if the average temperature goes up by 4 or 6 degrees. 352 James Lovelock, biologist and founding father of the Gaia theory, claims that this time we have to "take seriously the possibility that global heating may eliminate all people from the Earth". 353 To see the human species as one of many species, robbed of the privilege of being the crown of creation, is a challenge that calls for a new self-understanding for mankind. and this is a vital part of the rewilding of the human mind, which I elaborate in this thesis.

Human history offers a record of challenges – famines, crop failures, floods – that have been part of human history, but how such catastrophic events have been understood and explained has varied greatly. The historian Marie-Hélène Huet claims that "Our culture thinks through disasters", 354 but perhaps it is more accurate to say that we struggle to find meaning in disasters. Finding a meaning in such events is not the same thing as offering a scientific explanation of why they happen, what gives meaning is rather the ability to tell the story about it. Disasters may be distinctive historical events, but the understanding of the world that is expressed in these events illustrates the conception of the world. In this study I ask for narratives concerning what it might be like living in times of climate change. These narratives illustrate the kind of expectations people have in relation to climate change. These

In June 2019, EASAC (European Academics Science Advisory Council) released *The Imperative of Climate Action to Protect Human Health in Europe*. The report states "Climate change is the defining issue of our time and now is the defining moment to do something about it". The work of the council focuses on the interlinkages between climate change and human health. Increasing temperatures may lead to the spreading of mosquitos further north, and there is a risk that these mosquitos will spread epidemics, such as dengue fever. Flooding will have consequences such as diarrhoea, and infections spread through food, such as salmonella. Higher temperatures will have consequences such as deteriorating cognitive capacity, which lead to declining productivity, and mental ill-health following extreme weather conditions.

https://easac.eu/fileadmin/PDF s/reports statements/Climate Change and Health/EASAC Report No 38 Climate Change and Health.pdf, accessed 6 June 2019

³⁵² Curry, Nathan "Humanities is Getting Verrrrrrry Close to Extinction", the.vice.com, http://www.vice.com/read/near-term-extinctionists-believe-the-world-is-going-to-end-very-soon accessed 21 November 2021.

³⁵³ Lovelock 2009:6.

³⁵⁴ Huet 2012:2.

may depict the natural disasters, the heavy rain and the flooding, but also how people in various ways respond to these disasters, emotionally, socially or culturally, Science offers models for the climatological changes and geological processes to come, but how people respond to them today and how they prepare for the challenges that are ahead is for studies like mine to find out. The question to ponder on is how it is possible to make a record of people's efforts to deal with these coming changes – in entering the Anthropocene – and how to approach it from an analytical and theoretical perspective. Anthropocene comes from Greek anthropos meaning 'man' and *kainos* meaning new. Despite its name it is not an immoderate extension of anthropocentrism, on the contrary – the Anthropocene means losing the modernist/scientific control of nature, where the laws of nature were considered to be stable. This kind of control was possible in the Holocene, the period that offered a stability that made nature predictable. The Anthropocene means that humans are no longer set apart from terrestrial history. 355 The loss of stability, such as a stable climate, will change the world. 356 Indeed, the times they are a-changing, as the poet wrote, and one conceptualisation of this is the shift from the Holocene to the Anthropocene.³⁵⁷ The scholarly task is to study this shift in a contemporary perspective. With this in mind I return to the Dark Mountain Manifesto

2.2.5 The Age of Ecocide and the Jilted Generation

"We are the first generation to grow up surrounded by evidence that our attempt to separate ourselves from 'nature' has been a grim failure, proof not of our genius but our hubris." ³⁵⁸ Paul Kingsnorth and Dougal Hine (who were born in the early 1970s) describe their age on behalf of their generation. They state that "Our age is the age of ecocide." They are the first generation that has to face the challenges and cope seriously with climate crisis. Hine poses the rhetorical question: If we woke up tomorrow and someone said the climate change was off, it was a mistake on the part of the scientists, would that mean that everything was all right? Hine's answer is "no". In picturing the climate crisis as layers of crisis, climate change is not a single crisis. "It's a feature, it's not a bug" in the words of Hine. ³⁶⁰ In this, the climate change discourse is part of a wider critique of society, culture and economy, in what is often summed up as "the industrial civilisation". As Hine writes:

³⁵⁵ Latour 2017:122.

³⁵⁶ Archer 2009 Archer's book, The Long Thaw: How Humans are Changing the Next 100,000 Years of Earth's Climate lays out a clear and concise argument for how huge concentrations of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere and melting ice will radically transform the planet, beyond freak storms and warmer summers, beyond any foreseeable future.

³⁵⁷ Crutzen and Stoermer 2000.

³⁵⁸ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009:6.

³⁵⁹ Field notes 2014.

³⁶⁰ Field notes 2014.

...a more general disillusion has spread through the Western world, beginning in the crisis of the 1970s, muddied by the neoliberal boom years, then given new clarity by the systemic crisis that broke out in the autumn of 2008. Opinion polls confirm that the basic assumption of economic progress – that each generation will grow up more prosperous and with greater opportunities than their parents – no longer rings true for most of us. The failure of the promise of modernity is no longer a theoretical matter, but part of everyday experience of people in western societies. 361

The promise of progress was the foundation for political policymaking throughout the twentieth century, when everything was getting better and better, and as Hine writes, each generation would be more prosperous than the previous one. This promise is at the heart of the ideas of the Enlightenment. Still, this is not only the failure of an idea or an ideology, or "a theoretical matter" because it is very much "part of everyday experience" according to Hine. The end of progress is a complex phenomenon; rather than the end of constant technological innovation, it means the end of economic growth. The notion of planetary boundary has shown that endless economic growth is neither possible nor desirable. The economic crisis of 2008 gave support for the claim that endless economic growth was no longer a practicable model for the future. Given this, it is no longer true that the younger generation will grow up more prosperous than the one before. Intergenerational relations have been in the focus of attention since the Brundtland report *Our Common Future* (1987) defined 'sustainability' with consideration for future generations.

In fact, there are several voices that give support to this. In 2010 Ed Howker and Shiv Malik published *Jilted Generation: How Britain Has Bankrupted Its Youth*, where they identified the perilous position of Britain's young adults. The jilted generation refers to the generation born between 1979 and 1994 (and that is also the case with many of those who are part of my study). Howker and Malik identify four basic areas that form the foundation of people's lives regardless of the generation they are born into: housing, jobs, inheritance – how wealth is transferred between generations – and politics. From a comparison between generations Howker and Malik establish that "Britain's young adults really are having an unexpectedly rough time." Although they do not address environmental degradation and climate change, their results are relevant for understanding the young generation of today, also setting the context of my work. The problem addressed as the jilted generation is not only a British dilemma. In the American magazine *Newsweek*, Joel Kotkin³⁶³ gives a report on a *generation screwed*, that is, a generation of well-educated but

_

³⁶¹ Hine 2015:60 "When the promises of progress fail us", Resurgence & Ecologist, March/April 2015, No. 289.

³⁶² Howker and Malik 2010:4. Britain is not unique in this; in a North American context the term 'generation screwed' refers to the same issue. The changes in the labour market make it difficult for the youth of today to establish themselves, in terms of secure income, to get a home, and a family, it become difficult to become all those things that are generally seen as being an adult.

³⁶³ Kotkin, Joel (2012) "Generation Screwed", Newsweek, 23–30 July 2012.

poor young people that have not yet entered adult life, even though that they may very well be in, or beyond, their mid-30s.³⁶⁴ A further contribution is by the journalist Paul Mason, who has coined the phrase "the graduate with no future" and he sets out to explore the reasons why numerous protest movement, revolutions, civil wars and internet-based revolts kicked off in 2009–11. What Mason places at the centre of this new global movement is the new sociological type, i.e. the graduate with no future.³⁶⁵ In his reportage, Mason travels from Cairo to Manilla, to Athens and beyond. Mason describes the situation as being "in the middle of a revolution caused by the near collapse of free-market capitalism combined with an upswing in technological innovation, a surge in desire for individual freedom and a change in human consciousness about what freedom means."³⁶⁶ From a global perspective, the Arab Spring that started in Tunisia and spread to Egypt and both the urban poor and the organised working class played a crucial part in shaping the course of the global unrest, but at the centre of the protest Mason nevertheless finds another figure:

... it was to 'the graduate with no future that it fell to kick things off. From the rich world to the poor world, it is educated young people whose life chances and illusions are now being shattered. Though their general conditions are still better than those of slum-dwellers or some workers, they have experienced far greater disappointment.³⁶⁷

The graduate with no future makes a coordination between higher education and broken dreams, and Mason sets this figure at the centre of the uprisings, the Arab Spring and Occupy that swept through the world in 2009–11. In *Occupy Spirituality* Matthew Fox and Adam Bucko provide a perspective from the US: In the aftermath of the Occupy movement they underscore that what defines the Occupy generation, the kind of dreams it cherishes and gives birth to, does not depend on the success of Occupy Wall Street or the Arab Spring, because these movements had far more long-term effects.³⁶⁸

Its vision is more long-term than that. Revolutions will come and go. Movements will change names and forms. But what is emerging in people's hearts will continue. Most likely it will continue quietly, in small communities, among friends, mostly unacknowledged by the dominant media. It will continue quietly creating a counterpoint to all the institutions and power structures, eventually moving the center

http://www.generationscrewed.ca/about-us/ But his has also given rise to a new movement Generation shrewd who front their webpage with the slogan: "They partied for 40 years, and you got stuck with the bill". The economist Tylor Cowen describe the stagnation in the American and global economy (2011).

³⁶⁵ Mason 2013:66.

³⁶⁶ Mason 2013:3.

³⁶⁷ Mason 2013:72.

³⁶⁸ Bucko and Fox 2013:xvii-xviii.

of life from values that no longer serve life to relationship that nourish and celebrate life 369

Fox and Butko describe a change that is taking place "unacknowledged by the dominant media" and that will "continue quietly" in "creating a counterpoint to institutions and power structures", and they continue the youth already living it". This discussion about today's youth relates to the question of future generations which is at the core of environmental discourse as the ethical implications of overuse of the Earth's resources resonates into the future, to those who will follow in our wake. The ethical consideration of intergenerational justice resonates into the distant future, while the intergenerational perspective relates to those who live today. A reason to shed light on the theme of generations is that it is of direct relevance to my study, where many of those I have met in my fieldwork are part of the jilted generation (or if we refer to the screwed generation or the Occupy generation). Although my study is not exclusively a study of younger persons, this must be kept in mind throughout the study, and therefore I elaborate on this discussion of intergenerational justice. The domain of the place of the study of the place o

Three decades have passed since 1987 when *The Brundtland Report: Our Common Future* defined sustainability as meeting "the needs of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs." The report draws the line towards future generations.

We borrow environmental capital from future generations with no intention or prospect of repaying. They may damn us for our spendthrift ways, but they can never collect on our debt to them. We act as we do because we can get away with it: future generations do not vote; they have no political or financial power; they cannot challenge our decisions.³⁷²

Who are the "we" and the "they" in this quote from the Brundtland report? This is relative to time; "We" are the people living in the twentieth century; "they" are those in the twenty-first. Thus, when the report was published, the "future generations" were seen as the great-grandchildren, those who will live in future days; however, today the future generations of the report are the youth of our contemporary own era. Those who were born in the late 1980s or the 1990s (referred to as the jilted generation) are now young adults, and some of them I have met during my fieldwork

370 Bucko and Fox 2013:xxiv. "While most pundits still argue about whether another world is possible, the youth already living it... they are living it in how they choose to interact with each other, in how they do spirituality, in how they say no to politics as we know it, by moving from wanting to impose a fixed rule to proposing a new way of life, on which we put aside our egos and relate to each other in ways that can produce communities that work for everyone."

³⁶⁹ Bucko and Fox 2013:xvii-xviii.

³⁷¹ For discussion on the ethical issues from a philosophical perspective, see Barry 2003.

³⁷² The Brundtland Report: Our Common Future 1987, available at http://www.un-documents.net/ocf-ov.htm#1.2.

and should be kept in mind in a general of understanding today's youth, and particularly in relation to my study.

2.2.6 At the Edge of Times – The Collapse of Civilisation

"Our time is often pictured as the edge of time, but people have always been living at the edge of time, not to deny that our time is exceptional."³⁷³ These are the words of the storyteller, mythologist and scholar of English literature Martin Shaw. The experience of living at the edge of time is both perennial and existential. It refers to the challenges that people have to cope with, and that people who lived before us had to cope with. Living in exceptional times entails feelings that may range from fear and uncertainly to adventure and hope: nonetheless, one consequence of climate change is that there seems to be an increasing sense of living in exceptional times. As seen previously, the shift between the Holocene and the Anthropocene is one conceptualisation of this change of time which has been influential in scholarly discourse. Another one is the discourse on climate change and civilisation, which I refer to as the narrative of climate change as the end of civilisation. In this chapter I outline this narrative, in relation to a wider environmental discourse, and of course in relation to the Dark Mountain Manifesto. In simple terms the narrative of the end of civilisation addresses the current situation of climate change. As we saw in the previous chapter, one of the central questions was: how can we tell the story of climate change? Here I will consider the context of environmental discourse, which is necessary before continuing the discussion.

The contemporary environmental discourse on the collapse of civilisation concerns the future of industrial civilisation. From a general perspective, the geologist Jared Diamond's theory assumes that civilisations collapse when their resources run out and they ruin their environment, so that they no longer can support themselves. Diamond has many followers, who are called peak or collapse theorists, and they offer various models of the collapse. The authors of these books are distinctive figures in the environmental movement. John Michael Greer (aka The Arch Druid) describes the collapse as a "slow decline" starting on the periphery.³⁷⁴ Derek Jensen's End Games relates to radical environmentalism and the loss of biodiversity and the collapse of ecosystems. A general assumption in collapse theories is that all empires or civilisations eventually collapse, and therefore it is reasonable to expect that this will be the case with our industrial civilisation. Thus, collapse theories relate to climate change and the contemporary use of natural resources in relation to fossil fuel and peak oil. The collapse of industrial civilisation is related to the end of (Western) industrial capitalist hegemony in a postcolonial discourse. This discourse on the end of civilisation depicts our industrial civilisation

³⁷³ Field notes 2014.

³⁷⁴ Greer 2008.

as dependent on a colonial world order, in its exploitation of natural resources and fossil fuel. Fossil fuel is the primary energy source in the industrial era, but access to fossil fuel has reached its peak.³⁷⁵ Fossil fuel is the basis for industry and the capitalist mode of production. Consequently, when fossil fuel runs out, capitalism and the industrial mode of production will collapse. This is Naomi Klein's model for collapse in *This Changes Everything: Capitalism vs Climate*. These voices are all from an American context, and they relate to the economic crisis of 2008, as well as the ecological crisis. The theme is carried on with new modifications, but, as will be discussed next, the relation between civilisation and climate is an ancient one.³⁷⁶ Collapse theories predict that industrial civilisation will unavoidably come to an end due economic factors in combination with climate change. What I refer to as the narrative of the end of civilisation concerns how people come to terms with these new conditions.

2.2.7 Civilisation and Climate

The narrative of the end of civilisation addresses the collapse of the industrial civilisation, and it is set within a contemporary environmental discourse, but the relation between climate and civilisation is an ancient one. Mike Hulme looks at the social meaning of climate and includes how concepts such as 'climate' are historically constructed. The genealogy of the idea of climate shows that it was first given linguistic form by the Greeks in the word $\kappa\lambda i\mu\alpha$, or *klima*, which was first used in the early sixth century BC by Pythagoras's disciple Permenides.³⁷⁷ Even these early attempts to classify climate reveal the precariousness of the human relationship to the climate, according to Hulme. The Greeks talked about climates in the plural, and divided climate in distinctive zones: the zones in the far north were too cold, those in the south too hot to be inhabitable. Their own zone, however, was the perfect place to be.³⁷⁸ Hulme emphasises that the idea of climate has changed

Peak oil theories assume that the foundation for the industrial civilisation has been fossil fuel, and when fossil fuel runs out the industrial economy will no longer work. Peak oil theories describe the topography of ups and downs as being similar to empires past and present. Peak oil theory was first formulated in the mid-twentieth century by King Hubbart, an American petroleum geologist who made a survey and predicted that the oil resources will run out sooner than anyone expected. He saw the road leading downward from where he stood, and this has become known as Hubbert's peak. Peak oil has been elaborated to include not just fossil fuel but natural resources of all sorts. This peak theory proceeds from Richard Heinberg's *Peak Everything* (2010) the point where more or less *all* natural resources run out and civilisation is heading for a point where collapse is unavoidable. See Greer 2008:xi.

³⁷⁶ It should be noted that the narrative that I refer to as the end of civilization is distinct from the clash of civilisations-discourse that was initiated by Samuel Huntington, (1996) and primarily discussed Western civilization in relation to Islam.

³⁷⁷ Hulme 2009:5.

³⁷⁸ Hulme 2009:18. The climates of the intermediate Mediterranean zone, on the other hand, were just perfect for the blossoming of human creativity, expressed through culture, wealth creation

just as much as, if not more than, the physical climate itself, and it has been a carrier of ideologies, in the past as it continues to be in the present. It has been loaded with burdens of racism as well as ideas of the human mastery of nature. Therefore, climate and civilisation must be seen as ideology, Hulme concludes.

Understanding climate – and hence understanding climate change – as an overly physical phenomenon too readily allows it to be appropriated uncritically in support of an expanding range of ideologies [...]The important point is that by disconnecting climate from its cultural forms – by framing climate as overtly physical and global – we allow the idea of climate change to acquire a near infinite plasticity. Detached from its cultural anchors, climate change becomes a malleable envoy enlisted in support of too many rulers.³⁷⁹

One link between climate and culture is in the idea that a stable or benevolent climate is a condition for civilisation, and part of this ideology is the idea that the human character, and even different races, are shaped or even determined by climate. This notion is, in Hulme's words "one of the more enduring in the intellectual history of climate". Dipesh Chakrabarty notes that 'Civilization,' "is a value-laden and therefore contested word that humanities scholars in recent decades have done much to demystify". 381

The idea of civilisation-and-climate, particularly in relation to the hegemony of the Western civilisation, was brought further into the twentieth century by the geographer Ellsworth Huntington,³⁸² who states that "No nation has risen to the highest grade of civilization except in regions where the climatic stimulus is

and innovation. This circularity of reasoning was therefore a way of simultaneously explaining and justifying Greek hegemony in the classical world.

³⁷⁹ Hulme 2009:28.

³⁸⁰ Hulme 2009:19 Hulme refers to Immanuel Kant who in *On the Different Races of Man* (1775) made the following remark "The inhabitant of the temperate parts of the world, above all the central part, has a more beautiful body, works harder, is more jocular, more controlled in his passions, more intelligent than any other race of people in the world. That is why at all points in time these peoples have educated the others and controlled them with weapons." In the eighteenth-century Edward Gibbon's classic account of the fall of the Roman Empire related climatic factors to the declining civilisation as the climate changes weakened agriculture in the areas known as the Roman breadbasket.

³⁸¹ Chakrabarty 2016:377.

³⁸² Hulme 2009:20. Drawing on empirical studies on the productivity of factory workers under different climatic conditions, Huntington nevertheless echoed the old idea of a connection between climate and human character and claimed that people of "a damp and steady heat" are "slow and backward". While these ideas are seen as naïve or dangerous today, they nevertheless show how, in the words of Hulme, "the deterministic philosophy underpinning such thinking can still lurk near the surface."

great",³⁸³ and "a favorable climate is an essential condition of high civilization."³⁸⁴ The corollary of this reasoning is clear: if the climatic stimulus is withdrawn or weakened, decline will inevitably follow, and this intellectual legacy has endured throughout the twentieth century.³⁸⁵ All through history, changing climate has been invoked to explain the decline of civilisations, and the contemporary discussion of climate, civilisation and climate change is one example of this legacy. Clive Hamilton, a scholar in public ethics, writes:

The kind of climate that has allowed civilisation to flourish will be gone and humans will enter a long struggle just to survive. It is hard to accept that human being could so change the composition of Earth's atmosphere that civilisation, and even the existence of species, is jeopardised.³⁸⁶

Today scientific references to how climate change threatens civilisation are based on the end of the Holocene geological era, which is characterised by stability, now replaced with the Anthropocene, characterised by instability. One example of this is an article by Johan Rockström and his colleagues published in *Nature*. The threat to human civilisation is related to the loss of stability that the Holocene brought.

Although Earth has undergone many periods of significant environmental change, the planet's environment has been unusually stable for the past 10,000 years. This period of stability — known to geologists as the Holocene — has seen human civilizations arise, develop and thrive. Such stability may now be under threat. Since the Industrial Revolution, a new era has arisen, the Anthropocene, in which human actions have become the main driver of global environmental change. This could see human activities push the Earth system outside the stable environmental state of the

³⁸³ Hulme 2009:29 originally in Huntington's Civilization and Climate 1915:270. Huntington is not to be confused with his later namesake Samuel Huntington who put forward the clash of civilisation thesis in 2003.

³⁸⁴ Hulme 2009:29 originally in Huntington *Civilization and Climate* 1915:270 For Huntington this climate-civilization connection was taken to demonstrate the racial superiority of whites over blacks. See further Hulme 2009:29. Huntington stated that "If we can conquer climate, the whole world will be stronger and nobler" (Huntington 1915: 294, as quoted in Hulme 2009:21). Yet the idea of climate as a physical manifestation of the natural world that is available for 'conquering' is recurrent through the intellectual history of the West, according to Hulme. This is not just part of intellectual history; it can also be seen as a part of the colonial history of the West. The Victorian colonisers saw the tropical climate as a dangerous threat, questioning whether white Europeans could settle, survive and rule in this hostile climate. Improvement in tropical medicine and later air-conditioning were some of the scientific and technological ways to conquer the climate. But this also went together with Western civilisation's colonisation of the world.

³⁸⁵ For examples see Hulme 2009:29–30.

³⁸⁶ Hamilton 2010:2.

Holocene, with consequences that are detrimental or even catastrophic for large parts of the world.³⁸⁷

Thus, the climatological stability of the Holocene is the condition for civilisation, and while this climatological stability is "under threat" it undermines the foundation for civilisation. Here, the stability of climate offers the conditions for civilisation to flourish, and conversely the loss of climatological stability is a threat to civilisation. This framing is found in Western intellectual history, in contemporary scientific discourse (Rockström) and in scholarly discourse (Hamilton). Therefore, when we find the same framing in *The Dark Mountain Manifesto*, this cultural framing of climate change forms the logic behind the call for Uncivilisation.

2.2.8 The Principles of Uncivilisation

In *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto* Kingsnorth and Hine draw attention to the theme of civilisation, as they state: "The time for civilisation is past. Uncivilisation, which knows its flaws because it has participated in them [...]is the project we must embark now."388 The theme of civilisation became central in the public debate that followed the publication. In an article in *The Guardian* George Monbiot admits that the industrial civilisation might be heading towards its end, but not in this century, probably not even in the next, because "industrial civilisation is much more resilient than it proposes".³⁸⁹ In *The New Statesman* the political scientist John Gray agrees with Kingsnorth and Hine on the point that the ecological crisis cannot be avoided,³⁹⁰ nonetheless he disagrees that civilisation is a myth, nor will he equate the spread of civilisations with the destruction of the biosphere.³⁹¹ Gray

³⁸⁷ Rockström, Johan et al, "A Safe Operating Space of Humanity" *Nature* Vol. 461, 24 September 2009 (italics added).

³⁸⁸ Kingsnorth and Hines 2009:12.

³⁸⁹ Monbiot 2010. Monbiot takes the Dark Mountain's position to be an "undiscriminating attack on industrial technologies". Technology can be helpful in the green work, and there is a world of difference between windfarms and tar sands, according to Monbiot. It is notable that the Dark Mountain Project, which formulates a call for new stories and does not agree that technological innovations alone can solve the problems of climate change, is pictured as being against technology.

³⁹⁰ Gray, John (2009) "Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Review", *The New Statesman* 10 September 2009. "Rightly, Kingsnorth and Hine insist that our present environmental difficulties are not solvable problems but are inseparable from our current way of living. When confronted with problems that are insolvable, however, the most useful response is not to await disaster in the hope that the difficulties will magically appear. It is to do whatever can be done, knowing that it will not amount to much. Stoical *acceptance is practically unthinkable* at present." Gray, 2009 italics added.

³⁹¹ Gray, John (2009) "Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Review", *The New Statesman* 10 September 2009. Gray describes how this "slim pamphlet aims to demolish contemporary beliefs about progress, industrialism and the place of human beings on the planet", and he admits that up to a point it succeeds; much in contemporary thought is made up of myths masquerading as facts.

sees no future in the call for Uncivilisation and rejects the notion that a societal breakdown could be the prelude to a better world. Although Gray admits that Kingsnorth and Hine do not say what they expect to happen after the end of civilisation, he nevertheless fills in the blanks and assumes that "it may be something like the post-apocalyptic, neo-medieval world imagined by the nature mystic."392 Why did this pamphlet gain such attention in public media? One reason is that the theme of civilisation is well integrated in both environmental discourse (as seen in the discussion of the collapse of industrial civilisation) and political debate (where the clash of civilisation theme has been predominating, particularly in the aftermath of 9/11, and the war on terrorism). There are historical examples of collapsing civilisations, such as the Roman Empire (assuming that civilisations collapse when they reach the limit to their natural resources), and in Western intellectual history there is an ideological assumption about the relationship between climate and civilisation (assuming that a temperate and stable climate is a condition for civilisation to flourish). These are all versions of a classic theme of civilisation. However, what I found emerging today in the *Uncivilisation* manifesto is how civilisation acquires a somewhat new meaning: that is, civilisation as anthropocentric culture. In an article Kingsnorth characterises 'civilisation' as "human civilisation" which is "rooted firmly in the urban". 393 What is new here is, firstly, it addresses loss of biodiversity in the age of ecocide, and secondly, it questions man's self-image. Therefore, I dwell a little on the manifesto for a closer reading. In Uncivilisation - The Dark Mountain Manifesto Kingsnorth and Hine formulate a list of principles of uncivilisation, and the last one says:

Gray agrees that the most powerful of these myths is "the idea that we are separated from the natural world, and free to use it as we see fit."

³⁹² Gray 2009. See Hine's response to Gray "Defusing the Apocalypse: A response to John Gray" http://dark-mountain.net/blog/defusing-the-apocalypse-a-response-to-john-gray/ accessed 10 November 2021.

³⁹³ Kingsnorth 2009:38. Deep green politics presents a radical challenge to existing mores, which has the disturbing effect of undermining the philosophical basis of human civilisation (indeed, the very *concept* of civilisation: the word stems from the Latin *civilis*, meaning 'townsman' – an idea rooted firmly in the urban).

³⁹⁴ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009. It is worth noting that the American band R.E.M. had a hit with "It's the End of the World as We Know It (And I Feel Fine)" in 1987. When *The New York Times* portrays Paul Kingsnorth in an article in 2014 the title is "It's the end of the world and he feels fine" and the title of course alludes to the song. Smith, Damie "It's the end of the world and he feels fine". *The New York Times Magazine* 17 April 2014.

The end of the world as we know it is a powerful slogan, but it is not equal to "the end of the world full stop". 395 Although they became known in media as proponents of the end of the world, their view is more nuanced than the debate suggests. 396 What they refer to is "the loss of our Western middle-class life", 397 and they ask what will happen when "the patterns of ordinary life" are broken, when "the fragility of its fabric" is on display, and everyday needs that "we once took for granted" are challenged. Their ambition is to draw "a map of the unfolding breakdown – not to be proponents of the end of the world. 399 Uncivilisation – The Dark Mountain Manifesto questions the myths that rule our lives; the myth of civilisation, the myth of progress, as well as the human self-conception, that is, the myth of modern man. Kingsnorth and Hine picture our time as the age of ecocide, and they see themselves as representing the generation that has to grow up in times of ecocide. Ecocide forces us (humans) to question the human self-conception, and this is central in the call for Uncivilisation, which is pictured as a change from "from man to notman". 400

2.2.9 The Myth of the Modern Man

The core in the rejection of the ideal of being civilised, as we have seen in Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto, is to get rid of all the forms of otherness that civilisation has created. The myth of progress suggested a morality: humans should not be primitive or backwards; that is part of the concept of being civilised. Christopher Manes claims that proponents of progress often presuppose that "the undisturbed processes of nature are somehow stagnant or defective or detrimental and must be improved by human intervention." Therefore, "there is an unspoken representation of nature in any appeal to progress". 401 Although the means of progress may vary, as do the behaviours it is used to validate, it nevertheless carries with it "a representation of nature, a socially defined view of how the nonhuman world relates to the human world."402 The myth of progress and civilisation are intimately related, as civilisations assume that they can rise above, and become superior to, the other people – the uncivilised – and to nature. Therefore, a civilisation is not only an organisation of society; in defining people as citizens, citizenship is delegated to some, while others become non-citizens. The suggestion that humans ought to be *civilised* distinguishes between those who are civilised and

³⁹⁵ Field notes 2014.

³⁹⁶ In relation to climate change "the end of the world as we know it" had become like a slogan. It is also found in a more enigmatic form: TEOTWAWKI. Lilley 2009.

³⁹⁷ Field notes 2014.

³⁹⁸ Kingsnorth and Hine 2009.

³⁹⁹ Field notes 2014.

⁴⁰⁰ Kingsnorth and Hines 2009:7.

⁴⁰¹ Manes 1990:40-41.

⁴⁰² Manes 1990:40-41.

the others who are not; whether those 'others' are referred to as 'Savages' (the term used by Claude Lévi-Strauss⁴⁰³) or 'villains'. Jane Caputi, a scholar in American studies,⁴⁰⁴ claims that being civilised, apart from defining the relation to 'the other' as other human beings, is to hold oneself in opposition to nature. Being civilised means to hold oneself in opposition to, and to be ashamed of, the animality of the self, which to the fully civilised means the "filth" of the self. This destroys any possibility of communication with anyone, except for other civilised humans. Caputi continues:

If we listen to the creatures and to the elements, and even to our bodies, we are primitive, backwards. So we learn very early to put that away. We learn to despise ourselves and to feel ashamed of our bodies, to hate the dirt and to hate everything about us, because we're human, which means we're humas. They come from the same Latin root: Earth and dirt."

Caputi pictures the psychology of the civilised man, and this has a background in Western intellectual discourse. In *Civilization and its Discontents*, 406 published in 1930. Sigmund Freud considers civilisation to be the root of many of the psychological ills and neuroses he saw among his patients. A contemporary example of this diagnosis of civilisation is the American anarcho-primitivist John Zerzan's Running on Emptiness: The Pathology of Civilisation, published in 2002. 407 These examples illustrate the range of this critique of civilisation. There is not only almost a century between them. Freud, as the father of psychoanalysis, is part of a European intellectual discourse, while Zerzan, an American anarcho-primitivist, is an icon of radical environmentalist discourse. These are part of a cultural critique that questions civilisation, and that partly predates climate change. Today the discourse on civilisation – its discontents, pathology or collapse – is more vital than ever, and to fully cover this is beyond the range of this work. I continue to discuss civilisation in relation to man's anthropocentric self-image, and this leads further to how the critique of civilisation today converges with the ideas of the rewilding of the human mind.

2.2.10 Beyond Civilisation – Wilderness and the Wild

Civilisation as against wilderness is more than a conceptual relation; in the historical process of colonisation, the explorers and colonisers set out to conquer new territory, which they saw as the taming of the wilderness. This taming included the indigenous

⁴⁰³ Lévi-Strauss 1962.

⁴⁰⁴ Caputi 1987.

⁴⁰⁵ Quoted in Jensen 2006:87.

⁴⁰⁶ Freud 1930.

⁴⁰⁷ Zerzan 2002.

peoples in the area, who were seen as villains or savages. Christopher Manes notes that from its origin civilisations were defined in relation to the natural world, contrasted with wild nature. 408

By the division of the world between cultivated lands and wilderness *civilized* people became *citizens* (the two words are cognate), with an allegiance to a politically ordered space distinct from the "disorder" of wild nature. The distinction between the natural and the cultural world enforced by civilization generated a number of concepts that have dominated human thought, with differing emphasis and varying forms ever since. ⁴⁰⁹

From a conceptual perspective, nature and culture stands in contrast, just as 'civilisation' stands in contrast to 'wilderness', and to some extent these conceptions overlap as civilisation is seen as culture and wilderness is part of nature. Historically the Western colonisation of the world was seen as the taming of the wilderness as part of the spread of civilisation. The environmental historian William Cronon writes:

...wilderness stands as the last remaining place where civilization, that all too human disease, has not fully infected the earth. It is an island in the polluted sea of urban-industrial modernity, the one place we can turn for escape from our own too-muchness. 410

Wilderness stands as an outpost for civilisation, or more so, it is beyond civilisation. It is a place to seek retreat from the "too-muchness" of modern life. Cronon discusses the sacredness of the wilderness in cultural history, with its roots in romanticism, in the form of 'the sublime', and in the American version as 'the frontier'. Further, saving or protecting wilderness has been a sacred mission for the modern environmental movement. The eco-critic Greg Gerrard⁴¹¹ describes the idea of wilderness, signifying nature in a state uncontaminated by civilisation, as the most potent construction of nature available to new world environmentalism. It is a construction mobilised to protect particular habitats and species and is seen as a place for the reinvigoration of those tired of the moral and material pollution of the city. "Wilderness has an almost sacramental value", according to Gerrard. Wilderness is the promise of a renewed, authentic relation of humanity and the earth; it is, in the words of Gerrard, "a post-Christian covenant, found in a space of purity founded on an attitude of reverence and humility." In a contemporary context we

⁴⁰⁸ Manes 1990. Manes's study of radical environmentalism in the US in the 1990 is titled *Green Rage: Radical Environmentalism and the Unmaking of Civilization*.

⁴⁰⁹ Manes 1990:40-41.

⁴¹⁰ Cronon 1995:1.

⁴¹¹ Gerrard 2012.

⁴¹² Gerrard 2012:66.

find the ideas of rewilding, where the idea of 'the wild' as a remedy for modern life has been given a new formula. Whilst rewilding is critical of earlier conservationism's ambition to protect nature in reserves, it nevertheless shares this understanding of wilderness or the wild as loaded with spiritual values. However, these are not just post-Christian, as Gerrard describes them because the new conceptions of the wild often resonate with what anthropologist of religion Andy Letcher refers to as "pagan sentiments", 413 and the notion of wilderness or the wild is most frequently used in relation to paganism. I develop this theme, the construction of a culture of the wild, throughout my thesis.

The contrast between 'civilisation' and 'wilderness', is central but both these concepts have to be considered in a British context. There is a particular British conception of civilisation that is based on British history. One woman said in a conversation "The Romans stopped at Exeter". In this she wanted to describe Devon as a special place, not only different from urban Britain, but to picture Devon as a place somewhat wild, as a place beyond civilisation. In classical history writing the Romans are said to have brought civilisation to the British island, in the forms of roads, towns, state structure, laws and literacy, and later Christianity. 414 The Roman colonisation concurred the ancient pagan Celtic Britons and drew them furthest to the West, such as the county Devon. In this storyline there is a conflict between civilisation and the pagan/ancient Celts. Civilisation then sums up to roads, state structure, laws and literacy, or simply to power structure. Secondly, civilisation, in a British context, is related to the history of the British Empire, where the British colonisation of the world often were legitimised as the spreading of civilisation to the colonised areas. Military power and trade came hand in hand with Christian missionaries. Today a post-colonial discourse is formulating a critique of civilisation that is based on social and global justice, and that relates to the global south and the struggles of indigenous people. Again, civilisation implies a colonial power structure, and it is notable that in both these versions, civilisation comes with Christianity, and stands against people of another faith, in ancient Britain, the pagan Celts, and in the colonial areas, the indigenous people. Lurking under the surface is the religious underpinnings where Christian civilisation clashes with 'the wild', represented by pagan or indigenous culture

_

⁴¹³ Letcher 2004.

⁴¹⁴ This version of the Roman colonisation is questioned today, for example by the archaeologist Francis Prior in the BBC Documentary *The History of Britain: King Arthur.* Prior claims that "our history books tell us that when the Romans pulled out they took with them all vestiges of civilisation and effectively turned out the light. The country the bounced into centuries of cultural and economic chaos, known as the Dark Ages. Now all of this would be fine were it not complete rubbish." Transcription by I.B.

 $[\]frac{https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ftDthA_8u14\&list=PLt2hmfPlqgXv9sZbVluZfuDRdaq9qvNq3}{accessed~10~November~2021.}$

2.3. Contextualisation – Setting a British Landscape

The birth of modern environmentalism is set in the late 1960s. The histography presents certain events as a kick-off, for example, the publication of Rachel Carson's Silent Spring in 1962. The Earthrise photograph in 1968, or the first Earth Day in 1970. These events become canonical in a narrative of the formative years of the environmental movement. My point here is not to reject this histography, but I found that many writings about the environmental movement, or the history of the environmental movement, are situated in an American context, and since my study is set in the UK this has to be considered. For example, the discourse on wilderness, such as William Cronon's influential article "The Problem with Wilderness", is very much shaped by American history, which has to be noted if applied to a British context. In working from a British context I want to convey that my field is set in the southern English landscape, its green and pleasant countryside, and its haunted moorlands. Therefore, I invite readers to follow me, on the journey that departs from Paddington Station and heads towards Totnes Station. As seen in the opening of this chapter, this journey through the English landscape made me reflect on the urban and rural in times of crisis, but the journey will reach even further, into the wild areas, to Dartmoor National Park, often described as one of the few examples of British wilderness.

2.3.1 The Green and Pleasant Land – The Emblem of the English Countryside

I will not cease from mental fight Nor shall my sword sleep in my hand Till we have built Jerusalem In England's green and pleasant land.

"The green and pleasant land" refers to England, the landscape of the English countryside. The phrase originates from William Blake's poem, published in 1808, and it is often used as a powerful image of the land. Yet, why so green and pleasant? In this section I will departure from this query to discuss the English landscape. The historian Roy Strong's answer it that it is partly due to its geography, as an island sited in the Atlantic Ocean. The British island is characterised by a temperate climate, it is warmed by the currents of the Gulf Stream to the south and west, the winters are mild and wet, and summers are cool. This allows a variety of plants to

thrive, large numbers of which were brought to the land from all over the globe. Although, this is not the whole truth, Britain is also the birthplace of industrialisation, and in the 1950s Britain was known as the Dirty Old Man in Europe, an epithet suggested by the large amount of smoke from coal burning that the Atlantic wind brought to continent. In 1952, a great smog, known as the pea soup smog, killed more than four thousand people. Despite the history of industrialisation, the phrase "the green and pleasant land" resonates with images of the pastoral landscape and seems to omit any conflict between the rural and the urban. The historian Roy Strong puts the English landscape under scrutiny, and asks: How come people still dream of a place in the country? It is a query that is relevant to my field, where it can be said many, in some sense, dream of a place in the countryside. 416 Today, as eighty per cent of the population live in cities and towns, urban life nevertheless seems to be left out of the iconography of green England.

Strong offers a historical perspective; by the time of the industrial revolution in the eighteenth century, English identity was already framed in terms of the countryside. Strong traces the conception of England as far back as the Elizabethan era, and at that time it was indeed a predominately rural country. As national identities exist primarily in the imagination, sometimes referred to as imagined communities, the vision of England's green and pleasant land remains the touchstone of English identity, and it seems to be unaffected by factories and furnaces and the social changes that followed with urbanisation. Yet, the green and pleasant land is a symbol of the landscape that stands out through the centuries, it is, in Strong's words, "a vehicle for a complex of ideas and emotions". In large part this was an idyllisation of something lost, and a compensational image of a better life, where the countryside is attributed a paradisiac quality. The historian Wolfgang Rüdig traces the conception of the green and pleasant land to the city dwellers in the late twentieth century who wanted to see the countryside as a rural idyll, in contrast to their polluted cities:

41

⁴¹⁵ Strong 2012:129.

⁴¹⁶ Strong 2012:129.

⁴¹⁷ Strong 2012:10.

⁴¹⁸ For discussion on 'imagined communities' see further Anderson 2006.

⁴¹⁹ The geographical divide between north and south of Britain is not a new thing. Strong claims that the pastoral vision of England that began to shape in the 1880s was selective. For one thing, it did not include London, which has always been a cosmopolitan melting pot, harbouring, Italian, Flemish, French and German merchants in the Middle Ages, Protestant exiles from France and Flanders in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries, Jews escaping persecution in Russia in the nineteenth century. But the rural vision of England, as it was formulated in the Victorian era, was also firmly rooted in the old Anglo-Saxon kingdom of the south. The north, the country that stretches beyond York and up to the Scottish border, has been fought over throughout history and the tensions remain today. Strong points to the confrontation between the miners' union and Margaret Thatcher in the 1980s (Strong 201:201). This must be kept in mind when the rural vision is held up as a source of the nation's identity.

Increasingly it was town dwellers who sought to protect nature from further destruction or gain access to nature to escape from the pollution of the industrial towns. In this context, the notion of the 'countryside' became the key cultural concept which framed the early environmental agenda. England as a green and pleasant land was, of course, a social construction, and not necessarily in tune with the realities of rural life. 420

The increasing industrialisation and urbanisation have led to a major transformation in the perception of 'nature'. In the face of economic processes which more than anywhere else in Europe separated the vast majority of the population from agriculture and forced them to live in polluted cities, the notion of 'rural idyll,' of the 'real' country, had a widespread appeal, according to Rüdig. 421 The fact that people have been separated from the countryside has been a force in the creation of an idvllisation of it. The rural idvll is a conception of the countryside which is very much in the form of the pastoral. Terry Gifford, the literary theorist, has examined pastoralism in literature, portraying country life and in particular the life of shepherds, but the pastoral describes the country with an implicit or explicit contrast to the urban. 422 The pastoral evokes idyllic images of the countryside, often reproduced and represented in art, and according to The Oxford Dictionary 'pastoral' may refer to land that is used for keeping or grazing of sheep or cattle, or it can refer to a work of art portraying or evoking country life, typically in a romanticised or idealised form. How the introduction of sheep herding drastically transformed the landscape will be discussed later on. This has also been the inspiration for pastoral representations of the landscape, representations which can be addressed as the mindscape of the landscape

2.3.2 The Social Construction of the Landscape

The social construction of the landscape invites us to reflect on man's relation to places, and in this perspective, landscapes are not to be seen as objects but as processes, they are not static but ever changing. It is not only through the actual effect that human beings have on the landscape, in relation to the larger-than-human-life, for example in creating a countryside that is shaped by agriculture, but more so how ideals and values are constructed in relation to the landscape, for example, how a certain landscape is considered to be particularly beautiful, picturesque (fulfilling some aesthetic notion) or "English" and worth conserving. For millennia man has shaped the landscape, primarily through agriculture, but even the Bronze Age has examples of "industry" such as mining which has transformed landscapes (particularly in Devon and Cornwall where tin mining became a major

⁴²⁰ Rüdig 1995:222 (quoting Newsby 1980).

⁴²¹ Rüdig 1995:222.

⁴²² Gifford 1999.

enterprise). The Roman colonisation brought cities and infrastructures, and considerable construction sites, for roads and transportation as well as colonial administrational, mercantile and military settlements. The memories are still present in the landscape and form part of the cultural heritage, but modern times have contentiously remoulded the landscape through infrastructure and industry. The story of the development of the British landscape is not a single coherent narrative. Instead there are numerous themes and sub-plots that criss-cross and intervene, which the archaeologist Francis Pryor associates with a climbing wisteria or grapevine. In this "Chronology might be seen as the framework across which they scramble."

The study of landscape history has shown that human relationships, patterns of trade and commerce, religion, warfare and politics have had greater effect on the making of the British landscape than landforms alone.⁴²⁴

What Pryor describes as being able to read the landscape, depends on a sense of place; it goes beyond what is seen in the actual landscape. Just as the landscape has been remoulded through centuries, even millennia, so have conceptions, ideals and images evolved in historical, social and cultural processes. The green and pleasant land is a powerful image of the English landscape, but just like the rural idyll, or the pastoral, or 'wilderness', such conceptions are called into question in relation to ecologic crisis. The conception of the green and pleasant land, or the rural as natural in contrast to the urban as artificial, is very much contested as the modern countryside is a landscape that is shaped by centuries of agriculture, and even more so today by industrial agriculture. Hence, the social construction of the landscape is a historical process where the landscape, in this sense, has been made. The human-made landscape is part of the increasingly human-centred world that Jenkins places at the heart of disenchantment. Mark J. Smith notes that the English landscape is actually human-made.

For instance, the forest and wood clearance in Britain pre-dates the industrial revolution and really accelerates during early modern period, with increase in demand for wood to be used for the construction of ships. Much of the land had already been turned over to farming so that the patchwork quilt of the English landscape was already well established as the natural landscape. This process was simply accelerated by the growing demands for agricultural produce for the emerging towns. The familiar pattern of the English landscape was already human-made.⁴²⁵

⁴²³ Pryor 2012:xiv.

⁴²⁴ Pryor 2012:xiii.

⁴²⁵ Smith 1998:8-9.

Smith points out how even ecocentric and holistic thinking "tended to confuse the natural with the human-made environment",426 and this makes British environmentalism different from American environmentalism where "the experience of the uncluttered and unaltered wilderness generated deeper stirrings in the human imagination."427 The American environmental movement has its own version of the frontier mentality of American society. The Britons' conception of the agricultural and pastoral landscape in the south of England is, as Graham Harvey notes, a landscape that is created by human interference throughout the centuries. which nonetheless is seen as 'Nature' or even pristine nature in contrast to the seemingly more constructed urban realms. Many areas may have been seen as 'wild' despite the evidence of farming forestry or quarrying.⁴²⁸ To talk about the English countryside as homogeneous can be questioned, because local regions often see themselves as distinct from England. For example, Devon is characterised by small farms, rather than large landowners. The western counties have a strong identity as Celtic that goes back to the Roman colonisation as they then were beyond the Roman Empire. 429

2.3.3 Idyllisation and the Pastoral

Idyllisation and pastoralism are a central theme in eco-criticism, which concerns approaches towards the landscape, or the countryside, which have dominated among those living in cities, who wanted some compensational imagery for their longing back to the land. Others see the origin of this idyllisation in the landowning class in the eighteenth century. ⁴³⁰ The rural idyll found both its expression and its inspiration in landscape paintings. The appreciation and enjoyment were to become so widely spread throughout society, with a return to the very roots of the landscape ideal – the painterly view. Today the images in the media reproduce the rural idyll, and this

⁴²⁶ Smith 1998:10

⁴²⁷ Smith 1998:10

⁴²⁸ Harvey 2012:268. Distance from urban construction is deemed emblematic or definitive as 'nature', but as urban construction increases the required distance is harder to find. While boundary between the urban, rural and wilderness may be strictly separated in the human mind, Harvey notes that nature wildly refuses to recognise this artificial boundary. Foxes and other wild animals transgressively move into town and hunt in gardens. Wild birds are now more common in suburban gardens or parks and cemeteries, than in the countryside. This "messy context" challenges what we mean when we talk about wilderness or where we can find it. Harvey writes;" the term wilderness is not common in British discourse about the world as the terms like 'countryside' or 'nature'. while references to "wild" animals, birds, habitats and locations (again often remote uplands or seacoast) proliferate, these are less commonly associated with or identified as "wilderness" than they are elsewhere. Nonetheless, the same dubious dualities (nature/culture; people/other species; species/environment) are now at paly globally." Harvey 2012:268.

⁴²⁹ Field notes.

⁴³⁰ Prvor 2012:508.

affects how people look at landscapes. Pryor contends that the physical landscapes can be seen and understood in different ways by different people. Therefore, their interpretations of what they see amount to a second set of landscapes, albeit mental images rather than grass, trees, brick and mortar. Increasingly, too, 'real' physical landscapes are being supplanted in many people's minds, not so much by virtual, computer-generated, cyber-versions – although that will doubtless happen soon – but by an idealised, romanticised and 'safe' version dished up by glossy magazines and on television. These versions of the landscape in the media perpetuate many of the myths that Pryor wants to debunk, even though he admits that they may be "upmarket and nearly always well crafted". 431

Andrew Motion, the president of The Campaign to Protect Rural England, claims, in an article in *Resurgence & Ecologist*, "Protecting the Countryside", that images such as the green and pleasant land actually are an obstacle to any real engagement in protecting nature. ⁴³² Instead of looking at the real facts, people tend to admire it half blindly. ⁴³³ Thus, idyllisation is a "way of seeing the countryside – safe, predictable, cheesy aestheticized", according to Motion. However, it seems that the countryside of today is far from being a safe place, nor is it predicable, and rather than aestheticised, something else is lurking under the green and pleasant surface: the new eerie of the English landscape, or, the green and no longer so pleasant land.

2.3.4 The Green and not so Pleasant Land – the New Eerie and Ecoocculture

The green and pleasant land cannot be reduced to a praise of the pastoral, a representation of the rural idyll, or an aesthetic imagery. It is a metaphor that is very much alive and in use, and thus it is subject to continuous reinterpretation. I have found that references to the green and pleasant land are often evoked in a critical

432 Motion, Andrew "Protecting the Countryside" Resurgence & Ecologist, November, December 2013, No. 218. The organisation was founded in 1926, by among others, Neville Chamberlain. The great risk today that Motion sees is that people is more and more cut off from the countryside, particular in the last increasingly urbanized generation, and this has the consequence that people, if they care for the countryside at all, start to idealize it. There get their ideal image of the countryside, not from real encounters, but from television, cinema and advisements and any other forms of media, that, in the words of Motion, "produce a constant stream of chocolate-box images."

⁴³¹ Pryor 2012:684.

⁴³³ Motion, Andrew "Protecting the Countryside" *Resurgence & Ecologist*, November, December 2013, No. 218. Motion writes; "Images that make us feel soothed but not engaged, and that increasingly turn the countryside into a lifestyle choice – something that is nice to have, rather than something vital for our sense of self. We end up looking at anything that doesn't live up to the cinematic ideal as being scruffy or dull; as being expendable. /.../[...] And although it sounds like a paradox, this way of seeing the countryside – saf.e, predictable, cheesy aestheticized – is adjacent to indifference." Motion, 2013:19.

environmental debate. It may concern matters such as litter in the streets, 434 whether the English landscape is increasingly covered with asphalt and concrete. 435 Beyond the rural idyll – the English landscape as a pastoral landscape – a critical discourse and an alternative conception of the landscape takes shape in contemporary discourse, which finds cultural expression in eco-occulture. This is the green and *not so* pleasant land.

Robert Macfarlane pictures "the English countryside not as a place of beauty, calm and succour, but actually a green and deeply unpleasant land."436 There seems to be something about the English landscape – as constituted by uncanny forces. part-buried suffering, contested ownership, and enclosures. A landscape is never a smooth surface or simple stage-set, there to offer picturesque consolations. Rather it is a realm that snags, bites and troubles. There is a theme in contemporary counterculture, particularity in children's literature, where the picturesque turns pictureskew. 437 The pastoral – the green dream of natural tranquillity and social order – is repeatedly invoked only to traumatise it. This new landscape culture nourishes a fascination with ideas of unsettlement and displacement, Macfarlane concludes. 438 Hence, the English landscape has been pictured as pristine nature, a rural idyll in the pastoral, but in recent years it is the subject of an eco-critical discourse. Scholars, as well as activists, put the notions and conceptions of landscape under scrutiny and turn the focus to the landscape as socially constructed through historical processes that include social, economic and cultural dimensions. This landscape is far from the safe place that nature reserves offered; these places are rather marginal, uncertain and uncanny, or even haunted.

Hence, the green and deeply unpleasant land is a powerful image, but the green and pleasant land likewise figures in critique where it is contrasted to various forms of environmental degradation. This is present in the original context of Blake's poem, which opened this section. In 1804, as Blake was writing the poem, he saw

Paxman, Jeremy (2007) "Green and Pleasant land?", *The Guardian* 6 March 2007. Paxman discusses the floods of plastic litter found in the streets, and he misses the old Keep Britain Tidy campaign, because today the once so "green and pleasant land" has turned into a "filthy island".

⁴³⁵ Mark Easton, on the BBC News 2012, 28 June, "The Great Myth of Urban Britain" http://www.bbc.com/news/uk-18623096 accessed 6 August 2015. The UK Nation Ecosystem Assessment completed their mapping of the landscape, and they gave an answer to what areas could be classified as urban and what could not. One example of this use is Mark Easton, on the BBC News, who wrote an article on "The Great Myth of Urban Britain" after reading a report from The UK Nation Ecosystem Assessment – Synthesis of the Key Findings. Apart from the conception of Britain as "the green and pleasant land" there is another side of the story as well and the fact that Britain being the birthplace of industrialization renders it a reputation of being an exceptional urban land.

⁴³⁶ Macfarlane, Robert (2015) "The Eeriness of the English countryside", *The Guardian* 10 April 2015.

⁴³⁷ Miéville, China (2016) "China Miéville: Beatrix Potter, Enid Blyton and the 'pictureskew'" The Guardian 18 June 2016, and Jones Jonathan (2016) "The Cult of the Picturesque view ignores the reality of modern Britain", The Guardian, 7 December 2016.

⁴³⁸ Macfarlane, Robert (2015) "The Eeriness of the English countryside" *The Guardian* 10 April.

how "England's pleasant pastures", once the home of "the holy Lamb of God" had turned in to the "dark Satanic Mills", and this was his description of the early days of industrialisation when mills were proliferating in English industry. Today "the green and pleasant land" is a living metaphor that is deconstructed and reconstructed and is able to communicate a new message in relation to environmental issues. 439 Hence, the green and pleasant land, with its history of being a vehicle of Englishness, works as a point of reference in critical discourse on ecological concern and cultural criticism. This inspires a new discussion of the construction of the landscape where the eeriness of the English landscape, rather than the Englishness, is in focus, and the source of this eeriness can be found in the marks of environmental degradation and climate change.

2.4 Historical Perspectives on Landscapes and Conceptions of Landscapes

To understand a landscape is to ask; what has shaped this land, because more than landforms alone human relationships, patterns of trade and commerce, religion, warfare and politics have had effect on the making of the landscape. The landscape has been remoulded through centuries, even millennia, and so have conceptions, and ideals. The pastoral countryside or the wilderness are conception that has an enduring power.

2.4.1 A Historical Interlude

The pastoral landscape is related to land as pastures, and sheep herding is often regarded as central to the creation of the English landscape, the green hillsides of grazing land, with hedges and small forests standing out in the landscape. This landscape is a product of a specific historical process, and therefore, in order to picture how this landscape emerged I offer a short historical interlude going back a few centuries. In doing so I illustrate the need for a long-term perspective, which is at the core or environmental history.

The Little Ice Age, signifying the period between the fifteenth and the eighteenth century in Europe, when a changing climate with lower temperatures caused crops failures and crises which led to a transformation of society, in the social dimension as well as in the economy and politics. The historian Brian Fagan relates the changing climate of the Little Ice Age to the enclosure of the commons that drastically transformed the landowning structure towards private ownership, and

-

⁴³⁹ Young 2010:206.

which first took shape in an English context. 440 'The commons' refers to the old system of the commons, when land was common land in the sense that every man living in the village had access to land, he or she could keep some cattle or collect firewood. They had the right by tradition to use the land but had no legal right to the land in terms of ownership. These rights are rights in terms of access, defined in Magna Charta in 1215.441 The enclosure of the commons meant that these areas were closed off and fenced in by the landlords, and those who lived there were thrown off the land. 442 The enclosure process, often referred to as the Tudor enclosures, is the end of the feudal era, the birth of a new mercantile economy, and the prelude to the industrial revolution. 443 Making land more profitable was central in the ambition behind the enclosures, using land as grazing for sheep in the growing wool production, and this came together with a new conception of land ownership and a new economy. In The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism, the sociologist Max Weber posits the individualised tenets of the Protestant Reformation as the force behind the new profit-driven enterprise that expresses the spirit of capitalism.444

The introduction of sheep herding is seen as a central factor in the process of enclosure, because wool production was a growing business in the mercantile economy. Sheep herding brought with it a need for grazing land, and it drastically changed the landscape. As seen above, sheep herding is a vital part of the pastoral image of the countryside. The images of the English countryside are characterised by the green landscape of pastures. The construction of this pastoral landscape, the green and pleasant land, is based on certain historical and economic conditions that created a regulation of land ownership, and the loss of access to land for those who did not own it. These conditions define the relation between man and land and led to massive rural to urban migration in the centuries to come. The enclosure of the commons is a privatisation process, it is history, but the consequences are still visible in the landscape. The English countryside is characterised by signs saying, "Keep off private land", "No trespassing" or "Trespassers will be prosecuted". The

⁴⁴⁰ Fagan 2000.

⁴⁴¹ In British history access to the commons was first regulated in *Magna Charta* in 1215. This document regulated the relation between the king and the subjects, and it gave the subjects rights to the commons, in terms of the right to take, for example firewood for their personal need from the forests, that is, for self-sufficiency, but not for commercial purposes.

⁴⁴² Linklater 2014:17 See Linklater for historical examples.

⁴⁴³ Heilbroner 2000. The late fourteenth and early fifteenth century marked the birth of the new mercantile economy. The old feudal economy, which produced chiefly for the household or the local market, was replaced by an economy that was more orientated towards the market and foreign trade. This is also a shift from a rural-centred economy to an urban-centred economy where the marketplace is the most important centre.

⁴⁴⁴ Linklater 2014:19.

⁴⁴⁵ Thirsk argues that there has been too much focus on sheep herding as a motor behind the enclosure process.

enclosure of the commons is a historical process that transformed the landowning structure which still shapes the landscape and demography. 446

This summary of the historical process may seem rhapsodic, but three points should be noted. First, the changing climate in the Little Ice Age created an incentive for the process, secondly, it transformed the landowning structure of the land and led to changes in the economy, and thirdly, it transformed the social structures of demography and work and triggered urbanisation. Therefore, this historical interlude depictures a historical process that has lasting consequences, continuously shaping the landscape and its inhabitants. In Reclaiming the Commons for the Common Good Hildyard, Lohmann, Sexton and Fairlie describe how the enclosure redefines community and shifts the reference point by which people are valued. Individuals become "units" and their "value" to society is defined by their relationship to the new political entity that emerges from the enclosure. The sociologist Ferdinand Tönnies conceptualises this social transformation with rural to urban migration in terms of 'Gemeinschaft' and 'Gesellschaft'. According to Hildyard, Lohmann, Sexton and Fairlie, the new relation to land ushers in a new political order in which the environment is turned over to new users, who will use it for their own benefit. Thus, "Enclosure not only redefines the forum in which decisions are made but also redefines whose voice counts in that forum."447 The historian Arno Linklater emphasises the great changes for those who lived in the time of the enclosure, which brought with it a drastically reshaped the landscape. 448 The intention behind the process was to make land more profitable, which may have borne fruit, but the consequences were unmistakable. 449 The British agricultural historian Joan Thirsk suggests a brief definition of enclosure as "a method of increasing the productivity or profitability of land". 450 Today this is rather a

_

⁴⁴⁶ In The Killing of the Countryside 2011 Graham Harvey presents the statistics; 1 per cent of the population in the UK consists of landowners, but these have the power to transform the countryside according to their preferences.

⁴⁴⁷ Hildvard, Nicholas et al. 1995:14.

⁴⁴⁸ Linklater 2014:14.

⁴⁴⁹ Linklater 2014:22. While the enclosures meant a drastic change for those who lost their common land, it also led to drastic changes for those who remained on their farms. In the feudal model, the manor's population grew enough food to feed them, and only sold some surplus. The work was organised to make the best of communal labour, everyone followed the same agricultural calendar, and by coordinating the work families could cooperate and help each other out. But the new farms did not live off their produce; instead, they aimed to sell the majority of the crop to earn the money they needed for food and subsistence. With landlords pressing to increase the rents and tenants eager to improve their margins, everyone had to find ways of making the land more profitable.

⁴⁵⁰ Thirsk 2003:65. In the crudest account the movement is described thus: all over England men were enclosing their land and turning it into sheep pasture, because the wool of the sheep was more profitable to grow that any other produce of the farm. Enclosure was carried out with ruthless disregard for the rights and interests of the smaller farmers and cottagers, and was the cause of much misery and social unrest. Thirsk claims that the picture is far more complex. In

continuous process, and contemporary privatisation of land in the Global South comes in the form of "land grabbing", where global corporations claim their ownership and local or indigenous peoples are driven from their tradition land when companies set out to exploit the area. Rob Nixon describes these as people whose relationship to the land is historically deep but legally informal.⁴⁵¹ Thus, the enclosure of the commons is a not only a process of increasing productivity, or how the landscape was created, it is a narrative of how a social and economic system was created that has lasting consequences for man's relation to the landscape. Today the narrative of the enclosure of the commons – or the struggle of the commons – forms a vital narrative within environmental discourse.⁴⁵² With this historical background in mind, I now return to my own field.

2.4.2 The Countryside as a Spiritual Resource

The changes in the aftermath of the enclosures resulted in rural to urban migration. ⁴⁵³ For those who were living in cities the countryside became an object for alienation, desire and dreams. In the Victorian age the city dweller and those living in the countryside started to look at each other as mutual projections, creating mirror images of their respective abodes. They were, in the words of Amato, looking at each other "across the same fence," but from different sides. While many in the countryside looked to the growing cities as places with greater opportunities, or as places with too many distractions and crowded unhealthy conditions, those living in the cities acquired a new and often rather idealised view of the countryside.

They looked to it for relief from congestion, poor housing, noise and crime. They had forgotten it as a place of marginal production and never-ending work, as the peasants knew it. It was the middle-class country walkers, hikers, or amateur explorers of nature, who worked, competed, and aspired in town, to conceive of the country as a *spiritual resource* – a place where they could be fancy-free and footloose and return to their true and natural selves. 454

The countryside becomes "a spiritual resource" as it offers compensation for the stress and discomfort of urban life. I think "the country as a spiritual resource" is an important notion here, yet we need to be careful, because, as I already noted, it has

fact, the enclosure took many different forms, and it was carried out for many different reasons in different parts of the land.

⁴⁵¹ Nixon 2011:151.

⁴⁵² Lindebaug 2014.

⁴⁵³ In the increasing industrialisation cites became a point of gravity for poor people who sought their livelihood. In *The Condition of the English Working Class in England* Friedrich Engels (1845) describes the harsh social situation of the industrial workers. The slum quarters of the cities offered an unhealthy environment and increasing social injustice.

⁴⁵⁴ Amato 2004:202 italics added.

to be put to test whether the longing for the countryside expressed by many of those I have spoken to in my field can be said to reproduce the idyllisation of the urban Victorians. Nonetheless, a historical perspective may help to understand the negotiation that takes place today. The environmental activist and writer Marion Shoard claims that "After 300 years as one of the world's most urban peoples, the British retain a fierce attachment to their countryside", and she finds this obsession to be more intense now than ever, and for "the British, the countryside is a pastoral Eden of peace and spiritual refreshment". The countryside is pictured as a 'spiritual resource' or a place for 'spiritual refreshments, but the crucial question that I want to ponder on is how this spiritual quality of the countryside is implemented in the pastoral or the rural idyll and what alternative images are to be found, such as the present attraction of the wilderness, or wild or marginal places, that is pictured as the new eerie of the English landscape, in contrast to the tranquil and idyllic countryside. As Graham Harvey notes, the wilderness that is found today is often marginal places.

The interest in marginal places, as spiritual resources, stands in contrast to a landscape that became more and more characterised by utility. The geologist Ian G. Simmons describes a process of fragmentation of land that since the nineteenth century has replaced an older cosmology of an organic society, ⁴⁵⁷ as land become a resource that is used with no reflection on how it affects the ecology. Land and water are apportioned to the owners, who may exercise their rights exclusively, whether in the form of production or protection. Simmons sees this process of fragmentation of land as parallel to that of individualisation. I regard this as a *disenchantment of the landscape*, where the landscape is defined in terms of utility, and where places with the power to enchant are pushed back to the margin.

One of the marginal places that has had the function of a spiritual resource is the garden. In an otherwise disenchanted landscape the garden became increasingly important as a place to seek peace and quiet. Shoard gives a historical perspective on the blossoming taste for the English garden as "a pastoral sanctuary from the cares of the world". First popularised in the Tudor and Stuart periods, the creation of gardens led to a new form of enclosure by the end of the eighteenth century. The

_

⁴⁵⁵ Shore 1999 also available at http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php accessed 18 October 2021.

⁴⁵⁶ Harvey 2012:268.

⁴⁵⁷ Simmons 2001:328 "The nineteenth century was a time of loosening of ties as fewer and fewer goods were re-used and recycled and there was a shift to emphasis on the new."

⁴⁵⁸ Shoard, 1999 "The notion of a pastoral sanctuary from the cares of the world, first popularized in the Tudor and Stuart periods, began to appeal to the only people now in a position to put it into effect – the countryside's large-scale owners. They realized that as well as providing economic benefits, their land could give them a particular kind of pleasure, which because it was becoming fashionable could also enhance their status. Unfortunately for the rest of the population, satisfying this new need was to require even more rigorous steps to exclude outsiders." http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php accessed 18 October 2021.

English gardens became a new dimension in relation to country estates as they grew into parks, and the notion of the English park incorporated pastoralism, copies of ancient ruins and a new taste for wilderness in the designed parkland, which attracted the nobility.

Interest grew in the creation of spacious and peaceful rural enclaves in which landowners could retreat for their own private pleasure. These sanctuaries would be designed not for profit but as 'amenities'— for relaxation, quiet reflection, and creating an impression.⁴⁵⁹

The creation of a park transforms the landscape as well as people's relation to the land. The privacy of the park became the incentive for a new enclosure. The medieval deer park became fashionable, high walls were built around the estate, demarcating the private space to keep intruders out. Shoard notes: "parks required outsiders to be excluded for the very purpose of bestowing exclusivity on the space involved." Hence, the park was not open to everyone, it was a private space, and the land was private property. What Shoard depicts as the cult of the park was based on the "idea of excluding others from the attractive landscape". He Eden restored in these parks would not welcome everyone to enter, it embodied a paradisiac notion of parks as areas set off from the mundane world, areas reserved for the happy few.

While the eighteenth century saw the creation of parks on major private estates, the twentieth century would introduce new forms of parks, not only public parks in cites, but national parks, such as Dartmoor. These areas were not only saved for conservation projects, but publicly available for recreation and for rambling tours. Although national parks differ from the parks on private estates, the notion of national parks as retreats, or "a pastoral sanctuary from the cares of the world", 462 is still very much part of the conception of national parks.

2.4.3 The Sacramental Values of Wilderness and the Enchantment of Rewilding

As seen in previous chapter, 'wilderness' stands in contrast to 'civilisation' conceptually and historically in the Western colonisation of the world. The

⁴⁵⁹ Shoard 1999 http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php accessed 18 October 2021.

⁴⁶⁰ Shoard 1999: The English garden became, in the words of Shoard, a "rustic retreat in which privileged individual could remove himself from sight or sound of the ugliness of the age appealed to who were not already rural landowners." http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php accessed 18 October 2021.

⁴⁶¹ Shoard 1999: http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php accessed 18 October 2021

 $^{^{462}}$ Shoard 1999 http://www.marionshoard.co.uk/Books/A-Right-To-Roam/Sample-Chapter-Forbidden-Kingdom.php, accessed 18 October 2021.

exploration and colonisation of these territories was seen as a taming of the wilderness as part of the colonial project to spread civilisation. Areas that were unaffected by the influence of civilisation would stand out as wilderness. The ecocritic Greg Gerrard takes the idea of wilderness, "signifying nature in a state uncontaminated by civilisation"⁴⁶³ to be the most potent construction of nature available to new world environmentalism. The environmental historian William Cronon describes wilderness "as the last remaining place where civilization, that all too human disease, has not fully infected the earth."⁴⁶⁵ Wilderness is set apart geographically from civilisation; given the ills of industrial civilisation, as discussed previously, it offers a retreat and healing from modern urban life. In this section I discuss both the conceptions of 'wilderness' and 'the wild' and relate this to the impulse to escape urban modern life.

The protection of wilderness was a major ambition for conservationists. Still today 'wilderness' has positive connotations as a place unaffected by the ills of modern society and as nature in its pure form. Wilderness is a place set apart, and it is the objects of longings for a return to a lost natural state, whether in the Judeo-Christian form of the Garden of Eden, or Jean-Jacques Rousseau's idyllisation of the civilised 'noble savage', but assumptions of wilderness as 'natural' or 'pure nature' should immediately alert the critical enquirer. A closer inspection reveal that these are culturally specific and historically contingent. The belief rests upon an implicit assumption: there is a universal or essential state of harmony with nature, and humans due to some misbehaviour or accident were forced to become culturecreatures. Hence, culture and nature are in conflict, and this is the source of the dichotomisation that has been predominant in Western intellectual history. Throughout cultural history we find expressions of this original state of happiness and harmony in mythology – the Garden of Eden in Genesis is one example – but these are not to be mistaken for historical sources that are evidence of an actual past reality. Historians and archaeologists have made us aware of how our views of the past are tempered by attitudes and dispositions of the present, and these views say more about us than they can say about the people who came before us. The idea of an original or ancient state of harmony with nature is not an exception, it is part of the utopian sentiments that accomplished romanticism in the early nineteenth century, and it was carried further into conservationism in the early twentieth century. To save or protect wilderness was the aim of conservation projects based on the ambition to create safe havens or sanctuaries, and the fact that these are described in terms of 'sanctuaries' or 'safe heavens' indicates their religious/spiritual connotation. Although these sanctuaries were places set a part for wildlife, the wilderness was a place where humans could seek retreat, a place beyond the ills of modern life or civilisation. A further reason why wilderness holds

_

⁴⁶³ Gerrard 2012:66.

⁴⁶⁴ Gerrard 2012:66.

⁴⁶⁵ Cronon 1995:1.

this benevolent power is because it is seen as a place of sacramental values. Gerrard writes:

Wilderness has an almost sacramental value: it holds out a promise of a renewed, authentic relation of humanity and the earth, a post-Christian covenant, found in a space of purity founded on an attitude of reverence and humility. 466

The realisation of the "authentic relation of humanity and the earth" or "an attitude of reverence" is dependent on the wilderness, and this is not just a conceptual relation, it a platform for projects where humans need to actually go out into the wilderness to fully achieve the benefit of it. For conservationism the idea of wilderness is a construction that is used for mobilisation in the protection of particular habitats and species, but for humans it is seen as a place for the reinvigoration of those who are tired of the moral and material pollution of the city. Although rewilding is a critique of conservationism, it nevertheless keeps many ideas from conservationism about how a return to the wild may cure man from the strains of modern life. Rewilding additionally brings the sacramental values, although it may be in different terms, such as enchantment and wonder.

George Monbiot is a proponent of rewilding in the British public sphere. In *Feral: Searching for Enchantment on the Frontiers of Rewilding* he pictures rewilding, not only as an answer to the loss of biodiversity, but a new attitude to the wild; it is a plea for wonder and enchantment. In a *TedTalk*⁴⁶⁹ he makes an appeal "for more wonder, rewild the world". In an article in the *Guardian* he writes:

This is what rewilding, the mass restoration of ecosystems, is all about; and why I wrote my book Feral – which is a manifesto for rewilding – and for wonder and enchantment. But I'm beginning to see that this is not just another method: expounding a positive vision should be at the centre of attempts to protect the things we love.⁴⁷⁰

The mass restoration of ecosystems is not an attempt to restore ecosystems to a prior state, but to permit ecological processes to resume. Rewilding recognises that nature consists not just of a collection of species, but also their ever-shifting relationship

⁴⁶⁶ Gerrard 2012:66.

⁴⁶⁷ Gerrard 2012:66.

⁴⁶⁸ The critical approach towards conservation projects can be seen already in Arne Næss's distinction in 1973 between shallow and deep ecology, where deep ecology implied a criticism of an environmental movement that was too focused on wilderness restoration, in saving nature or conservation projects, leaving out the deeper societal questions. This is still prevalent in the environmental discourse and is part of the discourse on rewilding.

⁴⁶⁹ Monbiot, George "For more wonder, rewild the world" *TedTalk*, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=8rZzkpyPkc accessed 21 November 2021.

⁴⁷⁰ Monbiot, George (2014) "Saving the world should be based in promise, not fear". *The Guardian*, 16 June 2014.

with each other and with the physical environment. Monbiot puts rewilding in relation to climate change as the ecosystem that will emerge today cannot be the same as those prevailed in the past, and this is one of the differences between conservation and rewilding, as conservationism looks to the past and tries to recreate a previous state, whereas rewilding looks to the future. Rewilding is a call to be Feral – a wild state, especially after escape from captivity or domestication.⁴⁷¹ There is a second form of rewilding which concerns humans, which Monbiot sees as a rewilding of human life.

Some people see rewilding as a human retreat from nature; I see it as a reinvolvement. I would like to see the reintroduction into the wild not only of wolves, lynx, wolverines, beavers, boars, moose, bison [...] In other words, I see rewilding as an enhanced opportunity for people to engage with and delight in the natural world.⁴⁷²

Rewilding is to "love not man the less, but Nature more". 473 Rewilding defines its ambition in contrast to conservationism. Part of the critical approach concerns the role of man in relation to other species. When conservationism created nature reserves, it saw these as set apart, separated from human influence – as safe places or sanctuaries. Rewilding aims for the mass restoration of ecosystems, which involve human species as well as other species. Further, the rewilding of the human mind requires a reformation of the human mind, but more so of human culture. In this sense, rewilding is taken further by anarcho-primitivists and radical environmentalist who apply it to human life, proposing a wilding of people and culture, and is an incentive for a conflict between the rewilding of the human mind and civilisation.⁴⁷⁴ Thus, the human species is one of the many domesticated species that need to become feral and go back to their wild state. Still, lurking under the surface I found a common feature: the sacramental values of wilderness can be seen resonating in rewilding, or wildness, although it may be in different terms, such as enchantment and wonder. Further on I will elaborate on the culture of the wild in relation to wild enchantment and eco-occulture. What the rewilding the human mind adds is to view humans in relation to the other-than-human world and to question anthropocentrism more critically. Consequently, places that offer encounters with the larger-than-human world become attractive. These may be places on the margin, they may be seen as wild places, and one of these places in contemporary Britain is Dartmoor.

⁴⁷¹ Monbiot 2013.

⁴⁷² Monbiot 2013:11.

⁴⁷³ Monbiot 2013:10.

⁴⁷⁴ Smith 1998:8–9.

2.4.4 Dartmoor National Park – The Trouble with Wilderness

Dartmoor is an upland area of 954 km² (368 square miles) in southern Devon, England, which was designated as a national park in 1951. The moor and surrounding land are protected by national park status. When it was created it was one of the first national parks in the UK, and today it is one of fifteen. It is governed by the Dartmoor National Park Authority (DNPA); the national park authority in England is legally responsible for Dartmoor in Devon, governs the conservation projects and offers tourist information. On the website the National Park Authority describes Dartmoor as a "unique place" with "wild, open moorland and deep river valleys, with a rich history and rare wildlife", 475 and this uniqueness was the reason why Dartmoor was considered a suitable place to become a national park. The website presents it in the following manner:

Dartmoor doesn't just have places; it has special places. These are places that are set apart from the *ordinary or the mundane*. This could be due to their history, their setting, their offer or often due to all of this and more.⁴⁷⁶

Dartmoor is special, due to its history and setting, but more so in being set apart from the mundane. This presentation of Dartmoor by the Dartmoor authority resonates with the conservationists' ambition to create sanctuaries to protect nature of special interest. Further, describing it as "apart from the ordinary or mundane", 477 echoes the sacramental values of the wilderness. The authority of Dartmoor National Park is not the only voice that takes part in the construction and negotiation of the Dartmoorian wilderness. Creating a national park may seem to be a praiseworthy project from an ecological perspective; still, it is not beyond environmental disputes. Demarcating an area, setting it apart in order that it will be protected, by rendering it unique and worth saving, is just one way in which humans affect the landscape. It may seem like a paradox, but these areas, which are often presented as examples of wilderness, are very much in the hands of man, and in this sense, it is a man-made landscape. This kind of criticism of conservation projects and the creation of national parks has been part of the environmental discourse for decades. The environmental historian William Cronon refers to this as "the trouble with wilderness", the conception of wilderness as nature untouched by man, a place beyond human interference, a pure or pristine nature. This romantic conception of wilderness is a human creation which appeared in the late nineteenth century. 478

-

Welcome to Dartmoor National Park: https://www.dartmoor.gov.uk accessed 22 November 2019.

⁴⁷⁶ Enjoy Dartmoor/Places https://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/enjoy-dartmoor/places accessed 22 November 2019 italics added.

⁴⁷⁷ Enjoy Dartmoor/Places https://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/enjoy-dartmoor/places accessed 22 November 2019.

⁴⁷⁸ Cronon 1995:2 Cronon traces the conception of wilderness back to the end of the nineteenth century. Before that wilderness did not have any of the attraction it later would gain. In the Bible the wilderness is a place where it is easy to "lose yourself in moral despair", as when Christ

Far from being the one place on earth that stands apart from humanity, it is quite profoundly a human creation – indeed, the creation of very particular human cultures at very particular moments in human history. It is not a pristine sanctuary where the last remnant of an untouched, endangered, but still transcendental nature can for at least a little while longer be encountered without the contaminating taint of civilization. Instead, it is a product of that civilization, and could hardly be contaminated by the very stuff of which it is made. Wilderness hides its unnaturalness behind a mask that is all the more beguiling because it seems so natural. As we gaze into the mirror it holds up for us, we too easily imagine that what we behold is Nature when in fact we see the reflection of our own examined longings and desire. 479

Nature as a pristine sanctuary is compensational and a projection for unspoken longing. Cronon concludes that is a mistake to see wilderness as "the solution to our culture's problematic relationship with the nonhuman world, for wilderness is itself no small part of the problem".⁴⁸⁰ The romantic notion wilderness has been a fundamental tenet, and a passionate mission, for environmentalists since the early days of the twentieth century. It has guided their work of protecting and preserving nature, and it is coordinated with the creation of national parks.⁴⁸¹ There is a paradox in the creation of national parks; although wilderness is seen as untouched by man, part of the ambition behind the creation of these national parks is to preserve wilderness in order to go there and look at 'Nature' in its pure state.⁴⁸²

struggled with the devil in the desert, and before that, when Adam and Eve were driven from the garden of Eden, they were thrown out into a wilderness that was far from hospitable, it was a place that required hard labour to survive.

⁴⁷⁹ Cronon 1995:2.

⁴⁸⁰ Cronon 1995:1.

⁴⁸¹ This romantic notion of wilderness, defined by the absence of human beings is, for example, found in the US Wilderness Act of 1964. See van Wieren 2017:269.

⁴⁸² Saving wilderness or preserving nature for the sake of mankind seems to have been the primary concern for the early conservationists; this anthropocentric twist seems wrong to many of today's environmentalists. This is not the only reason why scholars disagree as to whether the old conservationists can be seen as the forefathers of today's environmentalism. Historians writing on American environmentalism discuss whether conservationists and preservationists are to be seen as the progenitors of modern environmentalism, or if the environmentalism of the 1960s is a completely new phenomenon. Environmentalists in the early twentieth century never used the word 'environment', or 'environmentalist' to describe themselves or the natural world. Until the early 1960s they referred to themselves as 'conservationists', although more radical figures such as John Muir insisted on the term 'preservationist'. According to Dowie (1995) the word 'environment' used to describe an all-inclusive category comprised of both human and natural habitats did not come into common usage until Rachel Carson used it in 1962 in Silent Spring. This is not to say that earlier conservationists were not environmentalists, but simply that they used different words to define their interests. In the words of Dowie: "When the designation environmentalist first appeared and the notion of protecting both natural and human environments entered the American consciousness, most conservationists were still preoccupied with preserving wilderness and protecting wildlife. Before long, however, new issues would be added to the environmental agenda". Dowie 1995:2.

The creation of National Parks was based on an ambition to create reservations or sanctuaries for wilderness and wildlife. Nature sanctuaries offer safe places for flora and fauna that otherwise would become extinct, but they also work as places where man who can go as a retreat from civilisation, an escape from modern life. This keeps the nature reserve as a resource for human benefit. Nature is a resource, a place for leisure activity and for recreation, or a 'spiritual' resource for healing and retreat; to refer to these places as 'sanctuaries' illustrate how wilderness is sacralised. These 'natural sanctuaries' have been criticised for being more like living museums than a living wildness, or the artificial recreation of a past state that is taken as an ideal. ⁴⁸³ Paul Kingsnorth writes: ⁴⁸⁴

[T]hey are man-made intrusions into the landscape. They reduce the grandeur, its wildness. They tell you what to look for and at. They define what matters and what doesn't. They bring places like this one step closer to the urban world that I come to places like this to escape from.⁴⁸⁵

The purpose of conservation projects is fixed and limited, it "implies stasis", in this sense the projects are artificial or even instrumental. 486 They are man-made because human beings decide what is worth conserving. 487 Flora and fauna are saved as rare examples of how it used to be at a certain time, and often a specific time is considered as pristine; a golden age before degradation took place. 488 They are maintained in what is called "favourable condition". 489 A major difference between conservationist and rewilding projects is that the first looks to the past and tries to recreate a previous state, the second looks to the future, and this is relevant in relation to climate change as the ecosystem that will emerge cannot be the same as

⁴⁸³ Kingsnorth 2008, Monbiot 2013.

⁴⁸⁴ Kingsnorth 2008:132. In *Real England: The Battle Against the Bland* Kingsnorth travels throughout the English countryside, the purpose of the journey being to make a report and depict the current changes in the countryside. The book is inspired by the classic reportage *Rural Rides* by William Cobbett. Cobbett was a journalist, agriculturalist and political reformer, who embarked his reportage in Southeast England and the English Midlands, in the 1820s. The book was published in 1930 in two volumes.

⁴⁸⁵ Kingsnorth 2008:132–133. Kingsnorth writes: "But that's not the only reason. This landscape was man-made anyway – sheep farming is hardly natural. This valley has been man-made, or at least man-managed, for millennia. The difference is the way it is used. Hill-farming is ordinary people making a hard living from a hard land. This is a government-funded bureaucracy doing good works for tourists and researchers. And while the works are good, something essential has been lost."

⁴⁸⁶ Kingsnorth 2008:132–133.

⁴⁸⁷ Monbiot 2013.

⁴⁸⁸ The idea of a past golden age is something that conservationism shares with conservatism

⁴⁸⁹ Monbiot claims that Europe, and especially Britain, has lost most of its mesofauna: bison, moose, boar, wolf, bear, lynx, wolverine, even, in most parts, wildcat, beaver and capercaillie. All this has been forgotten today, "even by professional ecologists". These losses, paradoxically, have often been locked in by conservation policy. Monbiot 2013.

what prevailed in the past. Rewilding as the mass restoration of ecosystems should not try to restore to a prior state, but to permit ecological processes to resume. Rewilding recognises that nature consists of a collection of species, but more so their ever-shifting relationship with each other and with the physical environment. 490 Kingsnorth's and Monbiot's critique is based on the ideas of rewilding; they advocate the mass restoration of ecosystems, opposing traditional conservationist policies. This sets Dartmoor in the midst of environmental debate, and in this sense, it is neither set apart nor a safe place. I will develop this in forthcoming chapters in relation to Dartmoor. Wilderness has been at the heart of the environmental movement since its early days, and the protection of wilderness has been a main concern. 491 Today wilderness is a contested notion, therefore, visiting a place like Dartmoor – often referred to as one of the few remaining wildernesses in Britain – will make a case to test our conceptions. The discourse on 'the wild' that flourishes in British environmentalism today focuses on how humans modify the landscape, and it is questioning our social construction of the landscape, that is, the mindscape of the landscape. This leads to questions such as: how do we form conceptions of 'wilderness', 'countryside' or 'the pastoral'? This is more than a matter of words because conceptions have an effect on how we come to see certain landscapes, how we come to describe places such as Dartmoor.

2.4.6 The Loss of Wilderness and Radicalisation

In 1887–89 the British poet Gerard Manley Hopkins asked how the world would be once bereft of the wilderness. ⁴⁹² If he returned today, he would been able to answer the question. Today many voices discuss the loss of wilderness. The archaeologist Eddie Procter runs a blog titled "Landscapeism" where he discusses the study of landscapes from various disciplines, and he argues for a new landscape aesthetic and a fresh approach. What Procter refers to as the *loss of the wilderness*, has two features: first, the increasing land taken over by development projects eats away geographical areas, and second, the fact that wilderness really does not fit with the classical conception of wilderness. ⁴⁹³ Procter sees a common leitmotif in writings

-

⁴⁹⁰ Monbiot, George 2013 27 May "A Manifesto for Rewilding the World" <u>http://www.monbiot.com/2013/05/27/a-manifesto-for-rewilding-the-</u>world/ accessed 18 October 2021.

⁴⁹¹ For further discussion on wilderness and arguments for preservation, see Nelson 2003, Callicott 2003, and Noss 2003.

⁴⁹² Gerard Manley Hopkins in "Inversnaid" from *Poems* 1887–89. In Simmons 2001:188. "What would the world be, once bereft/ Of wet and of wilderness? Let them be left, / O let them be left, wilderness and wet;/ Long live the weeds and the wilderness yet."

⁴⁹³ Archaeologist Eddie Procter's website Landscapeism http://landscapism.blogspot.se/2015/02/towards-new-landscape-aesthetic.html_accessed 21 November 2021.

and commentary on landscapes – urban as well as rural – which is that wildness, and nature itself, is on the retreat, clinging on in only a few hard-to-find redoubts. 494

Received wisdom has it that in crowded overdeveloped Britain, and particularly in England, wild, little visited places are 'increasingly' hard to find: there is no escape from the all-pervasive noise, speed and stress of the man-made technologies that we have created. We are now enslaved by the forces that have also impoverished our environment.⁴⁹⁵

Many who write about the wilderness seem to have a particular place in mind, shaped by the conception of wilderness characterised by the absence of human beings and interference, and where the individual can have an experience of the sublime. This echoes Cronon's critique, but Procter looks in another direction: if we look for wilderness that is supposed to look like the sublime wilderness, freed from human interference, then we will miss the wild spaces that are actually there to find, because "remote places are all around and do not require arcane or esoteric knowledge in order to be enjoyed". 496 Procter's advice is to explore the wildness, i.e., the wild places that can be found, and to form a personal bond with them. Robert Macfarlane makes a similar point in Wild Places: "Time and again, wildness has been declared dead in Britain and Ireland."497 Many fail to see the wild places that are still to be found because we expect them to look in a particular way and to fulfil some aesthetic notion of places that are seen as beautiful and worth protecting. The focus shifts from 'wilderness' towards 'wild places'. 'Wild places' are far more multifaceted, not just in relation to the involvement of humans or the presence of wildlife, but more so in relation to the realm of the rural and the urban. The point is, if looking for wild places, we must look for something other than the wildernesses that are gone. Graham Harvey pictures the Britons' conception of wilderness as equally odd as their conception of the agricultural and pastoral landscape of the south of England (which is primarily seen as nature in contrast to the seemingly more constructed urban realm). In Britain, as elsewhere, distance from urban construction is deemed emblematic or definitive as 'nature', and as urban

⁴⁹⁴ Archaeologist Eddie Procter's website Landscapeism http://landscapism.blogspot.se/2013/01/finding-wildness-places-to-be-left.html accessed 7 September 2016.

⁴⁹⁵Archaeologist Eddie Procter's website Landscapeism http://landscapism.blogspot.se/2013/01/finding-wildness-places-to-be-left.html accessed 7 September 2016.

⁴⁹⁶Archaeologist Eddie Procter's website Landscapeism http://landscapism.blogspot.se/2013/01/finding-wildness-places-to-be-left.html accessed 7 September 2016.

⁴⁹⁷ Macfarlane 2008:8. Macfarlane refers to the writer E. M. Forster who in the 1960s claimed that two great wars had eliminated the wildness of these islands. A hundred years before, in the 1860s, some considered Britain so thickly peopled, so intensively farmed and so industrialised that wilderness was nowhere to be found.

construction increases the required distance is harder to find, while the boundary between the urban, rural and wilderness may be strictly defined in theory and separated in the human mind. Harvey notes that nature wildly refuses to recognise this artificial boundary. Foxes and other wild animals transgressively move into town and hunt in gardens. Wild birds are now more common in suburban gardens than they are out among the fields and (surviving) hedges of the countryside. Cemeteries have been found in a recent survey to be vital for wildlife in Britain. Harvey suggests a second notion of wilderness, one that is up to date with a contemporary English landscape:

The second notion is that wildernesses are places fatally damaged by too much activity of inappropriate kinds, usually by humans who decline to dwell harmoniously and work cooperatively alongside other species. Put another way, wilderness is the result of human disruption. Human activities create rather than destroy this wilderness. 500

This turns the perspective to the wilful construction of "monocultural wilderness" which he considers to be the most dramatic of contemporary assaults of humanity against the larger-than-human world. Such places are shaped by humans, they are damaged places, often found on the periphery, such as the edges of cities or in a countryside shaped by industrialised agriculture. Harvey notes that, for example, Pagan groups often exalt and value such places positively. Such places may be what I refer to as wounded places and 'wild places'.

In coming to grips with the list of terms with the prefix 'wild' we should avoid the "dubious dualities", because this is, as Harvey concludes, a "messy context", and it challenges what we mean when we talk about wilderness or wild places. ⁵⁰² It give rise to the simple question: where are these places to be found? Harvey offers some direction; these places are often *marginal places*, for example, places can be found in the outskirts of town. Marginal places have a special attraction as being ambivalent, and I will discuss Dartmoor as one such marginal place. In fact, contemporary wild places are more in tune with the premodern notion of wilderness. Laura Feldt relates wilderness to mythology, and a distinctive feature here is not the absence of human interference, but rather that wilderness is a "space of encounters"

⁴⁹⁸ Harvey 2012:268. The term 'wilderness' is contested but references to 'the wild, such as wild animals, birds, habitats and locations (again, often more remote uplands or seacoasts) proliferate. Nonetheless, "these are less commonly associated with or identified as 'wilderness' than they are elsewhere. Nonetheless, the same dubious dualities (nature/culture; humans/world; people/other species; species/environment) are now at play globally."

^{499 &}lt;u>https://www.countryfile.com/wildlife/cemeteries-become-havens-for-british-wildlife/</u> accessed 1 November 2021.

⁵⁰⁰ Harvey 2012:279.

⁵⁰¹ Harvey 2012:279.

⁵⁰² Harvey 2012:270.

between the human self and the supernatural other, and between humans and natural alterity. 503

People go to the wilderness to meet themselves, their demons, and their gods; it is simultaneously framed as refuge, paradise, waste land, and hell; it is where you can be lead astray, into idolatry or death, or where you can discover a new subjectivity, where you can find the deepest wisdom or great ignorance.⁵⁰⁴

In fact, in the premodern conception of wilderness it is an ambivalent place of dangers and enticing secrets, it is far from the romantic notion of wilderness. It is a distinctively darker place. The darkness is part of the attraction.

Wilderness conservation has been a theme that has been dominant in the mobilisation of radical environmentalism, according to the environmental scholar Wolfgang Rüdig, 505 although in Britain wilderness had not had the same radicalising effect as the fight to preserve wilderness areas in other countries, such as the US, which is due to the fact that that Britain practically has no real wilderness left. 506 Rüdig's comment is dated two decades ago, and therefore a contemporary context must be considered. Concerning the lack of wilderness, we cannot expect to find more areas referred to as wilderness (in the sense of places untouched by human interference) today than in the second half of the 1990s. Whether the lack of wilderness may have a radicalising effect or not must be considered in my contemporary material. What I see in my study is *au contraire*; the absence of wilderness, or the loss of wilderness, works as an incentive for radicalisation, particularity in relation to the theme of "the wild" and rewilding.

⁵⁰³ Feldt 2012:2.

⁵⁰⁴ Feldt 2012:1.

⁵⁰⁵ According to Rüdig, Britain was in a special position because there was no major nuclear expansion in the 1970s and 1980s, and therefore the anti-nuclear movement was rather weak. It is notable, however, that he was speaking specifically about 'nuclear energy' and he did not refer to the intimate link to nuclear weapons, particularly in the era of the Cold War. His analysis of the radical environmental movement thus leaves out the relation to the peace movement and the women's movement and the issue of nuclear weapons that was crucial for the activism in relation to Greenham Common in the early 1980s.

⁵⁰⁶ Rüdig 1995:221.

Chapter 3 Dark Green Spirituality in Times of Climate Crisis and Ecocide

3.1 Exploring Narratives and Points of Negotiation

In the previous chapter, I wrote about the man who accompanied me on the train on my journey to Totnes, and how this encounter offered input for reflection in approaching my study. The man told about his wartime experience, and this encounter made me reflect on how people tell their own personal narratives in relation to distinctive historical events. For this man, his childhood was related to the Second World War. In my encounters in the field, I have found that this form of narrativisation is common among people: Today many tell of their personal experiences of living in times of climate change, loss of biodiversity and ecological crisis. In this the general narrative is related to a personal narrative. In this chapter I offer examples of several such personal narratives.

This study is set in the intersection between the environmental movement and dark green spirituality and my aim is to explore the points of negotiation that emerge here. Given that the connection between spirituality and ecology is in flux, the study needs to pay attention to change, but changes are not only responses, adjusting to changes because people are agents of change. In my field, I had many encounters with people who have shared their experiences of turning to spirituality in relation to the ecological crisis. Reading reports on the ecological and climate crisis it is easy to picture a dystopian future, yet this is not the purpose, rather, the question that is immanent is: how to cope with this new reality?

I explore the relation between this new reality and alternative spiritualities, or more precisely dark green spirituality, and a central query is: what motivates people in their turn to spirituality? Practical effort is needed to handle these devastating events and challenges, but what is often expressed in this material is a need for new stories that can address the situation, and these new stories may be created on the basis of from myths and legends as well as modern stories. Thus, to tell the story of climate crisis and ecocide is a central theme in this thesis, and I offer examples throughout this work.

3.1.1 Spirituality and Living Through Climate Crisis

What is it like to live in times of climate change? I have participated in a sharing circle where this question was up for discussion, and I give an account of some of the voices here. In this sharing circle, the participants in the course had divided into two smaller groups which consisted of 6-8 persons sitting on chairs that were rearranged and placed in a circle in the room that usually worked as a seminar room. In this sharing circle, rather than an ongoing discussion, participants took it in turns to speak and all shared their reflections, one after the other. The sharing circle is a reflective practice that aims to find forms of communication that are less hierarchical and that allow all voices to be heard, and I will discuss these practices later. Hereon, however, the focus is on the stories told and how they are commented up on and understood in the sharing circles. From this sharing circle I present two voices, Janine and Margaret, who offer their reflections on the role of spirituality when living in times of crisis. While Janine elaborates her view of spirituality in contrast to traditional religion, Margaret's view of spirituality is rather spirituality on its own terms, that is, for her spirituality is not understood in relation to traditional religion but instead elaborated from everyday life. As will be seen, these voices proceed from personal experiences of living through crises; for Janine it is the 2008 economic crisis in the US, and for Margaret, her childhood in the UK during the Second World War and her youth in the scarcity of the post-war years. I start my analysis with a story that was told by Janine in this sharing circle, which is the story of "the pious man". This is a parable on the challenges that lie ahead, and the hard rain falling, causing a flood, is just one these future scenarios. I open my thesis with these stories since they allow the reader to meet some of the persons who have shared their stories with me, and to let their voices be heard, and because these stories are representative of the theme of this thesis.

Janine is a woman in her forties from the US. Janine's reflection is based on her personal life, as well as the economic crisis of 2008, when many Americans had to leave their homes. During the years after the crisis of 2008, she lost her elderly parents and her employment in the real estate business. She describes herself as someone who reached rock bottom and who had to find a way from there. When she reflects on the role of spirituality in relation to living in times of crisis, these experiences form the background to her story. When Janine shared her reflection on why spirituality is needed in our time, she referred to the story of the pious man. Janine asked if anyone had heard the story, some nodded and confirmed that it was a well-known story. For me, and some of the others who were present on this occasion, however, it was a new story, and therefore she told the story in this circle. I have written the story as it was told at this occasion, but there are many versions and different titles of this story to be found, for example, on the internet. ⁵⁰⁷ My

⁵⁰⁷ For examples search the web for "Good will save me".

intention here, however, is to analyse it in the context where it was told, not to compare different versions.

Once there was a pious man living as a hermit in a simple cabin in the forest, by the river. He spent his days in constant prayer and praising the lord. One day, however, there was a heavy rain coming on, and the rain kept falling for days. Soon the water in the river began to rise, on the banks and it got closer to the man's home. He heard a knock on his door and outside stood his neighbours, they were all wet from the rain and they asked him to come with them as they would seek shelter in the hills where they would be safe from the rising floods. The pious man shook his head; he would stay where he was, pray and put his trust in the Lord. So, the neighbours left. The following day the water had risen inside the house and the man was sitting on his table to keep dry.

Again, there was a knock on the door; the neighbours were back and this time they came in a boat to ask the man to come with them, but just as before the man refused to follow them. He was a man of God, and so he would continue to pray and put his trust in the Lord. Boats were for those who did not pray. The next day the rain was still pouring down, and the man had climb up to sit on the roof of the house. Now the neighbours returned a third time, this time in a helicopter, and they really begged him to follow them back to safety from the flood. Nevertheless, like the previous times, the pious man gave the same answer: "God will look after me, I will stay here, and say my prayers and nothing can harm me. God will see to that," the pious man said with conviction in his voice. The neighbours made a last effort to persuade him without success, and shook their heads before leaving the man, knowing that there was no point trying to convince him to come with them.

As the water was rising continuously, the pious man intensified his praying, nevertheless, he soon came to the point where he fell into the water and drowned. When he stood outside the gates of heaven, facing the Lord, he could not but ask the Lord. Why? Had he not been a good Christian? How come he, who had been such a pious man, who had always said his prayers, who had avoided sins and lived a righteous life, why hadn't he been saved? Why had the Lord not even tried to save him? The Lord looked at him, with a firm eye and answered: "Why did I not save you? I sent you the neighbours, I sent them again, a second time, with the boat, I sent them again, a third time, with the helicopter, but each time you refused to accept the help I offered you."

From a general perspective of environmental discourse, the story of the pious man is open for various interpretations. It is, for example, possible to see the main character, the pious man, as a climate change denier; a man who refuses to listen to the warnings of the oncoming storm, who is stuck in his beliefs, neglecting the signs even after the water is rising in his own place. My intention in presenting it here is to analyse it in the context where it appeared, that is, as part of a conversation about what it would be like living in times of climate change, and more precisely on the

role of spirituality in times of climate change. A central point in Janine's reasoning is that spirituality is seen as distinct from religion.

3.1.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Religion

Janine presents herself thus: "I see myself as being spiritual but not religious", and as she places herself on the side of spirituality rather than religion, her expression is very much a slogan in alternative spiritualities. It sets up being spiritual as distinct from being religious. The distinction between religion and spirituality has gained much attention among scholars but Janine shows that the distinction is not only a scholarly pursuit, because it is of real relevance to her. The anthropologist of religion Anne-Christine Hornborg notes that "I'm spiritual, not religious" has become a key expression of a new form of globalised religion focusing on a specific notion of spirituality signifying a universal human essence located deep inside each individual. Hornborg concludes: "The message is: Spirituality unites us into a single humanity, while religion, with its dogma and rituals, separates us."508 In this sharing circle, Janine shared the meaning of spirituality and told the story to illustrate what she meant by spirituality, as different from religion. The pious man may be the main character in this story; however, he is not the hero of the story; the heroes are the neighbours who come to offer their help to the pious man, living by himself by the river. Hence, I would not characterise this as a story that mediates a critique of religion in general from a secular perspective – that is not the point made by Janine – and neither can it be read in the story. What is criticised is the specific religion of the pious man, who represents a religious faith that is dedicated to praying and praising God. It is an otherworldly religion, not a religion of participation in the world. Although the pious man spends his days in prayers and praise, the moral of the story rather points to the neighbours. It is the neighbours who are sent by God. It is the neighbours, making repeated efforts to save their fellow man, who are pictured as those who are closer to God, in the sense of being directed in their actions and following God's plan. The religious activities of the pious man are primarily motivated by life after death, which makes him deaf to his neighbours in this world. When Janine told the story, she made a point out of this: for her the story illustrates the difference between religion, as exemplified by the pious man, and spirituality, exemplified by the neighbours, but more so, that the spirituality of the neighbours, not the religion of the pious man, would be vital to manage the challenges that comes about in times of climate change.

Janine tells the story as a parable, a genre which is part of a traditional Christian discourse, but although she follows in the tradition of telling parables she distances herself from traditional religion. Janine tells the story as an illustration of the question, what kind of religion/spirituality is needed in times of climate change? In

⁵⁰⁸ Hornborg 2011. Hornborg draws on fieldwork in Canadian Mi'kmaq reserves and examples of contemporary spirituality, mainly from Sweden.

the story of the pious man there is no explicit references to climate change, nonetheless, the story is set in a context where it works as an example. The flooding is of course related to weather, and it is possible to associate with climate change in the form of extreme weather and rising sea levels. The story of the pious man can be seen as an inverted version of the biblical legend of Noah; the heavy rain resonates with the biblical rain that fell for forty days until the world was drowned. In the Bible Noah is a man of action, building an ark for himself and his family and two each of all the animals in creation. The pious man is a counter-figure to Noah's practical effort to save creation, that is, his family and the animals that were included in the ark. 509 Hence, Janine takes an existing story, places it in a context of environmental discourse where it takes on a new meaning. A new story is created through reinterpretation or retelling of an old one. "The Pious Man" originates from a religious discourse that is here set in a context of environmental and spiritual discourse. As Janine told the story, the pious man represents a traditional form of religion where piety is described as withdrawing from the world; the narrative has a critical approach to this form of religion. Spiritual life is on the contrary something related to an engagement in the world here and now and is set up as a model for how to act in times of crisis.

The distinction between religion and spirituality is emphasised among many informants, and although they turn away from traditional forms of religions, they are open for alternative spiritualities. The narrative "The Pious Man" concerns the distinction between spirituality and religion, and from a theoretical perspective, there is a comprehensive discussion on spirituality as distinct from religion, which I have outlined in the previous theoretical chapter. Spirituality is considered as personal and closer to everyday life. For example, Roger Gottlieb sets spirituality and spiritual practice as a means to self-transformation, and a committed involvement with others. Similarly Heelas claims; Spirituality has to do with the personal; that which is interior or immanent and contemporary spirituality may more precisely be termed spirituality of life". Both Gottlieb's and Heelas' conceptions of spirituality resonates with the view expressed in the circle above. I will not linger on the theoretical discussion of spirituality here, because the point is that from an emic perspective there is a real difference between spirituality and religion, and this is important to take in considerations.

Janine considers spirituality to be different and distinct from religion. In the story told, the otherworldly religion of the pious man is in contrast to the this-worldly

509 The story of "The Pious Man", also known as "God Will Save Me", is part of a Christian religious discourse on the role of prayer versus action, which in one sense is part of the discussion as it is set in the context of climate crisis and spirituality.

⁵¹⁰ Gottlieb 1996:521–522. Gottlieb sees spirituality as "distinct from dogmatic religious attachment to a particular rituals, creeds or organisations".

⁵¹¹ Heelas 2005:414.

⁵¹² Heelas 2005:414.

spirituality of the neighbours. The story of "The Pious Man" communicates a model for spirituality in relation to climate change. The religion of the pious man, who focuses on his individual relationship to God, instead of the relation to the community, stands in contrast to the spirituality of the neighbours who represent community, care and compassion, as well as practical efforts. It is the neighbours who stand as a model of the kind of spirituality that is needed to handle the challenges that come in time of climate crisis. While Janine draws this distinction towards religion, others, who are the majority in my material, approach spirituality not as different from religion but on its own terms.

3.1.3 Spirituality on Its Own Terms: "Spirituality for Me is Compassion and Creating Community"

Margaret shared her story in the same circle as Janine, so their stores share the theme of living in times of crisis. Margaret outlines her view of spirituality in relation to her personal life story. Margaret was born in the UK and called herself a war-child, because she was born during the Second World War. Her earliest memories were from the wartime, and she grew up in the scarcity of post-war Britain, a hard time which forms the background to her reflection on living in times of climate crisis. Margaret tells how as a teenager she was irritated by how people handled crises, because every time someone was having a hard time, people always came up saying, "Let's have a cup of tea, dear." And if things were really bad, they would say, let's have a good cry, dear, and then we'll have a nice cup of tea." Being a rebellious young woman in the radical spirit of mid-1960s, she said "are we going to solve all our problems by drinking tea?!!" Four decades later, Margaret spent much of her career working in aid projects fighting poverty in West African countries, and on the way she learned to revaluate this form of tea drinking. Because when looking back Margaret admits:

It worked! It took us through the war, and it took us through the difficult years of poverty after the war. If someone did have a breakdown, there was always someone taking care of that person, while some put the kettle on to make tea. People cared for each other.

Hence, it was not really the tea that did the trick, rather that people took care of each other, and Margaret says that she came to value this kind of knowledge of living through crisis, as she sums up: "Spirituality for me is compassion and creating community". The emphasis on the role of community in Margaret's story resonates with Janine's story above. For Janine, the religion of the pious man, who focuses on his individual relation to God, rather than his relation to the community, stood in contrast to the spirituality of the neighbours who represent community, care and

_

⁵¹³ Field notes 2014.

compassion. In Margaret's story the important thing is to take care of someone who has had a difficult time and had a breakdown, to offer compassion, community and "a nice cup of tea". Thus, these narratives put forward a model for how spirituality may help to handle the challenges that come in a time of climate crisis. There is a further thing to note in these women's stories: their understanding is based on the role of spirituality in living through crisis, as fundamental in forming community and care, based on actual crises they have experienced earlier in life. For Margaret, her early years in wartime and post-war Britain, and her experience of working with aid projects in West Africa forms the background to her story. Janine's background, or rock bottom, is the experiences of the economic crisis 2008, and the loss of her elderly parents and at the same time losing her job. Janine and Margaret take these personal experiences of crises to form a concrete and positive vision of how to cope with the challenges of living in times of climate change and ecocide. The common feature of Janine's and Margaret's stories is that they mediate a model of spirituality that can be summed up in the words "compassion" and "creating community". Spirituality is characterised by immanence and an engagement in your community. The narratives convey a spirituality ethos that focuses on these worldly matters, on caring for your neighbour, on action and community, and this socially engaged spirituality resonates with the term 'social resilience', a term that is central in environmental discourse. Social resilience takes the notion of 'resilience' and emphasises the social dimension for creating safety. As we have seen, Keck and Sakdapolrak characterise social resilience through three capacities: coping, adapting and transforming. 514 The coping capacities are the abilities of social actors to cope with and overcome adversities, adaptive capacities are their ability to learn from past experience and adjust to future challenges in their everyday life, and the transforming capacities concern their ability to craft sets of institutions that foster individual welfare and sustainable societal robustness to cope with future crisis. I found all three of these capacities to be present here, and I will elaborate on this.

3.1.4 Spirituality, Community and Social Resilience

Conversations between participants may take place in various circumstances; sometimes they emerge during a simple walk in the garden, or back to your lodgings, and on these occasions the conversation may return to themes previously discussed, and to questions that linger. My conversation with Fiona was one such occasion and it was rather brief as we were on the move. Fiona had been engaged in the Transition movement, and part of a project of creating an eco-community for some years. She said, "There are no safe places – there are only safe people"; Fiona emphasises that "safe people" are those who have been making a transition towards ecological living. In saying this she stresses that there are no safe places, in the sense that there

_

⁵¹⁴ Keck and Sakdapolrak 2013.

is nowhere to seek refuge because climate change is a threat that it is impossible to escape from, its global effect is inescapable. The 'safe people' are those who have made a transition, that is, those who have changed their life and have adjusted their lives to new conditions, who are part of a community, and who are partly self-sufficient and grow at least part of their food and form a spiritual relation to the land. Again, creating community plays a vital role in Fiona's story; what she adds to the previous examples which emphasise community is self-sufficiency. While 'community' is an emic term, it is term that is part of a spiritual discourse, and a corresponding etic term is social resilience, emphasising the social dimension of resilience, in contrast to technological solutions.

Fiona describes a change in where, and how, safety is to be found. What does it mean to say that there are no safe places anymore? The fact that climate change is of global range is of course one reason why it is impossible to escape. This also tells us something of the role of spirituality because what she calls a spiritual relation to the land is not a retreat, neither is it a safe place. Nor does it mean praying, as in the story of the pious man told by Janine. Fiona's understanding of 'safe people' resonates with both Janine's and Margaret's view of spirituality. For Janine the neighbours' effort to save the pious man works as a model for the kind of spirituality that is called for in times of climate change, and Margaret places "creating community and compassion" at the core of spirituality. Fiona claims that "there are only safe people" and her model for safety is found in the eco-community. Hence, safety is *created* in the community, and by the community, that is, the people in the community, and in creating this safety there are concrete questions to deal with, for example, which skills will be needed to adjust to an ecological life? Among those mentioned there are practical skills such as growing food, carpentry, or craftsmanship and artistic skills. Social skills are helpful in creating community as well as spiritual skills, for example, being able to practise healing, to offer workshops that help in relating and communicating with the larger-than-human world. I will elaborate on this in forthcoming chapters. Spirituality that focuses on this-worldly matters, on caring for your neighbour, on action and community, resonates with the term 'social resilience', a concept that is central in environmental discourse. What is central here is how the spiritual value of community and that of social resilience very much converge.

3.1.5 The Spiritual Value of the Countryside

The global range of climate change and ecological crisis makes escape from the effects futile, but as Fiona stressed, while there may not be any safe places, it is nonetheless a great benefit to be in the countryside rather than in a city. The British environmentalist and writer Dougal Hine emphasises the values of creating small social communities, proceeding from a story which he referred to as "Life Survives in Pockets". This is originally a biological theory that describes how life returned after the last ice age in Northern Europe. As the ice sheet cover the landscape, life

forms disappeared, but as soon as the ice melted away life returned very rapidly, and scientists have formulated new theories as to how this happened. The old theory assumed that the ice had eliminated all life in Europe, and that life returned because seeds were spread from the south, by wind or animals that migrated to the areas after the ice was gone. However, a new theory assumes that seeds were able to survive under the ice – in pockets – and as soon as the ice disappeared, they were ready to flourish. Hine takes this as an example of how we can create small communities – and survive under the ice in pockets – in times of climate change. It is notable that this is a biological, scientific theory, but it is extrapolated and turned into something more – a narrative of surviving in times of crisis. Hine turns the theory to a story set in in our own times, which tells about how to survive in times of climate changes, and which illustrates social resilience. These small-scale communities are more easily created in the countryside than in an urban environment.

A feature that is often repeated in my field is the value of being close to, or part of nature in everyday life: some express their need for certain things in nature, such as oak trees, birds, squirrels, dawn, the moon or the starry sky at night, or the sea which they have formed a spiritual bond with. For example, Miki, a woman I was in conversation with during a walk on Dartmoor, expresses her lifelong longing for the sea, and she told how she looked forward to her retirement, the following year, because she had decided to move to the coast in order to be close to the sea. For her,

Walking barefoot by the sea, with the water swilling over my ankles, and gazing towards the horizon, that is the most spiritual thing to do for me. ⁵¹⁵

For Miki, it was the sea and the beach that were the places to which she had formed a spiritual bond. Many express the importance of specific places. Some referred to particular places that they needed to be close to as a spiritual resource, for example Dartmoor. Others referred to things to do that required being out in nature; one informant described it as "a place to listen", and again being away from the urban realm – in simple terms, being closer to nature – is seen as something that feeds spirituality. Robert is a man who had lived as a Buddhist monk for years, both in England and abroad, and at the time of my field study he lived in a mid-sized city in Britain, but before that he lived for years in London and in visiting Devon he concludes.

London is no good for meditation. There is too much distraction going on. This is a good place for meditation. There's a lot of good people here. 516

For Robert it is the combination of place and people, together with the absence of the distractions of city life that makes him see Devon as "a good place for

⁵¹⁵ Field notes 2013.

⁵¹⁶ Field notes 2013.

meditation". Many appreciate being part of the shifts of day and night, or the changing seasons (I will discuss silence and darkness in forthcoming chapters) and relate this to spiritual practices, such as seasonal or personal rituals, healing, contemplating or meditation. Hence, the project of moving to the countryside is part of the transition, it is a project of creating this safety, rather than escaping to a safe place, and although there are no safe places, there seem to be places that have clear advantages in creating safety. Among those I have been in conversation with there are two features that are repeated: the countryside is considered a place that offers two major benefits, and that seem to be major forces in the attraction of it. First, the countryside is a place where it is possible to live a more ecological/resilient life, and secondly, the countryside is a place where it is easier to live a spiritual life.

The relation between the landscape and life can be conceptualised as 'bodies-asplace', which according to Edward Casey focuses on situatedness and social contextualisation, and concerns physical embeddedness rather than emplacement within a physical environment. 517 I think bodies-as-places can be related to individuals as body-as-place, and more so, it should be noted, the distinction between an ecological/resilient life, and a spiritual life is made for analytical purposes and those I have been in conversation with do not necessarily distinguish between these; often they do not, as in the account above. First, one way of living a more ecological/resilient life can be to grow your own vegetables, if not fully then at least partly self-sufficient, and what many describe can be summed up as a life of down-shifting, which concerns both ecology and economy. I give examples of this later in this chapter. Secondly, the countryside is seen as a place where it is easier to live a spiritual life. One describes the countryside as a place where "you can live a more spiritual life" and many emphasise the value of being in nature as part of your everyday life, to be in tune with the rhythm of day and night, and the changing seasons. From a general perspective, social resilience is concerned with social relations, but what is emphasised here is that our social relations are not restricted to humans but imply the larger-than-human world. Again, the focus of community and compassion is part of the picture, but also the value of encounters with the larger-than-human world. I will elaborate on this later in relation to practices and various workshops.

So far, I have discussed how stories put forward a model for spirituality which emphasises the ideals of compassion and community, and how they draw on personal experiences of living through crisis, emphasising community. Creating and sharing narratives is a distinctive tool for creating community. Set in an environmental discourse there is a point of convergence between the value of spirituality and community and the term 'social resilience'. Many of those narratives which express the value of spirituality and community are related to practices that

_

⁵¹⁷ Casey 1997:323 and 285–330. Casey's notion of place is different from the traditional sense of place, seeing place as place-attachment, and 'bodies-as-place' helps to get beyond the contested notion of 'environment' that rests upon the nature-culture distinction.

are to be found in this field, such as sharing circles, which aim at creating community, but also reflection on the value of community (as seen in the story of the pious man) and practising the skills needed to create community. I discuss practices in the next section of the thesis, but first I will turn to activism and discuss how working for social change in new ways takes engagement beyond the protest of the public sphere.

3.2 Dark Green Spirituality and Ecological Awareness

Protest in relation to the ongoing climate change, environmental degradation and loss of biodiversity, or in support of agreements, such as the Copenhagen or Paris agreement (2009 and 2015), has been a priority on the activist's agenda. The ambition has been to reverse the development, and to work for an incentive for a new development. However, due to the absence of success and the accelerating reality of climate change, have many have revalued these forms of activist work. There is an effort to find new ways of working in the transition to a resilient life.

3.2.1 Dark Green Spirituality – Beyond Traditional Forms of Activism

In summer 2014, on one of my visits to Schumacher College, a small group consisting of a number of participants on a short course *Uncivilisation – Stories at* the Cliff Edge came to talk about the then forthcoming Climate Change Summit in Paris in autumn 2015.⁵¹⁸ Discussions are of course not only a part of workshops or seminars but may emerge in various circumstances and situations, for example, during a coffee break. On one such occasion a group had gathered outside in the garden. It was a lovely day in June, with sunshine and a soft breeze in the trees. Still the theme of the course concerned living in times of climate change, and the subject lingered during the coffee break as well. Among those who took part in this conversation there were various views regarding whether the forthcoming summit would make a change or not.⁵¹⁹ One of the hopeful voices was Elizabeth, who expressed her enthusiasm for the conference, and suggested that all of us should reunite in Paris the next year to participate in the demonstrations in support of an agreement. She was convinced that in Paris the world leaders would finally get together and come up with a settlement that would take action to turn the changing climate. Elisabeth had worked as an activist in many years, for example, in local campaigns to make political authorities create well-functioning public transport, and in projects for creating allotments. She had a strong conviction that it was possible - even necessary - to work for change, on various levels. Despite her enthusiasm,

⁵¹⁸ Field notes 2014.

⁵¹⁹ Field notes 2014.

the suggestion did not get the immediate and positive answer she might have expected. Jens was one participant who did not agree about the positive expectations of a settlement at the Paris summit. Jens told us that he had felt that kind of hope and enthusiasm for the world leaders' ability to take action against climate change in 2009, in relation to the Copenhagen climate summit. In Copenhagen he had participated in the demonstrations, he had even been in the Bella Centre, close to the negotiations, and he had then held great hopes that President Barack Obama and the other world leaders would arrive at an agreement. Nonetheless, at the Copenhagen summit world leaders failed to reach an agreement. Jens considered Copenhagen to be the last chance for world leaders to take action, and their failure had made him lose his confidence in the ability of world politics to act against climate change. Among those who participated in the conversation, several agreed with this view: the climate summit in Copenhagen 2009 was indeed the last opportunity to stop the increasing global temperatures caused by emissions of carbon dioxide gases. Even if there were a climate agreement in Paris, it would be too late; too late and probably too little, they said. 520 It notable that Jens said that he used to have the same hopes as Elizabeth expressed, but there were five years between Copenhagen and Paris.

This conversation is an illustration of the different approaches to climate change and policymaking among the participants. The UN General Assembly has been governed by an understanding of climate change as anthropocentric, and the agreement focused strictly on the emission of carbon dioxide, but among many activists and laypersons climate change is more often seen as layers of crises. Hence, the summit's focus is regarded as "too late and too little" because it neglects the depth of the crisis. This conversation took place in 2014 and the climate summit of 2009 was then five years in the past. As seen from this account, the approaches to the efficiency of settlements and policymaking among the participants are not univocal. Among those I was in conversation with, there were various voices with different opinions; there were some who supported the work of politicians, and some who themselves worked in green politics, some locally and some in the EU parliament, while others considered politics to be an inefficient method, and many expressed the same disappointment as Jens above. Jens had been an engaged activist, he had been supporting the world leaders' ambition to find a settlement, and the disappointment was not something that made him give up, instead he now wanted to find new ways of working to make a change. The visit to Schumacher was part of this process towards a new form of engagement. The focus in this thesis is precisely on this process towards new forms of engagement, and part of this is done in what I refer to as reflective practices.

The account above and the different expectations to the Paris conference illustrate one aspect that I have seen in many of the stories from activists that I have heard. There were different hopes and expectations related to the forthcoming meeting,

_

⁵²⁰ Field notes 2014.

nonetheless, many (seemingly the majority) say that they have been engaged in activist work where they have been dedicated to campaigning, and some have tried to get their message across to political leaders, and some are still trying, however, there are also those who say that they, in a sense, have given up these ways of working and that they want to find new ways of working. I will present examples of this further on in this chapter, and throughout the thesis. For many this effort to find new ways of working includes a new interest in spirituality. What is particularly interesting from my perspective is how new narratives and practices are created and constructed. The discussion in the account above, with Elizabeth and Jens, concerned climate change and political policymaking, and if the voices in these kinds of conversations were far from univocal, there was less disagreement about the understanding of climate change described in scientific reports that offer evidence for the reality of climate change. There was a general agreement on the reality and emergency of climate change and ecological crisis, nonetheless with an awareness that climate change is not only a cognitive understanding of scientific facts, it is rather a very personal experience of coming to terms with the state of the world. This personal aspect came to the fore in the conversation with Jens and Fiona.

3.2.2 The Moment You Realise Climate Change – The First Follower

"Everyone has a moment when you realise the reality of climate change, and this moment may come differently to each of us". These are the words of the British environmentalist and writer Dougal Hine, and he continues: "Today it is not a single crisis; it is a layer of crises." Hine poses a rhetorical question; "If it turns out that climate change is a mistake, does that mean that everything is okay?", and his answer is of course that even if climate change (that is, anthropogenic climate change, increasing temperatures due to emissions of greenhouse gases) were a mistake, there would still be a number of difficult crises for mankind to deal with. Hine sums up "It is a feature, not a bug." 522 This resonates with Hulme (to whom Hine also refers), who sees climate change, not as a problem waiting for a solution, but as an environmental, cultural and political phenomenon, which is reshaping the way we think about ourselves, our societies and the place of humanity on Earth. 523 There is no simple solution to the crisis, no fix that everything can go back to how it was before.

Everyone may have moments of realisation of the reality of climate change, just like Hine says, but I found among those I have been in conversation with that the way this realisation comes to each person varies greatly. It is not just the realisation of changing climate due to global warming, but rather a more *general* sense of crisis.

⁵²¹ Field notes 2014.

⁵²² Field notes 2014.

⁵²³ Hulme 2009:xxviii.

For some there might be the loss of biodiversity, or animal rights, the lack of global and social justice, or facing environmental degradation, in what is referred to as the loss of place, for example in relation to deforestation, to mention just a few examples. Given these various modes of awareness, it is a highly personal experience. What many refer to is how this awareness of climate crisis also opens up a process where they start to question "things taken for granted", which may concern how to live your life, and this may have social consequences if the people in their circles do not share their insights. Among those I have been in conversation with, I often heard this dilemma addressed as "the first follower". 524 The meaning of "the first follower" is that if you are the first to get up to dance on an empty dancefloor you will feel uncomfortable at first and think that people see you as a fool. However, as soon you get up and dance, you will soon get the first follower, someone else who takes the floor and dances along with you, and then it will be all right, you are no longer alone and soon more followers will take the floor. Similarly, If you start questioning things taken for granted, among your friends or family, in a social movement, in the public, or any other social context, you may initially be seen as mad, until someone else follows you. Gradually you will find like-minded people, and your voice is no longer a solitary voice in the void.

In my field, I had encounters with participants who told me their story of this process of realising climate crisis or being the first to hit the dancefloor, and I give examples of this further on in the personal stories of Steven, Kim and Pierre who are some of those who shared their experiences with me

3.2.3 The Therapeutic Importance of Spirituality and Ecological Awareness

One of the personal stories of being the first to hit the dancefloor is Steven from the US. During a coffee break we come to talk about his background, perhaps as an answer to the question "what brought you here?" Steven has a background in the art world, but he describes himself as "a long-time environmental activist", and he says that his understanding of nature has always been based on science, but in recent times he found that spirituality became necessary in his life because:

Spirituality is the only way I have been able to deal with depression. For me spirituality is a form of self-reflection, and it has taught me to live with uncertainty and to get out of the unreal bubble.⁵²⁵

In this new trajectory towards spirituality, many of his friends (who were equally based on science and part of the environmental movement, where he had been working for so long) did not share his attraction to spirituality. On the contrary, his

⁵²⁴ Field notes 2014.

⁵²⁵ Field notes 2014.

friends had difficulty understanding why he suddenly became interested in spirituality, and some even mocked his newly awakened interest in spirituality. "Will you speak to stones and trees rather than us from now on?" they asked laughingly. Steven says that he feels empty towards those who have not understood those things, though many of them are his old friends. 526 Steven's story differs from the previous examples which emphasises community because Steven seems to be very much alone in his attraction to spirituality. This seems to be more of an expression of his present situation than a statement that community has nothing to do with spiritually.

As a long-time environmental activist, Steven's story is not a narrative of developing an ecological consciousness, or becoming ecologically concerned, because he had been engaged in the environmental movement for almost two decades. What Steve's distances himself from is not only the environmental activist work he has done, but he also says that he has had a view of nature that has been based on science, which he finds insufficient in dealing with depression. I discuss the role of science further on in this chapter, but here I will focus on Stevens' account of the crisis in his engagement, and how spirituality became part of his life. Steven considered spirituality to be the only way for him to "deal with depression", and his understanding of spirituality focuses on the individual, and it has a therapeutic function, in dealing with depression and offering self-reflection. Steven said that participating in the workshops helped him to open his spiritual channel, and he mention Gaia an important source of spiritual inspiration. The Gaia hypothesis has deepened his former scientific understanding of nature, and he describes a trajectory towards a more animistic worldview. Hence, spirituality helped him to continue to seek new forms of work, where spiritual perspectives are included. For Steven, the reason for his depression was due to the state of the world, and the fact that despite many years of environmental activism, the crisis was getting worse.

In simple terms, this can be understood as a reflection of how the environmental movement was losing its cause, and that it can be a reason to develop depression. Yet there is something more to it because for Steven this is also a personal crisis. He voices a disappointment about these former friends, which adds to his depression in relation to the state of the world. Steven had to revalue the activist work he had done for decades, and his new interest in spirituality led to a conflict with his old friends who did not understand his new approach to nature and his new engagement in spirituality. Initially he started to question his activist work in the environmental movement, and it had social consequences because he came to question his social relation to friends. Steven says that he felt empty towards those of his old friends who made jokes about his new interest in spirituality. There are disagreements between Steven and his former friends, and although he mentions it briefly it is clear that it has been a disappointment for him to lose his old friends. Steven's story is an

⁵²⁶ Field notes 2014.

example of the therapeutic importance of spirituality because for Steven it was 'spirituality' that helped him to "deal with depression", not his friends. However, this therapy is not transcendental but rather immanent, because the spirituality he turned to is mostly inspired by Gaia spirituality. What Steven describes as opening his spiritual channel is a channel to something this-worldly rather that otherworldly.

Stevens's story is not only a revaluation of the traditional activist work that he had done for decades, and the ambition to find new ways of working. The point of negotiation concerns spirituality as well as ecological awareness, ecological crisis, but in the midst of it there is a very personal and emotional core. The philosopher Timothy Morton characterises ecological awareness as tragic melancholy and negativity, and the coexistence with a host of entities that surround and penetrate us; therefore, ecological awareness is a loop where we become aware of ourselves as a species.⁵²⁷ I say that ecological awareness goes deeper because it is not simply an awareness of the outside world; it calls for a new self-awareness, asking what it means to be part of the human species, and it sets your personal life in the era of the Anthropocene. Therefore, ecological awareness does not only loop back, the outside world is not a passive outside; it looks back, not only to humanity, as an abstract species, but to all of us as an individual and a person. It asks: Who am I in all of this? It is a form of ecological self-awareness.

A distinctive feature of these stories is that they often include a personal experience, and many describe a deeply emotional and painful process in realising the state of the world. What I found in these conversations is that the realisation of climate or ecological crisis is part of a process, it is not an instantaneous shift of mind, although specific events, or moments, may have a deep symbolic meaning, and form an incentive to turn to spirituality. Turning to spirituality is not to be mistaken for a religious revelation, momentary a paradigmatically a mind-shift. Turning to spirituality forms a trajectory which can be described as an interplay between moments, i.e., moments of distinctive events, and the whole which has the character of an ongoing process. Hence, what I am interested in is both the psychology behind the realisation, but also what comes after, in coping with this realisation, and whether the person implements this realisation and change in his/her new practices. This is often a process of many small steps, it takes time, it is a complex chain of events and I continuously describe this in the forthcoming chapters. Participating in various workshops, which I describe as reflective practices, is part of this process, and I will give examples of these throughout this thesis. Spirituality plays a distinctive role in coping with this realisation, and this is what I refer to as the therapeutic importance of spirituality.

⁵²⁷ Morton 2016.

3.2.4 The Environmental Movement, Science and the Role of Engagement

Steven's story illustrates something else; he describes himself as "a long-time environmental activist", who in recent times found that spirituality became necessary in his life. While his understanding of nature always has been based on science, lately he had reconsidered this and therefore something must be said about the meaning of science in this context.

The ecological crisis and climate change are phenomena defined in scientific discourse, and the realisation of the reality of this crisis depends to a large extent on scientific reports. In asking why people turn to spirituality in relation to the ecological crisis we have to ask what motivates them but reading these reports does not only provoke people to take action but may also generate feelings of hopelessness or be a reason to give up. Many participants express a dissatisfaction with the scientific discourse since science cannot tell the story of climate change. Science offers reports and data that give evidence for the reality of climate change, or loss of biodiversity, but to tell a story means to address what it means to live under these conditions. Stories are formative, they help us to orientate and relate to a changing reality, they offer a frame that states certain values and where the existential dimension is present. The phenomenon of climate change is, in one sense, dependent on the reports that have addressed the problem in scientific terms, based on quantitative data and measurements. Still, for many participants that I have been in conversation with, the realisation of the reality of climate change and ecological crisis is more than an intellectual understanding of a scientific phenomenon, it is rather a very personal and emotional process of coming to terms with a new reality and finding ways to cope with it. Whilst science has had an important role in offering a scientific foundation and evidence for climate change, there is a general sense that at the present stage this is something that is well known among my informants. Thus, at this stage it is not further facts that are required.

After participating in a workshop where the scientific foundation for climate change was outlined, I took part of a conversation where some participants expressed a dissatisfaction with this kind of environmental discourse because of the one-sided focus on the hard facts of science, and the frequent use of hockey-stick models based on quantitative data illustrating statistics on carbon dioxide emission in the atmosphere, rising temperatures, or reports on the reality of climate change. One participant expressed it as follows: "We need to get out of that science babble/bubble". In spoken words this has a double meaning as "babble/bubble" are almost the same word. Babble refers to the way of talking or the scientific discourse, while bubble refers to the worldview, a way of thinking, like being stuck in a mindset. This wish to get out of the science babble/bubble, however, should not be mistaken for a refutation of science; it is more correct to say that it concerns the role of scientific facts and arguments in coming to terms with climate change. Many informants refer to this as a phase that is passé, and something new ought to replace

the one-sided scientific reports since we already know that climate change is for real. Instead, many refer to how they came to realise climate change through the everyday experiences of lay knowledge; the changes that they observe in nature, shifting patterns in temperature, seasonal shifts, blossoming, the movements among animals or the disappearance of certain species. There are also experiences of extreme weather; in this they refer to local changes and personal observations, as well as global media reports, and all this comes together in a growing feeling that something is wrong. Many voice their feelings and emotions, or compassion for the larger-than-human world, the suffering of dying species, or the Earth. Some voices express a more general feeling that "there is so much pain in the world" or feelings that are "unsettling", but others give more direct expression of grief and sorrow about the current conditions; I shall come back to these voices, but first I have to conclude this discussion of the role of science.

A further feature that many participants address is that the focus on science in environmental discourse, particularly in relation to climate change, is seen as an obstacle to engagement, especially for those who do not have a background in science. 528 One participant expresses this as "Environmentalism has hidden behind science". The problem with the scientific discourse is that it fails to appeal to their engagement, because it doesn't address what they consider to be the urgent issues: it concerns numbers rather than values. The discussion is seen as too focused on technology, and out of touch with real life. They do not need yet another scientific report because it repeats what is already well known, that climate change is for real. There are many reasons why this discourse is so unsatisfying. Firstly, what I find to be a central feature here is that the scientific discourse is generally based on the narrow definition of anthropogenic climate change: it focuses on emissions of greenhouse gases, it offers technological solutions, and excludes the social dimension as well as the larger-than-human world. Among those turning to dark green spirituality, climate change or climate crisis are seen as an umbrella term, which covers what Lucy Sargisson refers to as "multiple and interwoven problems". 529 Secondly, an obstacle with the scientific discourse is that it is a disenchanted discourse, based on rationalisation, calculation and technology, and it pays little or no attention to values, nor can it tell a story that offers meaning, or mediate an ethos of ecological concern. Thirdly, I found it crucial that what might be seen as a critique of science is primarily a critique of the environmental movement's relation to science. Therefore, it is more correct to say that it is a critique of the environmental movement itself, because the environmental movement has become too dependent on science to put any strength behind their critique of the environmental crisis and has lost the ability to put forward a positive vision.

⁵²⁸ Field notes 2013, 2014.

⁵²⁹ Sargisson 2012:116.

The liaison between environmentalism and science has been emphasised in the discourse on climate change. Yet it is an ambivalent relation, while it strengthens the case for the environmental movement, because being based on science it offers credibility to the cause, it simultaneously creates problems when it comes to communicating its message to the public. The environmental scholar Mark Dowie notes: "It is difficult for laymen to assess the veracity of environmental scientists." Defining environmental problems as scientific delegates the work of finding the solutions to experts rather than activists, or laypersons. The environmental historian Joachim Radkau writes that the process of setting environmentalism on a scientific basis creates hierarchies, with laypeople at the very bottom, even though the original impulse and initiative came from them. Sal Radkau continues:

The knowledge of laypeople is devalued, even if it is at least as useful to the practice of environmental protection as the knowledge of experts. When experts talk about threshold values, the layperson can hardly participate, even though these values are in the final analysis negotiated rather than deduced in laboratory experiments.⁵³²

A scientific discourse that is conducted by experts and difficult for laypersons to access is of course an obstacle to engagement. Among those I have been in conversation with, this estrangement from environmental organisations is, however, not to be mistaken for being indifferent, or for lacking ecological concern; instead, many take this dissatisfaction as an incentive to find a new approach. They want to find new ways to work for change as an alternative to the scientific discourse and producing art and focusing on everyday life are some of the suggestions. As seen above, the discomfort with the scientific discourse on climate change that many express is a stimulus to turn to spirituality, as spirituality offers an alternative with a new set of new narratives and practices. While the realisation of climate change "may come differently to each of us", 533 forming an ecological awareness, it likewise comes in many forms; it is not equal to the realisation of changing climate due to global warming. For some, there might be the loss of biodiversity, the lack of social justice or the loss of place, animal rights, to mention just some examples. From the stories that I have heard, such as Steve's, I found that forming an ecological awareness is more of a continuous process than an instantaneous change of mind or worldview. The process in not just a cognitive, intellectual epistemological process where the output is the understanding the facts of climate

⁵³⁰ Dowie 1995:39 In environmental debates voices on both sides resort to scientism as arbiters and experts Ultimately the great controversies, whether it concerns climate change, GMOs, toxic pollution, global warming, risk assessment, or biodiversity, will be settled by science and scientists, according to Dowie.

⁵³¹ Radkau 2008:276.

⁵³² Radkau 2008:276.

⁵³³ Field notes 2014.

change, the output is rather the initiation of a process of adjusting to the new understanding of the world and changing one's personal life accordingly. Hence, the realisation of the state of the world is set within a personal and existential story, and what is distinctive in these stories is that they often include an emotional experience, and even a painful process. This concerns a psychology coming to terms with the reality, but also what comes after, whether and how the person implements this realisation and actually changes his/her everyday practices or engages in some form of activism.

3.2.5 How to Work for Change?

Whilst some actively refer to their engagement as activist work or to themselves as activists, there are those who do not want to call themselves activists at all. Oian is a young woman who presents herself as "a tree hugger". Qian does not see herself an activist; 'Activism' for her includes some kind of confrontation, and she exemplifies with being a tree hugger-activist, in the sense that you climb up in the trees to protect the forest from being cut down. She is a tree hugger in a way that seeks to avoid confrontation; her aim is a "softer approach." 534 Part of the work she does is to offer workshops that she calls "Finding the Tree that is Calling You" (this workshop will be discussed in relation to practices). The interesting theme for my research, as part of the discipline of history of religion, is that leaving traditional forms of activism often coordinate with a move towards spirituality. Qian's "softer approach" relates to trees spiritually. Steven was "a long-time environmental activist"535 who had turn to spirituality because it was "the only way I have been able to deal with depression." Steven considers 'spirituality' as a form of selfreflection, and it taught him to "live with uncertainty" and "get out of the unreal bubble." For Steven it was Gaia that offered him a new spiritual perspective on life.

Among those who identify themselves as 'activists', or refer to their work as 'activism', they often do this with a prefix that describes more precisely what kind of activism they engage in. This might be done as a modification of the meaning of the term in order to be more precise about what they mean when they talk about activism. Miguel introduces himself as a "permaculture activist", and tells how he is engaged in permaculture, as a researcher as well as in practice. Another example is Kea-Lee, a young Australian woman, who says that she does not want to be "a frontline activist"; she rather wants to call herself "a supportive activist". When she was engaged in activism, working for endangered species, she reacted against what she calls "the myth of interconnectedness" among activists. Kea-Lee describes this myth as the idea that if we only realise that we are all interconnected, then everything will be all right, as if all problems mysteriously would vanish. Kea-Lee

⁵³⁴ Field notes 2013.

⁵³⁵ Field notes 2014.

expresses a vague feeling, that she does not fit into a movement that seems to be too keen on creating consensus and doesn't want any self-criticism. Andrew is another voice who shares Kea-Lee's experience of working in an organisation.

Andrew is in his early twenties, and he strikes you as a witty young man who has a way with words that makes people laugh and think twice at the same time. Andrew told of his experience of activist work during a coffee break. Andrew said that he has worked in an NGO (non-governmental organisation) for some time, but he came to disagree with the ways of working in that organisation. "They said that we are an NGO, but it turned out to be an NPO (non-profit organisation) not an NGO." There were disagreements between Andrew and the organisation he was part of. The organisation did not want to include money in their work, and this was the core of the disagreement because Andrew claimed that "there is much more you can do if you allow money to be part of the work". In Andrew's organisation the majority did not want to have anything to do with money. There was a fundamental question here, on the role of money in social change, which caused Andrew to leave. During his work in the organisation, he experienced another point of conflict which concerned emotions and spirituality. Andrew says that he feels uncomfortable with "the kind of spirituality that always emphasises 'peace'", as many persons in this organisation did. Andrew feels that he could not understand this kind of spirituality as peace, since he felt a lot of anger over how things are. He says that for some the focus on peace makes certain feelings such as anger troublesome, something you do not talk about.

I feel a lot of anger, there are a lot of things that make me angry. You need to be angry *in a good way* to change things. Anger is a kind of restlessness; I am eager to change things. ⁵³⁶

Andrew describes his anger in relation to how things are, but he also distinguishes between anger and "being angry in a good way" which is not only a reaction, or simply aggression or outraged anger, but something that can lead to change, and it is directly linked to work for change. Andrew sees "being angry in a good way", as something that can be useful, which may feed the engagement in a constructive way.⁵³⁷

While Steven, Kea-Lee, and Andrew bear witness to strains and conflicts in their relations to organisations, they nonetheless find new ways of working after leaving these organisations. William is another voice here. William is getting on for fifty, and he offers a record of various social movements as he looks back at his life. ⁵³⁸

⁵³⁶ Field notes 2013

⁵³⁷ Anger is one of the emotions on the emotional spectrum, and it is an emotion that has received attention in activist discourse, for example Martin Luther King's approach to non-violence emphasised non-anger. Anger has also received scholarly attention, for example the philosopher Marta Nussbaum places "anger at the heart of revolutionary transformation". Nussbaum 2016.

⁵³⁸ Fieldnotes 2014.

His parents and his grandparents were politically active in the labour movement, and it was here his own engagement first emerged in a political youth organisation, in the mid-80s, as a teenager. In the early 1990s he first engaged in the peace movement, and he was a conscientious objector. During his time in these movements, he first came into contact with the non-violence tradition, which still is an important source of inspiration for him. In the mid-90s his engagement turned towards green issues and for some years he was active in a local environmental group working on local economy (the LETS economy). By the turn of the millennium, William was active in the alter-globalisation movement and the World Social Forum movement where he took part in arranging local social forums, and at the same time he was involved in projects on media criticism (he was then working as a journalist). A few years later he turned towards spirituality, initially in the form of yoga, meditation and kirtan, and he then also became a vegetarian. At the time when we met he was active in a local group in his neighbourhood, working with allotments and various ways of creating community and social resilience among those living in the neighbourhood. During the last decade he has turned to nature in the form of daily walks and holiday trips. In nature he often finds phenomena of light and sound that put him in a state of meditation on tiny details; it is a state he says is "like listening to music".

What is the attraction of spirituality? William says that for him, spirituality is primarily a deeper criticism against the organisation of societies. William sees nothing strange in turning to spirituality after many years of political activism, but his ex-girlfriend was much surprised. William considers peace and green issues to be a substantial part of spirituality. He tells how he feels affiliated to the non-violent tradition of Mahatma Gandhi and the Buddhist ethics of non-killing, and he has been equally inspired by the alternative spiritualities of the counterculture of the 1960s, the hippie movement and the Beatles, but recently he has been attracted to British folklore, particularly after visiting Britain. Why has his engagement shifted so much? William says that:

Different questions have been in focus in various periods. It is not just because of my shifting interests; it rather concerns changes in society. Spirituality offers a cultural criticism and a critique of civilization. A spiritual perspective offers a real alternative.

Thus, according to William his engagement has shifted. He does not see this as an ideological shift in his life, rather that he has followed a central question in that particular time, that is, peace issues in the late 1980s and early 1990s, green issues in the mid-1990s, and the alter-globalisation movement around the millennium. William has been engaged in various movements, and he turns to spirituality, not because he has given up his engagement; it is rather a question of his engagement taking a new shape, and he finds spirituality to be a substantive part of this. His trajectory ranges three decades back, to his late teens, and he refers to various social movements, the peace movement, the green movement and the alter-globalisation

movement. William's approach is less emotional than others; instead, he emphasises "spirituality as a cultural criticism" and "a real alternative". What is distinctive in William's story is the role of *counterculture* for approaching spirituality. William's story, both of his formative years and his current engagement, is an example of how the eco-occulture, that is the counterculture of social movements, is distinctive in mediating spiritual values in a form that is accessible to those who are not so familiar with traditional religion.

William as well as Steven both have their long-time engagement of working in social movements, and in the last decade, they have turned to new spirituality and new forms of engagement. Steven, along with Kea-Lee and Andrew, tell how they have revalued their activist work and how they have left organisations or ways of working that no longer feel right for them. However, this is not to be seen as of giving up; it is rather that they are moving towards new ways of working. Although this retreat may be temporary, and there might be a possible return to traditional activist work, the voices above tend to see it as a phase of their life, but that they now want to find new ways of working for the future. No one says that they no longer want to do anything at all, or that they have given up their ideals of an ecological future, although they admit the difficulties they face. What might be described as a failure of the cause, the fact that the environmental crisis is accelerating despite decades of activist work and environmental campaigning, is just one reason that people give up activism. Some of those I have been speaking to refer to this as the reason for revaluing activism; for others, it is reasons such as the fact that they do not feel at home in a particular organisation. Sometimes it is internal conflicts that could be both ideological and personal that are the reason for leaving an organisation, or group. Being part of an organisation is perhaps distinctive for activists, but it would be a mistake to see not being a part of an organisation as a sign of inactivity or indifference; instead, it needs to be asked what they do instead. Rather than looking for engagement in various social movements or green organisation it is ecological awareness that is at the centre here. Engagement and awareness are distinct and should not be confused.

The people that I have been speaking to refer to a trajectory from being part of some green organisation, even deeply engaged, to a reaching a stage when it no longer feels right and they leave the organisation, sometimes to find another organisation, while others conclude that they prefer to work outside any organisation. It should be noted that, although I focus on activists who discuss the shortcomings of activism, or their emotions in relation to environmental degradation and climate change, these are persons who have been, and still are, ecologically aware and concerned. Hence, what is described as giving up activism is giving up traditional forms of activism but being guided by an ambition to find new and alternative ways of working for social change, and these ways of working are not necessarily recognised as activism at all in the traditional sense. The crucial examples are of course spiritual practices (for example Steven's participation in a workshop made him feel that it opened his spiritual channel). Therefore, to give up

ineffective ways of working for social change is not to become inactive or less engaged but to turn to effective ways of working for change. In this thesis, the negotiation of ecological awareness and spirituality is in focus. Let us now turn to emotional aspects of ecological awareness.

3.3 Dark Green Spirituality and the Emotional Aspects of Ecological Awareness

In discussing dark green spirituality in relation to the emotional aspects of ecological awareness, much attention is paid to grief, sorrow and feelings of loss in relation to ecological degradation and climate change. In one sense, spirituality may offer consolation in grief as a therapeutic practice, but that is not like saying this will pass, everything will be okay, but rather that spirituality offers language, symbols, values and a community where these emotions can be framed within a narrative that works as a point of departure for a new understanding. This generates further questions such as: How do activists cope with these emotions? How can these emotions be transformed to a deeper and more personal engagement?

3.3.1 Torn by that Unsettling Feeling

Kim is a young woman in her early twenties, she is an exchange student from South Korea who first came to Britain to study at university. When I met her, she had a cold, she had a blanket over her shoulder and held a cup of hot herbal tea in her hands to keep warm. Kim looked both vulnerable and determined at the same time. In our conversation, Kim expresses her feelings and worries about the state of the world. She describes herself as a "student taking time off from studies". She says that for some time she has felt that her studies at the university have lost their meaning. She feels more and more unsettled with how things are in the world, with environmental issues and climate change, and she questions why she should get a university degree at all; how could a university degree help the way things were going with the Earth? Still, she really wanted to do something to make a difference:

I have this unsettling feeling, because there is so much pain in the world, and I really want to do something. I feel such real concern for the Earth, and it is like I'm being torn between that unsettling feeling and the fire inside me. ⁵³⁹

This "fire inside" she describes as "a real concern for the Earth". 540 Kim tells how people around her have shown her such concern for her having a cold, bringing her

⁵³⁹ Field notes 2013.

⁵⁴⁰ Field notes 2013.

hot tea and a warm blanket, and she says that she wants to take care of the Earth in the same way as those who care for her. Hence, Kim expresses a strong engagement for the earth, but what is equally important is that she questions what she is doing in her everyday life. Kim doubts the meaning of her studies, because she doubts that they can help with the state of the Earth. She is in a momentum in her life where she wants to find a better way of working. For Kim the pain she feels is a source of a deeply felt engagement, but the problem is that, at this point, she does not know how to work in a practical way to contribute to change, or where to go next. 541 She expresses ambivalent feelings that range from "the unsettling feelings" and "the fire inside" which she sums up as a "real concern for the Earth." Kim expresses both her deeply felt worries for the state of the world, and her eagerness to do something, and she describe it in terms of "being torn" almost like a physical pain. At the same time, she finds a model for caring for the earth in those who cared for her, because at this course the people have shown such concern for her because she had a cold. Kim's emotional state is paralleled by her physical state, it made her doubly vulnerable, but she also said that she was touched by how everybody had cared for her and asked how she was.

Emotions give rise to psychosomatic reactions; fear may trigger physical responses such as a racing heartbeat, in sorrow your body may feel cold, being glad and happy makes your body relaxed. I consider emotions below, but first I want to comment upon a distinctive feature in Kim's story. The Earth is central in Kim's account, but not just as the object for her concern, because the pain and the wounds of earth are felt in her personal body; this is something more than psychosomatic responses, it is rather an identification between the personal body and the Earth. However, there is a paradox here, as this identification seems to be central for engagement, yet the identification with the Earth gives rise to the pain in her own body as being in a state of grief. These emotions make it hard to know what to do, or even do anything because Kim finds herself torn by these feelings. Scholars who discuss emotions in relation to engagement offer various answers to the question of what gives rise to inactivity or action. The political journalist Sasha Lilley⁵⁴² considers emotions like fear in relation to alarming reports and how these may give rise to the fear of a catastrophe or collapse. Lilley sees a risk that these feelings trigger passivity rather than engagement, because "fear can hinder, rather than help, its attempts to halt the disaster." 543 Sarah M. Pike concludes in her study of young activists in their path to become activists, 544 that emotions play an important role in

-

⁵⁴¹ Field notes 2013.

⁵⁴² Lilley in "The Apocalyptic Politics of Collapse and Rebirth" (2012), notes that the term 'catastrophism' comes from science, as a theory of abrupt geological change over time, in contrast to uniformitarianism, but it has also been deployed politically.

⁵⁴³ Lilley 2012:2.

⁵⁴⁴ Pike 2017:2. Pike has studied the paths that young activists find themselves following, in tree-sits and road blocks to protect old-growth forests and endangered bird species, or breaking into fur farms at night to release hundreds of minks from cages. These young people join loosely

shaping their commitments.⁵⁴⁵ I agree with Pike on the role of emotions, but I want to consider *the range of emotions* here. There is love for other-than-human species, compassion for their suffering, anger about the impact of the contemporary human lifestyles on the lives of non-human species, and grief over the degradation of ecosystems. This reminds us again about the complexity of feelings that are part of the field, but also how the individuals describe their emotions, not just as an inner state but in relational terms and as part of the larger-than-human world, in this case, Kim who relates to the Earth.

Environmental discourses offer many similar testimonies of painful emotions in relation to environmental degradation, and the reason why these are a frequent theme is not just to bear witness to the state of the world, but rather to ponder on the question, how is it possible to work with these emotions to find a new engagement? The philosopher J. Baird Callicott recalls his feelings walking along a polluted river as he "experienced a palpable pain" and he sensed how "the river was a part of me". 546 The emotions in relation to a polluted river or the state of the world are not just a personal anxiety, or expressions of an inner feeling; quite the contrary, they are related to particular places (the river), and the experience of witnessing the actual changes, the impact of climate change and environmental degradation that is going on there. Even if compassion is part of the picture here, this is not the only thing. In research, compassion has long been defined as alleviating another's pain, but the thing Callicott illustrates is an understanding of the individual body, not as set apart from, but in a most intimate way being part of the larger-than-human world. For Callicott the pain was palpable as he senses that the river is part of him. For Kim, the pain is not exclusively her individual pain; it is part of or a reflection of the pain of the Earth. Thus, emotions are not just an expression of an inner individual state, rather a reflection of being part of something larger.

3.3.2 Emotional Aspects and Place – a Strong Spiritual Connection to this Place

Kathy and I came to speak to each other while we walked back to college after a story-telling workshop in the forest. We were both foreigners in Britain and came to talk about the names of the herbs, flowers and trees we passed, and we also talked about how much being in the forest meant to both of us. Kathy came to Britain to

organised, leaderless groups like Earth First! and the animal liberation front, coming to protest from contexts as different as significant childhood experience in nature and the hardcore punk rock music scene.

⁵⁴⁵ Pike 2017:4.

⁵⁴⁶ Callicott writes: "I experienced a palpable pain. It was not distinctively in any of my extremities, nor was it like a headache or nausea. Still, it was very real. I had no plans to swim in the river, no need to drink from it, no intention of buying real estate on its shores. My narrowly personal interests were not affected, and yet, somehow, I was personally injured. It occurred to me then, in a flash of self-discovery, that river was part of me." As quoted in Partridge 2005: 60 italics added.

visit some relatives because it is the land of her ancestors, and during this journey she visited Schumacher, and Devon. Kathy and I come from opposite sides of the Earth, she is from Australia, and I am from Sweden, but when we spoke of environmental degradation in relation to the place and nations where we live we soon discovered that there were two things we shared: deforestation and the threat of mining companies. Kathy told me how much the landscape where she lives meant to her. At this place, she had created a retreat centre on her small farm, where she invites people to come for a spiritual retreat, it allows them to simply be in nature. to find time to heal themselves, and to take some time and work with their art projects. She really feels a "strong spiritual connection to this place", and she considers herself happy to live there. She also told me that the place was under threat; the forest was threatened by deforestation from timber companies, mining companies set out to prospect for mineral findings, and if these companies go ahead with their plans for open-cast mining, it would devastate the place completely. She feared the power of these companies, and this is important to note; to Kathy it was not nature that was scary or uncanny, it was the destructive powers of an economy that sees the landscape as nothing but resources for exploitation. Still, Kathy had a strong faith in the people who had come together to protect their land.

I am convinced; the people who are living there will never let this happen. They will protest to protect their land. They will never let this happen. The companies will never win. 547

Despite her conviction, that the people would protest and protect their land, she admits the constant anxiety she felt knowing what might happen to the landscape where she lived, the landscape that she loved. What would happen if they failed to protect it? Would it even be possible to remain there at all? What Kathy and the people living in that area considered as their land was not their property in legal terms; they were rather an example of what Rob Nixon refer to as people whose relationship to the land is historically deep but legally informal.⁵⁴⁸ This might have the consequence of people being driven from their land, but what I discuss here is how people react in emotional terms when the place they love and where they live is threatened by being ruined due to environmental degradation. Kathy's story illustrates that the loss of place is also the loss of a safe place, and I have found this to be an emergent theme in my field; the feeling that there are no safe places, instead safety is to be created in social resilience. She tells of her small retreat centre, her expression of having a strong spiritual connection to the place, and her fear of the timber and mining companies, who set out to exploit the area and thus ruin it. Her trust and safety is that the neighbours will protect their land. As Kathy expresses a strong spiritual connection to this place, she likewise bears witness to strong

⁵⁴⁷ Field notes 2014.

⁵⁴⁸ Nixon 2011:151.

emotions in relation to the threat that the place is under. I will discuss these *emotional* aspects of the threat of environmental degradation and climate change and relate it to the concept of wild enchantments.

Kathy expresses a strong spiritual connection to the place she loves, and at the same time she struggles with the emotional responses to the threat of the destruction of the land where she lives. She has both an emotional and spiritual relationship with this place, and her hope is that the people in that area will prevent it from happen. For her, the visit to Schumacher College, and participating in the workshops offered there, was one way of coming to terms with her feelings about the threat of the destruction of the place where she lived. The visit to Schumacher was not a replacement for the struggle; instead, her hope was that it would strengthen her in the forthcoming work of protecting the land. The experience of loss of place, just like the presence of climate change, includes a range of feelings and emotions, transforming the feelings one holds towards a place. In one sense it can be described as the loss of safe places: it gives rise to an awareness of possible future losses; the actual threat of it affects the experience of places that are yet unaffected. The question that emerges here is how these experiences affect how we relate to landscapes and places. Kathy had not yet lost the place she felt connected to, but the next story tells us what could come after as it concerns the loss of a beloved forest.

3.3.3 The Loss of Place – Learning to Live with Uncertainty

Mark worked as an activist for years, but when I met him, he wanted to devote his efforts to writing on environmental issues. Mark had a long trajectory that took him to the point where he wanted to dedicate his activist life to writing. So, how did he end up there? Mark shared his experience of working as an activist trying to protect an endangered forest from being destroyed by a timber company in a circle that was discussing activism and the loss of hope. Sadly, the struggle ended in failure and Mark had to witness how the forest he loved was devastated. Mark experienced the loss of a forest that he had struggled to save, and the intense grief that followed.⁵⁴⁹

As the timber companies arrived and started to cut down the trees I just freaked out and tried to crash the machines. Well, that did not stop them from going ahead. It was necessary to find other methods to work. ⁵⁵⁰

Mark works hard as an activist, and he started a project that tried to create a fund to buy parts of the forest in order to save it. Mark sees this form of activism as "bargaining on a large scale", but he and the other activist did not succeed in their effort, and despite their work they could not save the forest. Mark describes his sorrow because they failed to save the trees from being cut down:

⁵⁴⁹ Field notes 2014.

⁵⁵⁰ Field notes 2014.

The loss of that forest left me in a state of grief that lasted more than a year: what I experienced was the loss of control. Since then, I have been trying to learn to live with uncertainty.⁵⁵¹

What Mark experienced is a double loss; it is the loss of the activist struggle to protect the forest, and it is the loss of the forest, a place that Mark had a strong emotional bond to. As the timber companies started to cut down the trees, Mark describes how he "freaked out", and in retrospect he sees his reaction as "the loss of control". Mark's story is an account of a loss of place. Nixon's term displacement refers to such cases, and Casey refers to the emotions in relation to the loss of place as "place-panic". This is the feeling when a place does not exist anymore, and there is really nowhere to go; that is, when there are no safe places. I will discuss this theme of loss of place later, however, here I focus on Mark's reflections on his work as an activist, and his effort to find new ways of working after the defeat, and the loss of the forest, that is, his ambition to write about his experience of the lost forest. After the double loss, Mark found himself in a state of grief that lasted a year. One thing that he sees as important was reading an article in Rolling Stone, "It's the end of the world and he feels fine". The article was an interview with Paul Kingsnorth, one of the authors of Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain Manifesto. When he googled for more information, he found a course at Schumacher College and applied for it. Hence, for Mark taking a course on Schumacher College is one way of finding new perspectives. Mark's ambition for the future is to turn his activism towards writing, because he wants to find ways to express his experiences, and he wants to be part of a conversation where he can talk about his feelings as well. Mark's account sums up a chain of events, a process that lasted more than two years, and that includes a range of emotions, and stages; initially "freak out", "experience of loss" or "learning to live with uncertainty", and he forms the ambition for the future, to dedicate himself to writing, to express his experience of loss as well as his feelings. Sorrow and grief may make us numb, and telling the story is a way of breaking the spell. As seen in Mark's account, as a former environmental activist he finds writing to be a way forward because writing offers a tool to come to terms with a new reality. For Mark, the end of the struggle to protect the forest, and the consequent loss of this forest, is not the end of his engagement. Instead, his environmental engagement takes a new form and continues now with other means than before. He turns to writing because he needs to recapitulate his experience of loss and to come to terms with his grief.

Mark's account is yet another example of the importance of counterculture and social movements, in what I refer to as eco-occulture. For him, reading the articles where he found out about *Uncivilisation – The Dark Mountain Manifesto* became the inspiration for a new direction. He gained a new ambition to find an artistic expression and write about his experience of losing the wood. Furthermore, writing

-

⁵⁵¹ Field notes 2014.

illustrates the convergence between narrative and practice; writing concerns the creation of new stories, that is, narratives, but writing is also a practice, and it is also related to the telling of stories. Mark's story extends from the initial phase, that is, the forest he wanted to protect, to the emotional strain he experienced in relation to loss of place, and how he found a new strategy and a new ambition to write about his experience. Mark turns to writing because he wants to tell his personal story of struggle and loss, but more so, he wants to tell the story of the lost forest. Mark's story of the loss of a forest is a personal experience, it has affected his life trajectory but in one sense, it is not unique, as the loss of place is a common experience today. Mark's story illustrates how working with art may be something that helps to come to terms with experiences, but also how writing can make a difference and therefore can be part of activist repertoire of what to do. Further, telling your story, means the creation of a narrative, and it may lead further to finding your expression through art and it is a vital part of both the reflective and the utopian practice.

3.3.4 Emotions and Losses

The loss of place is a theme that is found in both Kathy's and Mark's stories. Places under threat, are often the prelude to wounded places, as well as the loss of place. Kathy's relation to the place is transformed because of the threat of ecological devastation, even though nothing has been done yet. Her account tells something about living with the threat and fear of losing a loved place, living with worries and wounds. Mark's story tell how the place which was important for him in his life was devastated. The loss of place is a consequence of environmental degradation, but the loss of place also refers to places which may not be seen as environmental degradation at first sight. For example, a small meadow where you used to play when you were a child, that has been replaced by a motorway, or places that are lost because houses have been built there, such as a green field that is turned into a shopping centre. Such places of building construction are usually considered as parts of the development of societies.⁵⁵² Nonetheless, these places are wounded places and they often become unrecognisable; if you go there, you cannot find the familiar landmarks and will feel lost. These places are heavily remodelled, they become unrecognisable; the forest is replaced with clear-cuts, and open-cast mining creates a landscape that can be likened to a moonscape, a completely dead landscape. These places become void of life and meaning, they become rural nonplaces. 553 The sociologist Saskia Sassen introduces the term 'dead land, dead

⁵⁵² Field notes. See also Kingsnorth Real England – The Battle against the Bland (2009). Mark Boyle Drinking Molotov Cocktails with Gandhi (2015).

⁵⁵³ Augé 1995. Non-place is Marc Augé's term for generic places, such as bus depots, train stations and airports which, however elaborate and grandiose, do not confer a feeling of place. In direct contrast to places, which we tend to think of as being relational, historical, and concerned with identity, non-places are designed and intended for the frictionless passage of a nameless and faceless multitude. Augé discusses non-places in urban settings, but I think the term can be useful

water', referring to land that has been exploited by pesticides to the extent that it is no longer possible to heal them.⁵⁵⁴ In environmental discourse, testimony from such sites of loss is a frequent motif. The environmental activist Trebbe Johnson has focused very much on wounded places, that is, places that have be subject to environmental damage, and she asks how it is possible to find healing in these places.⁵⁵⁵ These might have been places we once loved, and she claims that these places have played a role in forming who we are and what we know of the world, and the love, the relationship is still there even though the place is damaged or even destroyed.⁵⁵⁶ To reflect on love and the loss and to form a new relation to these wounded places, what I describe as working with wonder and wounds, is central in the cultivation of wild enchantments. To give testimony of your personal experience is a distinctive feature in the work of wonder and wounds, and these witnesses are found in my material as well as in a wider context of environmental discourse.

In this way the American environmentalist Derrick Jensen witnesses the devastating changes, and he writes "I am intimately acquainted with the landscape of loss and have grown accustomed to carrying the daily weight of despair." 557 "The landscape of loss" and the loss of place is a central theme in environmental discourse: in the writings and witnesses of activists, but also from a theoretical perspective. Rob Nixon's 'displacement' refers to a situation where people are forced to leave their land because of privatisation of land and large-scale projects, such as dam building or mining, displacement also comes in a subtler form, that is, "displacement without moving". Nixon proposes a more radical notion of displacement,

...one that, instead of referring solely to the movement of people from their places of belonging, refers rather to the loss of the land and resources beneath them, a loss that leaves communities stranded in a place stripped of the very characteristics that made it inhabitable.

Nixon's term 'slow violence' refers to the range of the damage done in relation to future generations – those who are yet unborn. However, Kathy's story illustrates

to denote places created by the industrial exploitation of natural resources. In one sense these places are rural non-places, they become places void of meaning.

⁵⁵⁴ Saskia Sassen (2014) introduces the term "dead land, dead water" because she thinks that climate change is too pretty a term are to designate what is happening.

⁵⁵⁵ Trebbe Johnson's website, see https://trebbejohnson.com/ accessed 2021-09-13

⁵⁵⁶ Whittaker, Richard (2012) "Radical Joy for Hard Times – A Conversation with Trebbe Johnson" Parabola Magazine, Summer 2012.

⁵⁵⁷ Jensen 2006:3. Jensen writes: "As a longtime grassroots environmental activist, and as a creature living in the thrashing endgame of civilization, I am intimately acquainted with the landscape of loss, and have grown accustomed to carrying the daily weight of despair. I have walked clearcuts that wrap around mountains, drop into valleys, then climb ridges to fragment watershed after watershed, and I've sat silent near empty streams that two generations ago were "lashed into whiteness" by uncountable salmon coming home to spawn and die."

something else: the place she loves is no longer a safe place, and it shows us that the emotional strain really starts *before the devastation takes place*. In Kathy's and Mark stories, a trajectory reaches from worries to wounds. There is a double sense of loss here: in relation to the loss of the place, but also the loss of power. Although the inhabitants at the place remain on the site, the place itself is transformed in a way where it becomes unrecognisable, and the interests of external and economic powers (not of the inhabitants themselves) govern the transformation.⁵⁵⁸

The theme of the loss of place is central in many of the stories I heard, and these have forced me to ask how to relate the 'loss of place' with the notion of 'places with the power to enchant'. Lost places may still be distinctive in people's lives; in the gap between the mesmerising sense of enchantment and the depth of losses something emerges that cannot be neglected. My conception of wild enchantment, which I describe as a working with wonder and wounds, addresses this gap. In environmental discourse, it is often the love of place, and the feeling of wonder and reverence that is the foundation of an ethical relation to place, and it is the incentive to a will to preserve and protect the place. However, the question that emerges here is: can there still be some sense of wonder in relation to lost places or is the loss of place also the end of some sense of wonder? In the Cambridge Dictionary 'enchantment' is defined as "a feeling of great pleasure and attraction, especially because something is very beautiful". 559 This may be a simple definition, but it reduces enchantment to some form of aesthetic admiration, it may be towards a beautiful landscape or a work of art. ⁵⁶⁰ As discussed in chapter 1, I use the concept 'wild enchantments', which not only addresses the sense of wonder, but also include the darker sides, such as emotions in relation to ecological crisis, environmental degradation or climate change. I will dedicate the next chapter to a discussion of some workshops/practices where the purpose can be to reconnect to nature, or to heal the broken relation, and I describe these in terms of cultivating wild enchantment. In this I follow Bennett's view of enchantment as an encounter, or even an "a surprising encounter, and a meeting with something unexpected," ⁵⁶¹ and, consequently, if I elaborate this, disenchantment, would be a kind of separation, a state where these encounters are no longer possible. Thus, in simple terms the aim of the practices I study is to reconnect or heal the relation, not just to place, but also

⁵⁵⁸ Nixon 2011:162 Nixon discusses the global south where these often led to forced removals of inhabitants. "When refugees are severed from environments that have provided ancestral sustenance, they find themselves stranded not just in place but in time as well. Their improvised lives in makeshift camps are lives of temporal impoverishment. [...] For if forced removal involves agonizing adjustments to bleak accommodation, unfamiliar ecologies, and typically barren, hostile terrain, it involves the additional challenge posed by temporal violence: how to survive in truncated, severed present, torn by involuntary displacement from the numinous fabric that had woven extended meaning from time-in-place."

⁵⁵⁹ https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/enchantment accessed 15 January 2021.

⁵⁶⁰ For a discussion of enchantment and art see further Bennett. It is notable how landscapes are seen as works of art in relation to the English park.

⁵⁶¹ Bennett 2001:5.

to the larger-than-human world, which I will discuss in the next chapter. In the following section, I present some further stories of personal and spiritual change.

3.4 What Brought you here? Personal Change, Spiritual Change and Social Change

The realisation of climate change or the emergency of the ecological crisis may be the point of departure for change on a personal level, and for many this includes a spiritual change. The changes brought by the realisation of the reality of climate change/ecological crisis are not to be seen as a sudden change of mind, rather as the starting point for a long process of change, and a visit to Schumacher College in Devon may be an important halt on the road to change. Schumacher College is a place where people from various countries come together and the question "What brought you here?" is often part of a conversation between participants. It is, of course, a good opening line for conversation if you want to get to know someone, but it is also a good question from an analytical perspective because it sheds light upon what happened *before* the visit to Devon. In my conversations with participants, I have found several examples of these, and I refer to these stories as narratives of personal change.

3.4.1 Narratives of personal changes

Personal change focuses on the individual, or on individuals, but it does not rule out the fact that the person is a part of society as well as of a given historical context. One example of how the social and historical context is part of these stories is Maria, a thirty-year-old Spanish woman. Maria explicitly refers to the current situation in Spain, the economic crisis with unemployment and economic hardship that strikes particularly hard against the young. Maria says that while she is lucky to have a job, the crisis is nonetheless very much a part of her life because things are always uncertain, and she worries a lot about the future. Maria came to visit Schumacher for a short course, and she said the reason why she had come to Schumacher is her "spiritual growth".

I am glad to be on a short course because of the intensity of it. To be on a longer course would probably be too much for me, and I do not think I could take that. Not right now anyway. After the course I want to go back home to absorb and reflect.

Maria refers to what happened both before and after. What brought Maria to visit Schumacher was her experience of the economic crisis, but also a desire for "spiritual growth". After ending the five-day course, she wanted to go back home

"to absorb and reflect", but she also hoped that maybe she would come back later for some other short courses. Maria's story, and the references to the economic crisis in Spain, led us back to the understanding of climate change, as layers of crises where the economic crisis is part of the picture. Maria's account, in relation to the aftermath of the economic crisis in Spain in 2008, invites us to reflect on her account in a more general perspective, and to consider the historical and social context. Like Maria, those who have shared their stories here at Schumacher College are all aged around thirty, and they belong to the first generation who became adults in the shadow of climate change. They are a generation that has to face the age of ecocide; they are part of the generation that Ed Howker and Shiv Malik refer to as the jilted generation, born 1979–1994. Howker and Malik characterise this as the first generation of the post-war period who have to grow up with completely new expectations and have to face lower life expectancy than their parents. Howker and Malik do not mention climate change, which can be added to the list. I think it will be good to keep this in mind while reading the stories here.

Pierre is a Frenchman in his mid-thirties who describes Schumacher College as "a harbour in a violent world" and "a place where you can talk about everything". ⁵⁶³ Pierre's story illustrates how personal change and spiritual change converge. What he calls his "spiritual journey" started some years ago with a pilgrimage to Santiago de Compostela. At the time when he first decided to take that pilgrimage, his family showed some concern for him, and questioned what he was doing.

At first, they looked at me with a lot of suspicion, as no one in my family, or my friends, had made that kind of pilgrimage before. They wondered if I had lost my mind, but now I think they have come to realise that I know what I am doing.

Pierre describes a process where his family and friends initially looked with suspicion at the new direction his life had taken. Eventually they had come to accept, as they realise that he knows what he is doing. He says that "I have to unlearn", because he has found that things he had taken for granted were not true anymore. Now he describes himself as an engineer in the process of creating a completely new career, and he has moved to the countryside and is presently building a house with his own hands. Several things are worth noticing in Pierre's story. Pierre describes the transformation he is going through as a "spiritual journey", and this spiritual journey started with a pilgrimage, and he describes how he has to "unlearn", to give up things that he no longer can trust to be true. His friends and family questioned what he was doing. Still, the process in which Pierre found himself is not only an inner change, because his life has clearly taken a new direction in very concrete ways; not just the visit to Schumacher, he describes himself as being in the process of creating a whole new career, building a house for himself in

⁵⁶² Howker and Malik 2013.

⁵⁶³ Field notes 2013.

the countryside. Pierre's story tells of a change, proceeding from a pilgrimage, as the initiation of a chain of events, that eventually has led to concrete work, the building of the house, and all this is part of the spiritual journey. Pierre does not refer to any form of activism at all. He has radically changed his personal life, and it could be described as adjusting his life to ecological principles or greening his own personal life. I think the most adequate term to refer to this change is in terms of 'transition'.

There is one further thing to note in this story, Pierre's friend and family viewed his new interest in spirituality with a great deal of suspicion, and this is yet another illustration of the first follower theme. This was seen in Steven's story previously, where Steven's friends were questioning his interest in spirituality and made mockery of him speaking to stones and trees. Both these voices tell how their turn to spirituality meant that they were questioned by their family and friends. What convinced Pierre's family was that they realised that he knew what he was doing. Thus, it is worth returning to this since this story illustrates how personal change may lead to a lot of questioning from people in your close circle. While these stories bear witness to the questioning and scepticism from friends and family, the following story offers a different perspective, as Martin admits his own initial hesitation about 'spirituality'. Martin is a thirty-year-old British man who tells of his reaction when he first heard of Schumacher College.

I heard about this weird place, and I thought it was a little bit hippieish, not really me, but I took a course. Since then, I have gone deeper into spirituality. I have done the Earth Pilgrim course, which is much more hippieish.⁵⁶⁴

Despite his initial hesitation about the "hippieish" aspect, Martin has visited the school several times, and has "gone deeper into spirituality". Martin's story describes a process where spirituality is part of the changes in his life. Presently Martin lives in a middle-sized English town, but he hopes to move to the countryside. His ambition is to find a farmer to work with, so he can learn agricultural work the hard way. Nevertheless, finding a farmer to work with might be difficult, as he wants to learn ecological agriculture. Martin's story ranges from initial hesitation and leads to an ambition for a concrete change of life: to become an ecological farmer, to live in the countryside. These features of everyday life, work and where to live are parts of the process which he describes as going "deeper into spirituality". Just like the stories of Steve or Maria before, spirituality is part of a life-changing process. (I will discuss everyday life and work in the next chapter on practices, but for now I follow Martin's thread and go "deeper into spirituality" because it is spirituality that is the main interest here.)

⁵⁶⁴ Field notes 2013.

⁵⁶⁵ Field notes 2013.

Something that has been distinctive in my conversations with these persons is that whether you chat with someone or are in a deeper conversation, spiritual issues are often part of the conversations, because people talk and reflect about spirituality spontaneously. Spirituality is close to their everyday life, and it is of real concern to them. That conversations on spirituality occur spontaneously can also be seen as the milieu being open towards spiritual matters. This has been an advantage in my research. In designing the study, I had to ask myself: How can you talk with people about spirituality? Direct questions might seem like an obvious answer, but my approach has been that as the subject emerges in conversation, then it will be in the context where the informant finds it relevant. Therefore, I have chosen an approach where the subject emerges in conversations, as it often did. As spirituality is part of their lives, it is a part of conversations, and as conversations occur in various circumstances, sometimes quite unexpectedly, so do conversations about spirituality.

John is another voice who shared his reflection on spirituality during a walk in the garden one summer evening. John says that he believes that it is necessary to root yourself in a spiritual tradition. He emphasises in *one* spiritual tradition, and he personally has found Native American spirituality to be the tradition of his choice. He considers the choice of tradition to be important because he has often seen among his friends that they shift interest, and switch between traditions quite often. They go in for yoga for a while, and then they dedicate themselves to something else, and John mentions raw food or Zen Buddhism. John says that he believes that if you are going deeper into spirituality, and this is true of any spiritual tradition,

You will always come to a point when you face resistance. At that point, it is easy to think that, well, this is not the right thing for me. This do not work; I will try something else. If you do not root yourself in one tradition, you get nowhere. 566

John says that you have to pass these dark points because they will appear in any tradition you choose and "you simply have to get by them, to get deeper into spirituality." For John it is the Native American spirituality that has been the tradition that he has chosen to follow. While John is one of the few who has been explicit about following and holding on to one particular tradition, the features he shares with the others is that spirituality has to lead you further. It is only if you "root yourself in one tradition" that you will get somewhere. A further example of this is Amitraj, a physician who in a conversation said, "Spirituality does not come by itself", ⁵⁶⁷ and in this he wanted to reject the idea of spirituality as nothing but an inner experience. For him spirituality concerned practices as well as community, and particularly the Jain tradition and *Ahimsa* meant a great deal, but he also emphasised the value of spiritual teachers.

⁵⁶⁶ Field notes 2014.

⁵⁶⁷ Field notes 2013.

A characteristic of these accounts is that 'spirituality' is set in relation to their own life rather than to spiritual teachings; they are explorers rather than adherers. Many of those I have spoken to want to avoid defining their views in relation to any definitive religious or spiritual tradition, although some refer to various traditions, for example Buddhism, and non-violence, indigenous traditions, Native American spirituality, Gaia spirituality, Paganism, Druidry, Celtic spirituality, Christian traditions, the Quakers or the Anglican Church, as being important in their life. Others stress the importance of individual public figures such as Satish Kumar, Vandana Shiva, Peter Owen Jones, Joanna Macy or Matthew Fox, just to mention a few, that have been important to them as a source of inspiration. While some refer to a specific tradition or public figure as the main source, they mostly prefer to be open for inspiration from various traditions, even if there is one particular favourite. Hence, while the sources of spiritual inspiration vary as well as the approach to tradition or teachers, what they have in common is that spirituality is not a static state but a spiritual process.

3.4.2 A Spiritual Process

From the accounts a pattern emerges where spirituality is part of a process of personal and social change. The voices describe 'spirituality' in various terms, indicating something being in a momentum, such as being on "a spiritual journey", expressing their need for "spiritual growth", or they characterise spirituality as a way of "dealing with depression". What I found to be central in here is that spirituality is described as a fluid or a dynamic process rather than a fixed inner state of mind or an identity. The stories that have been presented here all illustrate the same pattern. For example, John concludes: "If you do not root yourself in one tradition you'll get nowhere." Pierre, who set out on a pilgrimage to Santiago de Compostela, described this as the starting point for his "spiritual journey". Maria describes how she came to Schumacher for "spiritual growth". Steven, who described himself as a long-time environmental activist, said that for him "spirituality is about self-reflection." In these examples, spirituality is a process which is intimately related to the process of change related to ecological awareness. As we have seen, Maria, Pierre and Martin, have made considerable changes in their lives. Therefore, the spiritual change is accomplished with practical efforts to change their life, and their personal change is coordinated with social change. This was also seen previously, in the accounts of Steven, Kathy and Mark.

During my work I came to ask: do people feel that they are a part of an environmental or ecological movement? It seems that many described being *a part of a transformation* rather than being a part of a movement, as a form of organisation. Therefore, being a part of a movement, according to organisational criteria of membership, cannot be a condition for being a part of the social change. Thus, how movements relate to social change is far more complex. Furthermore, the focus on personal change is an incentive to transform your own life according to

certain *values*. Therefore, being engaged does not only mean joining an organisation or a movement in order to work for change. Rather, being engaged concerns how the change of society begins from your own personal life. I found two distinctive features in this understanding of social change: (i) personal change concerns setting an example – both ethical and practical – to show that it is possible to live differently from what mainstream capitalism consumerism suggests, and (ii) that everyday practices have actual consequences that lead to social change. Maybe this can be summed up in the slogan: let the walk be our talk or walk your talk. In the next, story we will again meet Janine, who reflects on how she came to find her part in change.

3.4.3 Hope is to Plant a Tree...

"Hope is to plant a tree in whose shadow you never will sit; however, I have come to understand that my part is to prepare the soil."568 This quotation is from a conversation on how to face the challenges of living in times of climate change, where one participant, Janine (whom the reader already met as she told the story of the pious man) shared her thoughts. "Hope is to plant a tree in whose shadow you never will sit" can be seen as a modified version from similar quotations attributed to Rabindranath Tagore or Martin Luther King Jr. ⁵⁶⁹ Here Janine not only repeats it: she elaborates on it and adds a personal comment on what she has come to understand about her own part. The metaphor of hope and trees does not just concern those who dedicate their time to planting trees in a concrete sense, but more so that hope is a central matter for the green movement. The metaphor of planting trees indicates that hope in some sense has to do with long-term thinking, long-term expectations, and long-term change. Indeed, to grow a tree takes time, and a human being who plants a tree will not live to see it grow old as trees grow far much older than human beings. According to the Merriam-Webster Dictionary 'hope' is defined as "to cherish a desire with anticipation", more archaic trust, and "to hope" for something is "to expect with confidence." Hope can be summed up as an emotional state that is future directed, but it reaches beyond the personal self, and the personal benefit or well-being.

-

⁵⁶⁸ Field notes 2014.

These quotations are often found on the internet, and they are frequently shared in social media such as Facebook. For example, this quotation from Rabindranath Tagore. "The one who plants trees, knowing that he will never sit in their shade, has at least started to understand the meaning of life." The following is attributed to Martin Luther King Jr.: "Even if I knew that tomorrow the world would go to pieces, I would still plant my apple tree". The important thing here is not to question whether these quotations are genuine, but rather how they are used in the context I study. There is a similar Greek proverb: "Societies grows great when old men plant trees in whose shadow they shall never sit. https://www.roger-pearse.com/weblog/2017/08/26/a-society-grows-great-when-old-men-plant-trees-in-whose-shade-they-know-they-shall-never-sit-an-ancient-greek-proverb/comment-page-1/ accessed 14 October 2021.

When Janine said, "Hope is to plant a tree in which shadow you never will sit. I have come to understand that my part is to prepare the soil", 570 she added her own reflection to the modified quotation. Preparing the soil, the work that she come to understand as being her part, is the work that has to be done *before* planting the tree. Although Janine admits: "That that is not really how I wish it to be; it is not according to my preferences."571 Her reflections illustrate that the work that has to be done in our time is considered the initial step towards a transformation. Another aphorism I found written on a wall has a similar ring to it: "Live as in the Early Days" of a Better World". 572 The metaphor of hope as planting a tree implies a long-term perspective as it takes time to grow trees. Still, there is a both personal and moral issue here that is increasingly urgent in relation to climate change and that is: how do you relate to those who will inhabit the Earth when you are dead? The ethical questions of moral obligations towards future generations – including all living creatures – is central in the philosophical discussion on environmental ethics.⁵⁷³ Janine's reflection can be shortened and rewritten as "Hope is [...] to prepare the soil" and in a sense, life starts with soil - it is one of the fundaments of life. Ecological discourse may include various reflections, but it also concerns practical issues, such as growing food or planting trees. Therefore, the proverb illustrates not only that hope is central, but more so, that soil is fundamental to our lives, and this is distinctive in Earth-based spirituality, or dark green spirituality.

As we have seen, the dictionary defined 'hope' as 'to cherish a desire with anticipation", and hope is not only future-directed, in the anticipation that something good will happen. There is a psychology of hope and that is illustrated in a conversation I had with a Miguel, after attending a public talk by the Indian environmentalist Vandana Shiva, in Totnes Civic Hall.⁵⁷⁴ Miguel's personal reflection after listening to Shiva's speech was that:

I always had that activist flame in me, and for some time I have felt it weakened, but after listening to Vandana *it's on fire!* Every subject she speaks, she speaks from lived experience. Every word rings true to me. ⁵⁷⁵

The metaphor of an "activist flame" is a powerful expression of conviction and engagement, but he admits he has "felt it weakened". Listening to the talk, however, changed his feelings. Miguel says, "what Vandana managed to do was *to give me hope*", but he nevertheless asks, "what can I do to make it last?" Great speakers can have the sparkling influence that Max Weber describes as charisma, sometimes

⁵⁷⁰ Field notes 2014.

⁵⁷¹ Field notes 2014.

⁵⁷² Field notes 2014.

⁵⁷³ See for example Barry 2017, Bird Rose 2011, and Lovejoy 2017.

⁵⁷⁴ Field notes 2013.

⁵⁷⁵ Field notes 2013.

likened to a kind a magic. This has always been a mobilising force in social movements and listening to a talk may awaken the "activist flame" and feed the hope. Still, Miguel's reflection illustrates that hope may easily vanish into a state of hopelessness. It is easy to lose hope.

The scholar of religion Lisa Sideris notes that hope is often emphasised in a spiritual ecological discourse, but less visible in secular discourse. 576 I think it is vital to emphasise the role of hope, because climate change is a topic that tends to evoke too many possible scenarios of catastrophes or apocalypses to come. Not to deny that this is part of the picture, the purpose of this thesis is not to paint future scenarios of climate change, but to offer an image of how people try to understand and/or cope with it, as seen in Miguel's reflection: "I always had that activist flame in me" but he had for some time "felt it weakened". After listening to Vandana Shiva's speech he felt it to be "on fire!"577 he nevertheless asks, "what can I do to make it last?" For Miguel, who works with permaculture, the activism has both the actual work of tending his permaculture garden, but also promoting permaculture in various ways. If we look at individuals in the trajectory of an activist life this may include periods of doubts, or lost hope; they may also change their ways of working and this may include engagement in various new social movements. In general, hope and social movements concern the momentum of the social movement, but looking at individuals it rather concerns the mobility between social movements and other wavs of working.

Janine and Miguel are just two of the persons that I have met during my fieldwork, and I had the privilege to listen to and to converse with many engaged persons who shared their hopes, their experiences and visions, but also their anxiety and fears with me. These kinds of conversations about questions that are often viewed as deep and urgent are sometimes spontaneous, but may also be in organised form, in various kinds of workshops. These reflections and the stories told are personal stories that relate to the historical context that is the general story of climate change.

This can be pictured as a bricolage, which illustrates both the complexity and the personal approach (and this approach is of course recognisable from many modern forms of religion and new spiritualities, such as New Age). The purpose of this bricolage is not to construct a new set of doctrine, it is rather an ongoing process that can be reconstructed along the path. This openness towards various spiritual traditions is not to be mistaken for a shallow interest or lack of engagement regarding these matters, rather an approach where uncertainty, or the tentative aspects of finding things out, and letting it take time, is allowed to be a part of spiritual reflection, rather than firm belief or dogmas, and this is sometimes referred to as to "avoiding guruism". To say something general is not to deny that there are exceptions, and this illustrates the heterogeneity of the field.

⁵⁷⁶ Bauman et al. 2011. For discussion in hope in secular social movement see Johnson 2013, who draws from Gramsci. A classic approach *The Principle of Hope*, Bloch 1986.

⁵⁷⁷ Field notes 2013.

The openness towards various sources of inspiration is not exceptional for this material, Christopher Partridge⁵⁷⁸ sees it in the alternative spiritual milieu of ecoenchantment in the contemporary Western world. According to Partridge it concerns the variety of ways in which an increasing number of people are discovering and articulating spiritual meaning in their lives, and the transmission of new ways of believing in societies in which the old ways are inhibited and declining. Alternative spiritualities do not require their adherents to sit in pews and believe in systematic theologies, neither are these new ways of believing allied to the state or located in large buildings next to the village green. Perhaps this is why this form of spirituality becomes significant in the lives of people,⁵⁷⁹ because it is possible to form a personal bond and relate more directly to your own personal situation.

3.5 Conclusions

Part of the aim of this thesis is to explore what motivates people to turn to spirituality. I have found the core of the motivation to emerge in the contrast between the scientific basis for climate change, ecological crisis and ecocide. Although science gives evidence for the reality of climate change and the ecological crisis, at the same time is seen as insufficient for conveying a meaningful narrative. Therefore, the dissatisfaction with a disenchanted scientific discourse is part of this motivation, because it is the incentive to turn towards what Bennett refers to as an alter-tale.⁵⁸⁰ Despite the trust in science that many express that at this state, there is no need for further reports to act. The dissatisfaction with scientific discourse concerns its inability to offer meaning, and this is not to be mistaken for a refutation of science. A further reason concerns the understanding of climate change because the scientific definition of anthropogenic climate change focuses on emissions of greenhouse gasses, suggests technological solutions, and excludes the social dimension as well as the larger-than-human world. Among those turning to dark green spirituality, climate change or climate crisis are seen as an umbrella term, which covers what Sargisson refers to as multiple and interwoven problems. 581 Secondly, the scientific discourse is a part of a disenchanted discourse – or a disenchanted tale if we prefer Bennett's term – based on rationalisation, calculation and technology, which pays no attention to values. The current crisis is often seen as a spiritual crisis, a crisis of values where the emotional, existential and ethical values must be acknowledged. Thirdly, the critique of science is primarily a critique of the environmental movement's relation to science, because the environmental movement is far too dependent on science and has lost the ability to put forward a positive vision.

⁵⁷⁸ Partridge 2005:1.

⁵⁷⁹ Partridge 2005:1.

⁵⁸⁰ Bennett 2001.

⁵⁸¹ Sargisson 2012:116.

Despite the general agreement on the reality and emergency of climate change and ecological crisis, awareness of climate change is more than a cognitive understanding of scientific facts, it is a very personal experience of coming to terms with the state of the world and coping with it. These personal aspects come to the fore in the conversations where the personal life stories coordinate with the general story of the contemporary development of climate change and ecological crisis. Emotions are a distinctive feature in these stories; losses, sorrow, depression and uncertainty are part of their accounts. Thus, both wonder and wounds are motivations to turn to spirituality. Such personal experiences are a deeply emotional and painful process in realising the state of the world. Their personal experiences have been formative for their understanding of the crisis. What I found in these conversations is how the realisation of climate or ecological crisis is part of a process and a point of departure for changes in their personal trajectory. This is a process of many small steps; it is an incentive for continuous change. The incentive for personal change is a reason why it becomes existential because many revalue their former way of life and strive to find a new way of life and a new engagement. Several voices tell of revaluing the traditional activist work, and the ambition to find alternative ways of working. Art becomes a vital part of this, as many find in art forms of expressions that mediate both the deep and the dark, which I refer to as eco-occulture. Hence, eco-occulture is the counterculture of the Anthropocene, and it is a distinctive bridge between the environmental movement and dark green spirituality.

In the personal stories that I have cited, the voices set their own lives in relation to the contemporary challenges. These stories tell how this has spurred them to personal change, which for many has been an incentive to turn to spirituality but also to change their lives towards an ecological way of life that often includes moving to the countryside, making a transition towards a spiritual and social resilience. To tell their personal stories is also to bear witness to the changes taking place in our time, but it also shows the power of stories. Stories are "the key fabric by which we construct the world individually and collectively" according to Jones and Jones. Stories offer the ability

to creatively capture the complex ecology of the unfolded (history and unfolding world). To capture this complexity requires some effort of *imaginational groundwork*. It requires relating the individual to a global scale, the present to deep time. ⁵⁸²

Stories set the personal life in "the networks we are in ecologically are extraordinarily opaque, complex, long and entangled." 583 Many of the voices who have told their story in this chapter are part of what Howker and Malik refer to as

⁵⁸² Jones and Jones 2017:157.

⁵⁸³ Jones and Jones 2017:157.

the jilted generation, many in the formative years of their lives between 20 and 35. For them turning to spirituality is seen as part of their life trajectory: (i) Spirituality is part of the process of facing climate change and living with losses, it gives rise to insights which are both emotional and painful. (ii) Spirituality plays a distinctive role in coping with this new reality, and this is what I refer to as the therapeutic value of spirituality. (iii) Spirituality offers a framework of symbols and meaning for constructing a new narrative, or an alter-tale, as well as skills and practices to create community. (iv) Spirituality expresses values such as community and compassion which very much converge with social resilience. (v) Spirituality is seen as distinctive in the process of implementing change and a new life according to ecological principles. Hence, what I characterise as dark green spirituality draws from the spirituality of life (Heelas), the alternative spiritualities as being socially significant (Partridge) and is characterised by ecocentric views and is politically engaged (Taylor and Gottlieb). Therefore, spirituality has a distinctive role in negotiating ecological awareness.

To express this in a slogan, ecological awareness is deep; it is not only an awareness of something outer, but also a personal insight, with a very emotional and existential core. Many of the accounts show how ecological awareness goes deeper because it calls for a new self-awareness, asking what it means to be part of the species human, and it sets your personal life in the era of the Anthropocene. Ecological awareness loops back, according to Morton but I would rather say that the world *looks back*, not only to humanity, as an abstract species, but to each of us, as an individual and a person. Ecological awareness oscillates between emotions of sorrow and loss, and love and compassion. Living in times of extreme loss of biodiversity makes the darker moods distinctive: the love for other-than-human species, compassion for their suffering, anger about the impact of the contemporary human lifestyles on the lives of other species, and grief over the degradation of ecosystems. As Jones and Jones note, to become self-aware in terms of an ecological self is "to put oneself in a very ethical and emotionally challenging position". 584 Hence, ecological self-awareness takes the depth even further. The theme of the loss of place is central in many of the stories I heard, and these narratives of loss not only address the sense of wonder, but also include the darker sides, and emotions in relation to ecological crisis, environmental degradation or climate change. Ecological awareness is set in the complexity of the interconnected ecological reality that must be subject to constant adjustments. Being ecologically aware means living with a constant challenge of being human in time of an accelerating humancaused catastrophe – the challenges it gives rise to range between the emotional, existential and the ethical dimensions.

⁵⁸⁴ Jones and Jones 2017:157

Chapter 4 Reflective and Utopian Practices

In exploring the practices that are created in response to the challenges of living in the Anthropocene, I will give accounts of various practices which are organised in workshops. As seen in previous chapters, a central question was: how can we cope with the current challenges? Throughout my fieldwork I have participated in a number of workshops where people had the ambition to contribute to an understanding of these challenges. In this chapter, I give examples of what I refer to as reflective practices.

4.1 Reflective Practices

Reflective practices are not only the practice of reflection, but practices that in various ways works to stimulate, encourage or enable reflection. This may be done by creating a space for conversations or performing practices such as education, sharing circles, or other form of workshops for example walks or meditations. Such reflective practices may be sharing circles that explore alternative forms of communication, or various spiritual practices such as meditation or silence. In a theoretical perspective I relate to Lucy Sargisson's conception 'utopian practices'. First, I present a number of workshops in the form of sharing circles. Next, two workshops that took place in nature, in the forest outside Schumacher College. I will then discuss a walk along the coastline towards Dartmouth, and a meditation practice that took place overlooking the Atlantic. Finally, I relate to practices of work and everyday life.

4.1.1 Creating Alternative Spaces

This chapter is dedicated to reflective practices, and just as the previous chapter referred to the need for new stories, the need of deeper reflection is often expressed by the participants. One such voice is Benjamin. He has passed the age of 40, and he has worked for some years in the Transition movement and been active in a local transition group, but he came to feel that something was missing in this work. In his

view many people who are engaged in green matters are "doers", they are often not really interested in discussions or deeper questions. The matters they tend to engage in are practical, hands-on matters, such as "where can I get locally grown food, how can I work with local farmers and support their work by buying their groceries?". He says that the conversations he has had, even with close friends, often ended up in discussions that resulted in pro-and-con argumentation which too often seeks resort in presupposed positions. For a long time, he had felt weary of these discussions, and he longs for something different.

The kind of conversation I want to be part of would be like putting an object in the middle of a table and letting everyone tell the others what they see from their perspective. If we all can come together and look at things from different perspectives, we can come up with a different, more complex picture. 585

The communication that Benjamin wants to be part of would allow participants to see things from many perspectives, and to give different views. Benjamin emphasises the value of creating a space where you can talk about everything, and he considers the course at Schumacher to be an example of this. In his vision of the kind of conversations he wants to take part in, everyone can contribute their perspective, there would be no priority of particular ways of seeing. Benjamin describes this as "being midwives to new ideas". Benjamin voices both dissatisfaction and a positive example. He has a critical approach, but at the same time he proposes a vision of an alternative form of communication. Furthermore, Benjamin contrasts two different forms of communication: the argumentation of pros and cons, in contrast to being midwives to new ideas. Benjamin expresses the need to talk about the deeper issues, but he also bears witness to the difficulties of finding ways, or spaces, for such discussions. There are several questions that follows such as: How can we talk about these issues and include everyone? Where do we find the space to talk about these issues?

4.1.2 Forming Circles of Silence and Sharing

Reflective practices are performed in various workshops, and sharing circles, that is, conversations in a circle among participants, are a common feature. Having participated in many such circles, my description will be a summary rather than an account of one specific occasion. I draw from several circles as part of various workshops to serve as an introduction to this practice. Forming a circle can be done in various way, indoors as well as in nature. Sitting together in a circle does not give precedence to anyone as the participants face each other and can see each other's faces. The person who is sharing can address all the participants in the circle equally. Sharing is based on reciprocity and there is an intimate relation between sharing,

⁵⁸⁵ Field notes 2014.

and the sense of community. Sharing is an interplay between listening and speaking, and participants shift their roles as they take it in turns around. Sharing is done together, there is an exchange of experiences and reflections. Sharing is often described as a gift that you give and receive. To listen and to speak are equally important in the circle. Therefore, these practices are a form of co-creation, as the participants together adjust and decide how to perform the practices according to the preferences on that particular occasion. The facilitator invites the group to participate, but there may also be smaller groups where the participants organise the circle themselves.

The Silent Circle is a practice that comes in many versions, but the distinctive feature is that participants form a circle and that they will be silent for a while before starting conversation, a session, a workshop, or simply before class. There is a moment of silence both at the beginning and at the end of the circle. The silence may last a few minutes, it may be longer like a short meditation, according to the need on that particular occasion. Thus, silence works to open or close the circle, and this is done to tune in to the moment, to each other and the place. Lucy Sargisson refers to this practice as "attunement", a term she found in her study of the Findhorn community in Scotland. 586 Attunement means to tuning into the place, the people and the mood of the moment. At one workshop the facilitator presented *The Silent* Circle as a practice that he/she first had come in contact within the Quaker tradition. Quaker meetings could take the form that the community sat together, in silence, for up to one hour (children would be allowed to take part for 15 minutes and then leave the room because most kids do not like to sit still for a longer time). When the hour of silence had passed, anyone who felt that they wanted to speak could speak freely about whatever was on his/her heart. The other participants would listen without interrupting, and when the speaker had done his/her sharing, someone else would follow, or if no one wanted to share, there would be silence again. However, at this workshop, the silence was modified to last only a few minutes, and this was also the common procedure in the workshops I participated in. The circles started with a few minutes (a maximum five) of silence, before the circle was open for communication.

4.1.3 Take Your Question to the Fields and the Forest

The workshop I call *Take Your Question to the Fields and the Forest* was dedicated to exploring the questions: "What I can do?" and "How I can contribute to change?" The workshop consisted of three parts, first a sharing circle, secondly, the task was to formulate a question to share in relation to the given theme, and thirdly, a silent walk in the fields and forest. At the beginning of this circle the chairs in the room were rearranged for the purpose, and the chairs were coordinated with the number of participants, leaving no empty chairs in the circle, where there were

⁵⁸⁶ Sargisson 2012:134.

approximately 20 participants. In this workshop a theme was chosen which concerned the question, how to contribute to change? The purpose of these circles is to allow everyone to elaborate their ideas freely. As the circle opened with a few minutes' silence before the sharing, it allowed everyone to think through the question before the sharing started. At this workshop task for the participants was to formulate the questions that were most urgent to themselves. The sharing circle was the initial part of the process, and then everyone was given a piece of paper to write down their question. Again, this was done in silence. At the end of the workshop participants shared their questions as the papers were pinned to the wall and everyone could read each other's questions, as a form of sharing which was done in silence, because no one was to comment on each other's questions. Hence, the primary aim was not to give answers at this stage, but to put words on the innermost feelings and ideas that the participants carry.

In this workshop everyone was given a paper to write down a question and these notes were put up on the board, where they remained for the rest of the course, so it was possible for me to return and take some notes. Many of these questions can be seen as spiritual questions, such as "The earth gives so much healing and love, how can I be part of that?" Or "How can I find hope?" "Do we need words for the change or is action all we need?" There is an intimate link between reflection and spirituality; some practices are recognisable as spiritual practices, such as forming a circle, sharing, being silent or the silent walk, and in their reflections, many tell how they turn to spirituality, and stress the importance of spirituality, both in their own personal life and in healing the earth. The final part of the workshop was a silent walk, which it was possible to do together or in a group or individually. As the facilitator closed the workshop she encouraged everyone "to be in silence and to take the question with you, out there, to the fields and the forest."587 That the workshop ended in a silent walk emphasises that answers may not come directly, or rather, finding answers may be complicated and take time, and everyone has to find their own answers. This personal approach helps participants to find a personal engagement to work from, and it is based in asking basic questions, such as; "What can I do?" or "How can I contribute, given my skills, my questions, the place where I am?"

The workshop *Take Your Question to the Field and the Forest* shows that reflective practice may consist of various features; it may include bodily modes and movement, speech and the telling of stories, as well as silence. Sharing circles are created as an alternative to discussion based on argumentation, sometimes described as ping-ponging. The creation of alternative practices is done in various workshops. I use the term 'reflective practices' adding the prefix 'reflective' to 'practices' in order to make the term more precise. Reflection is social and contextual, and differs from contemplation, where individuals withdraw from life to find true knowledge in a Descartian sense. It should be noted that the aim of these conversations is open-

-

⁵⁸⁷ Field notes 2013.

ended, the objective is not to come up with a decision or consensus. It is the dialogic that fosters reflection rather than dialectics. 'Dialogic' is a word coined by the Russian literature critic Mikhail Bakhtin to name a discussion which does not resolve itself by finding common ground. In the sociologist Richard Sennett's words:

Though no shared agreements may be reached, through the process of exchange people may become more aware of their own views and expand their understanding of another ⁵⁸⁸

The dialogic resonates with the sociologist Emanuel Castell's notion of the communicative process of social movement, and I considers the practices that I describe here to be examples of such a communicative process. But Castell also emphasises that social movements form their ideology in this communicative process. I found in my field that it is often repeated that at this stage questions are more important than answers, and workshops such as Take Your Question to the Field and the Forest have as an explicit aim to reflect on and to formulate these questions. The need to address the questions that concern the deeper predicament of our culture is in focus here, rather than ideological doctrines that deliver firm answers. The workshop encourages everyone to take the question to the fields and the forest, and this indicates the site of knowledge, where knowledge is to be found. Questions of the kind stated before – how to find hope, whether we need for words or action, or how to be part of the earth's healing and love – are spiritual questions that the individual has to find their personal answers; "What can I do?" or "How can I contribute, given my skills, my questions, the place where I am?" are question that include a practical dimension of trying out and finding your way. Therefore, the instruction at the end of the workshop "to be in silence and take the question to the field and the forest" indicates that these are personal questions, they concern everyone's personal engagement, and they are based on emotional, existential and ethical aspects. And to be in silence is different from simply being silent (as when someone asks you to shut up for a moment) because being in silence is a conscious choice of being in the moment and giving space for something new emerge.

The aim of these practices is to find ways to talk about the deeper questions, such as what can we expect of living in times of climate change? How can humans live in respect and coexistence with other species? There is a focus on questions rather than answers, and this is perhaps a sign of the time, the feeling of living in uncertain times, or "the early days". To realise the reality of climate change is to admit that we do not really know what it would be like to live with the ongoing consequences of increasing temperatures or loss of biodiversity.

_

⁵⁸⁸ Sennett 2013:19. The classic conversation models differ between dialectical and dialogical conversations. Dialectics is the verbal play of opposites which gradually build up to a synthesis. Dialectics starts in Aristotle's observation in *Politics* that "though we may use the same words, we cannot say that we are speaking of the same things".

What is at the core here is a negotiation of ecological awareness, and I avoid describing this as becoming ecologically aware, because 'becoming aware' might mislead us to see this as a simple step towards awareness. Timothy Morton distinguishes ecological awareness from the rationalist notion of knowledge of an outer world, instead eco-gnosis has the form of a loop, it is a "hermeneutical knowingness"589 which is more like a form of attunement which is "necessarily weird". 590 As Morton sets out in a philosophical perspective, he aims to dig deep in the "layers of attunement to ecological reality more accurate that what is habitual in the media, in the academy and in society at large."591 He compares this with the not yet known, the first step of attunement has to be to formulate and pose questions, even questions that may seem "weird". Despite Morton's philosophical approach, and I think this relevant in relation to the workshops I have studied. In the process of negotiating ecological awareness, questions are more urgent than asking for direct answers, because at this stage there are no fixed answers at hand. The effort to formulate questions is a tentative process, far from offering definitive statements, and while it may have its point of departure in dissolution, this is not the end of the process. Questions are central in any knowledge process; however, reflection differs from knowledge that starts with ignorance and ends with certainty. The reflective process starts with ignorance, perhaps confusion or dissolution (or emotional aspects, such as grief) and the outcome may even be uncertainty. In other words, reflection is both emotional and existential, and it concerns coming to terms with living in times of climate change as an environmental, cultural and political phenomenon that reshapes the way we think about ourselves, our societies and the place of humanity on Earth, ⁵⁹² and it might lead to 'the deep' question, of which values we pose at the core of the ecological ethos. To sum up, there are two aspects converging here: (i) how climate change, or any form of environmental degradation, can be a personal and painful reality, and that it is forcing us to face really difficult questions, and (ii) the ambition to find ways to reflect on and communicate these questions. These two aspects, the painful reality of the ecological crisis and the ambition to reflect and communicate this, converge in the negotiation of ecological awareness.

4.1.3 Being in Silence – Skills and Spirituality

Silence was a distinctive part of *Take Your Question to the Field and the Forest*. The workshop opens with silence and ends in the instruction "to be in silence and take the question to the field and the forest". Being in silence is a distinctive feature

⁵⁸⁹ Morton 2015:2.

⁵⁹⁰ Morton 2015:2.

⁵⁹¹ Morton 2015:2.

⁵⁹² Hulme 2009: xxviii.

not only of this workshop; as will be seen further on, it is part of many of the reflective practices that I explore. It should be noted: in these practices being in silence is not seen as the counterpart to communication, rather it is a communicational skill that needs practice to perform with refinement. The simple model of communication is to bring out the message; one party sends a message, the other receives it. Speech and language are the dominant media here. This model of communication establishes a hierarchal power relation between speaker and listener. In simple terms, to be talking *to* someone differs from talking *with* someone; talking to someone is a one-way relation, talking with is a reciprocal relation. In this thesis, it is talking-with communication that is of interest, and it requires distinctive social skills. Communication requires skills, and Sennett notes that usually when we talk about these skills, the focus is on making a clear presentation, and to present what we think or feel.⁵⁹³

Skills are indeed required to do so, but these are declarative in character. Listening well requires a different set of skills, those of closely attending to and interpreting what others say before responding, making sense of their gestures and silences as well as declarations.⁵⁹⁴

Sennett proposes a different set of skills, and one of the skills required for communication is to listen but listening is not only relevant for the receptive part of the communication. The various forms of silence which are part of the reflective work can also be described as spiritual practices, for example the role of silence in meditation is a recognisable spiritual practice. Such spiritual practices are important here because they offer models for coping and working with emotions and existential and ethical matters. The value of spirituality is not that spirituality in a magical sense makes all the hardships disappear, but that one can handle and cope with the challenges.

"Silence is where we learn to listen" one participant said, and to allow silence to be a part of conversation means that the dichotomy between speech and silence is rejected. *The value of silence* is a central feature here, and it is worth emphasising that silence is not the opposite of communication, rather a vital part of communication, or even a precondition for communication. Silence *and* listening are a vital part of these circles. Listening is, as Sennett notes, a skill that is distinctive for musicians, and silence is part of every piece of music. The role of silence as communication is worth some further reflection, especially 'being in silence' as a distinctive spiritual practice. Silence is a part of rituals; it is an element of meditation and retreats in various faith traditions that often include periods of silence of various duration. The novelist Sara Maitland writes in *The Book of Silence* that communication for most of us, most of the time means talk. "Communication'

⁵⁹³ Sennett 2013:14.

⁵⁹⁴ Sennett 2013:14.

(which always means talk) is the *sine qua non* of 'good relationships'."⁵⁹⁵ The value of silence might be summed up in the words of the avant-garde musician Captain Beefheart "May the Baby Jesus shut your mouth and open your mind." Indeed, silence can be mind-bending, and the art of listening is fundamental to any real communication, or deeper understanding. Listening goes beyond the demands of sheer good conversational manners. The political scientist Andrew Dobson puts listening at the heart of green politics, as the politics of listening. Dobson claims that listening attentively to one another is part and parcel of what it is to deliberate together.⁵⁹⁶ I will continue to discuss silence and listening in relation to sacred places (Wistman's Wood) in chapter 5.

4.2 Practices and Place – Working with the Woods and the Larger-than-Human World

In the following section I introduce two workshops which take place in nature, I call the first *The Difference between Comfort and Shelter*, and the second is *Finding the Tree who is Calling You*, which is a title that the facilitator gave the workshop. What is characteristic here is that both take place in nature, or more precisely, in the forest. The first is a sharing circle where the discussion of living in times of climate change takes place outdoors and where the weather can be said to contribute to the design of the workshop. The second, *Finding the Tree who is Calling You*, is a more playful workshop, which works to elaborate ways of relating to the larger-than-human world, and more precisely to trees.

4.2.1 The Difference Between Comfort and Shelter

The first of these workshops is *The Difference Between Comfort and Shelter* and I first give an account of it and then discuss and analyse it in relation to place and the context of the contemporary environmental discourse. It was a day in June, and the sun disappeared behind the clouds from time to time.⁵⁹⁷ We had gathered in the forest to participate in a workshop and to have a conversation on the challenges of climate change. The wind was hard and was shaking the trees above us, and those who did not bring an extra sweater regretted it after a while, as it was quite a chilly day. As the group formed a circle, no one could neglect the change of weather: the sun had disappeared, the wind blew even harder, the temperature was falling, and soon small drops of rain began to fall. Still, the workshop continued for a while, but

⁵⁹⁵ Maitland 2009:3.

⁵⁹⁶ Dobson 2014:3.

⁵⁹⁷ Field notes 2014.

as the rain intensified, we decided to seek protection in a small shelter not far from the place where we had gathered. The shelter was a simple roof, there were no walls, and it was quite small; we had to get close to make space for everyone under the roof, and it took several rearrangements before everyone could come in. Many were wet from the rain and not dressed for the occasion, and they were shivering with cold by now. Someone with a practical sense suggested we should make a fire in the fireplace in the midst of the shelter. To make a fire we needed wood and two persons volunteered to go out and find some. When they came back under the roof of the shelter their clothes were soaking wet, but a warming fire was soon lit in the midst of the circle, and outside the rain was pouring down by now. As there was tea prepared by the facilitators for the workshop break, we were soon able to have a warming cup of tea and some biscuits.

Sitting safe in the shelter, the conversation that had been interrupted soon began again, but somehow everything had changed now. The easy-going-summer-day conditions at the beginning of the workshop were gone. We all recognised the strange coincidence that we, in the middle of a conversation on climate change, had to seek shelter from the heavy rain. Someone made a joke about it: "It is like the weather gods want to say something", as if they wanted to participate in the conversation, and give us a lesson on what were to expect in times of climate change. Jokes are never "just jokes". Indeed, it seemed like a new participant had been invited into the circle. Call it the weather gods. The change of scene brought with it a turn in the conversation; if it had been a group of engaged people before, eager to participate in discussion, we were now a group, sitting really close together in a shelter, where we need to find space for each other, trying to keep warm, grateful for the small shelter that gave us protection, the fire, tea and biscuits. We were stuck in the shelter until the heavy rain would stop. Indeed, the working of the weather gods was beyond our control. The point of departure for our conversation had changed from simply trying to imagine possible futures to an experience of how the rapidly weather conditions could change, and how vulnerable humans were in encountering nature. One participant said.

In our culture we have forgotten the difference between shelter and comfort. We have got used to finding comfort, but what we really need is shelter.⁵⁹⁸

The difference between shelter and comfort was an adequate distinction for our situation, and the person who spoke called our present situation "mildly uncomfortable". This difference between comfort and shelter is one way of expressing the changes that are expected to follow with climate change and the increasing pressure on the earth's resources. The difference between comfort and shelter can be understood in relation to nature: Comfort means being safe *from* nature, whilst shelter is to be found *in* nature. Although the challenges that were part

_

⁵⁹⁸ Field notes 2014.

of this workshop were mild compared to the experiences that people have to face living through hurricanes, forest fires and flooding, the point is how improvisations, cooperation and adjusting to new conditions became a distinctive part of the workshop.

This workshop is a further example of a reflective practice, and it illustrates the importance of *place* in relation to these practices. Initially the workshop was spontaneously moved from the seminar room indoors to the forest outside the college, and later the group had to seek protection from the rain in the shelter. Something happened in the change of place, because it also meant a change of conditions: the conversation took a different direction when the group sat around the fire in a shelter than if it had taken place in the comfort of the classroom. The change of weather and place transformed the workshop from a simple conversation to a practical task of finding shelter from the rain. A further feature to note here is the context of environmental discourse, because despite the direct experience of shifting weather conditions, and the mentioning of the weather gods, the conversation was very much influenced by contemporary discourse on the consequences of climate change and the changes it will have for the way we live. The conversation among the participants offered many reflections and these can be summed up as "the end of things taken for granted", 599 and the importance of learning to live with uncertainty.

Uncertainty was discussed in negotiating ecological awareness previously, and uncertainty is an epistemological concept, as seen in the not-knowing-yet of ecognosis. But uncertainty includes an existential dimension and what it means to live with uncertainty, which is part of reflections on how to live in changing times. In the workshop the conversation concerned more concrete matters such as what changes of society are to be expected, for example in relation to economy. One participant referred to Vinay Gupta, an environmental activist, according to whom "Collapse means we have to live under the same conditions as the people that grow our coffee".600 To picture these expected changes in terms of "the end" or as a "collapse" is part of the context of an environmental discourse where the industrial civilisation is questioned. This context of environmental discourse is rooted in radical environmentalism and collapse or peak theories that portray the societal changes in relation to climate change as being in a decline and headed towards a collapse. Names that are often mentioned as an inspiration or references are the American intellectual historian and peak theorist John Michael Greer (aka the Archdruid) as well as Derek Jensen. It would, however, be misleading to simply see

-

⁵⁹⁹ Field notes 2014.

⁶⁰⁰ Field notes 2014. The participant referred this quotation to Vinay Gupta, founder of the Institute for Collapsonomics, see further http://collapsonomics.org/ accessed 27 November 2015. Collapsonomics is the study of economic and state systems at the edge of their normal social and economic function, including preventative measures to avoid destructive feedback loops and vicious cycles. The Institute for Collapsonomics is a consulting practice based on the scientific and historical understanding of collapse conditions, and responses to them.

participants as followers of some sort of radical environmentalism, because their attitude to these ideas varies; some see these thinkers as sources of inspiration, while others have a more critical stance, hence there is range of attitudes from agreement to disagreement. Yet, to discuss these ideas or read these books is part of a reflective work where individual participants can develop their own path. The participants that I have been in conversation with are not just well informed on scientific reports on climate change (as discussed in previous chapters) but are likewise generally well informed on debates on environmental matters; they are familiar with the ideas. work and writings of public persons, they read books and articles and websites and other media resources. Participants often share articles, books, internet resources, and give each other tips on titles or other interesting stuff to read. In this aspect, it is an intellectual milieu, and an ongoing discussion that is part of the social interaction of everyday life, and in this way, participants constantly seek new knowledge (and sometimes disagree and reject it), and this concerns both theoretical and practical knowledge. In this workshop the discussion took a new direction as a result of the shifting weather conditions and the need to seek shelter from the rain. This meant a change of place and conditions, but it likewise changed the conversation about the changes to come as they suddenly became real. Therefore, this workshop illustrates how the negotiation of ecological awareness is an ongoing process of adjusting to changing conditions. Ecological awareness is related both to the practical effort and to the intellectual context of environmental discourse.

The workshops I discuss in this section take place in nature. It may be in a forest, like the workshop just discussed. Although they take place in nature, nature is not simply a stage or décor, in a passive sense. On the contrary, the interactions of the participants of this workshop concern how they interact with nature; the wind that gets colder, the rain falling, the fire that offers some warmth to the group gathered in the small shelter, the movements of clouds and the wind in the branches. Taken together, this contributes to the workshop, not only in adding something to the experience, but more so, the workshop was remodelled as a response to these conditions, and it transformed the conversation, inviting other voices into the conversation as "the weather gods wanted to say something". Indeed, looking at trees torn by the wind, seeking shelter from the rain, just like sitting close with each other by the fireside in conversation may be seen as an archaic human experience, and it may challenge our notion of being modern man, just as much as Latour's anthropology. The change of conversation that occurred as a consequence, in interaction with, or perhaps in conversation with "the weather gods", illustrates Bennett's notion of how resisting the story of the disenchantment⁶⁰¹ can enhance enchantment, and how the negotiations of ecological awareness may go hand in hand with cultivating enchantment. I discuss this further in the next workshop Finding the Tree that is Calling You, which likewise takes place in the forest, and where trees play a special role.

⁶⁰¹ Bennett 2001:4

4.2.3 Finding the Tree that is Calling You

Finding the Tree that is Calling You is a workshop which was offered by a young Chinese woman Qian who presents herself as "a tree hugger". Qian says that she is aiming for a gentler form of tree-hugging, because she is not after confrontation in direct action which aims at protecting trees from being cut down. Oian has chosen to work with trees in this way because she thinks that we need to learn to "grow like trees, not like skyscrapers". 602 The workshop Finding the Tree that is Calling You took place in the redwood forest outside Dartington, and the College, and on this occasion there were six persons participating (myself included, not counting Qian who was leading the workshop). 603 At the beginning the group was split into pairs, so that there were three pairs, and each pair worked together. The workshop opened with a silent circle as the participants stood in a circle for a few minutes' attunement, but silence was kept during the whole session. Then each pair would take a scarf, and one of the persons in the pair had to cover his/her eyes and the other had to take the blinded companion by the hand and lead him/her to a tree. This tree was supposed to be a tree that in some way could be seen as symbolising this person. The blindfolded person would touch and feel the tree but would not take off the scarf to see it. After some minutes, the person was led back to the starting point and the couple changed positions. Now the person that first led the other would be blindfolded and led to a tree.

When each person in the pair had been given a tree, the next step was to try to find it again, now without the blindfold. The person that led you to the tree would not show you which of the trees it was. The only conversation allowed is to ask if this is the right tree. When the person finds the tree, maybe because he/she remembers how the trunk felt or identified some other marks that made it recognisable, the pair changes again, and the second one will try to find his/her tree. When everyone had found their tree, the whole group walked together to each of the given trees, and the one who gave the tree tells why this particular tree was given to this particular person. The workshop was closed with a circle where everyone gave a short reflection on his or her experiences of the practice (the practice of circles has been discussed in the previous chapter). Again, there is of course no model for how this practice is to be experienced by the participants, but six different stories. I will come back to this later, but first I discuss how these workshops are created. Qian, who led this workshop, had designed it according to her ambition to work in a "softer approach". I describe it as a rather playful workshop, and it can be seen to consist of two parts. First, the group splits into pairs, and the people in the pair alternate to lead and be led to their personal tree, the tree that is calling you. In the second part the group reunites in the closing circle, and everyone can share their views. The initial part of finding the trees can be seen as innovative, but the closing

⁶⁰² Field notes 2013.

⁶⁰³ Among the seven participants in the workshop, three had experience of direct action in various forms.

of the session in the sharing circle is a common practice that features in many versions in various workshops (as I have already given some examples of).

Among the comments in the closing circle of this workshop, it was the playfulness that many appreciated, it was "really a lot of fun". 604 Play is a practice that includes both joy and sorrow; play is where children, as well as adults, may work with emotions, experimentations as well as enchantments. Playfulness is not to be mistaken for being the opposite of serious. 605 Richard Jenkins notes that many enchantments "are rooted in a desire or playfulness, however one might define either of those apparently human impulses."606 From my own experience of participation, I would describe Finding the Tree that is Calling You as an experiment in how we relate to each other, to trees, and the larger-than-human world, with all our senses, and the instrument to relate to this is our body. Being blindfolded and led through a forest by a person, and holding on to someone's hand, means that you must trust that person, because walking in a forest, where the ground may be slippery and irregular (not like a plain floor) which is not easy to tread, being blindfolded. This means that you must depend on your guide to find your way. In order to find the tree again you need to listen to your intuition, your ability to orientate yourself, and recall the sensory input and the particular marks on the tree you were given: How did the trunk feel to your fingertips as you touched it? How did it smell? How did it sound as the wind was passing through the leaves and branches? Could you guess what kind of tree it was just from this information? Was it a redwood tree, or an oak tree?

This led to further question such as: what senses guide us in our encounters with the world? The workshop explores our sensory receptivity and stimulates reflection on how we relate to our reality; what senses do we listen to, or perhaps fail to listen to, or forget that we have? In the sharing circle that closed this workshop, several voices noted how difficult it was to orientate yourself, being blindfolded, and how much we relied on seeing things in our approach to the world. Sight, the visual sense, is a dominant sensory input, and therefore being blindfolded forces you to listen to other senses. It means *a shift of sensibility*, and it includes senses and abilities that we forgot that we had and exploring these is a vital part of coming to know the wild mind. The wild mind is beyond the rationalistic observation that distances you from the world; thus, the wild mind means listening to what the eco-psychologist Dave Abram calls the spell of the sensuous. 607 The wild mind interacts and participates in a most intimate manner, and it is an invitation to an encounter, which according to Bennettis in the heart of enchantment. 608 Such enchanting encounters are something

⁶⁰⁴ Field notes 2013.

⁶⁰⁵ Droogers 2004.

⁶⁰⁶ Jenkins, R. 2000:18.

⁶⁰⁷ Abram 1997.

⁶⁰⁸ Bennett 2001:4.

unexpected that "hits us",⁶⁰⁹ but as Bennett notes, it can also be fostered through deliberate strategies. Thus, fostering enchantment, through deliberate strategies, is something that can be done in workshops such as *Finding the Tree that is Calling You*, and it is in line with what I refer to as cultivating enchantment.

4.2.5 Trees Representing the Larger-than-Human World

Louis, one participant in this workshop, told how being blindfolded and led to a tree made him sense the tree differently. Usually, he would look *up* at the trees, to the branches and leaves, looking up to the sky above, but as he was touching the trunk, and was unable to see, he suddenly could feel the whole tree, the parts hidden underground. How "the roots of the trees reached as deep in the ground as the branches into the sky". Louis says he realised that he had "only known half the tree before" that is, the part "visible above ground". As he explored the tree with his fingertips and hands, holding the trunk, he sensed that "it was alive and growing" and how firmly it was rooted in the ground. He sums up: "Trees are living beings as we are." In encountering the tree, he sensed its earthliness, he sensed what it meant to be rooted. For Louis using other senses than vision, meant a new perception. Being blindfolded he no longer looked *up at the sky*, to the leaves and the branches, instead he was feeling the roots of the tree *going deep into the ground*.

The experience of a *new* sense *of place*, transcending the place as an area, or simply the surface *on* the ground resonates with Tim Ingold's phenomenological approach, as Ingold draws a distinction between the Globe and the sphere. We see the earth as a globe, living on the surface, but really, we are living inside the sphere, according to Ingold. The shift of perception that Louis describes can be seen as a shift from a globe-surface (where the part underneath the surface is hidden) to a sphere where the inside includes the whole tree. For Louis, being blindfolded meant that he could sense the otherwise invisible parts of the tree, the roots hidden in the ground underneath our feet, and it is, in a rather concrete way, a deep experience, going "deep" underground. Louis' account is an *encounter* with the whole tree, which made him realise that he previously had known only half of the tree, the part "visible above ground". What is happening here can be described as an altered sense of place, transcending the common ground, and exploring the invisible, the things unseen by everyday senses. In a way it was an experience of turning the world upside down.

Despite the playful approach in *Finding the Tree that is Calling You*, which has a ring of a fairytale festivity, it is significant that the practices in this workshop are very much in tune with modern scientific and philosophical conceptions of trees. The plant scholar Peter Wohlleben has found how trees are able to communicate

⁶⁰⁹ Bennett 2001:4.

⁶¹⁰ Ingold 2000.

through their roots in the wood-wide-web, and the philosopher Martin Hall argues against the zoocentrism that has prevailed in Western intellectual history.⁶¹¹ Hall argues that plants should be consider as persons.

These new results from plant science and philosophy are compatible with the mythic and folkloric understanding of trees and plants, and together these constitute a modern form of tree lore that I discuss further on. I think it is justified to say that there is an animistic approach to trees in this workshop. In this workshop trees are not simply objects to be protected, they are rather companions, able to offer consultation and wisdom. The title of the workshop - Finding the Tree that is Calling You – tells us that it is the trees who are calling us, and that we can find the one that calls us if we learn to listen with other senses than those which dominate our everyday way of sensing and seeing things. This aims beyond the rationalistic mindset of Western intellectual tradition. Although the workshop takes place in the forest, it differs from the environmental activist work of protecting forests when bulldozers and tree-cutters want to get their work done or participating in tree planting projects. The workshop elaborates ways of relating to the trees, which *invite* trees, representing the larger-than-human world, and enable the exploration of a new relationship and new form of engagement. In trying out new ways of sensing and experiencing the world where the human and the larger-than-human world interact, this workshop concerns negotiating ecological awareness which very much has the character of trying out, and experimenting with senses, bodies and play.

4.3. Working with Geological and Global Perspectives

In this section I give an account of two workshops, The Deep Time Walk and The Earth Meditation, both practices which took place along the coast in the Devonian landscape. Just like the workshops previously discussed (The Difference Between Comfort and Shelter and Finding the Tree that is Calling You), these are practices where the place and the landscape play a vital role in the design and the performance of the workshop, but they also include perspectives from the geological range of deep time, and the global perspectives on Earth, and these are workshops that pay attention to the body and body-as-place.

⁶¹¹ Wohlleben 2016 Wohlleben's book The Hidden Life of Trees: What They Feel, How They Communicate became a bestseller, and it has received much attention in the media, Hall 2011.

4.3.1 The Deep Time Walk

Devon means deep, 612 and it makes sense to anyone who sees the rolling downs of the Devonian landscape, which is characterised by high hills and deep valleys, but in the context of the green movement the topography of the deep landscape becomes far more multifaceted. The etymology of Devon is the Celtic word dubnos meaning 'deep'. Deep ecology is an ideological and inspirational bedrock for the ecological movement, and of course, any mention of deep has a ring of this, reminding of the philosophy of Arne Næss. 'Deep' also figures in deep time, which is a further important source of inspiration here. As noted previously, 'deep' is a word with positive connotation, frequently used as a positive attribute; for example, in deep questioning, deep feeling, deep connection, and deep time is a further example. When I discuss "deep time" it is related to various reflective practices and workshops, and *The Deep Time Walk* is an example of this. Before introducing the walk, I present the concept of 'deep time', which is rooted in challenges to the biblical narrative. The Scottish geologist James Hutton (1726–1797) observed deep stratigraphy clearly exposed in the strata of Scottish sea-cliffs, and he concluded that the Earth was 4.5 billion years old, much older than Bishop James Ussher's proposal that it had been created in 4004 BC. Hutton introduced the perspective of geological time, and two centuries later, John McPhee modified it to deep time in 1981.⁶¹³ This is a scientific challenge to the Christian creation narrative, but deep time also resonates with indigenous cosmologies such as Dreamtime. Deep time reaches back in a long-term geological perspective and illustrates that "the span of humanity within this long-term history of earth is relatively short."614 Deep time is in contrast to clock time, the short and human-centred perspective of modern man. After this clarification of deep time, I will set off on a deep time walk, a walk through the landscape that illustrates the intersection between long-term geological and relatively short historical processes of humanity.

In one sense, *The Deep Time Walk* concerns how stories relate to places and landscapes, and it shares this feature with other practices that will be discussed further on. In this walk, the story told is the geo-history of the landscape that goes far back in the deep time span of evolution, beyond the clock time of modern history to the vastness of geological eras. *The Deep Time Walk* extends the larger-than-human world, which is not only restricted to animals and plants, but also includes biological lifeforms such bacteria or fungi. This walk was created by Stephan Harding who is a teacher at Schumacher College and head of the holistic science

⁶¹² Field notes 2013. The name Devon derives from the Proto-Celtic word *dubnos* meaning deep (in Welsh *Dyfnaint*, Breton *Devnent* and Cornish *Dewnens*). The Dumnonii were the inhabitants of the south-west peninsula of Britain first known at the time of the Roman conquest and referring to the "deep valley dwellers". In Old English it was known as *Defenascire*, and from this comes the Latin name *Devonia*. (From www.wikipedia).

⁶¹³ McPhee 1981.

⁶¹⁴ Fredengren 2016.

program. 615 I give a short introduction to the deep time walk, which took place along the coastline in the footsteps of the Gaia theory. The walk proceeds along the pathway by the high coastline, close to the sea, ending in Dartmouth. The walk stretches three miles, and every step measures a half a million years in the geological time span. This walk turns the emergence of life on earth, which is often seen as an abstract process, into a very concrete story. During The Deep Time Walk, there are several stops and a short talk, or narrative, is given by Hardin, and this illustrates that it can be hard to distinguish between storytelling and tutorial lectures. Hardin creates a narrative of evolution, the ancient sea, the intimate life of bacteria as the origin of life, the fungus as one of the first life forms on land, and finally of the history of mankind, in a new time perspective where mankind indeed is a very small part of the whole. At the final point in Dartmouth a ruler is placed on the ground, and this covers the history of humankind. The last two hundred years, referred to as the modern world or the industrial civilisation, are two millimetres, and compared to the length of the walk that started with the big bang this sets modern civilisation in a time perspective. The actual walk reaches across the geological space of time and the evolution of life on Earth.

After the walk, some of the participants shared their reflections. Sue expressed how *The Deep Time Walk* made her realise that the process of evolution "took place here". The walk made her feel part of the evolution that actually took place at the coastline in Devon, and that the rocks, the sea, and landscape – as well as herself – were part of this still ongoing process. Sue says that the walk made her sense how her body was carrying memories from once being part of the life forms in the ancient sea where life first emerged. Sue said that after the walk her body felt a little bit tired, and this gave her an intense feeling that she had been part of a very long journey. The sense of shifting perspectives is also part of the final part of the walk, Sue said:

The finale in Dartmouth when he places a ruler on the ground. That was like, wow! You know, after that long walk, you felt that how small a part it really was. What a small part our history is, compared to the long walk. The last two hundred years is only two millimetres!

These accounts from *The Deep Time Walk* concern the new ways of thinking about the relationships with the material world, and other species, it can be said to boil down to the question of how we should think about our relationship to other species and landscapes when we share so much of our lives, even our very cells and selves, with them. Some of these reflections on this practice were formulated in more spiritual terms; for example one, of the participants said the walk helped to "open a spiritual channel", which he/she had long felt was broken, and the walk made

_

⁶¹⁵ See also Harding 2009.

him/her "connect to Gaia".⁶¹⁶ Yet another participant summed up the walk with one word, "Wholeness". These reactions to *The Deep Time Walk* are yet other examples of enchanting encounters, but the term 'deep time enchantment' is even more precise here. 'Deep time enchantment 'refers to how such encounters can create energising, enchanting effects, what Christina Fredengren describes as "near-religious or spiritual experiences – both in the past and the present." Dipesh Chakrabarty⁶¹⁸ stresses the need to question the barriers between histories of geological deep time, natural history and that of the human in order to understand both our situatedness and our responsibilities in the contemporary world with its climate and environmental problems. I find *The Deep Time Walk* to be a practice that share this ambition, as it turns the theoretical discussion of questioning the barriers between human and natural histories of geological deep time, into a practice where otherwise abstract matters become a lived experience.

4.3.2 The Earth Meditation

In this section I present a meditation practice *The Earth Meditation*, that was part of the Deep Time Walk. This workshop turns the emergence of life on earth, which often is seen as a somewhat abstract process, into a very concrete story. I come back to this later on, but here I primarily focus on the relation between the earth and the body. The actual walk illustrates the space-time of the evolution of life. *The Deep* Time Walk includes a longer stop at the place that would mark the point where the planet Earth first emerged, and at this place there is a meditative practice where the participants lie down on the ground, with their head to the north and feet to the south, and arms reaching out so that the body stretches in the four cardinal directions.⁶¹⁹ In this Harding gives a guided meditation in which participants are asked to feel their body and how they are lying on the Earth. In the next steep of the meditation participants are asked to imagine how their body reaches out, and how lines stretch to in the four cardinal points, reaching across the continents and the Atlantic. From the head a line reaches up through Britain and Scotland as far as the Arctic. I would say that this resonates with the medieval model of the micro-macro cosmic man well-known from Leonardo da Vinci's famous illustration, however, if Leonardo's version places man at the centre of the world, it is in this sense a human-centred image, the Deep Time meditation rather poses the individual in relation to the world, and humans in relation to the larger-than-human world. After the meditation there is a short sharing circle where the group gathers and if someone wants to share their

⁶¹⁶ Fieldnotes 2013.

⁶¹⁷ Fredengren 2016.

⁶¹⁸ Chakrabarty 2009:213-20.

⁶¹⁹ Field notes 2013, 2014.

experience or simply say something, it is possible to do so before the walk continues. This is a common practice for closing a circle or a meditation.

After the walk, I had a conversation with Kimberly, who said that the meditation really gave her a deep experience of being a part of the Earth, in a very physical sense. Kimberly says that maybe it was because the meditation took place in field close to the high coast, and she felt some fear of heights, that "the feeling of being held by the Earth was so strong, almost physical". She says that while she had that feeling of the whole earth and how she was a part of the Earth, she intensely sensed being bodily connected to Mother Earth. She says that she realises that although this feeling was new to her, the Earth had always known it.

The Earth has always known that I am a part of it. It was me who was the problem; I was the one I who had not understood this before. But Mother Earth had always known that I was a part of her. A part of her body. Because the Earth is so much older and wiser. 620

Thus, the wisdom of Mother Earth is ancient and Kimberly's insight of being part of Mother Earth is almost like a recollection. There is an identification between the personal body and the body of Mother Earth in Kimberly's account. The identification and intimate relation between the Earth and the individual body is seen in the shared bodily memory. In a sense, it comes with saying that what we describe as Gaian Mother Earth spirituality often identifies the earth with the body of Mother Earth, and Hulme finds the planet as a body to be one of three "master metaphors" in reports on climate change (the other two are the planet as a machine, and the planet as a patient). However, as seen in *The Earth Mediation*, there is a further identification than the one between body of Mother Earth and the earth or the planet Earth, and that is the one between the individual's personal body and the body of Mother Earth. Kimberly's account sheds light on this identification between the individual's body and the body of the Earth or Mother Earth. The body and the Earth, which she refers to as Mother Earth, is central here, but so is the actual place where the meditation was performed.

4.3.3 Bodies-as-Places

The Deep Time Walk and The Deep Time Meditation took place in Devon, just outside Dartmouth, close to the high coast facing the Atlantic Sea. It is a specific place: it is located by the walk, and by the site where the meditation took place, and more so, by the individual bodies of the participants. But it also extends this site as being part of the Earth, as the body-and-Earth relation is drawn out in the lines reaching out to the south and north, east and west, as an extension of the limbs,

⁶²⁰ Field notes 2013.

⁶²¹ Hulme 2014:18.

extending to embrace the whole Earth. What specific place is this? Is it the site on the south-west coast of England, or is it the Earth? This raises the question, what counts as a place? It can be everything between a certain part of my house, or the entire planet Earth. 'Place' just like 'space', is a geographical concept, but they are not synonyms. Place entails spatial location, entails a spatial container of some sort. The eco-critic Lawrence Buell emphasises that in theorising about place "confronting its fragility" is necessary. ⁶²² He claims that we have the capacity to imagine earth holistically and modernisation has shrunk the planet to the point that it is starting to seem possible to think of "global culture" or "global citizenship". ⁶²³ In times of globalisation, the far places on the other side of the globe are within reach by flight, although the Earth does not appear to us as it was seen on the famous *Earthrise* picture: as a distant blue marble, a planet in the vast space, or a globe. True, the astronaut saw it like that as he took the photo, but the most of us will never have this experience. How can anyone experience the Earth as a place?

For Kimberly, the meditation gave her a sense of being part of the Earth, sensing how she was held by Mother Earth, and the sensation of being held by the Earth was so strong, almost physical. She describes the physical experience of lying on the grass, with limbs stretched out, and imagining how they reach out in the cardinal directions. For Kimberly the experience of being held was intensified by her fear of heights. What Kimberly pictures is not a vision of the whole earth, like a transcendental or dream-like experience, seeing the planet at a distance; it is a physical and bodily experience, which is both emotional and sensual. Her sensual experience of being held is related to the actual place where she was lying on the grass, close to the high coastline. To analyse this, it is useful to return to the concepts of body and place. The post-modern understanding of place and bodies, following Buell, proposes an understanding of place-making as a culturally inflected process in which nature and culture must be seen as mutual rather than separate domains. 624 Edward Casey the leading American phenomenologist of place, introduces the concept of "bodies-as-places". 625 Rather than approaching place in the traditional sense, seeing place as place-attachment, the focus is on situatedness and social contextualisation. Thus, questions of physical embeddedness are closely related to "bodies-as-places" rather than emplacement within the physical environment, 626 and here Casey's bodies-as-places help us to get beyond the contested notion of 'environment' that rests upon the nature/culture distinction. 627 In Kimberly's account the body-as-place forms a node of her body's localisation, and her

⁶²² Buell 2005:62.

⁶²³ Buell 2005:68.

⁶²⁴ Buell 2005:67.

⁶²⁵ Casey 1997:323 and Casey 1997:285-330.

⁶²⁶ Casey 1997:323 and Casey 1997:285-330.

⁶²⁷ The critical discussion of the term 'environment' stresses the problem of seeing the environment as something outside and separated from us.

psychosomatic modes, the fear of the high coast and the sense of being held by Mother Earth.

4.3.4 Earth and Body

So far I have discussed the physical living body in relation to place and to Earth, but the body is also used metaphorically, as noted by Hulme; the planet as a body is one of the master metaphors in climate change discourse (besides the machine and the patient). The theologian Sallie McFague contrasts the body with the machine, and what she sees in scholarly discussion today is that the "body" is reemerging across many fields of study as a basic metaphor for interpretation and action.

The metaphor of body – not just the human body but all bodies (all matter) – is a radically egalitarian measure of the good life: if claims that all deserve the basics (food, habitat, clean air and water, and so forth). 630

Living bodies are not exclusively human bodies and the relation to the larger-thanhuman world is central. The Earth as body may be contrasted with the machine, but there is a third master metaphor in climate change discourse, according to Hulme, and that is the metaphor of the planet as a patient, and this indicates the emergency of the state of the world, and it draws attention the need for healing in our relation to the planet. In one sense, to experience the whole Earth is beyond our possible perception, because it is beyond our scale. We are simply too small. So, how can we have the kind of encounter with the earth that can lead to enchantment? I find the concept of place-as-bodies to be helpful as it is a sensorial relation, and it can overcome the difficulties with the conception of the Earth as a planet, that even in times of globalisation is beyond reach for our immediate perception or encounter. The emic vocabulary of being held by Mother Earth voices an encounter where the earth as the body of Mother Earth is an effort to bridge the gap. From a theoretical perspective, the encounter with the Earth becomes more intelligible in terms of 'places-as-bodies', especially as bodies are not restricted to human bodies. Hence, the Earth can be metaphorically pictured as a nest for the larger-than-human world. The larger-than-human world can be represented in various life forms. Conclusively, the workshop *Earth Meditation* illustrates the relation between the body, body-as-place and the Earth, and how the Earth represents the larger-thanhuman world, and it is similar to Finding the Tree that is Calling You, where trees and the forest have this role of representing the larger-than-human world.

⁶²⁸ Hulme 2014:18.

⁶²⁹ For examples of the machine as a metaphor see Boyle 2015.

⁶³⁰ McFague 2014:227. Italics added.

4.4 Practices – Everyday Life and Work

In this section I will add some further examples of practices; here it is the practices of everyday life and work that will be in focus. These differ from the practices that are performed in various workshops, because they are part of everyday life. The persons in these accounts tell of their everyday life, the first story relating to the place where we live, which is part of our everyday life.

4.4.1 Places with the Power to Enchant

Going to the countryside in various forms is a theme of this thesis. Aanya is a woman living in central London, with a busy career, she could be described as a young urban professional with an ecological consciousness working with international aid projects and fundraising. 631 For her, the journey to Devon took her from a cosmopolitan city to the English countryside and Schumacher College. In her work she often travels globally, and she can be described as a living a cosmopolitan life, moving between continents. Travel has always been a part of her life: Anaya's parents came to the UK as immigrants, and her mother was then four months pregnant with her, so she travelled even before she was born. At present Aanya is living in an apartment in London. She admits that living in central London in the midst of a metropolis gives rise to a lot of stress and discomfort sometimes, but what makes it bearable is that her apartment looks over Hyde Park. The Park is visible from her windows (she has a view over the trees, and as her flat is on the third floor she can see straight into the branches and the greenery) and this is something that she values a lot. As she says, "Without those trees I would never manage to live in London at all." She goes for occasional walks in the park, but what she appreciates is not just the closeness to the park, but also that the view from her window, overlooking the park, which gives her tranquillity and turns her apartment to a place where she can come to rest and settle. She has found a place where she can feel at home in the world, and because of the view from her window facing the trees she can connect with the changing seasons. In a long-term perspective, Anaya's ambition is to leave London and settle in the countryside, but for now, the flat overlooking Hyde Park is her home. Anaya emphasises that without those trees she would not manage to live in London, and that is certainly a strong statement; these trees have a great value for her. The park offers a green space in an urban context; in her case the trees in the park outside her windows and the view of the trees turns her rooms into a place where she can connect to nature, in contrast to the stress of modern city life; thus, the trees help her to cope. Rather than looking at the trees through the window, the trees offer a window through which she can see further than the urban environment and see the shifting colours in the seasons of the year.

⁶³¹ Field notes 2014.

This window metaphor should not be taken to indicate a form of transcendentalism, looking beyond the reality of everyday life; on the contrary, the feeling that Anaya emphasises is being at home.

Hvde Park is in central London. This place is significant in Anaya's life, it is a source of relaxation and contemplation in a stressful life, a place to come home to, but more so, it is a site that has a transformative power. Jane Bennett tells the story of a contemporary world sprinkled with natural and cultural sites that has the power to "enchant". 632 Can the park near Anaya's house in central London be such a site with the power to enchant? According to Bennett, places that hold the power to enchant can be both cultural and natural sites. A park in central London is a special place; it is in one sense a cultural site, the trees are planted, and the park is carefully created and designed, and it can be compared to, for example, a church, which is a creation of architects, stoneworkers and various craftsmen. Nonetheless, it is a place that represents 'nature', and at the same time it is a natural site that consists of grass and trees. The Park is a haven of biodiversity, a created area for human leisure activities, and it is a hybrid place that challenges our notions, a place that refutes the nature/culture distinction and exemplifies what Haraway calls natureculture. In short, places with the power to enchant can be described as magical places, they may be marginal places, and they are hybrid places because they challenge the simple notion of nature/culture. They have the power to evoke and to speak to us, and in this sense, they are personal places, that is, places that an individual has a strong personal relation to, for example in their everyday life, such as Anaya's London park. These places can also be seen as places that enable encounters or where encounters take place.

4.4.2 Being Grounded

One way to study lived religion or religion as everyday practices is to look at work, because most of us spend most of our time, our everyday life, working to support themselves. In my study work can be seen as a practice. Patricia is a young woman who told me how she had been working in an orchard for a period, during the seasonal work of harvesting, but this job turned out to be different from the jobs she had done before. At first, it was just a job, and she did not have any ambition for it apart from supporting herself for a period, as it was seasonal work. She had no intention to work in agriculture; it was rather a coincidence that led her to this employment. Nonetheless, this work became a mark of change in her life, because the work in the orchard made her alter her habits compared to her previous days. Working in the orchard meant that she found herself in a different environment, it meant being outdoors, working in the open air, and being on the move all day.

⁶³² Bennett 2001:3.

⁶³³ Field notes 2014.

During the days she could feel the weather and sense the soil, smell the apples, be in touch with the seasonal shifts, and while she worked there, she realised that she loved working out in the fields. Patricia says: "I never felt so healthy in all my life" and she tells how the great change was that it made her "feel grounded". 634 From then on, Patricia's ambition has been to find a job like that, and "to stay out of computer life". 635 Patricia's experience of the orchard gave her a new aim to change her life in relation to her work and everyday life. Her experience of working outdoors in the orchard is contrasted to the "computer life" she wants to avoid from now on. The work at the orchard has inspired, and initiated, change in her life. She bears witness to the positive evaluation of the sensory experiences of fresh air, the smell of the soil or the apples, but also a psychosomatic bodily experience of being on the move all day; she refers to her improved personal health, how the work made her "feel grounded", which is a psychological value, but it also includes a spiritual vocabulary in her account. Being 'grounded' is an expression with spiritual connotations, being or feeling 'grounded', is frequently found in the vocabulary of alternative spiritualities. Although it is an expression with many nuances, 'being grounded' is desirable. I relate it to the connection between human, the personal body, and the Earth, or the place. Being grounded is a good thing, and conversely the feeling of not being grounded is often considered a problem.

One example from literature is the Canadian environmental activist Heather Menzies, who describes her experience of being at a dead end as an activist: "I wasn't grounded in real life, real people's bodies or the lived social environment." After speaking to a First Nation woman who shared their spiritual ways, Menzies understood that the connection to the ancestors and their land mattered to her as well. In returning to Scotland and the place where her ancestors had lived several hundred years ago, she found the way to ground herself. She wanted to

walk the land where my ancestral roots lay buried, not to learn details about my genealogy so much as to *ground myself* down in the gaps where other paths and ways of being in the world had been abandoned and left to die. These ways might whisper to me, I thought, maybe even speak to my troubled world.⁶³⁷

When Menzies found herself at a dead end, it was the spiritual way of the First Nation woman that inspired her to find her way to ground herself. In this discourse 'grounded', is a word with positive connotations, just like 'deep'. These words are part of a spiritual vocabulary, and not unique in this material, but the relation between being grounded and the ground is characteristic of Earth-based

⁶³⁴ Field notes 2014.

⁶³⁵ Field notes 2014.

⁶³⁶ Menzies 2014:11.

⁶³⁷ Menzies, 2014:11 italics added.

spirituality.⁶³⁸ The historian of religion Åsa Trulsson found in her study of the women in the Goddess movement that 'being grounded' is one of the most frequently used words, and one of these women said, "for me being grounded [...] also comes from the ground".⁶³⁹ Trulsson concludes that "being grounded",

albeit meaning different things to different women, is a bodily state that is perceived through somatic modes of attention brought about by the ability to perceive the body as a body in relation to other objects.⁶⁴⁰

Given the flexibility of the use of the expression of 'being grounded' it cannot be taken for granted that the women in Trulsson's study and those in mine are using 'being grounded' in exactly the same manner, nevertheless, to some extent they overlap. It is easy to agree with Trulsson who notes that these terms are extremely hard to define in terms of their actual semantic content. 641 There are, according to Trulsson, two aspects to be considered in these expressions. Firstly, these terms become salient in an intersubjective sharing about the means and ends of spirituality. They acquire a taken-for-granted quality that does not need explicit formulations and definitions. They become authorised as denotations of spirituality and spiritual experience, not by some external authority or code but by the interactional usage within the group. By invoking the concepts, the speaker is not only expressing certain things but equally legitimises these things as spiritual. Being grounded, as Trulsson notes, "marks these things as spiritual". 642 In addition, I found, being grounded gives expression to the relation to the earth which is central in Earth-based spirituality. Donna Haraway ask how is the becoming with a practice of becoming worldly?⁶⁴³ Haraway's answer is that "we learn to be worldly from grappling with, rather than generalizing from, the ordinary". 644 What Haraway calls 'becoming worldly' is something that comes from the mud rather than the sky, and resonates with the feeling of being grounded, which came from the ground, and which made Patricia feel healthier than ever as she had been working outdoors all day. She described her experience of feeling grounded as something that grew out of the work in the orchard. Thus, to be grounded do not come by itself in the form of a sudden revelation, but it emerges as part of practices and cultivation as part of everyday life.

⁶³⁸ I prefer the term Earth-based spirituality to immanence here, because the terms 'immanence' and 'transcendence' relate to the traditional discussion of religion within the study of religions.

⁶³⁹ Trulsson 2010:345. In Trulsson's study 'being grounded' comes together with 'connection', 'flow', 'presence'.

⁶⁴⁰ Trulsson 2010:345.

⁶⁴¹ Trulsson 2010:345.

⁶⁴² Trulsson 2010:345.

⁶⁴³ Haraway 2008:3.

⁶⁴⁴ Haraway 2008:3.

4.4.3 Work as Everyday Life

Patricia's work in the orchard draws our attention to the role of work as part of everyday life, and she is not the only example. Many I spoke to have expressed their ambition to work with agriculture or food production in one form or another, while others aim for craftmanship. A story involving craftmanship is that of Annie, who works as a potter, and who sees her craft working with clay as a powerful tool for relating to earth and soil and the place where she lives. Annie is in her mid-thirties and living in Devon, and for several years she had worked in a local pottery producing things that would pass as handcrafted products, which actually were made simply for tourists. She felt dissatisfied with the job, and after a day's work she felt weary. So recently she had set up her own studio. She wanted to produce handcrafted pottery with a deeper meaning, and she also wanted to be part of the whole process of production. Therefore, she now runs her own workshop, and works with local clay that she takes from a nearby place, with permission from the landowner. In this she is able to be part of the whole process of production, from the very beginning: she digs up the clay herself, takes it to her studio to craft the pottery, and finally sell it to her customers. Being part of the whole process from clay to the finished pottery relates her to the place: working with this clay, with her hands, knowing that it was part of the soil and the land, was for her a way of being a part of the landscape, and the Earth. Annie said that holding the clay in her hand she can feel the Earth. She also told how those who buy her pottery express their appreciation for the fact that these objects were made of local material. This feedback was important for her because she wanted to communicate this relation to the earth, which her work as a potter was a part of. Even though she says that she finds it hard to really put words on how she felt in working in this way, she nonetheless testified to how deeply she felt for it. The deeper meaning for her is not only the artistic quality of the products but how the clay is related to the land, and this sets the pottery in an ecological framework as well.

Apart from the skill of the craft that is required to transform the clay into useful and beautiful things we use in our everyday life, such as mugs or jugs, for Annie the process of producing pottery starts with digging the clay at the local site where she has been allowed by the landowner to gather it, but the clay is the product of biological and geological processes that predate the present, and this sets her work as a potter in relation to deep time perspectives. Clay is originally organic material that through the process of decay for vast period of time has transformed to clay, and this brings in the deep time perspective. To consider clay as something that once was organic material transforms the pottery from simple dead matter; in this, it not only an example of Haraway's natureculture, but there is something more evocative in Annie's story, and in the things she finds hard to express. The philosopher and artist-engraver Barry Cottrell offers a theoretical perspective in exploring what he refers to as the participatory primal mind. The act of engraving can ignite the imagination as "a kind of active meditation", which Cottrell describes as a

reenchantment of consciousness.⁶⁴⁵ There is a vast but unexamined element of social and organisational life that is simply not amenable to calculation, science and rationality, and artistic craftmanship are one of these. The things that are evocative but had to express may find their expression in ways of examining where enchantment is a form of exploration.

Annie's story can be summed up as enchantment with clay and craftmanship. For Annie the local clay made her connect to the place or to the Earth, and a further story of how the local is important for the sense of connecting to the Earth is Harriet. Harriet, an elderly woman living outside Totnes, dedicates her work to growing beans in her garden. She has only a small piece of land, yet these beans are special because they are a local sort of beans. Harriet says that these beans were commonly grown when she was a child, particularly during the Second World War when there was something of a renaissance for these old beans, but nowadays these beans have become quite rare and hard to find. Harriet really advocates these beans because they are particularly suitable to grow in the kind of soil and climate that is found in the local area where they have been grown for a very long time. Therefore, in growing these beans she is preserving them, and what she is doing can be described as a form of seed saving. She is glad to see an increasing interest in these beans, and there have been many who got their first seeds from her. Thus, growing, saving and sharing beans has become her mission and she admits that this might seem like a small thing to do, but she concludes: "We all have to contribute with our bits and pieces."646 For Harriet these beans are more than food, they are cultivated in a double sense; they grow in her garden, and she saves and shares them with the community she is part of. The context is significant here; Harriet lives in relation to the transition town of Totnes, which is part of the local community work, and this is also the case with Annie who worked with local clay to produce pottery. A further small example worth mentioning here is Shane, who was a guitarist and who had a guitar made by a local instrument crafter who works with local wood. Shane said that the music he made on that guitar resonated with the woods and the landscape as a kind of magic. Guitars, like pottery and beans, are all part of our everyday life, as is being a musician, a farmer or a crafter. Everyday life brings small scale and a local perspective. Set in an ecological context, these practices form an implementation of ecological awareness. The materialities and practice of everyday work may be a way to form an intimate relation to place.

To conclude, the stories of Patricia, Ann, Harriet and Shane draw attention to the materialities we use in everyday life, they talk about apples, clay and pottery, beans and guitars, and how they are related to various practices which all illustrate how we produce things 'from nature', but they also serve as examples of intimate

⁶⁴⁵ Cottrell resonates with Suddaby, Ganzin and Minkus who describe the resurgence of craft modes of production, and the aesthetics, myth and other aspects of human reflexivity as speaking to the positive potential of re-enchantment. Suddaby, Ganzin and Minkus 2017:286.

⁶⁴⁶ Field notes 2013.

interactions with natureculture. These people tell in various words how they feel a connection to the earth in the work they do. Their relation to earth is constructed in the practices they perform as part of the hybrid ecology. Their stories demonstrate how the materialities and practices of everyday life are part of natureculture in various ways. They also illustrate that formations of ecological awareness may be part of practical work and help to create a deep sense of coexistence.

4.5 Discussion and Conclusions

As seen in the previous chapter, for many the attraction towards spirituality is part of a movement between activism and spirituality, and as shown in this chapter it is a field where new practices are elaborated, and new ways of working emerge. The focus here is on these new ways of working, and the various forms they take. What is particularly interesting from my perspective is how new narratives and practices are created and constructed. Some explicitly refer to the challenges of climate change, such as Take your Question to the Trees and Forest, or the Difference between Shelter and Comfort. In Finding the Tree that is Calling You trees are seen as participants, and the workshops offer an encounter with the larger-than-human world, while The Earth Mediation or The Deep Time Walk relate to the Anthropocene in its global and deep time perspectives. Most of the workshops that I have described here take place in nature, therefore I have paid attention to place, and I have analysed the participants' accounts in term of bodies-as-place, and in doing so my ambition is to mediate a sense of the landscape where this study is set. To look at place and bodies also sheds light on the this-worldly or earthly aspects of dark green spirituality. From the accounts of various workshops, I conclude that despite the differences there are some distinctive features to note. These workshops: (i) invite participants to take part in the co-creation of alternative spaces, (ii) they offer encounters with the larger-than-human world, and (iii) they enable explorations of shifting sensibilities. Although these features are distinctive, they take various forms, they are found to various extents, and may not be a part of every workshop. I found that these features form a distinctive pattern of in these reflective practices. Together these reflective practices work both in the exploration and in the negotiation of ecological awareness, and the cultivation of wild enchantment.

What I refer to as *reflective practices* means that *spiritual practices become part* of the workshops, for example in experimenting with alternative ways of relating to the larger-than-human world. In some sense this means that *reflection is spiritual* because there is a strong convergence. Reflection concerns values, and many of these are considered as spiritual values. While 'reflective practices' is an umbrella term, used to refer to all these workshops, it is notable that these often include meditative and spiritual practices, and these are often hard to separate because in most cases they overlap. Silence, for example, is a spiritual practice that enables

reflection, and mediative walks, which may be called pilgrim walks, likewise stimulate reflection, for example in relation to the landscape where they take place. A workshop might consist of a set of practices like a sharing circle, it may include meditation and moments of silence which equally can be described as spiritual practices. I will not go as far as to claim that reflective practices are equivalent to spiritual practices; it is more accurate to say that reflective practices often (though in various ways) include spiritual practices. There are three distinctive characteristics here: (i) reflective practices include sharing circles or in other ways invite conversations on spiritual matters; (ii) reflective practices are often inspired by certain spiritual traditions; and (iii) reflective practices are performed in a nonconfessional manner (participants are not necessarily followers of a particular tradition), yet various spiritual sources of inspiration nonetheless contribute to the creation and performance of these practices.

In simple terms, a practice is a way of doing things and the practices people perform must make sense to them. Practices have to make sense in a social context; practices make up people's horizon of intelligibility.⁶⁴⁷ However, what is distinctive in reflective practices is that people consciously try to reach beyond their horizon; to explore, try out, do things differently and to find alternative ways of doing things. As we have seen, playfulness is part of this exploration of alternatives. This is the core of Lucy Sargisson 'utopian practices' which she describes as experiments. The utopian function that Sargisson points to concerns: (i) profound creativity, (ii) the creation of new conceptual and real spaces, and (iii) the imagination of alternatives. I say that these utopian functions are present in the reflective practices I have studied. The experimentation with utopian practices occurs at many levels, such as social structure, the relationship with each other and the larger-than-human world, as well as "economic, ethical and spiritual forms of activity, behavior and expectations". ⁶⁴⁸

Sargisson further stresses the heuristic function of utopias: they allow participants to explore alternatives and the relation between imagination and practice emphasises the feature of trying out. Hence, the reflective practices I have described are creative experiments which work to encourage and enable reflection. From my perspective, the workshops can be described as utopian practices. For example, the workshop *Finding the Tree that is Calling You* is an experimenting practice where both humans and trees are considered to participate and interact. Although it might be considered playful and experimenting, it encourages reflection, as seen in the closing circles where participants share their views. *Finding the Tree that is Calling You, The Deep Time Walk* and *The Earth Meditation* are examples of how workshops elaborate ways to explore how we interact with the larger-than-human world and to form a sense of community, within the group of participants, including the larger-than-human world. Therefore, the utopianism here concerns the need for

_

⁶⁴⁷ Schatzki 1996 and 2002.

⁶⁴⁸ Sargisson 2012:132.

deeper reflection and communication between the humans, but also enables encounters with the larger-than-human world, an experimentation with and exploration of *a less human-centred world*. These workshops not only concern questioning how we interact with each other and the larger-than-human world, they really mean practising and participating in an experiment with alternative forms of interaction. Many of these reflective practices work to form a sense of community, sitting in a circle, sharing, holding hands and so on, and therefore cultivating community is central here. Community is cultivated within the group of participants and the sense of community includes the larger-than-human world; therefore, they also cultivate wild enchantment.

To conclude, in my perspective utopian practices *spell out the practical dimension of the existential and political questions of how we can live and do things differently and create alternative spaces*. Matthew Hall notes that small and seemingly insignificant acts that work as a symbolic reversal of the hierarchies which have placed plants 'beneath' human beings allow us to embody non-hierarchical relationships with the natural world. Such small acts make way for the larger pragmatism needed to properly decentralise our relationship with the natural world. Repeated altruistic involvement with non-humans builds up a relationship of care and responsibility, according to Hall. One way of doing this is to seek a partnership with the larger-than-human world that is less hierarchical, less human-centred and forming a more egalitarian relationship with a multitude of non-human beings and things with which we coexist.

⁻

⁶⁴⁹ Hall 2011:387-388

⁶⁵⁰ Hall 2011:387

Chapter 5 Places with the Power to Enchant – Dartmoor

One of the questions I explore is the relevance of place in relation to narrative and practice, and a specific place is the focus of interest: Dartmoor. I have visited Dartmoor and participated in various practices which relate to the landscape, and where the history of Dartmoor plays a significant role and affects the participants' conception of the place. To present the (hi)story of a place, at the very site, is a practice that relates to both narrative and place. Apart from the performance of these practices, the story of Dartmoor is communicated in various forms of media, text, pictures and movies, and it is part of the public debate. Various organisations contribute to the construction of Dartmoor: The Moor Care Campaign, tourist organisations, the National Heritage, or archaeologists and novelists, artists and folklorists. Not least of all Dartmoor's reputation as one of the most haunted places in England attracts much attention to the place, but the moor also draws ramblers, adventures as well as birdwatchers and nature lovers.

This chapter explores Dartmoor as a place in relation to narrative and practice. I will offer accounts of workshops and voices from visitors and participants. The construction of the Dartmoorian landscape will be set in a historical and contemporary context. I pay attention to the performance of a story – the telling of the history of a certain place at the place. In this perspective, the place forms a node between narrative and practice.

5.1. Reflective Practices and Place – Dartmoor

The need to pose deeper questions is emphasised among participants and public voices, as seen in the previous chapters. Reflective practices create an alternative space and work to stimulate deeper questioning. Reflective practices are characterised by creativity and may take many forms. One distinctive feature in these practices are visits to places that in various ways encourage reflection. These are often wounded or marginal places, such as Dartmoor in Devon. In this thesis, Dartmoor is central. Dartmoor is located within reach of Schumacher College, and it is frequently visited as the place works as an educational example of how humans affect their environment. As seen previously, education at Schumacher College is

not restricted to the classroom, and Dartmoor is a place for frequent excursions.⁶⁵¹ Walks in the landscape are organised as part of the courses and the education. The moor is a place for learning *in* nature, and a place for leaning *from* nature. Apart from the beautiful moorland, pictured in tourist guides, the place has a long history and Dartmoor has its own story to tell.⁶⁵² Thus, a visit to Dartmoor is more than a rambling expedition, or a healthy outdoor exercise, it is an example of the reflective practices I study. Dartmoor is a place that forms a node where narrative and practice come together. Next, I will offer a short historical introduction to the place.

5.1.1 Dartmoor and the Collapsing Bronze Age Civilisation

Dartmoor is a characteristic open moorland which has been subject to archaeological investigations. Excavations have made Dartmoor famous for the Bronze Age landscape that has survived.653 where ceremonial sites such as stone circles and graves are visible throughout the landscape, as well as reminiscences of the settlements' typical round houses, and a large number of field boundaries, now known as reaves. Although, with craggy tors standing out in the landscape. It became a National Park⁶⁵⁴ in the mid-twentieth century and today visitors are allowed to wander the area freely. The history of Dartmoor goes considerably further back in time than the establishment of the national park. 655 Dartmoor's history goes back to the late Palaeolithic and Neolithic age, and the Bronze Age (dates c. 2500 BC to 800 BC⁶⁵⁶). Reminiscences of ancient settlers are found in the landscape the remains give evidence of historical settlements; the most lasting effect of the Bronze Age settlers is their imprint on the landscape. Today Dartmoor is an open moorland, but once it was covered by a deep forest of oak trees. Only a small area – named Wistman's Wood close to the river Dart – is left of the woods that used to cover the area. While Dartmoor now is a sparsely populated area, it was the

651 Field notes 2013, 2014.

⁶⁵² Dartmoor is also the setting for the documentary Earth Pilgrim – A Spiritual Journey into the Landscape of Dartmoor as part of BBC's Natural World series where Satish Kumar talks about his view of life and nature.

⁶⁵³ Pryor 2012:96–97 Dartmoor is famous for its Bronze Age reaves that run across the fields.

http://www.dartmoor.gov.uk accessed 10 November 2021 Dartmoor was designated as a nationally important landscape in October 1951 and became a National Park (under the National Parks and Access to the Countryside Act from 1949). The Park has a mission to secure for the public good the conservation, enhancement, enjoyment and understanding of the special qualities of Dartmoor, its landscape, wildlife and cultural heritage. Dartmoor National Park Authority has a special purpose, and the local authority has two statutory purposes: to conserve and enhance the natural beauty and cultural heritage of Dartmoor, and to promote opportunities for the understanding and enjoyment of the special qualities of the National Park by the public. In carrying out this work they are also required to meet the socio-economic duties and to foster the economic and social well-being of local communities within the National Park.

⁶⁵⁵ On Dartmoor see Simmons 2001:344-34.

⁶⁵⁶ Adkins, Adkins and Leitch 2008:64.

home for settlers already in the Neolithic age,⁶⁵⁷ but Dartmoor was abandoned in the late Bronze Age, for reasons which are still partly a riddle. Given its history, Dartmoor is the site of a lost Bronze Age civilisation, and, therefore, a visit to Dartmoor is a visit to a place where some apocalyptical collapse has already taken place.

The archaeologist Michael Parker Pearson describes Dartmoor as an "area that was intensively settled and exploited". The ancient history is partly a mystery, and although archaeological surveys have found evidence of a well-planned Bronze Age society, by 1200 BC most settlement and fields had been deserted. This gives rise to several questions.

Why had people left? Did they destroy what little fertility there was in the soil? Did the climate become cooler and cause the harvest to fail? Was there some catastrophe in the more fertile lowlands which enabled people to move down from these marginal uplands? Were the upland communities physically moved out and resettled, like the Scottish crofters out of the nineteenth century?⁶⁵⁹

Why the settlers abandoned Dartmoor is a riddle, and archaeologists have different views on the cause of this sudden disappearance of settlement. 660 Changing climate is one hypothesis: the benevolent climate that had lasted throughout the Bronze Age was replaced at the end of the era with lower temperatures and increasing amounts of rain which made living conditions in the open landscape impossible. The open landscape gave no shelter from the hard rain and wind, and the bare soil became muddy waters. The place was no longer a good place to be. Given its history, Dartmoor is a suitable place for reflections on man's relation to the environment; the moor offers an illustration of human interference with nature. The lost forest of Dartmoor tells how environmental degradation in the form of deforestation is an ancient phenomenon, and the disappearance of the Bronze Age settles makes Dartmoor the home of a lost Bronze Age civilisation. Taken together this resonates with the theme of the collapsing civilisation that is central in contemporary environmental discourse, and it illustrates how place (Dartmoor and its history) and context (the contemporary environmental discourse where the theme of collapsing civilisation is set) are important variables in the analysis.

Today the open field offers wide perspectives in all direction. Overlooking the landscape it is hard to image in that the moor was once was a place covered with woods. ⁶⁶¹ All that is left of the woodland nowadays is a small area close to the river

223

⁶⁵⁷ Dartmoor National Park Authority: Life and Death on Bronze Age Dartmoor illustrated talk http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=WESqW16QTc8 and Bronze Age Dartmoor – The Life of Marghwen https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=EDHYmJE9TOE accessed 10 November 2021

⁶⁵⁸ Parker Pearson 2005:90.

⁶⁵⁹ Parker Pearson 2005:90.

⁶⁶⁰ Parker Pearson 2005:90.

⁶⁶¹ Field notes 2013.

Dart, named Wistman's Wood. 662 Nowadays Dartmoor offers breathtaking views of the open landscape, the shifting shades of light and weather conditions, constantly in transformation, every day in all seasons, yet in a long-term perspective it is a place marked by human presence and interference. Dartmoor is lost woodland and a heavily transformed landscape; it is an example of how humans remould their landscapes according to their preferences in their use of nature. In perspective, a visit to Dartmoor is a visit to a lost forest. Dartmoor is a site of environmental degradation; therefore, it is a suitable place to visit to reflect on these matters.

5.1.2 Shifting Baselines and Negotiating Baselines

In one of my visits to Dartmoor I participated in a walk that was led by Satish Kumar. On this walk, the history of Dartmoor was presented at the point of departure, as we all gathered after the bus ride, before setting out for the walk across the moor. This visit to Dartmoor is an example of reflective practices, and how the telling of the history of the place *at the actual place* plays a vital role. To look at a landscape in a historical perspective beyond the present encourages reflection on how humans have remoulded the landscape. Initially it is hard to imagine that this beautiful landscape is a place marked by human presence and that it once looked very different. Dartmoor is the scene of a lost forest; hence, a visit to Dartmoor is a visit to a lost forest. To visit something that is lost may seem like a paradox, but it illustrates what I refer to as 'negotiating baselines'. ⁶⁶³ Negotiating baselines addresses how bringing back the memories of how it used to be creates an awareness of the transformation of the landscape, and of the environmental degradation that has taken place.

The story, the history of Dartmoor, was presented to those who participated in the walk and a question to ask was: how does the awareness of Dartmoor's history affect the perception of the place? To tell the story of how it used to be is, in one sense, to bring back memories of how it used to be. Conversely, the concept of 'shifting baseline' addresses how the loss of memories of how a place used to be will make us blind to the ecological degradation that takes place. This loss of memories works between generations and may range over time. The current conditions are seen as natural, and given this, Dartmoor seems to be a landscape untouched by human hands. If we cannot remember how things were before the environmental degradation took place, then we will be blind to the changes that have taken place.

66

⁶⁶² I will return to Wistman's Wood later, but for now, I will focus on Dartmoor.

⁶⁶³ Milner-Gulland, E.J. 2009:93. The term is frequently used in ecological discourse, see for example Boyle, Monbiot.

⁶⁶⁴ Papworth, Rist, and Milner-Gulland, 2009. Shifting of baselines takes place on two levels: on a personal level, but also on a long-term level over generations. The form of shifting baselines that is relevant in relation to Dartmoor is the second form, the long-term shifting baseline, that is, the shifting baselines that involve a loss of memory between generations.

This is a form of amnesia. 665 Contemporary visitors who wander on Dartmoor today see a far-reaching landscape of moorland where the settles from the early Bronze Age, if they were able to revisit Dartmoor, would have seen a devastated landscape where their beloved forest were all gone. They would have experienced what I referred to as the loss of place, for them it would have been a personal loss. 666 They would hardly recognise the place that once was their home. For them, their woods and landscape would be devastated. They would have experienced a situation similar to the displacement that Rob Nixon depicts. 667 To become aware of the history of the place makes it possible for visitors to see the place through the eyes of a historical settler of Dartmoor, and to become aware of how humans have remoulded the landscape.

Today Dartmoor seems like a reminiscence of an ancient mythic landscape. For someone unaware of the historical background, Dartmoor may seem like a landscape untouched by human hands, and this addresses the question of whether humans are aware of the environmental degradation that takes place in the landscape. Memories of how it used to may be lost, particularly when it concerns a long timespan as on Dartmoor, reaching back to late Bronze Age. Shifting baselines mean the loss of memories and how the consequences of the environmental degradation that takes place becomes invisible and unnoticed. My perspective extrapolates the notion of 'shifting baseline', in that the telling of the story works inversely; it brings back the memories, it restores the knowledge of how it used to be and, consequently, makes the environmental degradation that has taken place visible. Therefore, what is going on in the telling of the history of a place like Dartmoor is a negotiation of baselines. Negotiating baselines relates to (i) the effects of environmental degradation on places, and (ii) forming an understanding of how humans have remoulded the landscape in creating a domesticated agricultural landscape, recognisable as the pastoral countryside and the green and pleasant land. This concerns the historical record, as well as the contemporary context. To tell the history of how it once was, as is part of the excursion to Dartmoor, is an act of bringing back memories and rediscovering the lost knowledge of the previous conditions. The point is, however, not only to form an understanding of how it used to be, different from how it is today, but to understand the processes that have occurred. Consequently, negotiating baselines works to create an awareness of the long-term processes that take place in the landscape and the role of human activity in this transformation of landscapes. Negotiating baselines, in a sense, awakens the awareness of the forest that once was, and makes a record of the losses. In addition, it addresses the question of how humans affect their environment, and what role their way of living, the social organisation of society, plays in the process.

⁻

⁶⁶⁵ Papworth, Rist, and Milner-Gulland, E.J 2009:93.

⁶⁶⁶ I discussed such examples of personal losses of place in chapter 3.

⁶⁶⁷ Nixon 2011.

5.1.3 The Collapse of Civilisations

I have given an account of the history of Dartmoor which was presented at the start of the walk, and this elucidates how the telling of the history of the place is a practice that encourages reflection. Given its history of a lost Bronze Age civilisation, Dartmoor works as an example of collapsing societies, or collapsing civilisations. and therefore it is a suitable place to visit as part of eco-education. Dartmoor brings complex historical patterns to life: it invites participants to reflect on the long-term consequences of environmental degradation, and how our societies are dependent on nature to maintain their livelihood. The story of Dartmoor resonates with the theme of the collapse of civilisation, which is part of environmental discourse, and which has been presented previously. At the start of the rambling expedition the leader Satish Kumar told us about the ancient history of Dartmoor. After approximately two miles' walk, there was a break, and during this break the participants were sitting in the grass on the ground, and Kumar held a Satsang, a Sanskrit term referring to a tutorial talk. The topic was the difference between civilisations and culture, a theme that elaborates the history of Dartmoor as the site of a lost civilisation. This talk is set within a context of environmental discourse and the theme of collapsing civilisations. In the Satsang Kumar elaborates on this theme in the connection between civilisation and cities, and I will here give a brief summary. Kumar describes the distinction between 'civilisation' and 'culture':

'Citizen' means 'of the cities' and, thus, 'to be civilised' means 'to come from the cities. 668 'Culture' comes from 'cultivate' which means 'to grow'. Cities are built, but a culture is something that grows. Not every culture is a civilisation. 669

Whilst every civilisation is a culture, not every culture is a civilisation; hence, culture is more fundamental to human life than civilisation. Consequently, the collapse of civilisation is not the end of culture. The point made is not primarily the conceptual relation between the terms, rather the question is how we create societies, choose to live together and create social organisation. Culture is here suggested as a model for society, as a more organic form of social organisation. Kumar sees it as central in civilisation that it is a city-based culture. The word 'civilisation' is related to 'civic' meaning citizen, so civilisations are always city-based culture, and Kumar is not alone in this understanding of civilisations, as city-culture. The ancient Greek civilisation was centred on the Athenian city-state. The root of the Latin word 'civilised' is a derivation of the word 'civil'. 'Civil' means "of or pertaining to citizens". Therefore, the view of civilisation presented here is not unique, on the contrary, as seen in the contextualisation chapter the relation between civilisation and climate has prevailed in Western intellectual history, and it is set within a

⁶⁶⁸ Jensen 2006.

⁶⁶⁹ Field notes 2013.

contemporary environmental discourse.⁶⁷⁰ Next, I will consider the contemporary context.

History gives examples of several lost civilisations, and researchers from various disciplines have asked what causes civilisations to collapse. The geologist Jared Diamond claims that civilisations collapse when they put too much pressure on their environment, which makes the ecological system collapse, and this leads to a social and economic collapse.⁶⁷¹ The theme of collapsing civilisations is part of an environmental discourse on climate change, and *Uncivilisation: The Dark Mountain* Manifesto is one example of this. 672 As the title suggests, the manifesto calls for Uncivilisation, and when it was published in 2009 the debate in public media concerned whether the industrial civilisation would collapse as a consequence of climate change. 673 The theme of civilisation forms a narrative which I refer to as the end of civilisation; is not only a critique of a contested notion because it addresses questions of social organisation and of ecological concern. It addresses the question, how we can avoid ruining the ecological basis for the existence of our societies, and the rest of the planet? In relation to the talk at Dartmoor, the collapsing civilisation theme is present in the landscape, therefore, the narrative of the end of civilisation is part of the practice, and as this short lecture took place in Dartmoor, it relates to place, i.e., Dartmoor. Although Dartmoor is a historical site it illustrates a contemporary environmental discourse on climate change where the theme of collapsing civilisation is central.

Dartmoor is in one sense a site of a lost Bonze Age civilisation, in another sense, Dartmoor is as a place *beyond* civilisation. Throughout Western history, civilisation has stood out in contrast to wilderness, conceptually, but also historically in the Western colonisation of the world that were seen as the taming of the wilderness as part of the colonial project of spreading civilisation. Areas that were unaffected by the influence of civilisation stood out as wilderness. Although Dartmoor illustrates the theme of collapsing civilisations, and the narrative of the end of civilisation, Dartmoor is nonetheless referred to as one of the few remaining areas of wilderness in Britain. This double character attached to Dartmoor is an intriguing feature, and it shows the complexity of the place. I found that although civilisation is a theme in Western intellectual history, there is a particular British context to note. As the sociologist Nobert Elias notes, there are national characters of the concept of civilisation.⁶⁷⁴ Therefore, if Britain is seen as being the heart of Western civilisation,

_

⁶⁷⁰ See for example Jensen 2006.

⁶⁷¹ Diamond 2011.

⁶⁷² Uncivilisation; The Dark Mountain Manifesto was discussed in the chapter 2.

⁶⁷³ See chapter 2 for discussion.

⁶⁷⁴ The sociologist Norbert Elias writes "But 'civilization' does not mean the same thing to different Western nations. Above all, there is a great difference between the English and French use of the word, on the one hand, and the German use of it, on the other." 1939:6 The British (and French) notion concerns more the pride in the nation, and the German more of the shaping of the character of humans.

then it must be asked in what sense is Dartmoor a place *beyond* civilisation. The following voice from one of those I have been in conversation with sheds some light on this issue. Jane was born in Devon, and after spending much of her professional life in Germany, she has in recent years returned to Devon to live in Exeter. After living abroad for decades, she says that she came to look at the landscape with fresh eyes, she says that it is no surprise that the Transition movement has its origin in the region.

When I came back, I realised that everything I need is within reach here. This place is unique, Devon is different from England. You know, the Romans stopped at Exeter, Devon is Celtic.⁶⁷⁵

When Jane says "the Romans stopped at Exeter", it is crucial in explaining what so special about Devon. Jane wants to describe Devon as a special place, it is meant in a positive sense, not just different from urban Britain, but to picture Devon as Celtic singles it out as a place beyond civilisation — a wild place. Devon is beyond civilisation in the sense that was never colonised by the Romans. Actually "the Romans stopped at Exeter" refers to the Roman colonisation of ancient Britannia in the first century AD. Again, this brings in a historical perspective. Indeed, historical records confirm that the Roman troops made a halt in Exeter, although in recent years archaeological finds from the Romans have been discovered beyond Exeter, and further to the west. Nevertheless, the west counties (Devon, Cornwall and Wales) have a reputation of being somewhat wild, and beyond civilisation. This is a vital feature of their local identities. Dartmoor is frequently depicted as one of the few remaining areas of wilderness in Britain. Wilderness is a much-contested notion today, it is an object of desire and longing, but increasing attention is also paid to the question of whether there are any areas we can call wilderness left.

5.2 Dartmoor – Wilderness in an Increasingly Human-centred World

5.2.1 The Loss of Wilderness

"Where can I go to find some wilderness?" One of the persons that I met during my visits to Dartmoor who was most eager to find wilderness was Paul. 676 The visit to the Devonian countryside and Dartmoor was not to his satisfaction, however; it did not fulfil his expectation of the wilderness he longed for. He wanted deep forests, he wanted to settle down and grow wheat, a somewhat contradictory desire perhaps.

⁶⁷⁵ Field notes 2014.

⁶⁷⁶ Field notes 2014.

Paul has a very clear conception of what he is looking for, and the visit to Dartmoor was perhaps a disappointment, as it did not correspond to his mental image of the place he longed for. Paul's longing for the wilderness stands out, but he is not unique in the sense that he wanted to leave modern city life and settle down somewhere else.⁶⁷⁷

Paul certainly longed for the wilderness, he spoke with passion about it, and the fact that he was living in the Netherlands, one of the most densely populated and built-up nations of Europe, might explain his eagerness. His longing to find some wilderness proves, not only for him, but more generally, how highly wilderness is valued, not despite being hard to find, but *because* it is hard to find. What Paul expressed is his personal desire for wilderness, and this includes a range of emotional states such as sadness, even anger or desperation, in relation to the fact that that wilderness is difficult to find in central Europe. This theme can be labelled the loss of wilderness, it addresses the fact that areas that can be seen as wilderness are increasingly hard to find. The loss of wilderness is not just the transformation of areas by human activity, *it also indicates an increasingly human-centred world*. Next, I will ponder on the question of why Dartmoor fails to fulfil our conception of a wilderness.

5.2.2 Rewilding Dartmoor – the Pastoral Wilderness

Dartmoor is National Park and an area set apart for the protection of nature, and one might think that this makes Dartmoor a place freed from environmental disputes, but this is not the case. The role of national parks has been subject to much criticism from proponents of rewilding. Dartmoor is the site of a lost forest that disappeared in the late Bronze Age, and it is reasonable to ask why the woods have not reappeared in all the time that has passed since the trees were cut down, approximately three millennia ago. Part of the enigma is that Dartmoor have been used as grazing land throughout the centuries, and this has kept the land open. In an article in *The Guardian*, "Scorched Earth Conservation", George Monbiot criticises the practice of swaling, that is, the burning of grassland that is done in order to keep it as an open landscape and pasture. The National Park Authority performs the swaling in their care of Dartmoor and it creates the characteristic moorland we see today. The Dartmoor authority justifies the practice as "the ageold art of swaling" and claims that it is necessary because fewer grazing animals

⁻

⁶⁷⁷ As seen in chapter 3, I have been speaking to many persons who in various ways share his ambition to change their lives and move to the countryside. I this chapter, I will investigate the conceptions of these places, such as 'the wilderness' or 'the countryside' that feed the attraction behind this urban to rural movement.

⁶⁷⁸ Atkins 2015:64 The use of Dartmoor as grazing land was introduced in the twelfth century by the Cistercian monks at Buckfast Abbey.

⁶⁷⁹ Monbiot, George (2016) "Scorched Earth Conservation" *The Guardian* 14 January 2016.

have been released in the highland commons over recent years. Monbiot argues that the practice is far from environmentally friendly, and it contradicts the Sandford Principle (which is supposed to govern the management of national parks), which states that: "when there is a conflict between conservation and other uses, conservation should take priority." What Monbiot objects to is that the swaling aims to preserve Dartmoor as *grazing land*, and this prevents it from going back to its wild state. Thus, "too much weight is given to sheep farming, and too little to wildlife." Monbiot continues:

An entirely treeless landscape, maintained this way by a savage regime of burning and grazing over many years, becomes "overgrown" the moment it starts to recover. The beginning of successional processes ("extra growth of plants such as gorse and bracken") is regarded as a threat. We all know what happens next. Scrub grows and then, God help us, trees. Wildlife is returning quick, fetch the matches!

Monbiot's critique of the management is an appeal for rewilding, for wildlife and a less man-made world. Dartmoor illustrates how modern national parks are a human creation, it is nature managed to look like a moorland wilderness, but it actually creates a pastoral wilderness. The historical record tells us that sheep herding was introduced in 1147, by the monks of Buckfast Abbey. 682 Even though the solitary location attracted the monks as they built their monastery on Dartmoor, the solitude was not a reason for idleness. The monks initiated wool production on the moor.⁶⁸³ Indeed, today any visitor on Dartmoor can see how parts of Dartmoor are used as grazing land, for sheep, cattle and the semi-wild ponies of Dartmoor. These animals are domesticated rather than wild, and their presence will challenge the sense of going into the wilderness. The sheep have their owners' colour code sprayed on their backs. In my perspective, Dartmoor, and the swaling of the landscape, is based on an ambition to keep it in a state that is recognisable as an English moor; the moorland is distinctive in English cultural identity. Keeping Dartmoor as a grazing land illustrates the power of the pastoral landscape, as a model for the British countryside that even shapes the wilderness. The pastoral landscape is cultivated and domesticated; it is a creation of human hand, to fulfil the aesthetic notion of how 'civilised' nature ought to look, not to go back to its wild state. Further, the swaling of the Dartmoorian landscape may be a proof of how the power of the Lockean notion of nature left for itself is a sort of misuse of God's nature.

Monbiot's perspective is based on the idea of rewilding, and his critique of the conservationist policies of Dartmoor illustrates the schism between what we might

⁶⁸⁰ Monbiot 2016.

⁶⁸¹ Monbiot 2016.

⁶⁸² Atkins 2015:63.

⁶⁸³ Atkins 2015:64. The historical references to Dartmoor as grazing land first appear in 1340 and the historical references show how Buckfast Abbey produced a quantity wool of ten sacks per year, the wool of about 2,500 sheep.

refer to as an older generation's environmental work, dedicated to conservation projects, and the new ideas of rewilding. The ambition to rewild is to form a less human-centred world, drawing attention to how humans shape their environment in remoulding landscapes, creating an increasingly man-made landscape – not only in the urban realm, but increasingly everywhere. Despite the differences between conservationists and rewilding, they share an attraction to wilderness. The conception of the wilderness that stands out as a place that should be set apart for special reasons is based the *sacramental value of wilderness*. Monbiot, as a contemporary environmentalist, shares these values with the conservationists of the early twentieth century but they can be traced further back to the monks at Buckfast Abbey, and establishment of their religious house in the twelfth century.

5.2.3 The Sacramental Values of Wilderness and the Enchantment of Rewilding

The sacramental value of wilderness is a historical construct that has been elaborated over the centuries.⁶⁸⁴ Throughout cultural history we find expressions of this original state of happiness and harmony in mythologies – the Garden of Eden in Genesis is one example – but these are not to be mistaken for historical sources that give evidence of an actual past reality. Historians and archaeologists have made us all aware of how our views of the past are tempered by attitudes and dispositions of the present, and these views say more about us than ever they can about the people who came before us. The idea of an original or ancient state of harmony with nature is not an exception, it is part of the utopian sentiments that accompanied romanticism in the early nineteenth century, and they were brought further into the conservationism in the early twentieth century. To save or protect wilderness was the aim of conservation projects based on the ambition to create safe havens or sanctuaries, and that these are described in terms of 'sanctuaries' or 'safe heavens' indicates their religious/spiritual connotation. Although these sanctuaries were places set apart for wildlife, at the same time wilderness was a place where humans could seek retreat, a place beyond the ills of modern life or civilisation.

-

⁶⁸⁴ The protection of wilderness was a major ambition for conservationists, and still today for modern environmentalists 'wilderness' has positive connotations as a place unaffected by the ills of modern society and as nature in its pure and unpolluted form. Wilderness is a place set apart, and it is the object of longing for a return to a lost natural state, it may be in the Judaeo-Christian form of the Garden of Eden, or Jean-Jacques Rousseau's idyllisation of 'the noble savage'. Although assumptions of wilderness as 'natural' or 'pure nature' should immediately alert the critical enquirer. A closer inspection will show that these are culturally specific and historically contingent. The belief rests upon an implicit philosophical assumption: that there is some universal or essential state of harmony with nature, and that humans due to some misbehaviour or accident were forced to become culture-creatures instead. Hence, culture and nature are in conflict, and this is the source of the dichotomisation that has predominated in Western intellectual history.

A reason why wilderness holds this benevolent power is that it is seen as a place of sacramental values. Gerrard writes:

Wilderness has an almost sacramental value: it holds out a promise of a renewed, authentic relation of humanity and the earth, a post-Christian covenant, found in a space of purity founded on an attitude of reverence and humility.⁶⁸⁵

The realisation of the "authentic relation of humanity and the earth" or "an attitude of reverence" is dependent on wilderness, and this is more than simply a conceptual relation, it is a platform for a project where man needs to actually go out in the wilderness to fully realise or reach the benefit of it. For conservationists the idea of wilderness is a construction that is used for mobilisation in the protection of particular habitats and species, however, for humans it is a place for the reinvigoration of those tired of the moral and material pollution of the city. Although rewilding is a critique of conservationism, it nevertheless retains many ideas from conservationism about how a return to the wild may cure man from the strains of modern life, and it also brings in the sacramental values, although it may be in different terms, such as enchantment and wonder. What I found, however, is that today the sacramental values of Dartmoor are primarily *not* conceptualised or viewed as an area of wilderness, but as an *ancient landscape*.

5.2.4 Dartmoor – the Ancient Landscape

In my conversations with the participants in the walk on Dartmoor, I found that some referred to Dartmoor not primarily as a place of wilderness, but as an ancient or even timeless landscape, and some described it as visiting a very old place, "a place beyond time". 687 One voice even compared it to "going back in time". Clearly, visiting Dartmoor is more than a roaming expedition, this feeling of being beyond time is not simply being untouched by time, in the sense we would expect if we talked about the wilderness untouched by human interference. On the contrary, it is precisely that the place is very old, and reminiscences of prehistoric sites marking the presence of humans in the landscape that makes it attractive. Landscape in this sense offers time travel. Archaeologists have taken an interest in 'time travels' as an "embodied experience and social practice in the present that brings back to life a past or future reality". 688 I ask what these descriptions of the ancient Dartmoor stands for.

The fact that the landscape has been through many phases means that there are stories to tell. To walk the moor is to be in an ancient landscape, and for some this

⁶⁸⁵ Garrard 2012:66.

⁶⁸⁶ Garrard 2012:66.

⁶⁸⁷ Field notes 2013.

⁶⁸⁸ Holtorf 2017:1.

is an experience like walking back in time, into a conception of time where this ancient time is forever present.⁶⁸⁹ There is a paradox in the midst of this: The narrative of Dartmoor as a wilderness is called into question by its long history of human presence. On the other hand, in the narrative of Dartmoor as an ancient landscape, this long history gives Dartmoor a specific value for those visiting. What they appreciate is the sense of the past being present, which can be described as a kind of archaic quality which also renders it an ambience of a *spiritual place*. This draws attention to questions of the relation between time and landscapes. I found that this sense of vast swathes of time passing is a feature that gives Dartmoor the quality of a spiritual place. Time in this long historical perspective (what historians may refer to as la longue durée) gives visitors a suitable backdrop and an opportunity to reflect upon "deep" questions of existential, ecological or spiritual matters. Tim Ingold expresses this quite poetically as landscape being "pregnant with the past". 690 The archaeologist Christina Fredengren addresses what people experience in relation to an ancient landscape, as 'deep time with enchantment', which it is "near-religious or spiritual experiences – both in the past and the present".⁶⁹¹ Deep time enchantment may emerge in encounters with archaeological objects and sites, and I relate it here to the ancient landscape of Dartmoor.

5.2.5 Dartmoor a Time Capsule

The sacramental values are based on Dartmoor as an ancient landscape, but it is necessary to take the analysis further from what you value and instead ask why you value it. To answer this, I will proceed from my field notes in visiting Dartmoor, but I will also include in the discussion material from media that concerns Dartmoor, such as tourist information, or the National Heritage, or public debate in journals. According to the romantic notion of wilderness, as we have seen, the wilderness that was to be preserved was regarded as untouched by human interference, and this often-concerned areas located in remote places, almost beyond reach in times before modern means of transport. In a historical perspective, places that nowadays are marginal can very well have been central in ancient time. One of the great changes in the nineteenth century was undoubtedly the construction of the network of railways that cut through the landscape. The railways became a symbol of modernity, and it was a means of transportation that made distant or 'wild' areas of the land more accessible for people living outside that area. In the late 1940s, and the 1950s the British Transport commission produced several documentary films where the railways and landscapes are portrayed, and Dartmoor is one of those places. The documentary pictures the railways as the entry of the modernity, and the

_

⁶⁸⁹ Field notes 2013.

⁶⁹⁰ Ingold 2000:189.

⁶⁹¹ Fredengren 2016:484.

modern world's encounter with the old world.⁶⁹² The voice-over introduces Dartmoor in the following manner.

Our land is very old. We have lost its origins. Our fields grow neat, our hands grow smooth, forgetting their rough and hard beginning. But on Dartmoor the spirit of our island seems to heave itself out of the bracken and we find in the weathered rocks its strong and enduring character.⁶⁹³

Dartmoor's "weathered rocks" are not only very old; they stand in sharp contrast to the fields and hands that are neat and smooth. Dartmoor is a place where the forgotten, the "rough and hard beginning", the old landscape and the lost origin are still to be found; a place of an "enduring character". Thus, Dartmoor is very much a time capsule, set apart, freed from the world. A more recent example, with a similar ring to it, is the archaeologist Neil Oliver in the BBC documentary on ancient British history *Face of Britain*. When Oliver visits Dartmoor on a grey and rainy day he asks how modern man can understand the wilderness that existed in prehistoric time.

Living as most of us do in cities and towns it is hard to appreciate how empty prehistoric Britain was. So I have come to windswept Dartmoor to get a sense of what it might have looked like. Even today, Dartmoor is one of the least populated areas in the whole country, and on a day like this, it is not hard to understand why. Ten thousand years ago all of Britain was empty like this. They might have been no less than a couple of hundreds of people on this vast moorland. ⁶⁹⁴

Oliver pictures Dartmoor as a place where it is possible to get a sense of the prehistoric world, and how "empty" it was 10,000 years ago, that is, how few people there were around. Given its history, Dartmoor has a powerful narrative, and the mythological landscape of Dartmoor is intimately related to its reputation as an ancient landscape. The official tourism organisation's website likewise echoes this, depicting "Dartmoor's unspoilt landscape" as a place where "thick mists that suddenly appear and roll across the moor to the dark, bottomless mires and the craggy granite tors, each lends an air of mystery and magic, all ripe for associated legends and tales." ⁶⁹⁵ In Dartmoor it is:

possible to visit many of the places which are connected with the various tales and see them as they were when their events unfolded. From the sacred ritual monuments of prehistoric times to deserted mines of yesteryear all are simply waiting to be

693 Young 2010:121.

234

⁶⁹² Young 2010:121.

⁶⁹⁴ Transcription by I.B. The BBC documentary *The Face of the Britons* <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=eLV63ip7pdI</u> accessed 9 November 2021. The series *The Face of the Britons* is also available on DVD.

⁶⁹⁵ http://www.visitdartmoor.co.uk/myths-and-legends_accessed 16 November 2021.

explored. So when visiting Dartmoor why not take some time to journey into the past and witness for yourself the many mysterious places of the moor?⁶⁹⁶

The tourist organisation's website offers an evocative image of the place, as "a journey into the past". Of course, their aim is to portray Dartmoor as an attractive place to visit, but my point here is that the stories told of the ancient Dartmoor come in many versions, and these are not exclusive for the visitors from Schumacher. My aim is to look at what is added when these stories are set within an environmental context where it conveys an ecological and spiritual message as well. Local lore, legends and myths are cultural narratives, and they are often intimately related to specific places, playing a vital part in the renegotiation of place and landscape.

5.2.6 The Making of the Moor – The Sacramental Values of Isolation

Dartmoor was abandoned in prehistoric times, and given its historical background, Dartmoor challenges any visitor to question his or her conceptions of wilderness, but more so, to question the effects of human culture in the landscape. The reminiscences of Bronze Age Dartmoor, and the story told, is a kind of lost world theme, like the myth of Atlantis, or of a collapsing civilisation, following examples like the Roman Empire or Easter Island, as discussed in the previous chapter. The solitary position of Dartmoor attracted the Cistercian monks to establish their monastery at Buckfast Abbey in 1147.⁶⁹⁷ Distance, withdrawal, being set apart from the mundane world was essential in the construction of the sacramental value of wilderness. This enduring attraction goes far back in history; medieval monasteries had a strong appreciation of the wilderness, and Buckfast Abbey is far from the only example. Simmons finds cartographic historical records how the actual setting aside of space, other than the buildings and their immediate surroundings, is seen to greatest extent in the large land holdings of monasteries, of which the Cistercians are a highly visible example. The geologist Ian G. Simmons write:

To them sacredness resides in solitude and silence, following the examples of the Desert Fathers. Thus, they were glad to receive gifts of wild spaces, as with the vills that were described as *wasta*, which were presumable mostly moor, woodlands and scrubs. Where their gifts were not quite silent enough, then people were moved out to make a kind of *cordon sanitaire* in which only the abbey and its buildings and the granges might persist.⁶⁹⁸

⁶⁹⁶ http://www.visitdartmoor.co.uk/myths-and-legends_accessed 16 November 2021.

⁶⁹⁷ Atkins 2015:63.

⁶⁹⁸ Simmons 2001:114–115. One example of monasteries set in wild areas is Lindisfarne, on Holy Island in Northumberland: a place for sacred silence and solitude. Yet Lindisfarne also housed an agricultural community both in the earliest phase and as an outpost for the priory of Durham.

The monasteries' taste for wilderness was based on the sacramental values: the monks considered the isolated location as a resort, a place set apart. Centuries later, during the Napoleonic Wars, in 1809, the solitary quality of the moor made Dartmoor a perfect location for Her Majesty's Prison at Princetown, Dartmoor. The eco-writer William Atkins visited Princetown during his journey exploring the English wilderness, and he describes the gloomy character of the prison and the misty moor: he compares the mist to a sheet nailed over prison window, which sometimes lasts for days. "Then it withdraws, like a mirror wiped clean, and the hard world returns."699 Prisons and monasteries may seem to be disparate institutions, but, as Harvey notes, "wild nature has been positively valued as a means, a tool for re-creating humans as better people". 700 This reformative power of the wilderness is a deeply rooted romanticism in Britain, where the countryside is equated with rest, recreation and virtue. Since at least the mid-nineteenth century and following the development of the railway network, people have taken breaks from cites to "find purity and nobility in the countryside". 701 In the mountains and uplands people have sought encounters with the transcendence or "the sublime", and they go there to experience awe and ennoblement. In this context Dartmoor is a place to withdraw to.

In addition, the moors of Britain have a status as representing a landscape that is nationally characteristic; the moors are distinctive as the *British* wilderness. This is not exclusive for Dartmoor, but for moorlands in general. In Britain, moorlands rather than deep forests are the emblematic image of national wilderness. Therefore, when Atkins makes a journey into the English wilderness, he visits the moors.⁷⁰²

The Moors did not, at first, impress on me a human history. They were timeless – that was the nature of their tranquillity. The silted millpond and the choked watercress beds were not haunted ruins – you weren't conscious of any abiding ghosts. Any physical remnants were just inconsequential worryings of the Moors' prehistoric surface. It was only when I returned, as an adult, that I realised that, for instance, the moor had remained wet partly because the headwaters of the Hamble had been dammed, generations ago, to power the grain mill that still stood next to the road; and the wood had been prevented from smothering the open moor by managed grazing. 703

As a child Atkins saw the moors as "timeless" and freed from human history. The moors were a natural state of tranquillity, there were no "abiding ghosts" until he returned years later and could see that the moor had actually been remoulded by human activity through the centuries. Atkin's describes two ways of seeing the moor: his childhood view, taking it for granted that the moor is natural, and his

⁶⁹⁹ Atkins 2015.

⁷⁰⁰ Harvey 2012:268.

⁷⁰¹ Harvey 2012:268.

⁷⁰² Atkins 2015.

⁷⁰³ Atkins 2015:2.

returning as an adult knowing that the moor is largely man-made. Simultaneously, this new perception seems to awaken the abiding ghosts. There seems to be something distinctively darker lingering on the moor.

5.3 Dartmoor – a Space for Encounters with the Largerthan-Human world

5.3.1 The Misty Moor – Getting Trapped on the Moor

As we set out in sunshine, adventure was afoot. Dartmoor was welcoming. A warm summer day, with a mild breeze that gave the promise of a fine walk on the moor.⁷⁰⁴ Initially, as we set out for the walk on the moor, the sky was all blue, and faraway on the moor the wild ponies of Dartmoor grazed the land. It was truly a perfect day for a walk, yet, after walking some miles, we saw clouds were gathering above the distant silhouette of the tors. The sun was disappearing behind the clouds, and soon we could feel small drops of rain falling. The sky was no longer blue, the clouds having turned it as grey as the stones. The clouds that drifted in our direction were now dark and heavy, and the rain intensified as we continued the walk uphill. Soon we could see over the hills how the mist was moving towards us, approaching us like a white veil; it moved rapidly, as if it had a life of its own. The distant hills were no longer visible. The world faded in a ghostlike manner as the mist wrapped itself around us. The moor had changed character by now; we could hear someone whisper the old stories of those who had been lost in the moor. The wind that came sweeping over the moor was cold and hard, it made you shiver. It made you feel small and vulnerable.

The moor is a trickster, never to be ruled and always eager to play tricks on human expectations, as when it becomes the misty moor. We found ourselves trapped in a small place a few metres in diameter. The rest of the world had become invisible, and even those in the group who were more distant had become strange shadows or completely invisible, hidden in the mist. The various shades of green and blue that had painted the landscape as we set out were replaced with an achromatic whitegrey nuance, as if the world had lost its colours. Being in thick mist is as if the clouds have suddenly descended. As if the ground and the sky had come together. The eye of the mist is a place of a gigantic stillness. You feel wrapped into it as if you cannot move, almost as if you forget how to breathe. As the world changes its character, something happens to you as well. In a strange sense it calms you, and it teaches you that all you can really do is to wait. Neither the mist nor the moor is at your command. When the mist has finished its dance, it carries on, and just as sudden as

_

⁷⁰⁴ Field notes 2013.

it appeared, it slowly vanishes. The mist as it slips away is like the withdrawal of some being. With a great sense of relief, we could see a slow change of scenery as the mist scattered, and the wind chased it further away like a herd of cattle. The rain finally ceased. Slowly the clouds that had held the blue sky in its prison released the sunshine. Soon, in less than an hour, the moor was almost as it was when we set out, sunshine again, a lovely day in June. The air felt crisp after the rain, the small drops and pools of rainwater gave a shimmering surface to the place. Again, the moor appeared from its benevolent side. The green and blue were back.

After a safe return from the walk, we gathered at a local pub, and part of the conversation around our table concerned the beauty of the moor, but soon the discussion brought up how capricious the moor was, how quickly the weather had shifted, and how unpredictable the moor was. In the conversation, Linda said,

You should not walk the moor without a compass, because the weather might change so suddenly. The mist might appear so suddenly, and you will be totally lost in it, and you will be unable to find your way home. *You can get trapped out there!*⁷⁰⁵

Linda's anxiety in relation to the moor and its sudden change illustrates how many-faceted human relations to nature are. It should be noted that none of us carried a compass. Linda's account is far from the simple admiration of the beauty of the moor, but her anxiety is not representative of everyone in the group. Others considered the capricious side of the moor to be far more attractive; they saw it as a challenge, the ragged "wild" character of the landscape being a vital part of the attraction of Dartmoor. There is, of course no neutral description of Dartmoor. It is notable that these descriptions share the image of Dartmoor as a capricious and wild place, while their emotional response to this differs.

The anthropologist Tim Ingold argues that a place owes its character to the experience it affords to those who spend time there. Their senses, the sights, sounds and smells and the kind of activities in which inhabitants engage, all come together to "constitute its specific ambience". Ingold claims that the ambience, the character and atmosphere of a place depend on the "relational context of people's engagement with the world", and "that each place draws its unique significance" He criticises both the naturalistic view of the landscape as a neutral, external backdrop for human activity, and the culturalist view that sees the landscape as a symbolic ordering of space, and he argues that the relation between humans and landscape is through involvement rather than inscription. On the walk, Dartmoor showed its double-faced character. The ambivalence concerns the visitors as well, because you may very well see yourself as part of nature, and then, when confronting the elements, fear the strength of nature if you were to be lost on the

⁷⁰⁵ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁰⁶ Ingold 1993:152.

⁷⁰⁷ Ingold 1993:152.

moor. Dartmoor gives rise to experiences of pleasure and beauty, as well as fear and anxiety. The sense of wonder goes hand in hand with a sense of vulnerability. I describe this as an ambiguity where enchantment comes with the eerie. Linda's account expresses the ambivalence, the state of having mixed feelings or contradictory ideas about something or someone. One example of this is Penny Billington who offers an introduction to Druidry. Her book *Walking the Green Path* contributes a pagan perspective; to simply think that "nature is wonderful" will soon be seen as naïve if you, for example, spend a night on the moors without the proper clothing and equipment. Billington sums up the lesson to learn from this:

Never forget the respect due to the strength and power of the elements, all of which can nurture or kill you. We are generally protected from their force, but news coverage of global natural disasters – earthquakes, tsunamis, wildfire, and tornados – brings home their awesome devastating power. A simple walk in the country if we are ill-prepared will soon show us our own vulnerability in the natural world. ⁷¹⁰

These experiences of vulnerability might be small incidents, like the one in my account of the walk on Dartmoor but will be more fearful in relation to climate change with extreme weather and its devastating consequences. These challenges will force us to encounter our own vulnerability. Apart from the practical implications of managing these experiences, there is a whole range of emotions at play here. The archaeologist Eddie Procter notes that although various disciplines offer their perspectives on landscapes, something that is often absent in the picture, and that is "a feel for the range of emotions that being out in a landscape triggers." For Linda, the emotion was the fear of being trapped on the moor.

In Dartmoor there is vulnerability in relation to the unpredictability of the weather conditions on the moor. This sense of vulnerability may seem odd to the wild ponies or other animals living in the area who are used to handling such circumstances. These emotions are of course far from the simple aesthetic appreciation for the beauty of the pastoral landscape that the countryside might offer. When it comes to the wild, I say, it is rather ambivalence that is striking in what Procter refers to as "a range of emotions". Ambivalence has both positive and negative connotations; it is in one sense beyond good and evil, but that is not to say that it is equal to nihilism or beyond ethics. Nor are feelings such as fright or being vulnerable to be seen as

Penny Billington is related to *Order of Bards, Ovates & Druids (OBOD)* For information see https://druidry.org accessed 16 November 2021. Her book *The Path of Druidry: Walking the Ancient Green Way* was published in 2011, Llewellyn Publications, Woodbury, Minn.

⁷⁰⁹ Billington 2011: xxi.

⁷¹⁰ Billington 2011:73

⁷¹¹Archaeologist Eddie Procter's website Landscapeism http://landscapism.blogspot.se/2015/02/towards-new-landscape-aesthetic.html accessed 16 November 2021.

simply a negative experience. Rather a range of emotions that the anyone being out in a landscape are exposed to.

Many of those I spoke to give examples of a willingness to expose themselves to the elements in various ways, for example, staying outdoors at night, swimming in cold water, avoiding taking shelter in rain, walking barefoot on hard ground, and so on. These are considered as vital experiences of being part of nature in an intimate sense. These sensuous experiences may not be so pleasant at first, but something that you eventually get used to, and even come to like. One young woman tells of her lesson from swimming; at first, it is cold, but after a while it is comfortable, then you must stay in the water until the second time you feel cold. These accounts differ from Linda's anxiety, rather finding the tempting elements of nature to be attractive. Indeed, they find that such experiences are part of being alive.

5.3.2 Windswept Dartmoor

Sheila is yet another voice who tells of her experience of Dartmoor. For Sheila Dartmoor contrasts with the countryside. While she joyfully expressed her admiration for the British countryside, her experience of Dartmoor was completely different. She said, "It's like you're not in England anymore, the moor is frightful, it frightens me...". But why so frightful? What is it about this place that triggers such responses? Sheila answers, "Because it seems so barren, so empty, and there is nowhere to hide." The moor is an open landscape, moors are notoriously pictured as "windswept", and many feel uncomfortable with being exposed to such environment. In psychoanalysis the frightful feeling triggered by being out in an open area is referred to as 'agoraphobia', the fear of open spaces. The term refers to an urban environment, that is, the fear of the open agora and squares, where people may feel unprotected, unsafe, even get into a state of panic if they have to cross over them, and thus they tend to avoid them. The feeling of agoraphobia in relation to an open landscape is of course more overwhelming, and the vast landscape can make you feel small and vulnerable. Huge expanses, for example the sea or a moor, bring out that feeling. How we experience landscapes differs widely, because others see such open landscape as overwhelming and appreciate them. They rather feel a sense of freedom and enjoy the vistas that reach to the horizon.

In philosophy 'the sublime' refers to how we experience, for example, a landscape, and the sublime is only a form of aesthetic admiration of beauty. This may be a matter of scale; it is the grandiosity of mountains that make us admire the landscape and experience them as sublime. Such landscapes set man in perspective as a small part of the world. The philosopher Edmund Burke cited in his *Philosophical Enquiry into the Origin of Our ideas of the Sublime and Beautiful* (1775) greatness of dimensions as a quality approaching his definition of the sublime, and he lists "whatever is fitted in any sort to excite ideas of pain and danger. 'Privation', 'vastness' and 'infinity' were similarly capable of exciting ideas, according to Burke's influential thesis. The magnitude of a moor is different from a

mountain or a canyon, because it is chiefly lateral, and Burke claims that "a hundred yards of even ground will never work such an effect as a tower a hundred yards high". Of course, one can disagree with Burke on this, particularly in overlooking places like moorlands that reach towards the horizon and beyond. William Cronon calls this the doctrine of the sublime (which originated at the end of the eighteenth century), and it refers to the sense of the wildness of a landscape where the supernatural lies just beneath the surface. As Cronon explores the supernatural beneath the surface, he stumbles on the same ambiguity.

Wilderness was like a double-edged sword: a place for both temptation and mystic revelations. These two possibilities have been present in wilderness even in premodern days when it was a place charged with spiritual danger and moral temptation.⁷¹⁴

A place charged with spiritual danger and moral temptation seems to be referring to something other than Bennett's places with the power to enchant, because for Bennett, fear cannot be part of part of enchantment. Still, this is exactly how Sheila describes her experience of Dartmoor, as frightful. Her account of visiting Dartmoor is more in tune with Macfarlane's notion of the eeriness of the English landscape, and with this we enter a much darker landscape.

5.3.3 The Darkness of Dartmoor

In Sheila's account she saw the open moorland as frightening, but for her there was something else that affected her experience of Dartmoor a great deal, and that concerns Dartmoor's reputation as a dark and haunted place. Sheila refers to *The Hound of the Baskervilles* by Sir Arthur Conan Doyle, where Dartmoor is haunted by a ghostly black dog, and the novel is based on a local legend. Sheila's heart seems to be with the dog, which she called "that poor mistreated creature". Nonetheless, the notion of haunted Dartmoor is part of popular culture, not only Conan Doyle's novel, Dartmoor is known as one of the most haunted places in Britain, there is a vast literature and other media on the subject, 715 and the legends and folklore contribute to the attraction of the place — a mythological landscape haunted by its past and present. The local historian Anthony Beard sums up the advice of the

⁷¹² Burke quoted in Atkins 2015: xviii.

⁷¹³ Cronon 1995:3.

⁷¹⁴ Cronon 1995:3.

⁷¹⁵ The amount of material here is indeed large. See for example https://www.chasingmidnight.com/haunted-dartmoor accessed 19 September 2021. Anyone can google for haunted Dartmoor and the result will give a hint of the interest of the matter among local historians, and an audience devoted to popular culture.

⁷¹⁶ Hynes 2014

locals living close to Dartmoor: "You cannot compete with the moor. You have to respect it." Indeed, local lore might give the same advice about being cautious of the moor in another vocabulary. The folklorist Jennifer Westwood refers to a recording from 1832 that describes the habits of the pisgies or pixies, the West Country fairies, the most notorious of which was 'pixy-leading'. The stories tell of many who have been sent forth to lead poor travellers astray, to deceive them with those false lights called Will-o'-the-wisp, or to lead them a fine dance when trudging home through woods and waters, through bogs and quagmires. I will come back to the folklore of Dartmoor, but my first approach the darkness of Dartmoor is more concrete, because Dartmoor is one of the few places, in Britain but more so in Europe, where it is possible to experience real darkness.

The darkness of the moor is part of the picture if you want to understand what kind of place Dartmoor is and the attraction of the place. True darkness has become rare in modern world. Light pollution is on the list of various forms of pollution that follow in the footsteps of human modern life. Light pollution refers to the artificial light – from the nightlife of the lit-up cities – that is spread and reflected on the night sky. The phenomenon is given a scientific measurement in the Bortle dark-sky classification, with a scale graded from 9 to 1, where 1 is the darkest. 720 Light pollution causes problems for many animals, as well as vegetation, as their natural cycles are disturbed by constant light. Light pollution is a global phenomenon that reaches beyond the planetary scale because it causes a phenomenon known as nightglow. Seen from space, the Earth is literally lit up by the cities' night light. The consequence is not only visible to outsiders; from Earth the city light is reflected in the night sky. As the sky gets brighter the stars become invisible, which among other things causes trouble for migrating birds who navigate by the stars at night. A person standing on the top of Empire State Building would only be able to see 1 per cent of the stars that were visible to Galileo's naked eye four hundred years ago. 721 The phenomenon can be called the loss of darkness, but as seen, darkness is not the only thing that is gone. So is the starry night sky.

What is it that we experience in darkness? The local historian Beard⁷²² and his family live in Widecombe, a small medieval village located in Dartmoor National Park. Widecombe Valley is located over 200 miles from the light pollution of

⁷¹⁷ Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channel. Transcription by I.B.

⁷¹⁸ Westwood 1987:19

⁷¹⁹ Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channel.

⁷²⁰ The Bortle Dark-Sky Scale measures how dark the sky is. It ranges from light pollution, graded 9, to true darkness, graded 1. Places that score 1 are rare today. Among the few remaining places of true darkness in the modern world are the Australian outback or the Peruvian Mountains. The bright New York City sky is a class 9.

⁷²¹ Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channel.

⁷²² Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channel.

London, and these conditions make the area extremely dark at night. It is a unique place as it earns a class 3 on the Bortle Dark-Sky Classification. According to Beard the area has changed little since his family moved here in the fifteenth century. For Beard "Dartmoor is truly an area of outstanding mystery" and the reason is that;

We do not get any light filtration from the cites out here. We can still get a really extreme darkness. [...] it is the darkness that creates the atmosphere and it creates the frightening aspects of being out on the moors. ⁷²³

These frightening aspects of being on the moor resonate with Sheila's feeling, but of course this was a daytime walk, although some of those on the walk explicitly expressed a wish to visit Dartmoor in moonlight (and I come back to this further on). The loss of darkness is a consequence of modern city life and its 24-hour electric light. Darkness has become rare, it indicates distance from the industrial civilisation, and it is intimately related to the wild. In this perspective, dark places such as Dartmoor, in a very concrete way, are places freed from human interference. Hence, darkness is an indication of places that is, if not untouched by modern civilisation, are less under its spell, and the night is undeniably a less human-centred world. I say that darkness in this context becomes a modern-day criterion, not for wilderness, but for "the wild" or "a wild place". Dartmoor can be seen as a dark place in more than one sense; how come such a place attracts visitors? Would it not be sensible to avoid such a place? Again, we stumble on the complexity of Dartmoor, because the fact is that Dartmoor attracts a large number of visitors.

5.3.4 The Overuse of Dartmoor

As seen previously, many organisations and agents who encourage people to visit Dartmoor also contribute to the reproduction of the narrative of Dartmoor as an ancient land and a mysterious place of legends and myths. The large number of visitors is evidence that they have been successful. The large visitor numbers are not only positive. A sad sign of Dartmoor's attractiveness is the overuse of the park. National parks like Dartmoor are designated for their outstanding natural beauty, wildlife, cultural heritage and the opportunity they offer for enjoyment to visitors. Ever since Dartmoor became a National Park in 1951, its popularity has increased. The dark side of this popularity is that, due to the number of human feet that wander the moor, the place suffers from soil erosion because of overuse.⁷²⁵ The Moor Care Campaign gives a list of advice to visitors on how to behave in order to reduce their

⁷²³Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channe, l transcription by I.B.

⁷²⁴Afraid of the Dark, documentary, history channel.

⁷²⁵ http://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/visiting/vi-caringfordartmoor accessed 28 September 2016.

impact on the moor and to avoid contributing to this process. On the website they write:

In many places it looks wild and rugged but in reality, such areas are extremely fragile. Every year, more and more choose to visit and explore Dartmoor, which puts ever-increasing pressure upon the landscape.⁷²⁶

Hence, Dartmoor may appear to be "wild and rugged" but in reality the landscape is "extremely fragile", and it is under "ever-increasing pressure". Therefore, visitors are advised to keep to the paths, and avoid climbing over stiles and rocks, to use gates and to avoid peak holidays, and of course, to bring their litter back home. This form of overuse of land by ramblers and wanderers has been an issue throughout the post-war period and the "leisure explosion". The fact that Dartmoor is under threat of overuse makes it an area that is part of the environmental struggle. Again, this makes it more interesting, not less.

The issue of overuse of Dartmoor illustrates the paradoxical intention behind the creation of national parks as areas of conservation. The reason that the problem of overuse arises is that Dartmoor attracts visitors in great numbers, which indicates Dartmoor's status as an example of British wilderness and the gravity it has for those looking for wilderness. The problem of overuse at Dartmoor is similar to the situation that the folklorist Jennifer Westwood notes in relation to sacred sites, where visitors *en masse* physically damage sites. Minor ancient monuments and small-scale landscape features, such as holy wells and wayside crosses and tombs, cannot sustain the annual descent of even moderate numbers of people.⁷²⁹ Visitors who come to pay their respects and who want to preserve the site contribute to the damage of the place, Westwood concludes. The paradox of the overused wilderness

244

http://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/visiting/vi-caringfordartmoor_accessed 28 September 2016._"Erosion and general 'overuse', particularly at peak holiday periods, can damage the very fabric of the moor, its plants, its wildlife and its archaeology. Furthermore, it can impact upon the people who live and work within the National Park boundary. The Moor Care Campaign explains how we can all help to conserve and protect Dartmoor whilst enjoying its unique environment not just for our benefit but also for future generations."

http://www.dartmoor.gov.uk/visiting/vi-caringfordartmoor accessed 28 September 2016. The Moor Care Campaign gives advice on its website on "caring for Dartmoor in a few easy steps", that everyone should follow, such as: "The creation of multiple tracks not only spoils Dartmoor's beautiful landscape but also damages precious vegetation and natural habitats."

Name of the result of the r

⁷²⁹ Westwood 1987: xi.

seems to be looping into a further paradox because this overuse also gives further reason to question, not just Dartmoor as one of the few remaining wild places in Britain, or our own conception of wilderness, but more so, the access to, or 'ownership' of Dartmoor. Part of the attraction of Dartmoor is its status as a last resort of British wilderness, but I want to shed some light on a further aspect.

The fact that Dartmoor has the status of a national park makes it accessible for anyone to visit or wander in. National parks are among the last areas of common land that is found. This is a distinctive feature in a country where access to the countryside is restricted by landowners' signs saying, "Trespassers will be prosecuted" or "No trespassing". The matter of landowning conditions and the role of landownership and access to land cannot be left out of any discussion of the English landscape. 730 Hence, the problem of overuse of Dartmoor is not that Dartmoor is accessible to anyone; it is rather that much of rest of the British countryside is not.⁷³¹ Today wild areas are often under the protection of conservation projects, and they are *de facto* under a great deal of human influence. Dartmoor is no exception. The overuse of Dartmoor, and the consequent soil erosion, is one example of how human activity has negative effects on the landscape, despite their good intention to visit Dartmoor, which might be guided by their love of nature or "wilderness". Soil erosion is a well-known phenomenon in open landscapes; however, Dartmoor has not always been an open landscape, it is the place of a lost forest, it is a mythological landscape, and it is in the intersection between contemporary environmental issues and the mythological landscape that Dartmoor as a wild place – and even a dark place – emerges.

5.3.5 The Rayen that Circled above Us

Marta spoke to me of her experience of visiting Dartmoor, and she told a story of an unusual encounter that occurred during an excursion when the group from

_

⁷³⁰ Recently attention have been given to how British children "not connect to nature" and the paradox is that the urban kids, who have access to green spaces, such as a park can play in nature more easily than children living in a countryside shaped by enclosure. Vaughan, Adam (2013) "Four our of five UK children 'not connect to nature" *The Guardian*, Wednesday 16 October 2013.

⁷³¹ Access to the British countryside has been a long struggle over the freedom to roam, or the right to roam. The writer and journalist John Bainbridge has a blog dedicated to campaigning for the Right to Roam across the British Countryside. Bainbridge is the author of *The Complete Trespasser: Journeys into the Heart of Forbidden Britain*, which gives a historical perspective on trespassing, and *Rambling: The Beginner's Bible*, with good advice for beginners in the art of trespassing. Bainbridge is a dedicated campaigner for access to the countryside in the Ramblers Association. Between 1996 and 2005 he was the chief executive of the Dartmoor Preservation Association, and he was a founder committee member of the Two Moors Way Association. He presents himself as "an inveterate trespasser" who believes that "the land is our common inheritance and that the people of Britain should have the right to walk responsibly in their own country."

Schumacher College had been wandering on the moor.⁷³² It was a clear and crisp day in February. While the group on the moor were standing gathered in a circle listening to Stephan Harding, who was leading the expedition, something happened that caught the group's attention. Suddenly a raven had appeared in the sky above them. The raven, which seemed to have appeared from nowhere in the open landscape, circled above the group of people, going around and around above them, in what she describes as "making a perfect circle". They all fell silent and looked up at the sky, at the bird circling above them. For some minutes everyone in the group was silently watching the raven, and simultaneously the raven was watching the strange horde of creatures beneath it on the moor, and then suddenly, the bird broke the circle, turned and flew away towards the horizon, disappearing in the distance. Marta tells how the appearance of the raven made the participants in the group realise that it was not just the group looking at nature or the landscape, but that "nature is looking at us". The raven circling over the group was observing them curiously and seemed to wonder what kind of creatures they were, and what they were doing. 733 The encounter with the raven turned the gaze to the other, and it made Marta and the rest of the group aware that they were not just visiting Dartmoor, but more so they were visitors and guests on the moor.

Marta's account of "The Raven that Circled above Us" portrays Dartmoor, not as a place suitable for an excursion in order to look at nature, or to study it, rather as a place for encounters with the larger-than-human world, here represented by the raven. What happened in the encounter on the moor is not simply that Marta and the rest of the group revalued the animal, and suddenly came to see the Raven as an agent. Instead, they turned their attention to themselves, the strange herd of humans on the moor. From the perspective of the larger-than-human world, represented by the raven, Marta and the group realised that they were guests on the moor. It is an example of the ecological awareness that loops back to question the human selfconception, but the encounter with the raven can also be seen from a spiritual perspective. It is notable that the bird is a raven, which is an important animal in Celtic mythology, but modern zoological research has also demonstrated how ravens are incredibly intelligent birds. Ravens are charismatic animals, but they are also a part of a modern-day lore that draws equally from pagan mythology and folklore and modern animal studies. A further animal that is often admired for its intelligent capacities is part of the next encounter.

5.3.6 In the Eye of the Fox

In the account of the raven that circled above us it was the gaze of the raven that was looking at the humans. In a similar way, Joe told of his encounter with a young

⁷³² Field notes 2013.

⁷³³ Field notes 2013.

fox. One early morning he was sitting on his doorstep with his morning coffee when he sensed how someone was observing him closely, and as he looked up, he saw a fox pup. 734 The little fox looked carefully at him and for some minutes their gaze met in reciprocal recognition. It was as if time stood still, before the little fox ran back in the bushes to its mother and siblings. Joe said, "I wonder if he knew that he had just seen the most dangerous animal in the world." There is a question lingering in Joe's meeting with the fox: How can we face ourselves as representing "the most dangerous animals in this world?" How can we see ourselves as ethical persons and still be part of a species that causes so much trouble? This is a question that is central in ecological philosophy, but it is equally real for many of those I have been in conversation with. Others I have talked to express deep sorrow for how humans treat animals throughout the world. Himari is a young Japanese woman who has moved from Nagasaki to one of the southern islands to escape the busy city life, but in the region where she now lives, dog meat is part of the local diet, and this is something she finds difficult to cope with. The suffering and mistreatment of these dogs is "heart-breaking" and unbearable to witness. Along similar lines, Sarah Pike concludes from her study that for many activists, caring arises from encounters with an objective reality of suffering and devastation that they experience in the world, after an encounter with a mink in a cage or what is left of a mountain after its top has been removed to get at the coal inside. These encounters play a part in moving them towards action.⁷³⁵

In my conversations with participants many also refer to more positive experiences such as how animals can serve as guides in this effort. Animals are important to them, both in their everyday lives and because they offer emotional and spiritual guidance. These experiences are sometimes chance encounters with wild animals in nature, as with the raven or the fox above, but also animal companions or "pets", such as dogs, cats, rabbits or rats (just to mention a few), that are part of their everyday lives may represent 'the wild' and the larger-than-human world. Despite being domesticated, these animal companions are admired and loved because of their 'wild' instincts such as their capacity for intuition, compassion, playfulness and courage. Many describe a spiritual bond with animals, because of their capacity for love and compassion, but also that they have felt how animals have offered guidance and true friendship to them in times when they needed advice. One consequence of these close and deep relations to animals is of course that many do not eat meat, or dairy products. Vegetarianism or veganism is the choice of the majority of participants, and it has increasingly become the norm in society⁷³⁶ because of animal rights issues and ethical concerns in relation to the larger-thanhuman world, but also in relation to climate change and industrial meat production. Thus, animals are seen as more sensing creatures, they know something that humans

⁷³⁴ Field notes 2014.

⁷³⁵ Pike 2017:6.

⁷³⁶ Turner 2013:226-227.

have forgot, they still know their wild mind and their wild origin. Therefore, we must learn from them, and animals may offer guidance or work as models for human behaviour. Animals are often seen as messengers, they mediate an awareness from the larger-than-human world to humans, who often lack this perspective. Donna Haraway has devoted much attention to the question of what happens when species meet, when they look at each other.⁷³⁷

[W]e are in a knot of species coshaping one another in layers of reciprocating complexity all the way down. Response and respect are possible only in these knots, with actual animals and people *looking back at each other*, sticky with all their muddled histories.⁷³⁸

When species meet, the appreciation of complexity is invited. The question how we can we see ourselves as ethical persons and still be part of a species that causes so much trouble is central in ecological philosophy, and therefore encounters with animals, based in non-hierarchical relations and companionship with these, becomes a core value here. ⁷³⁹

5.4 The Mythological Landscape of Dartmoor

5.4.1 The Lore of Dartmoor

On Dartmoor it is "possible to visit many of the places which are connected with the various tales and see them as they were when the events unfolded." The Dartmoor is a "journey into the past", and there are "many mysterious places on the moor" The tourist website offers an evocative image of the place and the local legends, communicating an image of the mythological landscape. The stories told of the lore of Dartmoor come in many versions, and I will offer accounts of storytelling workshops at Dartmoor.

5.4.2 Storytelling in the Anthropocene - Local Lore and Legends

⁷³⁸ Haraway 2008:42.

⁷³⁷ Haraway 2008.

⁷³⁹ For discussion on ethics and animals see Singer (1975) 2000 and Waldau 2017.

⁷⁴⁰ Visit Dartmoor: The Heart of Devon http://www.visitdartmoor.co.uk/explore-dartmoor/myths-and-legends accessed 10 November 2021.

⁷⁴¹ Visit Dartmoor: The Heart of Devon http://www.visitdartmoor.co.uk/explore-dartmoor/myths-and-legends accessed 10 November 2021.

Storytelling is an example of the telling of legends and local lore, and during my visits in the field I have participated in a number of workshops. The performance of storytelling, or simply "the telling", can take various forms and take place in various locations. In some cases, the storyteller stands before the group as in giving a talk to an audience, or the teller might be standing in centre of the group sitting in a circle. Sometimes the group is gathered around a fire, or at an ancient stone circle, or in the forest. The telling of the story can be accompanied by drumming that emphasises the dramatic parts of the story, and the drum can be seen as an inspiration from beat poetry reading as well as a shamanic practices where the drumming guides the shaman's journey between worlds. Storytelling is a multifaceted practice that can be adjusted to the particular need in a certain setting, for example, in one sense, tutorial lectures can be seen as storytelling as well as more artistic performances. Graham Harvey's study of eco-pagans distinguishes between environmental educators and shamanic practitioners as two distinct roles, 742 but I can say that in the various forms of tellings and workshops that I have participated in I have seen examples where the teller may well have both these roles, and ecological education may mediate a spiritual perspective as part of the education.

Throughout this thesis I have returned to Dartmoor, and storytelling is yet another example of the reflective, utopian and spiritual practices I study, and it illustrates that the boundary between these can sometimes be hard to draw. My focus here is on how the telling of the story is performed in relation to, or at, the actual site where the story is said to have taken place. I have discussed this relation between the telling of a story and place in the cases of Dartmoor and Wistman's Wood, and I will not repeat this, but rather add a further example, and hopefully some further insights. In the following I will discuss a storytelling workshop led by Martin Shaw, which took place at the prehistoric circle of standing stones named The Nine Maidens, on Dartmoor. 743 The Nine Maidens is dated to the Bronze Age and despite its name it consists of sixteen standing stones, but the circle is incomplete.⁷⁴⁴ According to local lore the nine maidens were nine teenage girls caught dancing on the Sabbath, and they were turned to stones as a punishment. This story tells the origin of the name of the place, and it is of course of Christian date; the maiden's wrongs are related to the Christian command to keep the Sabbath, and the view of dancing as somewhat sinful behaviour. This is far from the only legend related to the place, 745 and this

_

⁷⁴² Harvey 2012.

⁷⁴³ The Nine Maidens are also known as The Seventeen Brothers or simply The Nine Stones. See further: The Legendary Dartmoor: Exploring the many aspects of Dartmoor. https://www.legendarydartmoor.co.uk accessed 10 November 2021.

⁷⁴⁴ Moorland View Cottage: Dartmoor's best prehistoric sites https://www.moorlandviewcottage.co.uk/devon/dartmoor-prehistoric-sites November 2021.

⁷⁴⁵ Legendary Dartmoor: Exploring the many aspects of Dartmoor. https://www.legendarydartmoor.co.uk accessed 10 November 2021.

was not the story told at the telling I participated in. This workshop started with a walk towards the stone circle, and as the group gathered in the circle and the storyteller stood in its centre and moved around while he was telling the tale. The story that was told is based on a local legend that explains how the circle of stones came into being. I will here tell the story as I remember it. I call it "Magic Half Done", and its opening line is the evocative "Once upon a time..." and so the story goes.

Once upon a time there was a man living in a small cabin in the area. One dark and rainy night he heard a knock on his door, he hesitated whether he would open or not, but so he did and outside stood a stranger. As the stranger needed shelter for the night the man offered him to enter and stay for the night. In the morning, as the night guest was about the leave, he offered a gift for the hospitality, and the man told of a certain sacred spring which had magical powers. The man said that if you dip your sword in this well, it will so powerful that you will be invincible.

When the night guest had left the man was quite excited about this secret knowledge; what could he not do if he was invincible? The man got the idea that he would use this knowledge of magic in order to steal livestock, in that he will be the richest livestock owner in the area. The man rode to the spring and dipped his sword in the water, but as he held it down in the water, the water started to boil, and the shadow of an old man rose from the water. The man was terrified, he immediately withdrew and took his sword from the water. The shadow of the man disappeared; the water in the well was still again. This incident did not give the man any reason for second thoughts. He rode off to steal the sheep, but the shepherd discovered him, and as he drew his sword to defend himself, it was only half the size it had been before. As if this was not enough; the shepherd cast a spell and the man turned into stone, together with the eight sheep he had gathered, and together they formed the circle of the nine stones.⁷⁴⁶

This is unmistakeably a tale with mythic features; and despite being told in full daylight the teller succeeded in creating an eerie ambience. The story has all the properties that set it in ancient time: the dark nights, a sword and the magic. The main character is not really a hero, but a far more complex figure. He is kind in offering shelter to his night guest, but he foolishly chooses to use the secret knowledge of magic simply to steal sheep in order to become the richest man in the whole of Dartmoor, and he lacks the courage – or wisdom – to go ahead with the work of magic. From an analytic perspective, there are three things to emphasise: (i) the story reflects Dartmoor's long history as grazing land for sheep and cattle, which is a controversial matter today, as we have seen previously; (ii) the story tells how the stones came into being, as the stones are the bodies of the thief and the sheep he had gathered. From an ecological perspective this concerns the transformation of life forms, which in geological perspective ranges over vast times.

_

⁷⁴⁶ Field notes 2014.

This is a narrative of how both man and animals can turn to stone, by the trick of magic but also through geological metamorphosis. Hence, there are matters of ecological concern in this story, as well as spiritual because (iii) the story takes place in an enchanted world, a world where magic is alive.

In simple terms it is a story that holds a warning about how to handle magic properly, and it gives a warning against magic half done. The man was given the secret knowledge of magic by the stranger as thanks for his hospitality. He was told to keep his sword in the water in order to make it powerful, but he withdrew in the midst of the process and instead he lost his power. Thus, it is a moral saying that if you deal in magic, you should treat it with respect and have the courage to go through with it. Furthermore, the story raises the question of what purpose you choose to use magic for. The story is an expression of an enchanted world where the workings of magic are part of the process. As is evident, the story can be analysed from several perspectives, although my purpose is not to analyse the story as a text, in terms of its meaning, but to look at storytelling as a practice.

The historian and anthropologist Marcel Détienne has examined ancient Greek stories, stressing that stories are practices. The practices are practices, stories, poems, and treaties are already practices. They say exactly what they do and constitute an act which they intend to mean. There is no need for a gloss to know what they express, or to wonder what they are the metaphor of. The story does not express a practice, it does not limit itself to telling about a movement. In Détienne's words, "It *makes* it." The simple terms stories that cease to be told cease to exist. Myths and legends seem to have a remarkable ability to survive, albeit by transformation. Contemporary storytelling is a practice that can be described as secondary orality, ti is an oral culture which differs from old or traditional notions of oral tradition because it depends on literacy and text as well. This is seen in the case of the storyteller Martin Shaw, who is also the author of a number of books. I will not dwell on the difference between text and telling, instead I will ponder on the relation between stories and place.

5.4.3 Dartmoor the Shape-shifter – Places Long to Speak

The story told at the storytelling session at the Nine Maidens is deep seated in the Dartmoorian landscape: it is the place where this story takes place, and the place where the story was told. The story reflects the history of sheep grazing on Dartmoor, but it also draws the temporal perspective further into deep time. The narrative depicts a metamorphosis, as the bodies of the thief and the stolen sheep

⁷⁴⁷ de Certeau 1984:80.

⁷⁴⁸ de Certeau 1984:80.

⁷⁴⁹ Ong 1971.

turned to stones. The metamorphosis is not only due to magic, from an ecological perspective the story of how man and animals turns to stone, concerns the transformation of lifeforms, which in geological perspective range over vast times. Shaw figures as a storyteller in this account, but he is likewise a scholar of English literature and a mythologist who has written several books which offer further perspectives here. Shaw looks at the contemporary landscape in a time perspective. "Dartmoor, so seemingly permanent, is a shape-shifter, just like the stories are". The stories of Dartmoor are inseparable from the history of Dartmoor.

It has been cultivated, abandoned, mined, regenerated, feared, shorn bald of its tree crest. From a human eye it has been both cramped and lonely, fertile and barren. It carries a word-hoard of story, is a vascular intermingling of animal intelligence. It is its own wild consciousness, its own fluid mythology, whatever shape a particular millennium places upon it. These are just contemporary bumps along the way, little snippets of click time pecking at its great, eternal trumps. ⁷⁵¹

Dartmoor is set in a deep time perspective as Shaw contrasts the 'click time' with the 'eternal trumps', or the present with the long-time perspective ranging over millennia. The "human eye" is in contrast to "animal intelligence". Dartmoor is a place in its own terms, it "carries a word-hoard of stories" and "its own wild consciousness". This storytelling workshop shares a common feature with the walk to Wistman's Wood, where the legend of the druid in the wood that gave its name to the place is told at the actual site where it happened. Again, the workshop takes place, and the story is told *at the actual site* where it takes place. This telling of stories in relation to the actual site is, in Ingold's words, a way of "being intimate with places". What is emphasised in storytelling is how places are sources of stories.⁷⁵² Shaw notes:

Some stories that are rooted primarily in the imagination and others that are geographically specific, that are about a certain place, a certain tree, a certain stretch of water. 753

The telling of such story at this "certain place", by the very tree or stretch of water, is the power of storytelling. Stories are not only related to or referring to places;

252

⁷⁵⁰ Shaw 2014:62–63.

⁷⁵¹ Shaw 2014:62–63.

⁷⁵² Legends, myth and local lore are sources of inspiration, but it is not an antiquarian approach where these are seen as static stories to be retold again and again. The interest in places is a feature that can be found in classic landscape or nature writing, which offers reflection on certain places. This form of storytelling shares the approach of the new eerie of the English landscape, which Macfarlane considers as a feature not just in literature but in various forms of contemporary artwork.

⁷⁵³ Field notes 2013.

stories take place. Places are nests for stories, and this is part of the secret behind their power to enchant.

5.4.4 Embodied Stories – Voice and Listening

These are not just stories related to place, these are also embodied stories. In this context storytelling is more than an opportunity to listen to a good story told by a professional artist, it is a method to work with the urgent matter of our time in a personal and artistic way. Storytelling, in the form that I have studied, does not make the listeners into a passive audience, but invites them as interactive participants. The practice encourages the listeners to actively reflect on the story told, and to contribute their thoughts. This can be done in questions from the teller to the listeners, and before the telling the storyteller might ask the listeners to note "which part of the story spoke to you". Afterwards, those who want to may share their part and tell why this particular part spoke to them. Again, the practice of sharing is part of the workshop, and we have seen many examples of this. As each of the listeners tell their part, it becomes clear that the story told had a varied reception among the participants; the story is never just *one* story as each listener in this sense had their own version. The storytelling workshop offers several questions to bring up, for example: What does this say about where you are right now in your life, in the world? The aim is to offer inspiration for continuous working with these stories. In this sense, the storytelling session is not the whole story, because it continues in the mind and life of the listeners. According to Shaw the role of listening to stories and myths is to connect the story to their own life, and to nature. 754

The idea is that at the end of the week the participants on the programme go back to whatever country or town they come from, or village, to find similar areas and similar stories to investigate. 755

Thus, the storytelling workshop encourages participants to explore and find stories in their lives, such as the local stories where they live, and this is worth noting as the participants at Schumacher come from various parts of the world. Although the storytelling session encourages everyone to go back and explore the stories that they find in the place where they live, the purpose is not that everyone should be a storyteller, but every person (and this is not exclusive for human persons) is a carrier of stories. The stories we carry are memories of our own and memories of places. These stories are important material to reflect upon to understand places and life at a particular time in history. Consequently, storytelling workshops are not passive listening to stories told. In this sense it is the starting point that brings up the

⁷⁵⁴ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁵⁵ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁵⁶ Field notes 2013, 2014.

question: How can we work with these stories? How can we live with them in order to know not only the stories but ourselves and the world? Apart from the actual telling performance, there may be other workshops with the purpose of encouraging participants to continue the reflective work with the stories. This may include various artworks such as poetry, music or paintings.

5.4.5 Stories Told in the Dark

Storytelling, and workshops in storytelling or in relation to storytelling, is a method of working with stories; to reflect on the role of stories. In one such conversation, Mary told us about a childhood experience that had a deep impact on her. One dark autumn night there was a power failure, and all the electric lamps went out, along with the television. The whole town became dark as in ancient times. Mary has a vivid memory of how the family, together with some neighbours who came to their house, were sitting together in the darkness with a few candles burning. She remembered this event as an archetypical or even life-changing moment which she describes as a "profound spiritual experience" because she felt a tranquillity and a strong sense of community that arose in the dark. Despite the darkness that surrounded her family, and the whole village where they lived, she felt safe and happy. She remembers listening to the voices of the adults, who had spoken silently around the candles, and their voices sounded different from the everyday or daylight conversation that they usually had. They sounded sincere; they started to tell old stories she never heard before. She listened to these old stories, looked at the flickering of candlelight and the shadows on the wall, and eventually she fell asleep. She says that sitting together in this way -a circle of friends in the darkness - helps us to formulate our thoughts, and to listen more deeply. It is the stories told in the dark we need today.

Darkness, and the stories told in the dark, is central in Mary's account. As we have seen, it was due to a power failure that the persons came together, the cause that made the occasion something out of the ordinary. Sitting together in darkness, with a few candles burning, transformed the voices and the stories told, which Mary describes as a "profoundly spiritual experience". It was profound in the sense that she as a child experienced something extraordinary, a kind of community, tranquillity and being safe in the midst of the dark night. It was deep in the sense that it shaped her, and it has remained a vivid memory for her. It is also deep in the sense that it exemplifies a practice, a group of people sitting together in the dark, in honest conversation and storytelling, that seems to be a basic feature of human life and community. Mary considers the stories told in the dark (which is not to be mistaken for dark stories that dwell on sorrow) to be necessary in our time. Mary's account can be seen as a version of storytelling, not as a performance, but as part of community. The practice of telling, sharing and listening to stories is part of everyday life but the darkness transformed the voices and stories, according to Mary. Darkness is a pre-eminent feature of human life experience and a fundamental

aspect of human history.⁷⁵⁷ It is intimately connected to people in the past. Throughout human evolution, our experience of the seasons and everyday changes of daylight and darkness made everyone familiar with dark landscapes. Even in times at a closer historical distance, such as premodern Europe, darkness was more of a condition of life than a choice, as contemporary city dwellers might consider it to be.⁷⁵⁸ I have previously discussed Dartmoor as one of the few dark places in Europe and the spiritual value of darkness. In Mary's account the darkness during the power failure was transformed by the sphere of light, the few burning candles. It offered an alternative realm and transformed the voices and stories told. For her it was a profound spiritual experience, and it illustrates the value of light and darkness, as well as stories and community.

Darkness was likewise central in a telling session that took place in the forest one warm summer evening, which lasted between dusk and darkness. We gathered around the fire, sitting in a circle, and the teller was initially sitting in the circle. As the story got more dramatic, the telling was accompanied with drumming that intensified the dramaturgy, and the teller moved and stood up in the middle of the circle. The story told at this session was a modified version of an old story, and the characters were not only the old woman of the wood, but also the foolish man and the Devil himself. There is an archaic quality in stories that take place in historical times, for example, people ride horses rather than bikes or cars. Despite this, much of the challenges they face are recognisable throughout time. After this session William shared his experience. William said that what made an impression on him was the setting of the performance, the circle around a fire in the forest, rather than the story itself. In fact, if he had simply been reading the story it would probably not have caught his interest. For him it was how the story was told, the performance, the dramatisation, and the choice of place, sitting around the fire, seeing the smoke rising, blowing in the wind and listening to the sound of the night in the forest.⁷⁵⁹ William has a background in theatre and drama, and therefore this kind of interactive performance resonates strongly with him. The way the place amplified the story allowed everyone to be part of the performance, the audience, and the scenery. In a theatre this would require a creative set design, but in this setting, everything was already present. William found that sitting around a fire and being part of the storytelling resonated with something inside him which he describes as "an ancient human experience". Therefore, to be part of this is like an echo of "an original scenery of human life and culture". William's reflection is that storytelling is more than listening to a story, it is being part of a place. When you listen to stories from places you know, sitting around the fire, where the smoke is rising upwards or occasionally blows in your direction and you can smell the smoke and the fire, the story becomes very much present in that place, as if it took place for there for the

⁷⁵⁷ Down and Hensey 2016:9.

⁷⁵⁸ Ekrich 2006.

⁷⁵⁹ Field notes 2014.

very first time. At the same time, William sees the telling by the fire as an ancient original scenery of human culture.

Stories told in the dark is a theme in both Mary's and William's accounts. Darkness, the candles and the fire, the sense of simultaneously being present and being part of an ancient, original human experience is a proof of the riddling power of storytelling.

5.4.6 Indeed, Indeed, Indeed... or Staying with the Trouble

"Indeed, indeed, indeed..." These three words indicate a point in the story where things seem to be on the edge, where everything is up to the test, and the storyteller repeats the word "indeed" in order to emphasise and dramatise. The threefold "indeed" indicates a point in the chain of events, and in the narrative, where the character has to face a challenge and make a choice, or to face the consequences of the choice made. It may indicate troubles that are inescapable, but it is, in Shaw's words, what "the Irish calls 'the right kind of trouble". Troubles may be a unescapable feature of life, and Donna Haraway suggests that "staying with the trouble" is a way to come to terms with it. The conversations that are part of the storytelling workshops are conducted in order to stay with the trouble, to get a deeper understanding of the story, but more so, to understand stories in a personal, social and cultural perspective. A further feature is to encourage meta-reflection on the role and power of stories. What stories are told? What stories are never heard today? Shaw elaborates his view of what stories we need today, and why old myths have a relevance today.

I think if you ask me why stories at this point of time, why is it important, why is it relevant, why is it that a story from four thousand years ago can be telling you something about the life you are living today, I would say: in some respects, not much is changed. If you actually look at history, it has continually looked like we have approached the end of our times, to be fair it never had been quite like this, but chaos is always near the doors of the kingdom. And so, we have this backlog of stories to embolden us, to give us courage in difficult times. No story worth its salt doesn't have these moments of grief and losses in it. But stories give us a kind of dignity that statistics never will, you know, you can have all the facts in the world but when the story comes into the room, love comes into the room, and a real revelation of the heart is possible. ⁷⁶²

Shaw contrasts stories and love, with facts and statistics, and as seen in the previous chapter, many argue that science and scientific reports on climate change and the sixth extinction are unable to offer a story, to address deeper and existential

⁷⁶⁰ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁶¹ Haraway 2016.

⁷⁶² Transcription by I.B. from a recording that was made accessible to participants on the course.

questions. It is the "stories gathered from wild places" 763 that can offer the kind of relationship needed.

Certain myths, certain stories, are bridge to the muscled thoughts of the living world. These thoughts we could call the pagan imagination. Pagan from Latin - country dweller. When I write the pagan imagination, it is to illustrate the earthly spaciousness that really grounds a human: not a remote island to oneself, but charmed, invested, lover of place. ⁷⁶⁴

Shaw depicts mythology as a "backlog of stories to embolden us" and "to give us courage in difficult times", however, the stories that help in difficult times are not the simple ones that come with a happy ending; it is the stories that take place on the edge that resonate with living in the Anthropocene. The wild places that offer these stories my very well be haunted places.

5.5. Dartmoor the Wild

5.5.1 Dartmoor and Wistman's Wood

In June 2013 I participated in the Earth Pilgrim Course at Schumacher College, and took part in a roaming expedition on Dartmoor, led by Satish Kumar. This walk was described as a pilgrimage, and the 'shrine' of the walk is Wistman's Wood, a place that was sacred to the druids. During the walk the history of the place was presented, but I will give a short introduction to the site. The evocative name Wistman's Wood means "the Wise man's forest", and the wise man is the ancient druid priest. The storyline of this narrative is quite simple: Wistman's Wood was once a sacred place to the druids who used to go there to communicate with their deities. That the wood was considered sacred and related to the druids was the reason why it was left untouched while the trees on the rest of Dartmoor were cut down. The people in the valley considered the wood as a place set apart, it was sacred, worthy of respect. The local lore tells that it is a haunted place, which is a good reason not to go there. Wistman's Wood is both sacred and haunted, and it bears witness to an ambivalence. As noted above; the etymology of Wistman's

⁷⁶³ Shaw, M 2014: xvii.

⁷⁶⁴ Shaw, M 2014: xvii.

⁷⁶⁵ Kumar is one of the initiators and creators of Schumacher College, editor of *Resurgence & Ecologist*. He is a well-known public figure in Britain, representing the peace and ecological movement, and author of number of books and See Kumar 1992; 2013.

⁷⁶⁶ Field notes 2013.

Wood is part of the narrative: Wistman's Wood means "the wise man's forest", and the wise man is the druid.

What is central here is that the narrative communicates an ecological ethos: it states that the reason that Wistman's Wood was left untouched, while the forest on the rest of the moor was exploited, was that it was considered a sacred place for the druids.⁷⁶⁷ Whether the wood *de facto* was sacred to the druids or not is not the point here, it is the use of the narrative in a modern context that is of interest. ⁷⁶⁸ Although Wistman's Wood is presented as sacred to the druids on the walk on Dartmoor, this is not to imply that the participants collectively are followers of Druidry. Wistman's Wood undeniably has some attraction to them; the evidence is that they found it worth visiting. My concern is to ask how references to the druid's wood are used, to communicate an environmental ethos. The focus is not on the meaning of the narrative but how it is used.⁷⁶⁹ In my view, one use of the narrative is when it was told at the visit to the wood where it works as a tutorial example of how a spiritual relation to places, and to the larger-than-human world, works as a protection from exploitation. Druidry is set as an example of a spirituality that has a respectful approach to place and the larger-than-human world, and particularly so to trees and forests

5.5.2 Approaching Wistman's Wood

The legend of Wistman's Wood was presented as part of the walk on Dartmoor, and I have discussed the use of the narrative, but it is necessary to look at the walk as a practice. For the sake of analysis, the walk on Dartmoor can be separated into distinctive parts. It starts as an ordinary walk, and after one hour there is a first stop for a short break, to rest your feet and drink some water. When the walk continuous towards the Wistman's Wood a meditative part follows, when participants are instructed to "be present at this place", and the instruction is, if you talk to each other, talk about what you see and sense while you walk. After almost one hour's walk Wistman's Wood is seen ahead as it stands out as a green forest-island in the open moor. Just outside the wood on the hillside, by the river, the group takes a break, and the story of Wistman's Wood, that once was a sacred place for the druids, is told. Before continuing I will linger on the meaning of "being present at this place".

When it begins, the walk on Dartmoor outwardly looks like an ordinary ramble across the moorland. The walk is approximately seven miles, and from the starting point to the wood maybe three miles. After the first stop for a short rest, as the walk continues towards Wistman's Wood, a *meditative walk* follows, when the

258

_

⁷⁶⁷ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁶⁸ The use of history is a perspective that studies how people create and construct meaning (narratives and practices) in relation to history, and historical events. See Aronsson 2004.

⁷⁶⁹ In this, I follow Carrette and King 2005.

participants are instructed to focus on being present at this place, and conversations are restricted: if you do talk to each other, talk about this place. What do you see and sense while you walk? What I found distinctive is that being present in meditation on place, is not defined as 'a moment in time', but as 'movement and place', or as 'momentum of time space'. It is an embodied experience of place and body. The meditative walk leads towards Wistman's Wood where the group takes a break, and the story of Dartmoor as a lost wood, and Wistman's Wood, the grove that once was a sacred place, is told. I have already outlined the simple storyline but for the sake of clarity it is worth repeating: Wistman's Wood was once a sacred place to the druids who used to go there to communicate with their deities. As the wood was seen as sacred and related to the druids it was left untouched while the trees on rest of Dartmoor were cut down. The people in the valley considered the wood as a as a place set apart, being sacred, deserving respect. The local lore pictures it as a haunted place, which is a good reason not to go there. The local lore

What is happening here is that the story is told at the place, and it is worth noting, because the instruction of the meditative part was exactly to talk about *this place*. The telling of the story of Dartmoor and of Wistman's Wood, just by the wood, at the site where everyone is present at that point, continues the meditative practice of being present. To enter the wood, furthering the dramaturgy, for those who prefer the walk continues into the wood, but while being in the wood *silence* has to be observed. Consequently, the pilgrim walk towards Wistman's Wood follows a dramaturgy where the parts of the walk, and the practices performed, form a successive and conscious movement of approaching the place. This conscious approach helps to creates a sense of 'sacredness' and it emphasises the narrative of Wistman's Wood as a place with the power to enchant. The meditative walk is therefore a spiritual practice that forms a way to cultivate enchantment.

5.5.3 The Embodied Experience of Place

Those who visit Wistman's Wood on a sunny day in June would find it a mesmerising place, but at some other time of the year or time of day they would find that it has a very different character. Think of a dark night in November, a pale moon is shining, dark clouds are torn by the wind, and as they cover the moon, the moor is left in total darkness. Think of the cold night that makes you shiver and think of the sound of the howling wind, and maybe the cry of an owl is heard somewhere far away. As noted, Dartmoor is one of the few places in Britain where

⁷⁷⁰ Field notes 2013.

⁷⁷¹ Schumacher College is a secular education institution, in the sense that it is non-confessional, it does not give priority to any religion but allows different spiritual expressions to take part. It is secular in that everyone can choose to participate in the spiritual practices if they want, and if they prefer not to they do not have to. The fact that the walk stops outside Wistman's Wood is notable in this perspective.

it is still possible to experience true darkness, that is, a place untouched by light pollution from modern city lights. My impression of the place, like that of other participants, is shaped by the conditions that prevailed when we visited. So, let us once again think of a sunny day in June. The moss on the stones is a deep green carpet that covers the ground, the greenery of the trees flickers in the soft wind, the interplay between light and shadow is painting a chiaroscuro that seems to bring magic to the place. The running water in the river can be heard in the background. Birds were singing, but on this occasion, there was also some other music because one participant had brought a flute and sat playing on a stone, and of course the music of the solitary flute, and the timeless song that was played, emphasised the scenery of ancient grove, a place the druids visited to communicate with their deities. The sensuous experience of listening plays a vital role in the embodied experience of a place, and the flute played is part of the soundscape that helps to create the ambience at the place. I will discuss listening and soundscapes further on, but for now I will continue my account of what the visitors did at the place.

Among those that entered the wood on this occasion there was variation in what they did in the woods, and practices were performed according to each person's habitus in relation to that particular field. While some meditated in lotus position, some strolled alone, someone else climbed a tree. Hence, among those who entered the wood there is no fixed set of practices that decides what you can do and cannot do – as long as you do not go to excesses, it might be added, and do something that would disturb others. Nevertheless, there is a shared attitude to the place, and that is that you should be respectful, which can be done in various ways. Maintaining the silence is the common feature here. It must be mentioned, however, that not everyone in the group entered the wood. Some set out for a solitary stroll on the moor, some preferred to lie in the grass and take a lunch nap, or simply to sit in the sun just outside the wood, chatting with fellow participants. The account illustrates the experimenting approach that characterises many of the practices where spontaneous improvisations and experiments may give rise to new practices. Furthermore, these experiments are sometimes evaluated by participants, as in this case where many participants expressed their gratitude to the woman who had been playing music. As we have seen, there is no general set of practices, movements or body poses that those who enter the wood are entitled to perform. Each person can do what they prefer, but the postures performed are within the frame of paying respect to the wood and observing the silence. There is, as Trulsson notes in her study, no unmediated encounter between persons and their environment that produces univocal experience, rather the affordances are appropriated in relation to a person's habitus.⁷⁷² Performing practices are always body-in-practice, and this includes the participants' interactions and interpretations of both practices and narratives, and this becomes even more obvious if the practice includes silence. Thus, the body-as-place forms a node of 'being present' in a landscape. Bodies, as

⁷⁷² Trulsson 2010:155.

well as landscapes, are, as Casey contends, always already culturally, socially and historically related, it depends on the individual's personal experiences and representations how they experience the place. Neither the human body nor the landscape are naturally given. Places that precipitate out of the body-landscape interplay are "cultural entities" from the start, and this is particularly clear if we discuss a place like Wistman's Wood that has such a rich flora of stories attached to it. Places, like bodies and landscapes, are something that we experience, and experience here stays true to the etymological origin of "trying out" or "making a trial out of". In this sense, it can be said that visiting a place means trying it out or making a trial out of it. Hence, we cannot really know in advance the effect the landscape will have on us.

5.5.4 Thin Places – Places with the Power to Enchant

Entering Wistman's Wood was done in silence, and, for obvious reasons, I was not able to talk to anybody during the time in the forest, but afterwards it was possible to have some conversations about it. Sarah compares being in Wistman's Wood to being in a little nest on the open moor. She describes it as being in a house where the wood offered shadow and protection from sunlight, the open landscape and the wind. She reflects on how the oaks have grown knotty from their harsh environment, standing in the wind in Dartmoor, and how the trees seem to be leaning together, finding strength in each other. Sarah describes Wistman's Wood in a spiritual vocabulary as a 'thin place', and as a place with "old and earthy energies", but on this occasion she felt that it was difficult to go deeper into this mood as there were so many people around during this visit, and it did not last so long. Therefore, she hopes to return some other time, to fully tune in to the place. Although this may be presented as a spiritual practice, there is an ambivalence in Sarah's account of the visit. Sarah tells that she found it difficult to tune in to the place, because of the number of people around and the visit was too short. Nonetheless Sarah recognises the wood as a place of spiritual significance, as a "thin place". The term 'thin places' that Sarah uses is an expression in Celtic spirituality, including early Christianity and Celtic cult, referring to places where the veil between the world and the otherworld is thin. The etymology of 'thin place' is the Celtic/Gaelic caol áit, which is pronounced 'kweel awtch'. It is worth noting that Sarah chooses this word from Celtic spirituality to describe Wistman's Wood, which is presented as a sacred place to the ancient druids. Celtic spirituality draws on both Paganism and early Celtic Christianity. Within modern-day Celtic spirituality, thin places are special places in nature. This is one example of the use of the term from a website which sheds light on the conception:

⁷⁷³ Casey 2009:30.

Ancient Celts held the view, and latter-day ones, and others, still hold the view, that there exist places, times and events where the separation between here and the Other, that veil, that threshold to the spiritual realm, is unusually 'thin' and can be touched, encountered, felt, experienced. They called them 'thin places, and they still exist today, and you can experience them.⁷⁷⁴

A thin place is a place where we are aware of the closeness of the Other. These are more likely to be places in nature, such as stones, groves or certain trees, rather than churches or buildings, but there are thin places in urban areas as well. There is a creative feature of thin places; these are places to find and discover on your own terms, and there are no fixed rules for what to do there. Thin places may be particularly important at a special time of year, when the veil between the worlds is thin. 'Thin places' is an emic term in this study. A thin place cannot simply be seen as a sacred place; perhaps it is more correct to describe it as a liminal place or, in Bennett's vocabulary, as a place with the power to enchant. As we have seen, Harvey introduces the 'Greenwood' to refer to these places, particularly in a Pagan context, and all these contribute to the understanding of these kind of places. In my perspective these terms do not exclude each other they rather resonate with a more complex image and conception of place and to refer to this I prefer the term 'wild place'.

5.5.5 A Solitary Flute in the Wood – Ecomusicology and Enchantment

Several participants commented the flute music. They testified to how much they had appreciated the flute music, and they showed their appreciation to the woman who played the music. Many emphasise how the music resonated with the place, as one described the flute music played as "just perfect in that place", and many expressed their gratitude to the flutist because the music had added much to their experience of the place. The music added a sense of magic to the place. The playing of the flute was done spontaneously by this participant, it was not planned by the organisers, but the music nevertheless became a vital part of the experience for those who participated on this occasion and drew attention how music and sounds are part of the perception of places.

Eco-musicology is the study of the relation between music and ecology. The eco-musicologian Mark Pedelty suggests that in order to study music ecologically it is necessary to consider connections between sound, people and place. Music is not separate from its context, and "music helps define who we are and mediates our

⁷⁷⁴ Tadgh Talks: Exploring encounters of the liminal kind: Mo drui, mac De "Experiencing 'Thin places' As The Ancients Did" https://tadhgtalks.me/2020/06/17/experiencing-thin-places-as-the-ancients-did/ accessed 16 November 2021.

⁷⁷⁵ Pedelty 2012:10.

imagination of place".⁷⁷⁶ The flute music fitted into the place as it "mediates our imagination" of Wistman's Wood as a fairytale forest or a pagan place where the ancient druids worshiped their deities. Various musical genres may mediate different imaginations of place, and folk music is often seen as rural music, while rock is predominantly viewed as urban. Acoustic music, particularly string and wind instruments, such as flutes, are considered more ecological sounds. Songs and music are not exclusively humans making sounds, because this also include the sounds of the wild, and the soundscape. The soundscape is more than the music; it is also the birds, the soft wind in the trees, or the murmuring water in the river passing by. The solitary flute in the wood, the tune played, did not drown out the other sounds of the place; it formed an ensemble with the various voices of the larger-than-human world. There is an intimate relation between songs and enchantment, and as Bennett notes, the etymology of 'enchantment' is to en-chante, the French *chante*.

5.5.6 The River and the Tor

One of the characteristics of Dartmoor is the craggy tors that stand out in the landscape. The tors are natural formation of granite rock, yet they look like rocky hillforts overlooking the moor. As the light fades, they become strange silhouettes, looking like ruins of lost castles. Standing on top offers a panoramic view of the landscape. The tors occupy a significant place in the local lore as they are said to be the source of the River Dart. The river starts as two branches, East and West Dart. which come together at Dartmeet. The river leaves the moor at Buckfastleigh, runs towards Totnes, before reaching the south coast and Dartmouth by the sea, where it finally flows into the Atlantic. The river name Dart is presumed to be Brythonic Celtic meaning 'river where oak trees grow', because the banks of the lower Dart are covered with ancient woods of native oak. Thus, the river Dart is 'the river where oak trees grow, the Dart that has given its name to Dartmoor, which is the moor by the river where the oak trees grow. Following the River Dart back to its source will lead us to Dartmoor's craggy tors. Springs of water are places with significance, as a life-giving resource and as a powerful symbol of life, fertility and purity. This is an example of how natural formations such as rocks, the source of a river, a place with water, are part of local lore and legend. The following is somewhat different from my previous accounts of a number of workshops practices because it was not a planned workshop. It emerged spontaneously among four participants on a walk, and one of them was me. I would say that this was a special moment for all four of us, and indeed I felt some hesitation about including it in the thesis, but as I decided to do so I have saved it for the last account.

During a walk on Dartmoor, the pathways lead us uphill towards one of the tors. As we all passed the top of one of these, one of the participants and I noted a strange

⁷⁷⁶ Pedelty 2012:12.

shape in the flat surface on one of the rocks at the top of the tors. It was an oval shape, almost half a metre diagonally at the broadest part, two-inch-deep, and since it had been raining just before, it was filled with water. The water was crystal clear and was reflecting the light like a mirror. We were fascinated; what was it? Was it a natural formation, created by geological processes, or was it an artefact, man-made by hands that had cut the shape in the hard rock? The shape was a perfect oval and it looked as if it had been cut into the rock with a special purpose. The fact that it was filled with water made us guess that this was what it was meant for: to gather rainwater, because the oval shape looked like a spring. This little pool reminded of the legend of the tors as the source of the River Dart. Was this a reminiscence from the old Bronze Age settlers? Perhaps a site of some cultic relevance for the ancient Celts? Yet another participant stopped and asked what we were looking at, and when we showed her what we had found she spontaneously said: "Wow, this is the kind of place where you should perform a ritual". We all agreed. We were intrigued by the place; the other participants in the walk continued, some stopped and asked what we were looking at, some stayed for a short glance, some lingered for a while, said some words of appreciation, but soon set off again so as not to be left behind. Another woman joined us, and so there were four of us who lingered at the place while the rest of the group walked on ahead, leaving us behind. What was it that made us linger?

Indeed, the place was a point of gravity. The water that had gathered in the formation was glittering in the sunshine, the rainwater was crystal clear, but it was not only the beauty of it all that spoke to us. There seemed to be a story of what once happened here, a story that was now silence. The water gathered in a little pool perhaps knew, but for us the unanswered question of whether it was natural formation in the rock, or an artefact was indeed enigmatic. One of us said, "The water is so clear that you can drink it." Then, without any words, one of us knelt and took some drops of water in his hands and drank, and without any comment on what he had done, and we all followed his example, one by one, while we remained in silence. When the last one of us was to drink she lay flat on the ground and let her lips touch the water as she drank. When we all had taken a drink, we stood for a while silent around the water. It was one of those moments when time stood still, though it may not have lasted more than a minute. The silence was broken as the first person to drink asked the woman why she had lain flat on the ground to drink, not drinking from her hand like the rest of us. She said that while she saw us drinking, she came to think of an Indian spiritual story that tells that how to touch a soul, because the soul is sensitive like water.

Some souls are like a lake surrounded by reeds, you have to bend away the reeds very carefully to be able to reach the water, that is, to touch their soul. Yet other souls are like the water that has been gathered in the footprint of a buffalo after the rain. These have to be treated very carefully, and with great care. The only way to drink this water is to lie down flat on the ground and let your lips drink the water without letting your hands touch it.

This brief story illustrates that stories can vary in length, but the strength of the story does not depend on the format. It also illustrates that we all carry stories, and occasionally we tell them to others who in turn tell them to others, as the woman gave us the story on this occasion. I have just passed it on to my readers. When she told the story it became a closing point for our spontaneous circle. By now the rest of the group were quite distant from us and we continued the walk a long way behind them. We said that we hoped to return to the place again. Preferably in moonlight.

Unlike the various practices that I have discussed previously, the practices in this account, which I call "The Water of the Tor" were not planned, but emerged spontaneously in relation to the place, as a shared initiative by the four participants. "The Water of the Tor" can be analysed as yet another example of Bennett's notion of places with the power to enchant. Bennett develops her notion of places with the power to enchant, in contrast to the sense of wonder that implies a design, and Bennett makes clear that the enchanting places she interprets as quasi-pagan do not imply this design, that is, the hands of a God creating the world. 777 In this example. the point is of course not whether this is an intelligent design in the sense that it makes reference to a God. Bennett introduces the notion 'quasi pagan' as part of her philosophical analysis, but in my material, in relation to prehistoric Dartmoor, and particularly in relation to this site, the notion of quasi pagan become more concrete, because it relates to the pagan prehistory, and a possible pagan site of cultic relevance. However, there is not only the site, but more so the cavity filled with water and the enigma as to whether it is a natural formation or man-made, and Bennett states that "Nature enchants, but so do artifacts. Man-made complexities also can provoke wonder, surprise, and disorientation." ⁷⁷⁸Artefacts may range from ancient stonework to computers, but the status of this cavity was not known, which gave it its enigmatic ambience. For the sake of clarity, my perspective focuses on how this possible artefact is used here and now, my work is not to figure out the historical use. The question whether the cavity in the rock de facto is an artefact or not is left aside here, because the thing that is clear in the use in the contemporary setting is that it is rather its indefinite character – its ambiguity and riddling power - that renders it a place of spiritual significance. It is this riddling power that I will discuss next.

5.5.7 Riddling Power – Creativity and Imagination

Part of the fascination that made us linger concerned the question of whether it was a natural formation, made through geological processes, or if it was an artefact, made by human hands that had cut this shape in the rock. Because of its shape, a perfect oval, it looked as if it had been cut into the rock with a special purpose. The

⁷⁷⁷ Bennett 2001:12.

⁷⁷⁸ Bennett 2001:108.

pool of water that gathered in it after the rain was perhaps a clue to the underlying intention. The water that had gathered in the cavity in the rock reflected the sunlight like a mirror. The legend of the tors as the spring of the river, which had previously been presented as the group passed the River Dart, gave the water a special presence at the site, in a mythic sense. One of the participants immediately recognised the site as "the kind of place where you should perform a ritual". I have been careful in my use of ritual, since I have found that it is problematic in many ways, but in this account, 'ritual' is an emic term. As we saw, her comment and the remark about the purity of the water were followed by a third participant's initiative to drink the water, and after him the others followed, one by one, while remaining in silence.

My account of "The Water of the Tor" calls for some methodological reflection, because the participant who said that "The water is so clear that you can drink it" was actually myself. Therefore, this shows how, in going into the field, you occasionally do something more than simply participate. At certain moments you will become a participant, forgetting your scholarly pursuit, which means that you are a part of your own study. I have felt some hesitation about including this account in my thesis. For methodological reasons, it can be said that I was the one who initiated it. I was the first to draw attention to the little pool. A more personal reason to hesitate is that it was a special occasion for all of us. Nevertheless, I found that sharing this can contribute to the understanding of how such 'spontaneous ritualisation' comes about. I think that the four of us who were part of this circle were persons who are used to being part of similar practices, and therefore we all have the kind of skills and sensibility that allow us to improvise and co-create practices that are suitable for a particular place and occasion. There are some distinctive and recognisable features, such as silence, that are part of this practice, but also the drinking of the water. After my comment, "The water is so clear that you can drink it" another participant, without any words, knelt and took some water in his hands and drank. None of the others commented on what he had done, silence was natural, as a sign of respect. One after one, we all followed his example, while we remained in silence. When the last one of us was to drink, she lay flat on the ground and let her lips touch the water as she drank. When we all had been tasted the water, we stood and remained silent for a while around it. We formed a circle. When the person asked the woman why she drank lying flat on the ground, not from her hand like the rest of us, it was a simple and curious question, not intended to criticise what she had done. That the woman told a little story in her answer is a further illustration of how stories are often used as illustrations of spiritual matters, and it also shows that participants are used to telling and retelling, and listening to stories, that is, sharing stories with each other. It exemplifies how stories come to life in relation to place and practice. In this example the place had an appearance – or a power to enchant – that attracted the attention of the four persons. However, the riddling power is not only a gravity of place, but the ability of those who gather here to recognise the place as "ancient". This recognition is dependent on the imagination and creativity. It was imagination that brought the cavity to life as something

enigmatic and led us to spontaneously create and perform a practice that gave expression of the sense of place and the encounter with deep time.

5.6. Conclusions

In simple terms, a visit to Dartmoor can be described as a rambling expedition, but it is an example of a reflective practice where the telling of the history of the place is central. In this the telling of the history of a certain place, at the actual place, is significant. There are three ways of working in this practice: (i) it creates an awareness of the place (the transformative processes in the remoulding of the landscape); (ii) it creates a presence at the actual place (which is often related to meditative, contemplative or spiritual practices); and (iii) it relates to a long-term perspective (in the deep time of ancient history and geological and perspectives). In this chapter I have discussed the reflective practices and the importance of place in relation to Dartmoor. Given its history Dartmoor can illustrate the narrative of the end of civilisation, as well as the contested notion of wilderness. Dartmoor makes the tutorial questions visible in the landscape, not just what is seen as wilderness or what fails to fulfil our expectations.

Further, these reflective practices aim to create an awareness of how landscapes are shaped by human activities and historical processes. Dartmoor constitutes an example of how human interference remoulds the landscape. Dartmoor's ancient history makes it a place of a lost forest, and a lost civilisation. In this sense, Dartmoor cannot be presented as a place untouched by human interference, but conversely, the historical background of Dartmoor, with its Bronze Age settlers, and its lost woodland, gives evidence for human presence and interference throughout the centuries.⁷⁷⁹A general feature here is that the history of Dartmoor is presented, and the telling of the story is an invitation to reflect on ecological and historical processes, and in this sense it is part of an environmental education.

'Shifting baselines' refers to the forgetfulness that makes people blind to landscapes, and consequently the recognition of how it once was forms a recognition of the loss of place. Places may be transformed to such an extent that they are unrecognisable, and this was discussed in relation to Dartmoor, where the now open moorland once was a forest that was cut down in the late Bronze Age. The practice of telling the story of a place at the site makes the shifting baselines tangible and therefore it forms a negotiation of baselines. The restoration of memories of lost landscapes makes people see the changes that have taken place. In elaborating my

-

⁷⁷⁹ Of course, Cronon's argument has gained influence in environmental discourse since it was published in 1995, and it is worth noting that Cronon writes primarily from an American perspective, and the difference between the relation to, and conception of, wilderness in America and Britain has to be taken into consideration. In America the conception of the wilderness as 'the frontier', has been influential, even outside the American context.

notion of negotiating baselines, I distinguish between two forms of negotiating baseline: (i) in relation to place, which is done according to the reading of the landscape, and (ii) in relation to time, that is in deep time perspectives. Part of the challenge of the Anthropocene is to face the task of thinking on temporal and spatial scales that are unfamiliar, even monstrously gigantic. I found that the task of finding ways to be able to think on these temporal and spatial scales is central in many of the workshops I have participated in.

In this chapter, I have presented Dartmoor as a wild place. I found three senses in which Dartmoor is depicted as a wild place. In the accounts presented, many have ambivalent feelings about Dartmoor and therefore I call the first (i) the ambience and ambivalence of Dartmoor. I have discussed the emotional responses to being out in the moor: the fear of being trapped on the moor in the mist, or the frightfulness of the vast open space, and I have paid attention to the range of emotions that being out in a landscape can trigger. In this I have paid attention to a complex of feelings that not only include being vulnerable, feeling lost, fearing open spaces, but also, for some people, the challenging sense that being out in the landscape makes them feel alive and part of the wild mind. These accounts cannot easily be described in terms of enchantment if we follow Bennett's notion of bliss and wonder. Dartmoor may be a place with the power to enchant, but the place give rise to experiences of pleasure and beauty, as well as fear and anxiety. These senses of wonder go hand in hand with a sense of vulnerability, and these are very much part of (ii) the darkness of Dartmoor. Dartmoor as a dark and wild place resonates with a premodern notion of wilderness, as a space for encounters, but in the contemporary context these are seen as ambivalent rather than just purely "evil" or dangerous. The eerie, the uncanny, is evocative and very much part of the riddling power of the place and its stories. Places owe their ambience to those who spend time there, as Ingold notes, but these are not exclusively humans. The larger-than-human world includes animals, flora and fauna as well as the ghosts and shadows, of which some are ancient hauntings, some are the animated ghosts of the Anthropocene. Dartmoor as a wild place is set at intersection of the mythological landscape and the landscape of contemporary environmental matters. Dartmoor as a wild place is in simple terms related to the wildlife, and Dartmoor is, to some extent, a less human-centred world. Part of this is conception is Dartmoor as a place beyond civilisation. The historical record of the lost Bronze Age civilisation makes it an example of the narrative of the end of civilisation, and the contemporary darkness of Dartmoor marks it as a place less under the spell of modern civilisation. Dartmoor is as a space for encounters with the larger-than-human world. These encounters are important in the rewilding of the human mind.

A further feature of Dartmoor as a wild place is (iii) *Dartmoor as the ancient land*. I have discussed the ancient landscape, both in relation to the sacral values of the landscape, which is part of the cultural historical context, and also set in a deep time perspective informed by modern ecological ethics. What I refer to as the negotiation of baselines proceeds from the notion 'shifting baselines' (how the lost

memories of past conditions make us blind to the damage done) to discuss the role of visiting these landscapes. I found that deep time perspectives of landscape and deep time encounters can inform ecological ethics because they are like a mirror of the forgetfulness of the shifting baselines. In relation to time and landscapes, to call back the memories and the act of remembering becomes an act of relating to places, it means becoming aware of the historical processes, and becoming aware of how human beings remould the landscape. Therefore, the ancient landscape has become a replacement for a lost wilderness as a place that attracts people with a spiritual as well as an ecological interest. The importance of these landscapes, which Ingold describes as "pregnant with the past", is that they help us to think on a different time scale, that is, in a deep time perspective that ranges beyond human history, into geological eras such the Anthropocene. To be able to reach out into the gap of time, to think and sense these timescales, is a vital part of the rewilding of the human mind and the exploration of the wild mind.

6. Analysis, Theoretical Discussion and Prospects for Further Research

In this chapter I relate directly to the research questions to present my answers to them and proceed in the analysis to discuss enchantment and the wild. I will formulate my conception of wild enchantment in relation to the theoretical discourse, and I hope to contribute some insight into the fields. Finally, I will outline some prospects for further research. Initially I will offer some bullet points to sum up my answers to my research questions, but I will elaborate on my answers throughout this chapter.

6.1 Recapitulating the Queries

My first question is: What motivates people to turn to spirituality as an answer to the challenges of climate change and ecological crisis? This is of course a complex matter. What seems to be important is that (i) spirituality offers frames for narratives and practices which enable reflections concerning these challenges, and ways of working to explore the emotional, existential and ethical dimension, and that (ii) spirituality is intimately related to change, at the personal and societal level.

My second question is. What are the points of negotiation in the intersection between green movement and spirituality? I will discuss three points of negotiation: negotiating spirituality, negotiating ecological self-awareness and the wild mind, and negotiating baselines. (i) Negotiating spirituality concerns how spirituality relates to the scientific notion of climate change, and a dissatisfaction with the disenchanted tale of scientific reports, in contrast to the enchanted alter-tale. (ii) Negotiating self-ecological awareness, relates to how the realisation of the state of the world also means understanding the role of humanity in relation to the ecological crisis. Therefore, ecological awareness is no longer an external matter of protecting nature but to questioning human self-conceptions. This new ecological self-understanding is a key to the rewilding of the human mind – or the wild mind. (iii) Negotiating baselines refers to practices that serve to read the landscape, often in the form of telling the history of the landscape at the actual place. These practices work to restore the lost memories of how it once was and relate to deep time perspectives.

My third question is: What is the relation between narrative, practice and place? I found that (i) places form a node in linking narratives and practices. Narratives are related to practices, they are stories to be told rather than texts to be read, stories are part of reflective practices such as sharing circles or storytelling. Place is distinctive in these workshops, which take place in nature, and which work to create a deeper meaning and a sense of place. Therefore, (ii) narrative, practice and place together offer ways to cultivate wild enchantments. In a catchier formulation I describe this as working with wonder and wounds.

6.2 Motivations – Turning to Spirituality

Through my many encounters with people who have shared their experiences of how spirituality became distinctive in their lives in relation to the ecological crisis, I have found answers to the questions: What is the attraction of spirituality? What motivates people to turn to spirituality? A central motivation seems to be that spirituality offers a framework, a language, symbols and values that make it possible to address the uncertainty and challenges lying ahead. This is not to say that spirituality makes the difficulties disappear; instead, they are set within a context, and they become part of a narrative which offers hope and models for action, and that addresses the emotional, existential and ethical dimension of living in times of crisis.

6.2.1 The role of Spirituality in Coping with Crisis

A challenge that is often expressed is the need of stories that are able to address the situation. Creating these new stories may start from myths and legends as well as modern stories. Rather than a grand narrative, there is a multitude of narratives, and it is perhaps better to refer to these as deep narratives. These deep narratives may have various themes, one of which I call "turning to spirituality". These are personal stories that highlight how individuals came to a state in their lives where they found that spirituality could offer them something they felt they need. Realising the reality of climate change and the ecological crisis is, in one sense, dependent on scientific facts. Nonetheless, many express that science alone cannot tell the story of our time, because science cannot address or answer the many emotional, existential or ethical questions that arise in relation to the current crisis. Science offers quantitative facts, calculations, science offers a rational, disenchanted discourse, and this can be contrasted to the alter-tale, the enchanted narrative that is equally part of modernity.

Firstly, spiritually offers frameworks for narratives and practices which enable reflection on these questions, and ways of working to explore them. This tentative approach is distinct from religious traditions that offer dogmatic religious answers. The issues that arise in relation to climate change are considered deeper, and may

be emotional, such as "How to cope with grief?", existential, such as "Are humans different from other living creatures?", and ethical, such as "How to live without damaging other living creatures and the planet?" Other questions concern more practical challenges. Dark green spirituality is a this-worldly or earth-based spirituality which emphasises the relation to the larger-than-human world, in narratives, as well as in practices and places. Secondly, spirituality is intimately related to change, at the personal and societal level. Hence, in this material, 'spirituality' is seen as a process, not as a state of being, or an identity. Nor is it referred to as a sudden religious conversion, rather as a *continuous* process. Many have shared their story of how spirituality became necessary in their lives, and in their stories a pattern has emerged that sheds light on the motivation behind this turn.

A further feature is that many people who do not want to enter into an established religious community prefer the kind of practices and workshops that have been presented in this thesis. Spirituality is here created in alternative spaces, in ongoing experiments that allow participants to try out their own approach. In these workshops narrative, practice and places are distinctive, and in real cases almost inseparable. What is also distinctive is how the individual participant's body forms a node representing place-as-bodies, and how the telling of the personal story coordinates with reflections on the state of the world.

Given the reality of the ecological and climate crisis, many voice an experience of living in times of crisis. Turning to spirituality has a central role in *coping with* this new reality. This is not to say that coping means consultation or that it is simply therapeutic. The present is seen as a deep crisis and an increasing sense of uncertainty is repeatedly expressed. Living in times of crisis means that much is up for trail, it is the end of all things taken for granted, and this gives rise to many questions, some of which concern our fundamental values. Therefore, this leads to existential worries and spirituality gives the individual energy to cope with uncertainty. A spiritual approach to climate change and ecological crisis emphasises that it is necessary to understand the depth of the crisis, to ponder on the profound challenges that lie ahead. It is a crisis that indicates that the fundamental values – or the lack of values – that govern the current development are at fault. This goes together with a conviction that technological solutions are not enough. This is not to say that no practical (or technological) efforts are needed to handle these devastating events. The parable of The Pious Man illustrates the importance of both the practical efforts of trying to save and care for your neighbour and create community. Cultivating community is a central value which very much converges with social resilience. Climate change and ecological crisis are therefore an indication of a deep crisis, and it is a spiritual crisis. At the root of this spiritual crisis is the insight that humans are the cause of both climate change and the loss of biodiversity.

Spirituality in the Anthropocene

How can spirituality fill the needs of people's experience in facing the Anthropocene? The theologian Sigurd Bergmann considers the question of the role of religion in relation to environmental crisis.⁷⁸⁰ I would like to reformulate Bergmann's insights in terms of spirituality, as follows: Spirituality cultivates in humans important skills needed to make oneself feel at home, and spiritual perception, practices, emotions and beliefs are closely interwoven with the environment in which they emerge. Bergmann offers a non-essentialist understanding of religion/spirituality, which recognises that these emerge in a specific environment, and a specific historical context. Although our existential needs may be perennial, our contemporary predicament offers exceptional Bergmann pinpoints "our existential need for homecoming", 781 and the crucial query, how we can make ourselves at home in a world of anthropogenic environmental change, presents an immense ethical challenge to both emotional and existential needs. Bergmann sheds light on the existential dilemma, making ourselves at home on a planet we are devastating. Transcendentalism, the escape to some otherworldly heaven, offers no way out of the dilemma, the Earth is our home. This challenges not only our existence together with other species, but, inescapably, the human self-image, as we need to move beyond our individuality and became part of a species that is devastating the planet. Together with a conviction that technological solutions are not enough, this is an incentive to start pondering on the daily as well as the deep questions. The daily choices and habits of everyday life are interwoven with deeper ethical issues. This is a further aspect of how the emotional, existential and ethical dimension motivates many to turn to spirituality.

What I found to be a core in the conception of spirituality in my field is the value of compassion and community. It is distinctive that (i) community and compassion are cultivated in practices, and (ii) community and compassion are not restricted to humans but include the larger-than-human world. It is in the community that it is possible to find safety, or rather: safety is *created* in the community, and by the community, that is, the participants in the community. In creating this safety there are concrete questions to deal with, for example, which skills will be needed to adjust to an ecological life? There are *practical skills* such as growing food, carpentry, or craftsmanship and artistic skills. *Social skills* are helpful in creating community as well as *spiritual skills*, for example, being able to practise healing, to offer workshops that help people relate to and communicate with the larger-than-human world, and telling and creating stories, or making other works of art, is also

_

⁷⁸⁰ Bergmann 2014: 3 Bergmann's formulation is "Religions cultivate in humans important skills needed to 'make oneself at home'. They help believers situate themselves in the world and in places inhabited by the divine, and their overall purpose seems to be 'to make a home for humans'. Religious perceptions, practices, emotions and beliefs are closely interwoven with the environment in which they emerge."

⁷⁸¹ Bergmann 2014:20.

central here. I found that there is a correspondence between the emphasis on community and creating safety in the community, and the specific skills required here can be termed social resilience. Together these form a process of change, to cope, adapt and transform, but it is central from my perspective that spirituality also offers practice that help to develop these skills, and this is done in the practices and through the cooperation of the community. Therefore, it is more correct to call it a form of spiritual social resilience.

In this heavy emphasis on community, it becomes a value, even a core value, and, in some sense, this is an idealisation of community. While the question of how this value is implemented, for example, in eco-communities, falls outside my study, I must ask why community becomes a core value in this spiritual discourse. I see two reasons for this, and they both include spiritual considerations. First, the value of community becomes an alternative to the scientific and disenchanted discourse that excludes values and the suggested technological solutions to the crisis. The emphasis on the value of community makes it an alter-tale (i.e., an enchanted discourse that addresses values) and the emphasis on community brings in the social dimension of the ecological crisis. The second reason I found is that the core value of community sets dark green spirituality in contrast to so-called New Age spiritualities and traditional religion or religious institutions. New Age spiritualities emphasise the individual self and self-realisation. This contrast to New Age spiritualities resonates with Partridge, who claims that alternative spiritualities and eco-enchantment are not New Age spirituality. 783 The contrast to the traditional form of religion or religious institutions is that the creation of community takes place outside institutions, as more of a self-organising grass-roots community.

For many, turning to spirituality is part of a trajectory where they revalue their former activist work which leads to an effort to find new ways of working. The majority have personal experience of working as activists in various ways. Many have been engaged in activism where they have been dedicated to campaigning and tried to get their message across to political leaders. However, there are others who say that, in a sense, they have given up these ways of working and that they want to find new approaches. This effort to find new ways of working include a new interest in spirituality, and therefore, this ambition is part of the motivation of turning to spirituality. However, what I refer to as turning to spirituality is not a religious revelation, an instantaneous shift of mind, or a Kuhnian paradigm shift. The process of turning to spirituality parallels the process of realising the state of the ecological crisis, and together these form a trajectory that has the character of an ongoing or continuing process. This is due to the fact that (i) the ecological crisis is not static

_

⁷⁸² Keck and Sakdapolrak 2013 Social resilience includes three social capacities: coping capacities, adaptive capacities and transforming capacities. These capacities form a trajectory of coping with and overcoming adversities; learning from past experience and adjusting to future challenges in everyday life and crafting sets of institutions that foster individual welfare and sustainable societal robustness for future crises.

⁷⁸³ Partridge 2005:10.

(the average temperature continues to rise, the loss of biodiversity is increasing, and so on), and (ii) that the realisation for the individual person not only means coming to terms with, but more so, living with it, and adjusting one's life accordingly. Hence, what is central here is not primarily the psychology behind the realisation, but how they cope with this realisation, what comes after, and how the person implements this realisation and changes to new practices.

This is a process of adjustment to a new reality, consisting of many small steps, and it takes time; it is a complex chain of events. Hence, the realisation leads further to what comes after, to whether and how the person implements this realisation and change in his/her everyday practices, in activism or other ways of working for change. Participating in the various workshops, which I describe as reflective practices, is part of this process. The process is ongoing and needs to be updated continuously. I found that neither spirituality nor ecological awareness is considered as a worldview, determined by a fixed set of ideas or ideology, but rather a continuous process as it is constantly necessary to adjust to new changes. The process is more than an epistemological cognitive, intellectual process where the output is an understanding of the facts of climate change, the output is rather the initiation of a process of change. Keck and Sakdapolrak describe this as a process of coping, adapting and transforming which leads to social resilience, ⁷⁸⁴ and it can be summed up as adjusting to the new understanding of the world and changing your personal life accordingly.

Hence, the realisation of the state of the world is set within a personal story, and (i) these stories often include a painful emotional experience, and (ii) they are set within a historical narrative of our own time. Just as the man I meet on the train, from London to Totnes, told his life story in relation to the Second World War, those I have been in conversation with, Janine, Steven, Maria, and Pierre (to mention just some of them) tell their life stories in relation to the contemporary crisis. These two dimensions are intimately related as the emotional experiences lead further to an existential process of questioning, what it means to live in times of climate change, or in the Anthropocene. The existential dimension concerns questions such as man as a species and our role in relation to climate change and in relation to the larger-than-human world, and these insights lead to the ethical dimension with questions of how to live and asking for guidance in what to do. These concerns are often present in conversations, in circles, or in workshops and in reflective practices.

Spirituality and Emotions

Among those I been in conversation with, the emotional responses are very much in the forefront. This is seen in the accounts of Steven, Kim, Pierre, Kathy and Mark, to mention just a few of them. These emotions may range from fear and uncertainty to challenging adventures and hope: nonetheless, a consequence of climate change is that there seems to be an increasing sense of living in exceptional times, or at the

-

⁷⁸⁴ Keck and Sakdapolrak 2013.

edge of times. In discussing dark green spirituality in relation to the emotional aspects of ecological awareness, much attention is paid to grief, sorrow and feeling of loss in relation to ecological degradation and climate change. Although spirituality may offer consolation in grief as a therapeutic practice, that is not like saying that this will pass, everything will be okay. Rather spirituality offers a language, symbols, values, practices and a community where these emotions can be framed within a narrative that works as the point of departure for a new understanding. Scholars who discuss emotions in relation to engagement give various answers to whether they give rise to action or passivity. The political journalist Sasha Lilley⁷⁸⁵ considers fear in relation to alarming reports and how these give rise to the frightening prospect of a catastrophe or collapse. Lilley sees a risk that these feelings trigger passivity rather than engagement, because "fear can hinder, rather than help, its attempts to halt the disaster."786 The paradox that Lilley uncovers is that while the rhetoric of catastrophism may aim to *encourage* change. radicalisation, and mobilisation, it triggers fear and passivity rather than political and social engagement. I think the relation between fear and passivity, or fear and radicalisation, is far more complex than this. The anthropologist Sarah M. Pike concludes in her study of young activists in their path to become activists, that emotions play an important role in shaping their commitments.⁷⁸⁷ I have seen in my study how many relate their feelings to the Earth, rather than to personal problems. It is not that they are sad, but their sadness is a deep-felt compassion with the sufferings of the dying species or what is summed up as "The Earth". Therefore, emotions are central, but I also want to consider the range of emotions here. There is the both the feeling of love for other-than-human species, compassion for their suffering, anger about the impact of contemporary human lifestyles on the lives of non-human species, and grief over the degradation of ecosystems. This reminds us again about the complexity of feelings that is part of the field.

In a relational account, emotions are not only an expression of an inner individual state, but a reflection of something larger. Therefore, it is necessary to consider emotions in the analysis, and how emotional responses to environmental crisis expand the individual self. To consider emotions in relation to ecological crisis I will pay some attention to the theoretical understanding of emotions. The sociologists of religion, Ole Riis and Linda Woodhead offer a relational account of emotions, which rejects the widespread misconception that feelings are private, interior states, and they stress the importance, not only of social relations, but also of relations with material objects, cultural symbols and environmental settings. Riis and Woodhead set emotions in a field of force that attracts or repels and leads to harmonies, tensions, or eruptions. In this analogy, social life is a force field of

.

⁷⁸⁵ Lilley 2012 The term 'catastrophism' comes from science, as a theory of abrupt geological change over time, in contrast to uniformitarianism, but it has also been employed politically.

⁷⁸⁶ Lilley 2012:2.

⁷⁸⁷ Pike 2017:2-4.

emotional energies. Emotions are not confined to the brain of the individual agent but are integral to the flux of social and symbolic life. As we negotiate through the world, so we range through different emotional fields, shaping and being shaped by them in the process. My point here, given this relational understanding of emotions, is that there is nothing forcing us to assume that emotion must lead to passivity, or turning away from reality. This becomes even clearer in discussing emotions in social movements, where I believe it is necessary to be more precise about what feelings, or emotional expressions, you are talking about. Grief, sorrow, and sadness have received a lot of attention here, but the emotional field ranges from emotions such as joy or happiness, love and reverence for nature, which are easy to deal with, on the one hand, to the darker feeling such sorrow, grief, fear, and anger on the other hand. These darker feelings are harder to deal with, and the question is: How to cope with these emotions?

The sociologist Manuel Castells sets emotions at the centre of social movements; in his perspective social movements are emotional movements – they are networks of outrage and hope. ⁷⁸⁸ Castells stresses that social movements consist of individuals - that is, individuals in the plural, and therefore, to be able to look at the emotional levels of social movements we should look at the individuals, in our case Kim, Steven, Mark or Kathy, to mention just some of them. Yet Castells stresses that it is individuals in the plural, and the emotional activations of individuals must connect to other individuals.⁷⁸⁹ To confide your feelings to other people, or to share your experiences as Kim did, is one example of this. Kim gave testimony of her emotions and her concern for the Earth. The Earth may be a global or general approach to the state of the world, but others relate to distinctive places, such as Kathy and Mark who have both experienced the loss of place. A communication process is required to relate one individual's experience to another individual's experience. This communication process is more than an emotional process, where individuals share similar experiences and give empathetic support to each other; the aim of the process is to transform emotions, such as anger and fear, into hope. The sharing circles and conversations that I have been part of, when individuals told their personal stories, for example Janine and Margaret, are examples of this communication process that Castells describes. In my perspective, the communication process not only works to express or reflect on emotions, from grief or fear to hope, or even joy, reverence and love, but more so, to transform them to a deeper engagement.

What I found to be distinctive in my material is that this process of communication often is parallel to, or even part, of a spiritual process. Sharing circles are an example of a practice where participants tell their story, or share stories, and this is valuable in the creation of the new stories. Darkness, and the stories told in the dark, is central in Mary's childhood memory of a power failure, when the neighbours came together and sat together in the dark, with only a few

⁷⁸⁸ Castells 2012.

⁷⁸⁹ Castells 2012.

candles burning. The darkness transformed the voices and the stories told, and Mary describes this as a "profoundly spiritual experience". Mary considered the stories told in the dark (which is not to be mistaken for dark stories that dwell in sorrow) as something needed in our time. Darkness is a pre-eminent feature of the human life experience and a fundamental aspect of human history. The night offered an alternative reign for voices and stories told, and it illustrates the value of stories and community. I relate Castells' communication process, which in my study refers to the sharing or telling of stories, to Haraway's storytelling in the Anthropocene *that allows us to stray with the trouble and to make kin*. These are the stories that push the hybridity between the individual and the movement, the troubles, towards making kin, thus challenging the separation between nature and the social, or nature and culture.

6.3 Points of Negotiation at the Intersection between the Green Movement and Spirituality

In this section I will relate to the second question: What are the points of negotiation at the intersection between green movement and spirituality? I will discuss three points of negotiation: negotiating spirituality, negotiating ecological self-awareness and the wild mind, and negotiating baselines. In answering the second question and presenting three points of negotiation I will focus on how these negotiations are constructed, or in simple terms how they are done, rather than simply present them as fixed categories.

6.3.1 Negotiating Spirituality – Spiritual Crisis and Spiritual Change

What I refer to as turning to spirituality seems to overlap the negotiation of spirituality but turning to spirituality is more of a personal trajectory, and the negotiation of spirituality concerns a more a structural level. In simple terms the negotiation of spirituality concerns how spirituality relates to the scientific notion of climate change, and the dissatisfaction with the disenchanted tale of scientific reports, in contrast to the enchanted alter-tale. The negotiation of spirituality is a social construction of a spirituality according to some preferences. This is seen in the practices and various workshops where the model for spirituality emphasises the ideals of compassion and community. The aim of many of the practices that are to be found in this field, such as the sharing circles, is to create community, to encourage reflection on the value of community and to practise the skills needed to create community, and among these are important spiritual skills, such as facilitating

_

⁷⁹⁰ Down and Hensey 2016:9.

certain spiritual practices. The negotiation of spirituality is set within a given historical context, where climate change and the ecological crisis forms a major challenge. What is central here is the convergence between the spiritual value of community or creating community and the ecological value of social resilience. From a general perspective, this focus on community or social resilience is not restricted to humans but implies the larger-than-human world, and therefore it extrapolates the space for social relations, beyond the strict range of human relations to include the larger-than-human world. In the accounts, I have discussed spirituality as part of a process of personal and social change, but I want to proceed in the analysis here. Many describe 'spirituality' in various terms, indicating being in a momentum, such as being on "a spiritual journey", expressing their need for "spiritual growth", or characterise spirituality as a way of "dealing with depression". It is notable that no one describes themselves in terms of "being spiritual" or "believing in spirituality". What I found to be central here is that spirituality is described as a process rather than an inner state of mind or an identity. When Christopher Partridge depicts the alternative spiritualities in the holistic milieu, he compares spirituality to a "path" and a "journey". 791 These are of course recognisable religious metaphors, but I found that this indicates a more open-ended approach to spirituality.

But many who are treading the spiritual path are committed to the journey and to making the right decisions. And some such decisions are politically and socially significant, in that, for example, many within the holistic milieu are utopian about the kind of society they want and thus radical in their views about the changes need to be made. 792

Although Partridge likens spirituality to a "path" and a "journey", it is not an abstract movement, because it also concerns "making the right decisions", ⁷⁹³ and these decisions are not just made for the sake of the individual's salvation but because these decisions are socially significant. Partridge concludes that the alternative spirituality and the holistic milieu are both a socially significant and a "constantly evolving religio-cultural milieu". ⁷⁹⁴ Hence, the personal is emblematic of a spiritual discourse that stresses the transformation of the self and ponders on the question of what I as a person can do. I will elaborate on this in the next section.

From a general perspective, this sets spirituality in relation to the environmental movement. During my work I came to ask: do people feel that they are a part of an environmental or ecological movement? What many of those I have been in conversation with describe is *being part of a transformation*, rather than part of a

⁷⁹¹ Partridge 2005:10.

⁷⁹² Partridge 2005:10.

⁷⁹³ Partridge 2005:10.

⁷⁹⁴ Partridge 2005:2.

movement, as a form of organisation. Therefore, being a part of a movement, according to organisational criteria of membership, is not a condition for being a part of the social change. A central feature is the focus on personal change, transforming one's own life according to one's values. It is often referred to as *being in transition*. Therefore, engagement is not dependent on religious and political organisation or a movement, because working for change in society can be done in various ways. The main concern is how the change of society can be part of – or proceed from – your own personal life. Everyday life involves a number of decisions which have ethical implications, and these are, in Partridge's words, "not just made because of the individual's salvation but decisions that are socially significant". ⁷⁹⁵ I found that there are two features in this. First, personal change concerns setting an example – both ethical and practical – that shows that it is actually possible to live differently than mainstream capitalism consumerism suggests, and second, everyday practices have consequences that lead to social change. Maybe the best expression of this is the slogan: let the walk be our talk.

Here the negotiating of spirituality converges with the turn to spirituality, as it may indicate an initial step, as an incentive for both personal and social change. Spiritual change forms a bridge between personal and social change. As seen in previous chapters, these persons' stories of turning to spirituality view spirituality as part of their process of change. Similarly, Heelas encapsulates the intimate between spirituality and life in the suggestive Spiritual=Life=Spirituality=Life, 796 which almost depicts an oscillation between life and spiritual/spirituality, which offers a non-static image of the emergence of new forms. Thus, spirituality is an immanent spirituality, a this-worldly spirituality of life. The focus on "the personal" pays attention to everyday life and it leads to change and transition, because it is in everyday life that many ethical decisions are made. Hence our everyday lives are intimately related to the larger-than-human world, for example, the things we are surrounded by are created from natural resources such as the wood in the table is part of a tree that once stood in a forest. Therefore, everyday life and the larger-than-human world are profoundly connected.

Disenchantment and Dissatisfaction

The relation between religion and science is a central theme in the study of religion and while this is not a general perspective in this thesis, it needs to be addressed here. The phenomenon of climate change is based on scientific reports, which address the problem in scientific terms, based on quantitative data and measurements. Nevertheless, many express a dissatisfaction with the scientific discourse since science cannot tell the story of climate change; numbers or hockey stick models of increasing temperatures cannot offer a picture of the challenges of

⁷⁹⁵ Partridge 2005:10.

⁷⁹⁶ Heelas 2005:414.

life in the Anthropocene. This dissatisfaction with the scientific discourse on climate change is undeniably part of the motivation to turn to spirituality: although science can offer explanations and evidence for the reality of climate change, science cannot alone offer answers to the challenges ahead. This should not be mistaken for a rejection of science; on the contrary, the point is that the scientific view needs to be complemented with other stories and perspectives. Therefore, the more positive motivation to turn to spirituality is that a spiritual discourse offers a framework, a language, symbols and values that make it possible to address the uncertainty and challenges lying ahead. This is not to say that spirituality makes the difficulties disappear. Instead, they are set within a context, and they become part of a narrative which offer hope and models for action, and that addresses the emotional, existential and ethical dimension of living in times of crisis

The focus on science in environmental discourse, particularly in relation to climate change, becomes an obstacle to engagement, especially for those who do not have a background in science.⁷⁹⁷ The scientific discourse fails to appeal to engagement, because it has a narrow focus on technology; it concerns numbers rather than values, it does not address what are considered to be the urgent issues, and it is thought to be out of touch with real life. The liaison between environmentalism and science is emphasised in the discourse on climate change but it is an ambivalent liaison; science offers credibility to the cause; it simultaneously creates problems in communicating the message to the public. The environmental scholar Mark Dowie notes: "It is difficult for laymen to assess the veracity of environmental scientists." Defining environmental problem as scientific delegates the work of finding the solutions to experts rather than activists or laypersons. The environmental historian Joachim Radkau claims that the process of setting environmentalism on a scientific base creates hierarchies, with laypeople at the very bottom, even though the original impulse and initiative came from them. ⁷⁹⁹ I want to stress that this dissatisfaction with science should not be mistaken for a distrust in science; the point is that at this state there is no need for further reports to prove that that climate change is real. I see three reasons why this discourse is so unsatisfactory. Firstly, the scientific discourse is generally based on the narrow definition of anthropogenic climate change: it focuses on emissions of greenhouse gases, it offers technological solutions, and tend to exclude the social dimension as well as the larger-than-human world aspects. Among those turning to spirituality,

-

⁷⁹⁷ Field notes 2013, 2014.

⁷⁹⁸ Dowie 1995:39. In environmental debates voices on both sides resort to scientism as the arbiter and expert. Ultimately the great controversies, whether it concerns climate change, GMOs, toxic pollution, global warming, risk assessment and biodiversity will be settled by science and scientists, according to Dowie.

Radkau 2008:276. Radkau writes "The knowledge of laypeople is devalued, even if it is at least as useful to the practice of environmental protection as the knowledge of experts. When experts talk shop about threshold values, the layperson can hardly participate, even though these values are in the final analysis negotiated rather than deduced in laboratory experiments."

climate change or climate crisis is seen as an umbrella term, which the crisis is seen as a layers of crises, which resonates with Sargisson's notion of "multiple and interwoven problems". Secondly, an obstacle with the scientific discourse is that it is a disenchanted discourse, based on rationalisation, calculation and technology, and it pays little or no attention to values, nor can it tell a story that offers meaning, or mediates an ethos of ecological concern. What they ask for is a narrative that can address what it is like to live in the Anthropocene, and how there can be an alternative. Thirdly, what I found to be central here is that this critique of science is primarily a critique of the environmental movement's relation to science, therefore it is actually a critique of the environmental movement itself and the way it repeats the scientific narrative rather than creating an alter-tale. The answers and the altertale are instead found in the reflective practices that I study, and in the creation of art.

The Metaphors of Disenchantment; the Iron Cage and the Tameable World

Science has played a crucial role in defining 'climate change' in drawing attention to it in public and mediating an awareness of the reality of climate change. Those I have been in conversation with do not question the role of science in defining climate change. There is a general interest in green science, such as ecological research with holistic perspectives, such as Gaia theory, and rewilding. Therefore, it would be unfair to point to a conflict with science among the dark green spirituality that is studied here. What can be said is that there is a dissatisfaction with the scientific discourse and vocabulary, but from an analytical perspective this concerns a dissatisfaction with disenchantment, because science is set within a rationalist frame. Disenchantment meant that values are pushed into the background, and what Nicholas Gane refers to as "the loss of values" became distinctive in forming the grid to set up the iron cage of rationalisation. Richard Jenkin takes this metaphor further and describes disenchantment as a tameable world, and an increasingly human-centred world. 802 Both these metaphors – the iron cage and the tameable world - illustrate the increasing dissatisfaction with rationalistic science. Dissatisfaction is, however, not synonymous with distrust. The dissatisfaction with the scientific discourse that many express of can be summed up in two points: first, the scientific discourse cannot tell a meaningful story on climate change, and secondly, the scientific discourse cannot address the emotional, existential, or ethical issues of living in times of climate change. This dissatisfaction implies a critique of how the scientific discourse becomes the definitive voice, but this comes together with an alternative that emphasises the need to address the urgent questions, and to create an enchanted alter-tale, a narrative that can "tell the story", and offer meaning to the adherents. The key to possible future enchantments

_

⁸⁰⁰ Sargisson 2012:116.

⁸⁰¹ Gane 2002.

⁸⁰² Jenkins, R 2000:12.

is to invoke opposing forces that may be an incentive to refill the world with meaning. Roll This new story does not contradict the scientific discourse; it rather contrasts it as it extrapolates it to the social sphere of lived experience. In this call for a new story, or rather new stories, there is an openness towards spiritual perspectives, which is expressed as an openness towards mythology, local legends or pagan traditions, as sources of inspiration for these new stories (the story of the pious man is a clear example that illustrate this). Therefore, spirituality has a crucial role in the creation of a narrative that offers meaning and which can express enchantment and spiritual values in relation to ethical, existential and emotional questions.

Science's view of climate change is set within a disenchanted frame, and given the understanding of disenchantment, as the loss of meaning and values, or an increasingly human-centred world, it is easy to understand why such a narrative becomes void of meaning, and why many consider it unfulfilling as it is unable to address the deeper predicament of living in times of climate change and ecological crisis. Here the scientific discourse must be complemented with a spiritual discourse, or to refer to Bennett; the tale of disenchantment has to be accomplished with an alter-tale of enchantment.⁸⁰⁴ As we have seen, these stories are complementary rather than in conflict. This enchanted alter-tale includes art and artistic expression, as seen for example in storytelling; the performance of telling, often of old legends and myths, can address some of the existential challenges of life in troubled times. Myths and legends have the quality of bringing in the charismatic magic and the spiritual dimension. There is a quest for deep stories that can refill the world with meaning and address the predicament of our times. The environmental historian Linda Nash emphasises that the present needs stories that show how particular human aspirations are grounded in and achieved through finite material worlds, and how people continue to engage in diverse ways with the Earth. 805 Nash stresses the need to push the insights of hybridity, and I take her challenge to my case where the two tales of disenchantment and enchantment converge in a hybrid narrative of the Anthropocene.

The narratives of the Anthropocene allow magic – and enchantment – to occupy a place. This should not be mistaken for stories with a happy ending; as Donna Haraway notes, these stories allow us to stay with the trouble, and to make kin with the larger-than-human world. These stories offer a frame that gives voice and meaning to difficulties, challenges as well as hope. Storytelling is the performance of stories which bring a sense of magic to life, although it should be made clear that stories that offer magic and enchantment can offer models for coping with uncertainty, as well as hope and consolation. The stories of the Anthropocene which tell how to cope with this new reality may very well be old stories, such as myths

_

⁸⁰³ Lee 2010:190.

⁸⁰⁴ Bennett 2011.

⁸⁰⁵ Nash 2013:135.

and folklore and ancient places like Dartmoor, and the haunted landscape of the moorland contributes much inspiration here. In short: the hybridity brings together scientific reports which give evidence for the reality of climate change, with the creation of new stories with a spiritual perspective that move towards mythology, local legends or pagan traditions, as sources of inspiration. Therefore, spirituality has a crucial role in these deep stories, not only to express enchantment, magic and spiritual values, but also in linking the emotional, the existential and the ethical.

6.2.2 Negotiating Ecological Self-Awareness and the Wild Mind

In simple terms, negotiating ecological self-awareness and the wild mind relates to how the realisation of the state of the world also means understanding the role of humanity in relation to the ecological crisis. Therefore, ecological awareness is no longer an external matter of protecting nature but of questioning human self-conceptions. This new ecological self-understanding is central in the rewilding of the human mind – or the wild mind. To elaborate on this discussion, I will first discuss (i) ecological self-awareness and realising the state of the world, and (ii) the hybrid intimacy of ecological self-awareness and (iii) the wild mind.

Ecological Self-awareness – Realising the State of the World

In the accounts that I have heard, awareness taken part realizing of climate change is more than an intellectual comprehension of a certain situation, or a cognitive understanding of scientific facts. It is a personal experience of coming to terms with the state of the world. How this realisation comes to individual persons varies, and it forms a trajectory in a personal story of turning to spirituality, but this is not seen as a personal crisis as it concerns a general sense of crisis. This crisis is considered to consist of multiple layers. It is a deeper crisis than anthropogenic climate change suggests because it is viewed as a spiritual crisis that is part of Western culture. A deeper crisis is, however, not the same as a crisis without a cure. It is deeper in the sense that it concerns our fundamental values and there is no quick fix of technological solutions available. In regarding climate change as layers of crises, it is set alongside the loss of biodiversity, or animal rights, the lack of global and social justice, or facing environmental degradation. In all its many forms the crisis is global and local. Given this, it is a deeply personal experience where the question "What can I do?" is central. For many the realisation of the state of the world initiates a process of questioning "things taken for granted", and this concerns many aspects of life, societal as well as personal. For some this has led to re-evaluating the choice of studies, career, changing daily eating habits, for example, turning to vegan/vegetarian food, or other life-changing decisions such as moving to the countryside. Others tell of experiences of participating in workshops where they had profound experiences that offered them insights to help them reorientate in the world (such as The Deep Time Walk or The Earth Mediation or Finding the Tree that is

Calling You). Encounters with animals, in the wild, or the encounter with the suffering of animals due to the way humans treat them, also play a vital role in the forming of an ecological awareness.

This kind of awareness is not simply a cognitive insight. It is not simply a matter of becoming ecologically aware, it is a matter of being ecologically aware, as a continuing process of re-evaluation and reflection. There is a distinctive difference between ecological awareness and what can be called green concern. From the perspective of green concern, the ecological crisis is something external, something part of nature. Although humans are the cause of ecological crisis, the individual person can act ethically in relation to nature, for example, in protecting a site from degradation. Ecological self-awareness is different because it is not simply an awareness of the outside world; the outside world is not a passive other, there be protected or exploited. Ecological awareness is not simply the knowledge of an outer world, it is an ecological self-awareness because it is a self-awareness of myself as a being that is part of the ecological world. Following Morton, ecological awareness is a loop in which "we become aware of ourselves as a species" which is a "task far more difficult than it superficially appears". 807 In this loop we do not only pose questions, but we are also equally questioned because our role in the ecological crisis is impossible to ignore. 808

The human's privilege to be the investigator of the world is challenged since our role in the ecological crisis is impossible to turn away from. Ecological awareness. in Morton's understanding, is accompanied by the realisation of humanity as a hyperobject.⁸⁰⁹ Indeed, being part of this hyperobject (the human species) pushes the conception of being an individual person, and it may mislead us to see humanity as red in tooth and claw. Rather, the wild mind is an accomplice with an ethic of ecocide, ecological self-awareness, and a radical coexistence in making kin. Although this is something that each individual has to face, the individual 'self' is not set apart, but reciprocally related in the ecological coexistence. Thus, this

⁸⁰⁶ Morton 2016:160.

⁸⁰⁷ Morton 2016:160.

⁸⁰⁸ Morton 2016:5. The rationalist notion of knowledge maintains the separation of the knower and the known (the subject and object of knowledge) and focus on answers, facts and results. The eco-gnosis that Morton suggests is a co-existence between knower and the known. "Ecognosis is like knowing, but more like letting be known. It is something like coexisting. It is like becoming accustomed to something strange, yet it is also becoming accustomed to strangeness that does not become less strange through acclimation. Ecognosis is like a knowing that knows itself." This goes beyond a one-directional awareness of the outside world or an outside-other. Humans are no longer those who poses questions; we are also equally questioned as a knower or a species. This confronts our self-understanding as much as our notion of 'understanding'. In the words of Morton, humans are no longer the knower, the subject in an objectified world.

⁸⁰⁹ Morton 2013:6. Morton describes "the time of hyperobjects" as a "a time of hypocrisy" and it has a sinister ring to it. He describes how humanity becomes a hyperobject – just like other phenomena – such as global warming – which has the potential to bring about the end of the world.

concerns ecological *self*-awareness, and it sets us in what I refer to as a position of *hybrid intimacy with the larger-than-human world*, and it takes ecological self-awareness towards the wild mind.

The Hybrid Intimacy of Ecological Self-awareness

In the midst of this the great challenge is: how can humans, despite being the cause of the crisis, contribute to change towards an ecologically viable future? Being ecologically self-aware is being part of a process, it is not simply becoming aware, once and for all, rather a continuous deepening of the awareness which is related to the process of change. Ecological self-awareness ought to guide the actions taken by the individual, and it sets us in an intimate relationship to the world. The world we suppose we are saving is not simply the outer world. We (humans) are part of the ecosystem in a world of reciprocal relatedness. We are intimately part of the world that needs to be saved, but at the same time, part of a species that has caused the ecological crisis. Hence, ecological self-awareness sets us in a relation of hybrid intimacy with the world. Being intimately related sets us side by side with living creatures among others, but still as the cause of the crisis that threatens both the existence of other species, and the human species that stands out as separate. This calls for a new human self-awareness, asking what it means to be an individual and part of the human species, and it sets your personal life in the era of the Anthropocene. Owain Jones and Katherine Jones note that this awareness is "to put oneself in a very ethical and emotionally challenging position"810 The emotional aspects of being ecologically self-aware range from emotions of sorrow and loss to the love and compassion but living in times of extreme loss of biodiversity makes the darker moods distinctive. Wild enchantments come with love for other-thanhuman species, compassion for their suffering, anger about the impact of contemporary human lifestyles on the lives of non-human species, and grief over the degradation of ecosystems. As seen in many of the stories presented in earlier chapters, these narratives of loss go beyond the sense of wonder, because they include the darker sides. The anthropologist Deborah Bird Rose notes: love in times of extinction calls forth an other set of questions, can we love a place and still be dangerous to it?811 Love is complex and full of problems as well as possibilities.

Emotions in relation to ecological crisis, environmental degradation or climate change is set in the complexity of the interconnected ecological reality that must be subject to constant adjustment and it means living in constant negotiation of what ecological self-awareness really is. This is a continuous reflection in the double work of forming an understanding and coming to terms with coexistence in the Anthropocene. It means being aware of losses and considering fragility and

⁸¹⁰ Jones and Jones 2017:157.

⁸¹¹ Bird Rose 2011:2.

finitude.⁸¹² The loop is existential; it leads beyond epistemology. One of the consequences is the acceptance of uncertainty. Learning to live with uncertainty is often repeated in my material. For example, Mark, who experienced the loss of a loved forest, said that he needed to learn to live with uncertainty, but his is not the only voice. Uncertainty is not to be mistaken for disengagement or distance. Uncertainty can be said to be a tentative approach to the world, being prepared to adjust to changes. Uncertainty mirrors the loss of stability that characterises the Anthropocene, and what the historian Brian Fagan refers to as "the increasing thresholds of vulnerability".⁸¹³ Deborah Bird Rose call this ecological existentialism, and it pulls together to major shifts. The end of certainty and the end of atomism:" From certainty the shift is to uncertainty. From atomism the shift is to connectivity".⁸¹⁴ The existential dimension concerns coming to terms with living in times that reshape the way we think about ourselves, our societies and humanity's place on Earth.

The Wild Mind and Making Kin

Negotiating ecological self-awareness revolves around the fact that we are part of the world in crisis, and at the same time part of a species that has caused the ecological crisis. However, being part of human species causing the crisis does not rule out that individual persons want to be part of the alternative and strive for change. My study offers many examples of this. This is an ambivalent position that it may seem sad to end up in. Is there a way out? It is rather like being trapped in the iron cage of rationality and disenchantment. Is the key within reach? Nonetheless, choosing the iron cage as the metaphor for disenchantment suggests that the key must, in some sense, be spiritual. The workshops in this study offer encounters with the larger-than-human world and shifting sensibilities that aim to bridge this dilemma. It sets the individual human person in relation to humanity but also to the larger-than-human world. In this there is a distinctive feature of identification with the larger-than-human world. To recapitulate: In The Earth Meditation Kimberly experienced how she was held by and how she was part of Mother Earth, and in *The Deep Time Walk* Sue realised that her body held memories of the ancient sea, where life on earth emerged. In Finding the Tree that is Calling You Louis felt that he sensed trees through other senses, and he could experience trees as never before and got to know them fully. As Sargisson's notion of utopian practice suggests, the feature of experimenting and trying out is distinctive here, and along similar lines, Jones and Jones refer to an "experimental mixing" in relation to

8

⁸¹² Morton 2016:6. Morton writes "The loop from being means that we live in a universe of finitude and fragility [...] It means that the politics of coexistence is always contingent, brittle, and flawed, so that in thinking of the interdependence at least one being must be missing. The ecognosis jigsaw is newer complete."

⁸¹³ Fagan 2004: xv.

⁸¹⁴ Bird Rose 201:2.

forming and negotiating an ecological self-awareness. These are experimentations where the personal body is central in the experience of formations of body-as-place. Hence, to take part in such "experimental mixing"⁸¹⁵ goes beyond the private or public of politics, and "flows of power and responsibilities stream between the body and body politics"⁸¹⁶ It is, as Jones and Jones conclude, "to put oneself in a very ethical and emotionally challenging position".⁸¹⁷

The shifting sensibilities and the encounters with the larger-than-human world may awake abilities such as imagination, intuition or lost memories, something that modern man and the rationalist mindset forgot, and this plays a vital role in exploring the rewilding of the human mind. The eco-psychologist Bill Plotkin introduced the term 'the wild mind', in contrast to the Western psychoanalytic tradition of individual therapy. 818 He suggests that a re-visioning of ourselves, not as separate from Nature, and rewilding our techniques and methods in order to know the wild mind. The wild mind explores the world through the cultivation of wholeness and aims to "revitalise our enchanted and endangered world". 819 according to Plotkin. This is a holistic approach to the self in contrast to the rationalistic approach that distances us from the world; Thus, the wild mind involves listening deeply to the senses and sensibilities, it enables interaction and participation in a most intimate manner, and it is an invitation to an encounter, which according to Bennett is at the heart of enchantment. Such encounters with the largerthan-human world are distinctive for the wild mind, because in encountering the larger-than- human-world humanity may gain a more realistic notion of the size and role of mankind. The world is larger than the human world. The proportions should be shared accordingly.

The rewilding of the human mind aims at an intimacy beyond this ambivalence of being human in the age of the Anthropocene. The wild mind suggests a coexistence of making kin. Making kin is, in the words of Haraway, "a practice of companions" where humans enter their hybrid state. Sarah Pike calls this *taking sides with the wild*, and it goes beyond constructing an opposition between the environmental destructive practices of civilisation and the redemptive promise of "the wild". Pike concludes that creating community with the wild holds out "the possibility of a different kind of social understanding in which other species are foremost in our concern both because they are inextricably linked with the lives of humans and because they have intrinsic value". *S20* To conclude, the wild mind is far from radical rage, rather it refers to the explorations of human hybridity, to the practices of kin-making and an exploration of the basis for an ethic of coexistence.

815 Jones and Jones 2017:147.

⁸¹⁶ Jones and Jones 2017:157.

⁸¹⁷ Jones and Jones 2017:157.

⁸¹⁸ Plotkin 2013.

⁸¹⁹ Plotkin 2013:2.

⁸²⁰ Pike 2017:231.

The workshops I have participated in and studied offer methods to explore and experiment with alternative ways of being in relation to the larger-than-human world. I refer to these as utopian practices because they offer ways to explore what Sargisson calls "subterranean but immanent" topic of man and nature. Rewilding takes modern environmentalism into a new millennium. It embraces the critical assumption that modern man's understanding of his relation to nature is fallible, but stresses that the human self-understanding is at fault as well. Hence, to reflect upon this misconception is a fundamental concern. It concerns not the self-understanding of individuals but man as a species, and more so, as modern man. Modern man sees him/herself as distinct from nature, and this anthropocentric position is given legitimacy by Judeo-Christian religion, as the crown of creation, or by biology, as the species at the peak of evolution. This concerns the human self-understanding of man as a species distinct from other species, a position that is referred to as exceptionalism. Ecological self-awareness suggests a human self-understanding, beyond this iron cage of rationality, not as a creature in relation to nature, but as a creature of coexistence among others in an ecosystem. Rewilding does not suggest that humans should go back to nature. Instead, the realisation of the wild mind is set within a culture of wildness.

6.2.3 Negotiating Baselines

My third point of negotiation is the negotiation of baselines. Negotiating baselines refers to practices that work to read the landscape, often in the form of telling the history of the landscape, to restore the lost memories of how it once was and relate to deep time perspectives. In my view, there are many insights to gain from bringing together deep time perspectives and shifting baselines, because (i) the 'shifting baselines' address this forgetfulness of how it used to be, as the present condition is seen as 'natural', and (ii) the experiences of deep time perspectives may form an incentive to remember landscapes, and this plays a vital role in the project of bringing back the memories of past states. Hence, by restoring these memories it becomes possible to see the landscape as it once was, to reach beyond the shifting baselines, or to negotiate the baseline, gives rise to an awareness of the transformations that have taken place in the landscape. I call this negotiating baseline, which takes place in many of the workshops I have participated in on Dartmoor.

Dartmoorian Memories

Dartmoor is a place that I have returned to throughout this thesis. In the accounts of various workshops, the telling of the history of the place is central, whether in the form of tutorial talks, referring to the historical record of the landscape, or in storytelling workshops where the legends and mythologies mediate a historical framework. Ancient history in Dartmoor goes back 5000 years. The traces of

prehistoric Dartmoor are seen in the landscape, in the reminiscences of Bronze Age settlers, and megalithic monuments such as the Nine Maidens. This ancient history eliminates any interpretation of Dartmoor according to the romantic notion of wilderness (as places untouched by human interference), but it opens the door to something far more interesting, such as deep time perspectives. One of the questions that Christina Fredengren poses, and which is relevant here, is: How can deep time encounters play a role in the development of environmental ethics and in issues of intergenerational care. 821 In order to answer this, and as part of my analysis. I bring together two notions, deep time and shifting baselines, and introduce my notion of 'negotiating baselines'. Deep time perspectives contribute to the ecological discourse as they reach beyond short-sighed perspectives that often make people blind to how humans remould and affect the land. In my perspective, there is insights to gain in bringing together Deep time perspective and shifting baselines, because experiences of deep time bring back the memories of past states, this forms a negotiation of baselines, thus mediating an awareness of the transformations that have taken place in the landscape.

As memories are central, something needs to be said about the role of memory in this context. As we have seen, the concept of shifting baselines refers to how people are unable to see the environmental degradation that is taking places, and it assumes a coordination between the memories of places and the recognition of changes in the landscape. Memories come in two forms, personal memories of how it once was, on the one hand, and memories that are mediated between generations, on the other. The loss of these forms of memories has the consequence that people are unaware of how it once was, they cannot see beyond the present. A person living today who is ignorant of what the landscape looked like a hundred years ago might assume that the current condition forms the baseline, it is seen as natural state. The concept of 'shifting baselines' identifies a blindness towards environmental degradation, and Nathalie Corbett aims at a similar problem as she points out the paradox that people no longer see nature in places that are predominantly urban areas, such as parking lots in cities. If these places are no longer seen as part of nature, then the environmental degradation that has taken place there becomes unrecognisable. They become blind, unseen and unrecognised as part of nature. A parking lot outside a shopping centre is not considered to be part of nature, trees that grow in urban spaces are not seen with the same eyes as their 'wild' cousins in the countryside, because modern urban dwellers fail to see these places as a former meadow or forest. They cannot recall – or imagine – the place as it once was. The loss of memories is a forgetfulness that will make us both blind and dumb. For the American counterculture philosopher of the 1960s, Herbert Marcuse, 'forgetting' was a form of reification. Yet Marcuse took this forgetfulness a step further as he saw the act of remembering as central in "the struggle for changing the world". In the words of Marcuse: "all reification is a forgetting." "Art fights reification by making the

_

⁸²¹ Fredengren 2016:484.

petrified world speak, sing, perhaps dance."822 Hence, to bring back memories is to fight reification, to make the world speak, sing and dance, and applied to the blindness of shifting baselines, bringing back lost memories would enable a recognition of the changes that have taken place in the landscape. Therefore, negotiating baselines refers to the restoration of those lost memories, and consequently how this may awake an awareness of the effects of human in landscapes. This restoration of memories is not to simply looking back, or to dwell in nostalgia. Kate Soper defends a progressive avant-garde nostalgia as a romantic remembering and mourning of what is irretrievable, but one directed toward an emancipatory future. 823 It reflects on past in ways which highlights what we are deprived of in the present and stimulate desire for a better future.

Eco-critic Axel Goodbody notes that memory studies appear to be concerned with politics rather than nature, with time rather than place, but it shares with ecocriticism a central concern with place and belonging. 824 This perspective is shared by Tim Ingold who ties memories to landscapes, and he claims that to perceive a landscape is to carry out an act of remembrance. Thus, without the memoires we will not only be blind to the environmental degradation that has taken place, but more so blind to the actual landscape. Remembering is not so much a matter of calling up an internal mental image stored in the mind, as of engaging perceptually with an environment. 825 Therefore, if the loss of memories makes us blind to environmental degradation, then, consequently, to remember how it once was offering a way of seeing and dealing with environmental degradation. The archaeologist Francis Pryor suggests that we need to learn to do a reading of the landscape that makes it possible to understand why, for example, a city, a road, a cathedral or an ancient monument like Stonehenge was placed in a certain landscape – or why a place like Dartmoor was abandoned and turned into a "wilderness" or a national park. The narrative of Dartmoor brings together archaeological reports and historical records, as well as local lore and myths, and all contribute to picturing the memories of the landscape, and this plays a vital part in the negotiation of the landscape.

The practices that I have presented relate the abstract time scale to concrete places, and this is essential in bringing back the memories. Dartmoor forms a case for my conception of negotiating baselines. The reading of the landscape is part of the telling of the history of the landscape. Thus, the telling of the history of Dartmoor, at the actual place, encourages reflection on ecological and historical processes (it is in this sense part of an environmental education, which I will discuss further on). In understanding the importance of the history of the place, I relate to

⁸²² Marcuse 1978:72–73.

⁸²³ Soper 2011.

⁸²⁴ Goodbody 2011.

⁸²⁵ Ingold 2000:189.

the notion of shifting baselines, which is central in environmental discourse. 826 To tell the story of how it used to be is, in one sense, to restore the lost knowledge, to bring back memories of how it used to be. *The concept of negotiating baselines addresses how the knowledge of how a place used to be will make us aware of the ecological degradation that has taken place*. The baseline is the current condition, which is not to be seen a natural but as contingent. Therefore, imagination is important to because it is necessary to make an image of the place beyond the present. In imagination, which may be stimulated by a storyteller that tells the story of the place, in listening to such a telling, it becomes possible to see the place through the eyes of a historical settler on Dartmoor.

My perspective extrapolates the notion of shifting baselines, in that the telling of the story works inversely; it brings back the memories, restores the knowledge of how it used to be and makes the environmental degradation that has taken place visible. What is going on in telling the history of a place like Dartmoor is a negotiation of baselines. Negotiating baselines is relevant not only in relation to the effects of environmental degradation on wounded places, but more so for how humans remould the landscape in creating a domesticated agricultural landscape, recognisable as the pastoral countryside, the green and pleasant land. Hence, the telling of the history of the place, which is part of the excursions to Dartmoor, is an act of bringing back lost memories and rediscovering this lost knowledge of previous conditions. However, the point is not simply to understand how it used to be, different from how it is today, but to *understand the processes* that have been at play here. Negotiating baselines works to create an awareness of these long-term processes that have taken place in the landscape and the role of human activity in the transformation of the landscape. Negotiating baselines also works to arouse an awareness of the forest that once was there and make a record of the losses. Moreover, it includes the question, not only of how humans affect their environment but more so, how their way of living, the social organisations of society, is part of the process.

In suggesting an answer to Fredengren's question of how deep time encounters can play a role in the development of environmental ethics and issues of intergenerational care, 827 I bring together deep time perspectives with shifting baselines, in negotiation of baselines. I found that deep time perspectives of time and landscape can inform ecological ethics because they are contrary to the amnesia and short-sightedness that makes us blind to the damage done. In relation to time and landscapes, the act of remembering, and the act of relating to places and seeing them in relation to the historical processes is to become aware of how human beings throughout history have remoulded the landscape in various ways. *Negotiating*

⁸²⁶ Shifting baselines (Papworth, S.K. Rist, J. and Milner-Gulland, E.J.) addresses the loss of memories and the consequence that the environmental degradation taking place becomes unnoticed.

⁸²⁷ Fredengren 2016:484.

baselines means looking at landscape from an ecological, geological and historical perspective, through the eyes of other creatures and through the long span of deep time. In those perspectives Morton's loop of ecological awareness may bounce back to ourselves. In asking how humans in the past remodelled and transformed the landscape, the gaze loops back to the present and asks how we today contribute to the changes in the landscape. This informs ethical considerations that are valuable. However, I found something more enigmatic emerging here, that is relevant to me as a historian of religion to explore because I think that the negotiation of baselines can be taken further to help explore the spiritual landscape, or the sacramental values of the landscape, and therefore I will dig deeper into these sediments.

Visiting a Lost Landscape through Readings and Riddles

To look at a landscape in a deep time perspective beyond the present encourages reflection on processes that have lasted for centuries, even millennia. In a historical perspective Dartmoor is the place of a lost forest; hence, a visit to Dartmoor is a visit to a lost forest. To visit something lost may seem like a paradox, but this turns out to be more enigmatic. Telling the story brings back memories, it counteracts amnesia. 828 Visitors who wander on Dartmoor today see a far-reaching moorland. A Bronze Age settler, if one were to revisit Dartmoor, would see a devastated landscape where the forest was gone. 829 An encounter with an ancient settler is of course a thought experiment; we may imagine such an encounter, and this imagination is riddling, even ghostly. Memories are not only personal memories that recollect past personal experiences. Memories can be collective, passed on between generations as part of culture, they can be mediated in stories, mythologies, heritage and art. However, in a deep time perspective the memories are far older and go beyond even the intergenerational perspective, as deep time goes back to the geological timescape that predates humanity. Deep time memories are not simply human memories. So, the question is how can deep time memories become accessible for us?

Part of the answer is that landscapes may mediate deep time memories, and this expresses how the past and the future come together. For Ingold to perceive a landscape is to carry out an act of remembrance. Memories are not simply internal images, stored in the mind, but, in Ingold's poetic formulation, landscapes are "pregnant with the past", 830 and remembering can occur when engaging perceptually with an environment. Being pregnant with the past indicates their transformative character, being pregnant is to be expecting to give birth, but 'pregnant' may also

-

⁸²⁸ Thus, shifting baselines takes place on two levels: on a personal level, but also on a long-term level over generations. The form of shifting baselines that is relevant to Dartmoor is the second one, the long-term shifting baseline, that is, the shifting baselines that involve a loss of memory between generations.

⁸²⁹ They would have experienced what I referred to as the loss of place. For them it would have been a personal loss, a situation like the displacement that Rob Nixon pictures (Nixon 2011).

⁸³⁰ Ingold 2000:189.

mean significant. Ingold focuses on 'temporality' as a key term. Temporality is not chronology nor history, but chronology orders historical events and activities according to a timeline. The landscape visualises complex historical patterns, and it invites participants to reflect on the long-term consequences of environmental degradation, and how humans modify their environment. The environmental historian Marsha Weisiger states that this kind of reading of a landscape involves "seeing, recognising and interpreting [...] the natural and cultural phases" of the land. The reading of a landscape is like an archaeologist who undertakes an investigation that strips the layer of the soil to dig deeper in history, but baselines are not found in such an approach. The approach of reading the landscape offers tools for "detecting hidden human presence in what otherwise seem like 'natural' landscapes." Weisiger writes:

Because landscapes are culturally and historically produced, you must be attuned to the different types of features you might encounter in a particular place. [...] One might think of the land as a palimpsest. Remnants of past developments form layers, one atop the other, or side-by-side. If we were archaeologists, we might have dug down the strata to develop history of the *longue durée*. But it is also possible to examine the surface and see the layers of history over time. ⁸³⁴

Memories and imagination may relate time to actual places, such as the ancient landscape, and in one sense makes it possible to, so to speak, go back in time – as a time travel. Archaeologists see 'time travel' as referring to the experimental dimension of understanding and engaging with the past. Time travel is "an embodied experience and a social practice in the present that brings to life a past or future reality". 835 Casey argues for a third dimension of places, beyond time and space, and that is culture, which affords them a deep historicity.

Place as we experience it is not altogether natural. If it were, it could not play the animating, decisive role it plays in our collective lives. Place, already cultural as experienced, insinuates itself into a collectivity, altering as well as constituting that collectivity. Place becomes social because it is already cultural. It is also, and for the same reason, historical. It is by the mediation of culture that places gain historical depth. We might even say that culture is the third dimension of places, affording them

⁸³¹ Ingold 2000:194. Alyda

⁸³² Weisiger 2017:33. The phrase "reading the landscape" was coined by the geographer C. Hansson (1922).

⁸³³ Weisiger 2017:34.

⁸³⁴ Weisiger 2017:34.

⁸³⁵ Holtorf 2017:1.

a deep historicity, a *longue durée*, which would lack if they were entirely natural in constitution.⁸³⁶

Casey notes that it is through the "mediation of culture that places gain historical depth", and I have related this culture to legends and myths, and what I refer to as eco-occulture. Many of the practices I have presented in this thesis offers explorations of deep time perspectives. Visiting Dartmoor, and the reflective practices performed there, helps to form a sense of deep time. The telling of the history of a certain place, at the actual place, is significant because (i) it creates an awareness of the place (the transformative processes in the remoulding of the landscape), and (ii) it creates a presence at the actual place (often related to meditative, contemplative or spiritual practices), and (iii) it relates to a long-term perspective and deep time in ancient history and geology. Hence, encounters with deep time may contribute to forming a sense of our place within geological deep time. This sense opens the door to something distinctively dark and eerie. In the practice of telling the history of a place at the site, the landscape becomes part of the scenery and amplifies the narrative. A skilled and artistic teller may evoke the fantasy of the audience. Storyteller Martin Shaw refers to this as the "Pagan imagination". The power of imagination is distinctive here to bring to life a lost world. In this way landscapes, so to speak, come to life. This can be seen as an example of their power to enchant (Bennett) or their riddling power (Fredengren). But what exactly is this strange 'power' they possess? 'Power' here is not divine power nor the transcendental power of God, rather the enchanting power of deep time.

Amnesia of the Anthropocene

Amnesia is the loss of memories. The amnesia of baselines addresses whether humans are aware of the environmental degradation that has taken place in the landscape over a time span beyond their reach. Memories are not only a record of past events, but also reach back in time. Memories range over a time span where past events can be accounted for. What I refer to as the amnesia of the Anthropocene is a loss of the ability the experience the time span beyond the modern realm. It is, in simple terms, to be stuck in the present, and the present is very narrow. Unexpected encounters may be the crack where the light comes in, or perhaps where the dark comes in. Encounters with ecological ghosts and shadows – such as a lost forest or lost species – are encounter with deep time in the form of something long gone that has an indeterminable presence in the landscape. This presence is evocative and unsettling, it is equally enigmatic as it opens barriers in time. To picture these encounters with losses as ghosts and shadows makes them even harder to grasp, but it also renders them a riddling power that emphasises their appearance, so they become animated. I refer to this as a paradoxical animism of the

_

⁸³⁶ Casey 2009:31-32.

Anthropocene. This hybrid presence/absence is very much the riddling power of the Anthropocene; the paradoxical presence of loss, the absence that is both evocative and unsettling and that calls for attention, and enigmatic encounters through barriers in time. These ecological ghosts and shadows offer encounters with deep time in the form of something long gone that has an undeterminable presence in the landscape, such encounters are accompliced with sensations of the eerie, or the enigmatic. The paradoxical animism of the Anthropocene oscillates with the larger-than-human world, it is a complex world that is alive and animated. This is a complexity that places human existence in a proportional perspective, as a very small part or a something distinctively larger, and its hybrid appearance denies the simple categories of life and death, present and absent, light and darkness.

Enchantments of Deep Time

As seen above, deep time is central in the negotiation of baselines. Being able to reach beyond time spans is something that Fredengren's 'deep time enchantment' and 'riddling power' can address, and it also contributes to my conception of wild enchantment. 837 First, the deep time perspective helps to draw the lines of the longterm perspectives that cover the climatological and environmental changes in geological and ancient times. Dartmoor illustrates the relevance of these time scales in environmental ethics as the damage done thousands of years ago is still visible in the landscape. Secondly, deep time enchantment and "riddling power" render it a ghostly air which is in tune with the darker side of enchantment, which is present in relation to wounded places and the eeriness of the English landscape. This riddling power resonates with Bennett's notion of places with the power to enchant, and similarly this riddling power may give rise to enchantment. The riddle that is given does not necessarily come with a definitive answer. As Fredengren notes, it is "hard to grasp our place within this geological deep time."838 Despite being hard to grasp, it is not completely beyond reach, and 'deep time enchantment' can help to form a sense of our place within geological deep time. The philosopher Roy Scranton considers the philosophical challenges: "Geological time scales, civilizational collapse and species extinction give rise to profound problems", 839 and even to think these time scales seems to "boggle the imagination". 840 The philosopher Timothy Morton emphasises the role of mythology in coming to terms with things that are ungraspable by our senses or by our quotidian experience. The Anthropocene is, in one sense, beyond human reach as "We live on more timescales than we can

⁸³⁷ Fredengren 2016:491. The expression "riddling power" is originally from the Irish poet Seamus Heaney.

⁸³⁸ Fredengren 2016:482.

⁸³⁹ Scranton 2015:20.

⁸⁴⁰ Scranton 2015:20.

grasp.⁸⁴¹ So, if deep time perspectives are hard to grasp the question is: how can these deep time perspectives become reachable?

A further voice is Dipesh Chakrabarty, 842 who stresses the need to question the barriers of geological deep time, natural history and of the human in order to understand both our situatedness and our responsibilities in contemporary world with its climate and environmental problems. The Anthropocene has major implications for how to study and comprehend history, according to Chakrabarty. There is a pressing need to get beyond these barriers, to find a bridge. I want to stress that this deep historicity or deep time enchantment is not simply an approach to the ancient landscape as a historical interest in times long gone. The question is rather how the present can be grasped as part of a long historical and geological process. This process does not only reach back, it sets the present in a context, and it also reaches into the future. Therefore, deep time is a challenge to the linear conception of time. The depth of deep time is not only behind, it is equally the time to come.

Timelines from Futures Past – a Non-linear Conception of Time

There is a Gordian knot here, as the deep time perspective goes beyond our relatively short human history. Therefore, to think deep time means to leave the perspective of modern man. To understand modern man, it is necessary to understand the species *Homo sapiens*⁸⁴³ and sometimes to go further, beyond our own species, and listen to places and the voices of the larger-than-human world. This is how deep time is both emotional and existential, and how Deep time is a further an aspect of the deep as in deep questioning, deep experience. To grasp these long-term processes will make us aware of how humans have transformed themselves – their way of living and culture – as part of the process and continue to do so. It begs the question what traces and memories we leave to the future. As Fredengren notes:

This is a mixed heritage (often unlabelled) that is the result of material interferences that change the textures of times, that territorialize futures to come, that shape the spaces and cartographies within which future (multispecies) generations can manoeuvre.⁸⁴⁴

This is not simply predict the future, or to think of times to come. It is to form a temporal awareness. The deep time approach is based on a non-linear conception of time. Linear time, the one-directional time renders the past to something like dead time. The relational approach suggests a non-linear conception of time as well as

842 Chakrabarty 2009:213-20.

298

⁸⁴¹ Morton 2016.

⁸⁴³ For discussion on the history of Homo Sapiens see Harrari 2015.

⁸⁴⁴ Fredengren 2019:58.

enduring relations, which had power across time. Deep time perspectives turn the perspective from the future directed conception of time that is found in the bedrock of evolution, and the myth progress. However, the change of perspective is not to look back instead of looking forward, rather, to widens up, the narrow conception of the present, so that the present reaches beyond the moment in time and space, by inviting to a more evocative mood.

Barry Cottrell refers the participatory primal mind, 845 which is an awareness of timelessness is a state of original participation of the world, and a rejection of the myth of non-participation of the world. This is a "radical transformation of consciousness" and a radical change in a person's mode which has practical effects. Cottrell describes this as a re-enchantment of consciousness.⁸⁴⁶ Ancient artworks may appear strikingly modern to a contemporary observer, and Cottrell suggests that we must actively resist the construction of rigid boundaries that set the ancient apart from the modern as an ontologically distinct 'other'. 847 This draws the relation between enchantment and time: time as timelessness seem to resonate well with deep time in its ability evoke the power to enchant. In my study the openness towards deep time perspectives comes with a critical stance towards modern man and his clock-time. Lynn White considered the linear conception of time as one of the causes of the ecological crisis of the West. Linear time is part of the Christian conception of time, and therefore White's critique is directed against Christianity and its contribution to the anthropocentric worldview. The linear conception of time is far from the only alternative. Circular time, following the cycle of the years and seasons, is often seen as older, and more in tune with ecology as it follows the changing seasons, and is found in the celebrations of pagan calendars. Today sciences offer alternative time such as conceptions in quantum time, stressing a holistic perspective rather than the one-direction timeline. Manuel Castells write:

This holistic notion of integration between humans and nature [...] does not refer to a naive worshipping of pristine natural landscapes [...]. To merge ourselves with our cosmical self we need to first to change the notion of time, to feel "glacial time" run through our lives, ⁸⁴⁸

The questioning the linear conception of time leads further to questioning conceptions of modern man as the creature at the pinnacle of evolution. Deep time

⁸⁴⁵ Cottrell 2017:405. Cottrell sets this original participation in relation to engraving as he explores the seemingly timeless awareness of the primal mind and its healing return to modern consciousness. "The experience of timelessness [...] may often be had through the deep, rhythmical, meditative creative immersion in the substances of Earth."

⁸⁴⁶ Cottrell 2017:405. Cottrell has studied ancient premodern artwork in stone in consideration of mind in deep time, which he describes as a timeless awakening of the primal mind, and "a sacramental consciousness". Cottrell sees this transformation of consciousness as a metania, "a complete change of mind, facilitated by remembrance of original participation."

⁸⁴⁷ Cottrell 2017:402.

⁸⁴⁸ Castells 1997.

perspectives challenge the conception of linear time which relies on the idea of progress. Deep times turns the tide. Dartmoor offers a time perspective, reaching through several millennia, and it covers a transformation from a deep forest to the contemporary open moorland. The ancient landscape illustrates deep time.⁸⁴⁹ the intersection between long-term geological and relatively short historical processes, the *longue durée* that looks only at human history. The shift between the geological epochs the Holocene and the Anthropocene emphasises the deep time perspectives, and it stands out in contrast to the recognisable, and human-centred, historical timeline. The experience of the vast time span is central in several of the accounts, for example, in the Deep Time Walk along the coast in Devon. The deep time perspective approaches history through millennia and include the geological processes, thus reaching beyond the historical perspectives. The walk measures time by counting the footsteps, where every step is half a million years. The modern history of industrial civilisation, the clock-time measured by the ruler, is just two millimetres, which is contrasted to the geological space of time. Deep time is part of the landscape, in each footstep, and the workings of the continuing processes of evolution, and thus the geological deep time is present in the world. This deep time perspective can therefore help towards a less human-centred world.

6.3 Narrative, Practice and Place – Cultivating Wild Enchantments

In this section I will answer my third question. As I conclude from the many workshops I have studied, I suggest that the relation between narrative, practice and place is that these are interrelated and that in many cases are hard to tell apart. In workshops they merge into a unity. I analyse what is going on in these workshops as cultivating wild enchantment. I will discuss my notion of wild enchantments, which aims to take enchantment beyond the simple sense of wonder and relate it to the wounds that come with living in times of ecological crisis. I describe this as working with wonder and wounds, and finally, I will pay attention to the wild, and the contrast between the narrative of The End of Civilisation and rewilding, the wild and the spiritual and utopian vision of a less human-centred world.

_

⁸⁴⁹ Fredengren 2016:484 The concept of 'deep 'deep time' is rooted in challenges to the biblical narrative, as we saw in Chapter 4, with. James Hutton's observed deep stratigraphy evident in the d in strata of Scottish sea-cliffs, and he concluded that the Earth was 4.5 billions years old, much older than Bishop James Ussher's proposal that it had been not created in 4004 BC.

6.3.1 Cultivating Wild Enchantments

In this thesis I have offered examples of the relation between narrative, practice and place in the reflective and utopian practices I have studied. These practices are a method for cultivating community and wild enchantment, and it should be noted that the ways that community and enchantments are cultivated often converge. Reflective practices aim to encourage reflection, and this can be done in various ways. The term utopian practices deepen our understanding of how these workshops experiment with alternative ways of being in relation to the larger-than-human world. Participants in circles work to create an alternative space where it is possible to have deeper conversations, to share experiences, and to pose new questions. The focus here is not only on communication as the work of words, but also as silence and listening. I describe these reflective practices as utopian practices because they move away from doom and apocalypse and try to indicate a way forward.⁸⁵⁰ In utopian practices it is possible to hold up "a world for examination and find it wanting", and to analyse "the here and now and identify the core problem therein."

Hence, in all this we find what Sargisson refers to as the "subterranean but immanent topic of human attitudes towards nature." Rather than focusing on what is wrong with the predominant ways of dealing with nature, the question is primarily how to explore the alternatives. The utopian quality of these workshops resonated beyond the situation where they were performed. Sargisson claims that an ecologically viable society does not just assume a far-reaching awareness of environmental issues, but also "a completely different attitude towards nature". This insight – and the challenge it presents – echoes throughout green political thought. The workshops in this study are experiments and elaborations of a new attitude towards nature, or as I prefer, the larger-than-human world, and I consider wild enchantments to be part of this new attitude.

I describe place as a node between narrative and practice and I take place as the point of departure in approaching enchantment. Bennett's notion of places with the power to enchant becomes central in my approach. Furthermore, the notion offers an interesting twist to Kim Knott's advice to study religion in secular spaces. The intriguing question is: how can places with the power to enchant be combined with secular spaces? A place with the power to enchant is not synonymous with a religious site such as a church or a sanctuary. Places with the power to enchant are much more personal and complex sites, not simple places of a certain beauty or religious distinction. To describe Dartmoor as a place with the power to enchant

⁸⁵⁰ Sargisson 2012:116.

⁸⁵¹ Sargisson 2012:127.

⁸⁵² Sargisson 2012:127.

⁸⁵³ Sargisson 2012:116.

⁸⁵⁴ Sargisson 2012:117.

would be intelligible because it is a notion that encompasses the multifaceted landscape (as constructed in various media and practices), and because it relates the experiences of those who visit it.

Enchantment is an etic term, not an emic term in my material. No one has described their experience in terms of being enchanted, although their accounts give examples of various moods that I relate to enchantment, and this makes the case for me to argue why I use it as the theoretical framework for my thesis. As already stated in the opening chapter, what I find to be the benefit of enchantment is that it addresses man's relation to nature or in Bennett's case a mood in relation to nature. In this thesis I have discussed workshops that are various practices performed to facilitate and encourage reflection, and to offer experiences that constitute an alternative to the disenchanted world of modernity. Although the explicit purpose of these practices may not be to stimulate these moments of enchantment. participants do tell of deep experiences in these workshops which I found reasonable to describe as examples of enchantment. Enchantment is not simple the moments of bliss that happen to you, given by providence perhaps. Cultivating enchantments is, in one sense, the performance and participation in a practice, perhaps as a training of the sensory capacities to be receptive to these moods, but also to process the full range of emotions or to reflect intellectually. In various ways these workshops stimulate, encourage or enable reflection, in creating an alternative space for conversations, in the performance of practices such as sharing circles, in listening more deeply, which may be part of ecological education or spiritual practices.

A further feature is that these workshops take place in an outdoor setting, or in nature, in order to explore how we interact with each other, with nature and the larger-than-human world. These workshops have the character of trying out, finding new ways of doing things, for example, in listen to other senses, and to invite the larger-than-human world to take part in the workshop. They work as points of negotiation in relation to spirituality, nature/culture, knowledge communication. Workshops bear witness to a large amount of creativity, and despite the differences in design and performance there are common features. Workshops often open with a short attunement, 855 in silence and meditation in order to tune into the place, the participants and the mood of the moment, and they work to make everybody present in the practice they will be part of. These ways of working offer explorations of shifting sensibilities and transformative encounters which are important features in the cultivation of wild enchantment. These workshops are experimentations with an ambition to find alternative ways of experiencing the larger-than-human world and exploring the wild mind. This concerns our being in the world, how we relate to each other, and to the other-than-human world, in a relational perspective. Thus, community is not restricted to the human community but includes the larger-than-human world. A further thing to add regarding wild enchantments is how these practices work with healing, as they offer tools for

_

⁸⁵⁵ Sargisson 2012:115-116. Sargisson draws on her study of the Findhorn community in Scotland.

bridging the gap between humans and the larger-than-human world. By including holistic perspectives, wild enchantments relate to the full emotional register to give a renewed understanding of the many ways we relate to the larger-than-human world.

Wild Enchantments and Place – Eco-occulture

If we are to identify places that are capable of inspiring love of the world, the task here is to show how this can be related to what I refer to as "wounded places". These may very well be loved places; however, love may include not only intimacy, tenderness and care, but also loss and sorrow. These places can be described as wounded/wonder places, and they give rise to complex feelings – based on the sense of some injustice done – such as feelings of fear or eeriness or uncanniness. These places seem to unsettle us, calling for deeper questions. I have given accounts from many who testify to how they try to cope with environmental degradation or the loss of place, as these experiences give rise to both sorrow and grief. However, sorrow and grief may not be the end of love. Love might transform from the romantic notion (based on admiration or beauty) to a more mature and deeper sense of love.

In dark times, facing anthropogenic climate change and accelerated loss of biodiversity, how can the feelings of wonder and enchantment prevail? The loss of these moods would certainly be a tragedy, but fortunately this is not the state of the world, not yet anyway. Although conceptions of wonder and enchantment do not remain unaffected by the times we are living in, I take the reconciliation between the sense of wonder and enchantment and the darker moods – such as grief over the loss of biodiversity – to be at the core of my work. 'Wild enchantments' is the term I use in relation to my own field, and it is notable that I refer to enchantments in the plural to address the complexity of the term. 'Wild enchantments' cover the full range of the complex mood of enchantment and go beyond the simple notion of enchantment, restricted to emotions such as love and reverence. My point is not to dismiss these moods. The love of nature is a tenet in environmentalism, and environmentalists are often pictured, or even stereotyped, as driven by love and reverence for nature in their struggle to protect it, but this is just half the picture. Environmentalists may work to protect a beloved site, such as a beautiful forest, but all too often they fail to protect it and instead they must witness how timber companies turn it into a clear-cut. These places are ecologically wounded places, and they give rise to feelings of grief and sorrow. In times of climate change, these feelings are not only related to specific places, but more generally, the emotional responses that come with the global threat of climate change and ecocide. Thus, the moods that are in play here range from the "dark" shades of grief and sorrow, to eeriness or uncanniness, and they may also include the "bright" ones, such as love, reverence and the sense of wonder. Therefore, there is a colourful spectrum of moods, and from a theoretical perspective it is necessary to be able to address this.

I distance my approach from framings of enchantment, in terms such as awe, mystery, wonder, bliss, or being spellbound. Following Bennett, enchantment

involves fostering fleeting moments of affective attachment with the aim of experiencing wonder. 856 Bennett admits that uncanny moods and feeling of being disrupted or torn out of one's default sensory-psychic-intellectual disposition may be part of the experience. 857 Fear might one of those extra-ordinary states, but "fear cannot dominate if enchantment is to be". 858 As previously stated, my criticism here is based on my perspective, in relation to climate change and environmental degradation. These darker feelings cannot be neglected or taken lightly; it is necessary to offer some clue as to how it is possible to overcome these states. Feelings that are unsettling, dark or even deep may coexist with love and compassion, and this must be considered to get the full range of the complexity. Emotions often come in clusters rather than well-defined separate instances of feelings. Sorrow may coexist with anger. The question is not how we can get rid of such dark feelings as fear. If these dark feelings are *incompatible* with enchantment, then enchantment cannot help to cure us from them, rather they would be an obstacle to get into an enchanted mood. I found this to be crucial, I conclude that the reflective practices in my study try to offer tools for working with this reconciliation of love and loss, of wonder and wounds, enchantment and the eerie, and the lighter and the darker moods that come with living in times of climate change. I call this a way of working with wonder and wounds.⁸⁵⁹

6.3.2 Wonder and Wounds

The sense of wonder, the love of nature is considered to be the basis for an ethical relation to nature. This is the classical understanding of environmental ethics, shared by environmentalists and eco-theologians. Still, as my study has shown, today many experiences how places they love are devastated and become unrecognisable. Such experiences are deeply emotional, as seen in the stories of Kathy and Mark, who both experienced a loss of place. Others tell of a more general feeling of grief regarding the state of the world. Kim's words, "I'm torn by that unsettling feeling

856 Bennett 2001:4.

⁸⁵⁷ Bennett 2001:5.

⁸⁵⁸ Bennett 2001:5.

Bennett 2001:34. Rather than proceeding from a definition, Bennett asks: what does it mean to be enchanted? How does it feel to be enchanted? In what circumstances does this mood come to us? I have taken these questions into consideration in my own account of "wild enchantment". Bennett sees enchantment as a complex mood, and this complexity will be the focus. Although my main objection is the emphasis on the sense of wonder, it is not to deny that enchantment may include a sense of wonder, but this far from the whole picture. Bennett approaches enchantment with a certain degree of caution, and even warns that enchantment can both charm and disturb. The character of charm may be easy to reconcile with the sense of wonder (or a sense of bliss and being spellbound), but the disturbing counterpart seems to open towards something more unsettling, that resonates with my study. As we have seen, enchantment is a complex mood, and in order to draw attention to this complexity, I will refer to enchantments in the plural. I draw the range of complexity from the sense of wonder to wounds.

and the fire inside", are emblematic. In times of ecological crisis and loss of biodiversity many experiences grief and sorrow and a sense of being wounded. The question I ponder on is what happens to people who face this experience; is it the end of love of nature and the sense of wonder? Given the classic notion love as the basis for environmental ethics that would mean that the ethical basis for environmental ethics is lost as well. However, relating the sense of wonder and wounds may be transformative on a personal level and it may offer a new basis for environmental ethics in the Anthropocene. Brian G. Campbell argues that to face the wounds of nature is to face your own vulnerability. We can see "a concern for nature emerging from the *encounter with place*" and it "invites us to see the human other: intimately, face to face, beautiful and vulnerable, a mirror of our own self."860 Thus, seeing the other opens for a complexity that is "beautiful and vulnerable". I believe that to understand the complexity, it is not enough to pinpoint this or that particular condition or aspect of it, but to consider the experience of living itself. The historian Brian Fagan considers the vulnerability of the modern urban and consumerist lifestyle, living with increasing thresholds of vulnerably. It is not only a vulnerability of the individual, it is the social organisation that is fragile and that make our lives vulnerable.861

Andrea Nightingale, professor of classics and comparative literature, proceeds from Francis Bacon's notion of wonder as broken knowledge. This is rooted in the epistemology of science which values certainty and rejects everything that does not live up to the criteria. Nightingale claims that if the scientific approach to nature demotes all forms of understanding that do not achieve certainty, the philosophy of ecology conversely pays attention to *the sense of wonder as a form of understanding the world*. This involves the attempt to apprehend nature (and our place in nature) in bodily and experimental terms – to attain knowledge that will always be partial, broken off. It is based on a completely different economy of attention, one that attends to nature in ecological rather than scientific terms.⁸⁶²

The oscillation between the bodily and the intellectual explorations of nature generates a mode of understanding that "breaks off" in wonder: wonder is the origin of ecological philosophy, but also its (on going) culmination. ⁸⁶³

Thus, wonder is an "oscillation between the bodily and the intellectual explorations of nature" and this addresses the complexity of the term. At the same time, to picture wonder as a mode of understanding that "breaks off" should not mislead us to think of something other-worldly. Noora Pyyry and Raine Aiava see enchantment as a

⁸⁶⁰ Bauman et al. 2011:206.

⁸⁶¹ Fagan 2004: xv.

⁸⁶² Nightingale 2009:16.

⁸⁶³ Nightingale 2009:16.

fundamental encounter that includes a radical reordering of the world. 864 They set out to scrutinise what they refer to as "the reorganising power of enchantment", and they focus on a vignette of despair, loss, and suffering, and thus it is possible to clarify the circulation of affect involved in the disruption and emergence of the subject. Enchantment is a highly affectual event that uproots the subject, throws it momentarily off balance, outside of time and space, but this is not only a pleasant experience of being inspired by the world, but a sometimes uninvited ontological unfolding of it. Enchantment is both a profound loss of meaning and a sudden gaining of significance. It offers a way to rethink the world, which can come into being through many different affectual states, including those of a 'negative' register, which can be perceived in terms of ambivalence, vulnerability, or even uncanniness or eeriness

Enchantment and Emotions

Bennett points to a disturbing quality of enchantment, which may come as a sudden or unexpected encounter, that is, one "that hits us". *65 It involves a surprising encounter, a meeting with something you did not expect to be fully prepared to engage. It is both a pleasurable feeling of being charmed by the novel and yet unprocessed encounter, but also "a more *unheimlich* (uncanny) feeling of being disrupted or torn out of one's default sensory-psychic-intellectual disposition."**866 It is "a mood of fullness, plenitude or liveliness, a sense of having had one's nerves or circulation or concentration power turned up or recharged."**867 Bennett mentions fear as one such extraordinary states, although "fear cannot dominate if enchantment is to be". *868 Such moods, fear and uncanniness, seems to be increasingly appearing in relation to sites of environmental degradation.

I pay attention to the emotional responses to the loss of place and responses that come with the global threat of climate change and ecocide, from the dark moods to the bright" moods, such as love, reverence and a sense of wonder, on the other. These emotional attitudes or moods are linked to cultural expressions; as seen how myths and legends become vehicles for such uncanny and riddling moods, and the haunted landscape of the Anthropocene is pictured as ghostly. I use the term 'eco-occulture' when referring to such cultural expressions of these darker emotions. What I describe as working with wonder and wounds may take artistic forms of expression.

⁸⁶⁴ Pyyry and Aiava 2020.

⁸⁶⁵ Bennett 2001:4 italics added.

⁸⁶⁶ Bennett 2001.

⁸⁶⁷ Bennett 2001:5.

⁸⁶⁸ Bennett 2001:5.

6.3.3 Reflective Practices – Working with Wonder and Wounds

The notion of encounter is central in enchantment, it may be "a momentarily immobilizing encounter" (Bennett), enchantment as a fundamental encounter that includes "a radical reordering of the world (Pyyry and Aiava), or Campbell's "encounter *with place*". The we assume that enchantment involves encounter, disenchantment would be a kind of separation, a state where these encounters are no longer possible, being cut off from the world. What I found is that reflective practices offer tools for bridging this gap, to transform the distance to something within reach. This bridging of the gap is the core of wild enchantments which offer holistic and deep time perspectives. Therefore, what I refer to as to work with wonder and wounds aims to bridge the gap, to heal the broken connection and to cultivate enchantment.

Enchantment can, following Bennett, be "fostered through deliberate strategies", and I relate this to the various reflective practices in my study. Refer that these practices offer ways to experiment with shifting sensibilities, and to be receptive to the sensory modes in relating to the larger-than-human world. These practices offer an exploration of alternative ways of interrelating with the larger-than-human world. Thus, to cultivate wild enchantment is to explore and be receptive to these moods which cover the full range of emotions, and it may be an incentive to reflection and intellectual understanding. Sarah Pike calls this *creating strategies for intimacy and opposition*. Sarah Pike calls this *creating strategies for intimacy and opposition*. According to Bennett, "another way to enhance the enchantment effect is to *resist* the story of the disenchantment of modernity". Refer to pay attention to the quality of enchantment as opposition (Pike) and resistance (Bennett) gives a new angle on enchantment, not only as a blissful experience of the individual, but as a part of social change, and it may make it into something more lasting.

Practices of Encounter and Enchantment

Encounter is at the heart of enchantment. Encounter is a relational term; therefore, one has to ask, an encounter with what? Bennett stresses the importance of places with the power to enchant. I see Dartmoor as one such place, but there is more to it because many of these encounters are encounters with "the wild" or the larger-than-human world. This is to enter a less human-centred world, or an invitation to question the human self-conception as a species different from other species. The

⁸⁶⁹ Bennett 2001:5.

⁸⁷⁰ Pyyry and Aiava 2020.

⁸⁷¹ Bauman et al. 2011.

⁸⁷² Bennett 2001:4.

⁸⁷³ Pike 2017:135.

⁸⁷⁴ Bennett 2001:4 italics added.

wild is an alternative realm, the alter-world that is equally real, but not an otherworldly (transcendental) image. Such encounters with the larger-than-human world are central in wild enchantments. The larger-than-human world is characterised by complexity and even hybridity, it is beyond nature in the traditional sense, or place or the landscape. The workshops that I have studied encourage exploration of alternative ways of experiencing the larger-than-human world. I refer to this as a shifting sensibility and it resonates with Bennett's "sensory receptivity to the marvellous specific things" and with Pyyry and Aiava's "reorganising power of enchantment". Enchantment is both a profound loss of meaning and a sudden gaining of significance. To work with wonder and wounds means an uninvited ontological unfolding of both loss and love. I would say that this takes enchantment to deeper level of complexity and towards hybridity.

Cultivating enchantment is, in one sense, performance and participation in a practice, perhaps as a training of the senses to be receptive to these moods, and also to process the full range of emotions or to reflect intellectually. Kim's emblematic and emotionally ambivalent words about being torn by "that unsettling feeling and the fire inside" guide me in this pursuit, because she expresses how emotions comes in clusters. As we have seen, the reflective practices are performed to facilitate and encourage reflections, and to offer an experience that forms an alternative to the disenchanted world. Although the primary purpose of these practices may not be to give rise to moments of bliss, participants do tell of profound experiences in these workshops. Thus, if the moments of bliss are like a gift from providence, to cultivate enchantment is in one sense, the performance and participation in a practice. It is the exploration of capacities or abilities, of sensory modes, to be receptive to these moods, to process the full range of emotions but also to reflect, intellectually.

Consequently, cultivations of wild enchantments relate to the full emotional register and to a renewed understanding of the many ways we relate to the larger-than-human world. Wild enchantment is a this-worldly and relational experience, it emerges in participating in the world, and interaction with the larger-than-human world. Wild enchantments are reciprocal enchantment, and as Jay Griffith notes, reciprocity means that we will not only be enchanted by the land, we can likewise enchant the land, for example by performing various practices. As we have seen, to sing, 'chanter' is part of the etymology of the enchantment. Hence, enchanting moments may be short and deep, they may give rise to lasting impression and may be transformative, which should not be mistaken for some religious revelation of contact with God, the divine, the transcendental, or the otherworldly. I characterise dark green spirituality as this-worldly, which does not mean that it lacks perspective or is narrow-minded. The *this-worldly is part of the larger-than-human world*, and it sets humanity in perspectives that reach beyond, but without leaving the living world behind.

6.3.4 Tales of Enchantment and the Art of the Anthropocene

The power of stories is that they contribute to creating the state that they picture, their rhetorical powers have real effects. Bennett notes: "I fear that another story of a world in crisis might do more to undermine ecological concern that to raise awareness of ecological destruction". 875 In distinguishing between the two tales of modernity, the tale of enchantment and the tale of disenchantment she sets the example for an enchanted alter-tale. Modern history has too often been told as the tale of disenchantment, assuming that the "premodern world gave way to forces of scientific and instrumental rationality". 876 This tale depicts nature and culture as orders no longer capable of inspiring deep attachments, inflecting the self as a creature of loss and thus discourages discernment of the marvellous vitality of bodies human and non-human, natural and artefactual. It should not be denied that a tale has to do with words, and the power of words may be a tool for enchantment. The scholar of literature Robert Macfarlane considers language to be fundamental for the possibility of re-wonderment, for language does not just register experience, it produces it. Words are inseparable from the feelings we create in relation to situations, to others and to places. 877 Macfarlane does not suggest that the answer to the question of how to find this lost language and enchantment is to adopt a literal animism or systematic superstition. The project is to restore these lost words and find a language that can speak of both magic and enchantment, but also something distinctively darker, which Macfarlane describes as a tendency to the new eerie in contemporary artwork.⁸⁷⁸ The new eerie is a landscape culture that nourishes a fascination with ideas of unsettlement and displacement. The eeriness emerges in landscape haunted by its past and by ecological shadows that seem to be haunted by ghosts from a future beyond control. The eeriness, the wounds or displacement contrast with the simple sense of wonder. The new stories that here emerge are set within the landscape and arts of the Anthropocene; these stories are told by other voices.

The philosopher Donna Haraway describes the art of the Anthropocene as multispecies storytelling that allows us to make kin with other species. The anthropologists Elaine Gain, Anna Tsing, Heather Swanson and Nils Budant address the traces of the more-than-human histories through which ecologies are

⁸⁷⁵ Bennett 2001:91.

⁸⁷⁶ Bennett 2001:7.

⁸⁷⁷ Macfarlane 2018:25–26. Language carries both formative and informative impulse – the power known to theorists as 'illocutionary' and 'illative'. Macfarlane claims that: "Certain kinds of language can restore a measure of wonder to our relations with nature. Others might offer modest tools for modest place-making. Others still might free objects at least momentarily from their role as standing reserve."

⁸⁷⁸ Macfarlane, Robert (2015) "The Eeriness of the English countryside", *The Guardian* 10 April 2015.

made and unmade. ⁸⁷⁹ The new stories are the stories of the Anthropocene, which are created in various practices, such as storytelling and constructed in relation to place, such as Dartmoor. The practice of storytelling emphasises the role of voice and listening, because in this it is not exclusively human voices that are heard. Haraway's multispecies storytelling is central in the culture of wildness. This concerns the stories told or untold, those whose voices are heard and whose are silenced, and it emphasises the role of listening to a multitude of voices. When listening to a storyteller, it is not only the voice of the teller that is central. Rather, the story voices other voices; those who speak with a different tongue and logic than human language; for the larger-than-human world, for the long-gone ancient world, and even for those to come – the ghosts of yesterday and tomorrow.

Myths are stories that carry the ancient knowledge of the land, and they are material to work with, to bring home. Mythology is a tool in the exploration of the wild consciousness. Mythology and storytelling often inspire people to turn their further interest to Paganism or Druidry. Imagination is central in the creation of stories, and Haivens and Knasnabish refer to the role of radical imagination, which is not to be seen as a private property of the individual.⁸⁸⁰ Radical imagination is like a nest where experiences, language, stories, ideas and art and theories are shared. People create, or co-create, from this material, landscapes, horizons, but also multiple landscapes, sometimes overlapping and contradictory or coexisting landscapes. 881 This approach to stories is an alternative to Western literature, with its focus on the author as a unique artist producing the story from his/her individual or inner life. The use of local lore and mythology can be seen as a form of recycling of old material, the telling is a re-telling, a continuous creative reworking process, where contemporary issues of the Anthropocene can be expressed. The mythic frame offers symbols, language, characters, and it relates to place, in this case to Dartmoor, to ancient history, and to deep time perspectives of geological and ancient records.

The Anachronism of the Ancient Landscape and Narratives of the Post-Apocalypse Given its Bronze Age history, the ancient landscape of Dartmoor works as an example of collapsing societies — or collapsing civilisations, and therefore it is a suitable place to visit as a part of eco-education. The conception of Dartmoor as an ancient mythic landscape is an anachronism because the lost-civilisation narrative is set within a contemporary environmental discourse of the end of civilisation. Telling the story of the collapse of Dartmoorian Bronze Age civilisation at the site makes it possible to play out the narrative in real life. The reading of the landscape, the enigmatic question of why this civilisation collapsed, the answer, of misuse of nature resources, or changing climate, makes this story into more than just a story

⁸⁷⁹ Gain, Tsing, Swanson and Budant 2017.

⁸⁸⁰ Haiven and Knasnabish 2014:4.

⁸⁸¹ Haiven and Knasnabish 2014:4.

of something long gone. There are striking parallels to the contemporary context of environmental discourse, where Jared Diamond's collapse theory states that civilisations collapse when they put too much strain on the ecological environment. 882 In visiting Dartmoor these collapse theories come to life as part of the history of the place. In one sense, Dartmoor is a place where the collapse already has taken place. It is thus an anachronistic landscape, that is, we look at the historical landscape as a stage for setting a story that addresses a contemporary predicament, and in this the anachronism spins over to an environmental apocalypse.

'Apocalypse' is a prophetic story of how the end of the world gives way to a new and better world, and contemporary political theories have taken the notion to form 'apocalypticism'. Sasha Lilley describes it as a politics of collapse and political rebirth.⁸⁸³ Bron Taylor consider apocalypticism to be distinctive for radical environmentalism. Taylor notes that this apocalypticism is "radically innovative in the history of religion – because it is the first time an expectation of the end of the known world has been grounded in environmental science."884 Today scientific models agree on the problem; climate crisis is not just a prophecy of some environmental group; it is a problem that a majority of society agree on even if there might be strongly dividing views on the cure. Nor can the theme of a civilisation in deep crisis be said to be restricted to some circles of radical environmentalism. Taylor argues that ecological problems reflect and express a profound change in cultural models and are fused together, as a bricklayer or mason pieces together a wall or a building with mortar and stone. Today there is a global environmental milieu in which shared ideas incubate, cross-fertilise and spread. It is a process characterised by hybridisation and bricolage.⁸⁸⁵

Apocalyptic stories express the moods of Anthropocene, but this raises the question: how can the decline of ecosystems and the collapse of human societies pave the way back to an earthly paradise? Apocalypses are seen as a way forward to something different to come, that is, the post-apocalypse. The post-apocalyptic theme does not just wallow in catastrophes, and Lucy Sargisson points that although these dystopias often are pessimistic about human nature, contemporary "post-apocalypse dystopias are ambivalent" Similarly, Bron Taylor characterises these expectations of the collapse as an "inseparability of pessimism and optimism, and the ambivalence about the coming catastrophe". 887 Disaster is immanent, it involves

⁸⁸² Diamond 2011.

⁸⁸³ Lilley 2012.

⁸⁸⁴ Taylor 2011:84 Taylor claims that "what separates radical environmentalism from many other forms of dark green religion is apocalypticism." Radical environmentalism does not necessarily imply a political radicalism, according to Taylor.

⁸⁸⁵ Taylor 2010:14.

⁸⁸⁶ Sargisson 2012:114.

⁸⁸⁷ Taylor 2010:85.

the desecration of a sacred world, and it must be resisted.⁸⁸⁸ Therefore, if these collapse stories give rise to neither pessimism nor optimism, what is the use of them? I think Sargisson's notion of post-apocalypticism addresses something distinctive: The post-apocalyptic theme "strips away society to see what lies beneath", 889 which is in tune with the etymology of 'Apocalypse' which is connected to 'uncovering' and 'revelation'. Post-apocalyptic stories make it possible to "imagine human society after the removal of current institutions, structures and norms". 890 The end of civilisation is one such post-apocalyptic narrative, which is part of the emic discourse on climate change and civilisation. To strip away society to see what is underneath invites the historical long-term and deep-time perspectives. To strip away society is to dig deeper than the present, and thus resonates with what I describe as negotiating baselines. The post-apocalyptic story is an imaginary collapse. The post-apocalypse narrative and imagination may feed from the history and legends, but it is also set in the present because it relates to a wider environmental discourse, and it mediates an ethos of environmental concern. I found that the long-term or deep-time perspectives play a vital role in mediating an ecological ethos, as intergeneration justice is at the core of ecological ethics.

The post-apocalyptic narrative should not be mistaken for a story of gloom and doom, because *the end of civilisation* parallels the emergence of a new culture of wildness. These are both related to Dartmoor and refer to structural changes in relation to climate change and ecological crisis. It is notable that this double narrative ranges between *end* and *emergence*. Taken together, *the end of civilisation* and the emergence of a culture of wildness forms a narrative that tells of a historical, social and cultural transformation.

6.3.5 The Wild – Wild Places as Spiritual Resources

In this section I will discuss multifaceted notions of 'the wild' as a spiritual resource, in relation to wild places, and sum up some features. I describe Dartmoor as a wild place, because it challenges our expectations of wilderness, it also questions our conception of what it means to be human – as modern man or as a species – and our ways of knowing the larger-than-human world or the stories we tell. The powers of the larger-than-human world such as deep time, wind or light, are something we can experience through our five senses, but also through our sensibilities, such as intuition, compassion, imagination. These riddling powers of the larger-than-human world are expressed in myths, legends and folklore, and therefore these tales often evoke enchanting moods. This deep time encounter may be something like a time

⁸⁸⁸ Taylor 2011:86.

⁸⁸⁹ Sargisson 2012:114.

⁸⁹⁰ Sargisson 2012:114.

travel representing an alternative way to approach the past which does not foreground either knowledge, insights or critique; instead it gives credibility to experience, and holds up sensual immersion as a distinctive feature. ⁸⁹¹ This leads towards deep time perspectives, which go beyond presence-absence, and it is part of the hybridity of the Anthropocene which pushes the dichotomisation of lifedeath, body-place, inner-outer, human-animal over the edge. It is a holistic notion of the world, distinct from the rationalistic Newtonian scientific laws of nature.

Rewilding offer a model for how humans can reform their attitude to nature or the larger-than-human world, as well as their self-conception as a species. This will have positive consequences for how they interact with other species, and to become more compassionate and egalitarian, and their use of natural resources in consideration to other species and ecosystems. These new conceptions of how-tolive-in nature can be referred to as "reconnecting to nature" but can also be referred to as a rewilding of the human mind. In a spiritual vocabulary reconnecting to nature is often conceptualised as 'healing' of broken relation to nature, and this healing is done, for example, in various workshops. Ecological self-awareness sets us in a different relation to the world. The world we presume to save is no longer simply the outer world. We (humans) are part of the ecosystem, and there is no longer any other world but a world of relational intimacy. We are part of the world that needs to be saved, but at the same time, part of a species that has caused the ecological crisis. Hence, ecological self-awareness sets us in a relation of hybrid intimacy with a world; in being part of the human species as the cause of the crisis, we are still forced to face the challenge of how to contribute to change towards an ecologically viable future.

I found wild places – and exploring the wildness of wild places – to be important for the realisation of the wild mind. What I refer to as negotiating baselines is central to finding and exploring these wild places. I see the negotiation of baselines as taking two forms:(i) negotiating baseline – in relation to the actual place in reading the landscape, where various practices help to see the landscape beyond its present shape, and (ii) negotiating baselines in relation to deep time, which sets wild places in relation to the riddling power of the Anthropocene. Negotiating baselines works with both place and time. These places are of interest for the green movement, examples of environmental degradation visited not only for education excursions but also for spiritual reasons. The riddling power evokes both spiritual and eerie moods. Therefore, wild places are spiritual places. They hold the quality referred to as sacramental values (Gerrard) or the power to enchant (Bennett). Dartmoor is a lost forest; in a long-term historical perspective, it is an ecologically wounded place. Wistman's Wood, the reminiscence of that lost forest, is also a haunted place, which is part of its power to enchant. Wild places may hold a reputation of being eerie, uncanny or being haunted. Wild places may be wounded places where various healing practices are performed – they are sites for working with wonder and

⁸⁹¹ Holtoft 2017:4.

wounds. The ancient landscape is a spiritual resource, it is a source of stories and a space for encounters with the larger-than-human world and with ecological ghosts and shadows. Wild places resonate with Thomas Gieryn's truth-spots, which are places that render credibility to beliefs and claims, about the past and future, natural and social reality. These are places that, in Gieryn's words "make people believe", nevertheless, wild places are never to be taken for granted; they may be both mesmerising and evoke uncertainty. They illustrate that truth is a complex thing, and this is very much part of their hybrid character.

Hybridity of Wild Places

Wild places are complex not only in the conceptual sense, wild places are hybrid places. They are characterised by ambivalence, and as exemplified by Dartmoor, wild places might be marginal places. This is not the only characterisation of Dartmoor, however, because it is equally pictured as a haunted place, a sacred place, a thin place. Dartmoor's history is distinctive here: it has been settled and abandoned, used as grazing land for centuries, before becoming a national park and marketed in tourist information as an outstanding example of British wilderness, vet despite being a national park, kept open according to swaling practices, in order to remain a characteristic moorland. Dartmoor is a place marked by human presence and interference. In a long-term perspective, a lost woodland, a heavily transformed landscape, and an example of how humans remould landscapes according to their needs and preferences, with little or no consideration for the larger-than-human world. From this point of view, Dartmoor is a site of environmental degradation, it is a wounded place, a lost forest, therefore it is a suitable place to visit to reflect on these matters, and this is compatible with being a wild place. Graham Harvey refers to such places as greenwoods. These are places where we are visitors and can encounter Life in all it many dimensions, and relationships.⁸⁹² Greenwoods are special places, and places "in the margins of human dominance". 893 Greenwoods are part of the less human centred world. Despite being marginal, wild places are not set apart as reservations to protect; they are not untouched nature, or pure, they are hybrid places. They include historical, social and cultural perspectives and this mixture is very much their attraction. It brings to life the social processes that go beyond models of climatological or geological data. Being hybrid places, wild places are far from the romantic notion of pure nature or untouched wilderness, they are rather what Donna Haraway refers to as natureculture. Nonetheless, wild places may be places for wildlife, but likewise places for rewilding and the realisation of the rewilding of the human mind. Therefore, wild places do not conflict with the presence of humans, as the romantic notion of wilderness suggests. There is, however, a need for distinctions because domesticated beings, which may be both animals and humans, are contrasted with feral ones, and while the domesticated (or

⁸⁹² Harvey 2011:159.

⁸⁹³ Harvey 2011:158-159.

civilised human being) may still be problematic, the feral is not. Feral is, as George Monbiot notes; "a wild state, especially after escape from captivity and domestication" 894

Therefore, I consider wild places as distinctive in the realisation of a less human-centred world. These are the places for encounters and manifestations of the larger-than-human world. The present is set in proportional perspective to the larger-than-human world. At the same time, it relates the present to all those perspectives that are considered deep. Wild places hold the key to let us out of the iron cage of rationalisation. Finally, from a spiritual perspective, the hybridity of wild places sets the present in the long-term and deep-time perspective, which offers an enigmatic quality that is attractive. It is multifaceted and holds a riddling power that stimulates the cultivation of wild enchantments.

In conclusion, to answer the question I posed concerning the relation between narrative, practice and place, I claim that narrative, practice and place both mirror and amplify each other, that they coexist and constitute each other, and when it comes to actual workshops, they merge to a unity in what I refer to as working with wonder and wounds. I also claim that 'place' forms a hub, between narrative and practice, therefore places or 'place' in one sense form the basis. In simple terms, my reason for this is that both narratives and practices 'take place'. My notion of negotiating baselines further illustrates how narrative, practice and place comes together and how 'place', or the landscape, is central here. From a theoretical perspective this can be referred to 'places with the power to enchant' following Bennett, but I also think this can be seen as hybrid places. My study presents Dartmoor as one such place, and I have brought the analysis further in discussing Dartmoor as both a wild place and as a spiritual resource.

6.4 Prospects for Further Research

To conduct a study and write a thesis means to offer answers to the questions posed. In this sense the task is straightforward. So far, I have concluded my analysis and presented answers which I found satisfying. During the process towards the final chapter, something may emerge that falls beside the study you are conducting. As noted, the reality is always stranger than expected and it means that there must be space for the unexpected.

In order to give a stringent presentation of my results, I have been forced to put some findings aside and avoid elaborating on some themes that I would have liked to pay more attention to. At best, these can be kept for later as they offer material and inspiration for further research. I would especially have liked to dedicate more

_

⁸⁹⁴ Monbiot 2014.

space to what I call the paradoxical animism of the Anthropocene, the ghostly shadow of ecological losses that gives them an animistic life. This paradoxical animism seems to emerge in the process of negotiating baselines, which seems to stir up the ghostly presence of futures past. It brings to life a spiritual ecology and ontology of animated lifeforms of unexpected presence and character, which mediate the ethical challenge of ecocide. It is a ghostly or eerie version of the vibrant matter that Bennett pictures, and it seems to resonate with pagan animistic sentiments which would be valuable to analyse in relation that Partridge's term 'paganization'. I would also like to devote further attention to the various aspects of the coming together of the deep and the dark, both in the sense of the ideological and philosophical discussion of deep ecology (Arne Næss) in relation to dark ecology (Timothy Morton), and how deep-time perspectives evoke the dark in a sense that simultaneously brings out the dark of the romantic sentiments of the tradition of the Counter-Enlightenment, and pushes the deep and the dark into the hybrid intimacy of the Anthropocene in the echoing question: Who is the Anthropos of the Anthropocene? Therefore, I take these themes as prospects for further research and hopefully I will be able to return to them and give them the attention they deserve.

Bibliography

- Abram, David (1996) *Spell of the Sensuous Perception and Language in a more than human World.* New York: Vintage Books
- Adkins, Roy; Adkins, Lesley; Leitch, Victoria (2008). *The Handbook of British Archaeology (Second Edition)*. London: Constable.
- Alasuutari, Pertti (2004) Social Theory and Human reality. London: Sage Publications,
- Amato, Joseph (2004) On Foot: A History of Walking. New York: New York University Press
- Anderson, Benedict (2006) *Imagined Communities: Reflections on the origin and spread of nationalism.* London: Verso
- Archer, Davis (2009) *The Long Thaw: How Humans are Changing the Next 100,000 Years of Earth's Climate.* Princeton: Princeton Science Library
- Archer, Kevin (2013) The City the Basic. London: Routledge
- Aronsson, Peter (2004) Historiebruk (Using History). Lund: Studentlitteratur
- Atkins, William (2015) The Moor A journey into the English wilderness. London: Faber and Faber
- Asad, Talal (2003) Formations of the Secular: Christianity, Islam, Modernity. Stanford: Stanford University Press
- Asad, Talal (2018) Secular Translations: Nation-State, Modern Self, and Calculative Reason. Columbia University Press
- Augé, Marc (2008) Non-places. London. Verso
- Barnhill, David Landis, and Gottlieb, Roger S. (2001) *Deep ecology and world religions: new essays on sacred grounds*. Albany: University of New York Press,
- Barry, Brian (2003) "Sustainaibaility and Intergenraltional Justice" in Light, Andrew and Rolston III, Holmes (2003) *Environmental Ethics An Anthology*. Oxford: Blackwell publishing
- Bauman, Withney. Bohannan, Richard. O'Brian, Kevin J. Eds: (2010) *Grounding Religion* A field Guide to the Study of Religion and Ecology. London and New York:
 Routledge
- Bennett, Jane (2001) Enchantment of Modern Life: Attachments, crossings and ethics, Princeton: Princeton University Press
- Bennett, Jane (2010) Vibrant Matters: a political ecology of things. Durham, NC: Duke University Press
- Berger, John (1980) Why Look at Animals? London: Penguin book

- Bergmann, Sigurd (2014) *Religion, Space and the Environment.* London: Transaction Publishers
- Bergmann, Sigurd (2017) "Developments in Religion and Ecology" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. Abidington Oxon: Routledge
- Billington, Penny (2011) *The Path of Druidry: Walking the Ancient Green Way.* Woodbury Minn: Llewellyn Publications,
- Bird Rose, Deborah (2011) *Wild Dog Dreaming: love and extinction.* Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press.
- Blain, Jenny. Ezzy, Douglas and Harvey, Graham (2004) *Researching Paganism*. Walnut Creek: Altamira Press,
- Bloch, Ernst (1986) The Principle of Hope. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press,
- Blom, Philipp Die Welt aus den Angeln. Eine Geschichte der Kleinen Eiszeit von 1570 bis 1700 sowie der Enstehung der modernen Welt, verbunden mit einigen Überlungen zum Klima der Gegenwart. Carl Hanser Verlag.
- Bogard, P (2013) *The end of Nights: searching for natural darkness in an age of artificial light.* London: London Fourth Estate
- Bohannon, Richard. Ed. (2014) *Religions and Environments A Reader in Religion, Nature and Ecology.* New York: Bloomsbury
- Bookchin, Murrey (1995) *The Philosophy of Social Ecology: Essays on the Dialectical Naturalism*, Montréal: Black Rose Books
- Boyarsky, I. & Shneiderman, A. (2002) "Natural and Hybrid Disasters Causes, Effects, and Management". *Topics in Emergency Medicine*, 24 (3): 1–25.
- Boyle, Mark (2015) *Drinking Molotov cocktails with Gandhi*. Abingdon: Permanent publications
- Braunstein, Peter and Doyle, Michael William. Eds, (2002) *Imagine Nation The American Counterculture of the 1960s &70s*. London: Routledge
- Brisman, Avi (2009) "It takes Green to be Green: Environmental Elitism, 'Rituals display,' and Conspicuous Non-consumption" *North Dakota Law Review* (Vol. 85:329)
- Bucko and Fox, Matthew (2013) *Occupy Spirituality: A Radical Vision for a New Generation*. Berkley, California: North Atlantic Books
- Buell, Lawrence (2005) *The Future of Environmental Criticism Environmental Crisis and Literary Imagination*. Oxford: Blackwell
- Busking Signe (2019), "Insider or outsider? Exploring the fluidity of the roles through social identity theory", *Journal of Organizational Ethnography*, Vol. 8 No. 2, pp. 159-170.
- Callicott, Biard J. (2003) "A Critique of and an Alternative to the Wilderness" in Light, Andrew and Rolston III, Holmes (2003) *Environmental Ethics An Anthology*. Oxford: Blackwell publishing
- Caputi, Jane (1987) The age of sex crime. London: The Woman's Press
- Carmichael, David, L. Hubert, Jane. Revees, Brian and Schanche, Audhild. (1994) *Sacred Sites, Sacred Places*. London: Routledge

- Carrette, Jeremy and King, Richard (2005) Selling Spirituality The Silent takeover of Religion. Oxfordshire: Routledge
- Carr-Gomm, Philip (2002) Druid Mysteries Ancient Wisdom for the 21th Century. London: Rider
- Carson, Rachel (1962, fortieth anniversary edition 2002) *Silent Spring*. Houghton: Mifflin Harcourt
- Casanova, José (1994) Public Religion in the Modern World. Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Casey, Edward S. (1993) Getting back into place: toward a renewed understanding of the place-world / Bloomington: Indiana University Press,
- Casey, Edward S. (2013) *The Fate of Places: A Philosophical History*. Los Angeles: University of California Press
- Castells, Manuel (2010) The power of identity: economy, society and culture. Malden, Mass: Blackwell
- Castells, Manuel (2012) *Networks of outrage and hope: social movements in the Internet age.* Cambridge: Polity Press
- Chakrabarty, Dipech. 2009. "The Climate of History: Four Theses". *Critical Inquiry*. Vol. 35(2) pp. 197–222.
- Chakrabarty, Dipech (2016) "Humanities in the Anthropocene: The Crisis of and Enduring Kantian Fable". *New Literary History*, Volume 47, Numbers 2&3, Spring & Summer 2016, Johns Hopkins University Press
- Chomsky, Noam. Polk, Laray (2013) *Nuclear War and Environmental Catastrophe*, New York: Seven Stores Press
- Christie, Douglas E. (2017) "Nature writing and nature mysticism" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of Religion and Ecology*. Abidington Oxon: Routledge.
- Ciplet, David. Roberts, Timmons J. and Khan, Mizan R. (2015) *Power in a warming world: the New Global Politics of Climate Change and the remaking of Environmental Inequality*. Cambridge Massachusetts: the Mit Press.
- Cooney, Gabriel (1994) "Sacred and Secular Neolitic Landscapes in Ireland" in Carmichael, David, L. Hubert, Jane. Revees, Brian and Schanche, Audhild. (1994) *Sacred Sites, Sacred Places.* London: Routledge.
- Corbett, Julia B. (2006) Communicating Nature How We Create and Understand Environmental Messages. Washington: Island Press.
- Cottrell, Barry (2017)" Mind in Deep Time Original Participation and Re-enchantment of the World", in *Explore*, November/ December 2017, Vol. 13, no.6 p, 400-406
- Cowen, Tyler (2011) The Great Stagnation How America Ate All the Low-Hanging Fruits of Modern History, Got Sick and Will (Eventually) Feel Better. New York: Dutton, Penguin Group.
- Cronon, William (1996)" The trouble with Wilderness, or Getting Back to Wrong Nature" In Cronon 1996 Ed. *Uncommon Ground rethinking the human place in nature*. New York: Norton

- Cronon, William Ed. (1996) *Uncommon Ground rethinking the human place in nature*. New York: Norton
- Crutzen, Paul. J. and Stoermer, Eugene F. (2000) The "Anthropocene". *Global Change Newsletter*, 41, 17.
- Crutzen, Paul J. and Stoermer, Eugene F (2013) *The Future of Nature*. New Haven: Yale University Press.
- Curry, Patrick (2019) Enchantment: Wonder in Modern Life: Edinburgh: Floris books
- Cuthbertson, Ian Alexander (2018) "The problem of Enchantment.". *Religion Compass*, vol, 12 issue 19, September 2018
- Davis, Heather. Trupin, Eitenne Turpin eds. (2015) Art in the Anthropocene: encounters among aesthetics, politics, environments and epistemologies. London. Open Humanities Press
- Davies, Anna (2009) "Environmentalism" in *International Encyclopedia of Human Geography* (2009) Eds. Kitchin, Rob and Thrift, Nigel p. 565-570. Amsterdam: Elsevier Ltd
- de Certeau, Michael (1984) *The Practice of Everyday life*. London: University of California Press Ltd
- DeKoven, Marianne (2004) *Utopia Unlimited The Sixties and the Emergence of the Postmodern. London:* Duke University Press
- Devall, Bill and Session, George (1985) *Deep ecology: living as if nature mattered.* Salt Lake City: G.M. Smith
- Diamond, Jared (2011) Collapse: How Societies choose to fail or succeed. New York: Penguin
- Dobson, Andrew (2007) Green Political Thought (fourth edition). London: Routledge
- Dobson, Andrew (2014) *Politics of listening: recognition, representation, reconicilation.*Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Down, Marion and Hensey, Robert eds. (2016) *The Archaeology of Darkness*. Oxford: Oxford books
- Dowie, Mark (1995) Losing Ground: American Environmentalism at the Close of the Twentieth Century. Cambridge, Mass: Mit Press
- Drooges, André (2004)" Enjoying an Emerging Alternative World Rituals in Its Own Ludic Right" *Social Analysis*, Volume 48, Issue 2 summer 2004, 138-154
- Ehrlich, Paul R. and Holdren, John P. (1969) "Population and Panaceas A Technological Perspective". BioScience Vol. 19, No. 12 (Dec. 1969), pp. 1065-1071
- Ekirch, Roger A. (2005) At Days Close Nights in Past times. London: W.W Norton Company
- Empson, Brian (2014) *Land & Labour: Marxism, ecology and human history*. London: Bookmarks Publications
- Engels, Friedrich (1844) The conditions of the English Working Class.
- Elias, Norbert (1939, 1994, 2000) The civilizating process Sociogenetic and Phychogenitic Investigations. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers

- Epstein, Barbara (1991) Political Protest and Cultural Revolution Nonviolent Direct Action in the 1970s and 1980s. Berkely: University of California Press
- Escobar, Arturo (2011) "Sustainability: Design for the pluriverse", *Development* (2011) 54(2), 137-140
- Forman, Robert, K. C. (2004) *Grassroots Spirituality What it is why it is here where is it going*. Exeter: Imprint Academic
- Fagan, Brian (2004) *The Long Summer: How Climate Changed Civilization*. London: Granta Publications
- Fagan, Brian (2000) The Little Ice Age How Climate made history. New York: Basic Books
- Feldt, Laura (2012) Ed. (2012) Wilderness in Mythology and Religion: Approaching Religious Spatialities, Cosmologies, and Ideas of Wild Nature. Boston: De Gruyter
- Fiennes, Peter (2017) *Oak and Ash and Thorn: the ancient woods and new forests of Britain.* London: Oneworld Publications.
- Fitzgerald, Timothy Ed. (2007) Religion and the Secular: Historical and Colonial Formations. London: Equinox Pub.
- Fredengren, Christina (2016) "Unexpected Encounters with Deep Time Enchantment. Bog Bodies, Crannogs and 'Otherworldly' sites. The materializing powers of disjunctures in time", *World Archaeology*. Oct 2016, Vol. 48 Issue 4, p482-499. 18p.
- Fredengren, Christina (2019) "Re-wilding the environmental humanities: a deep time comment" in *Current Swedish archaeology*. Stockholm: Swedish Archaeological Society [Svenska arkeologiska samfundet], [1993]-. 1102-7355; 2018(26), s. 50-60.
- Freud, Sigmund (1930, 2010) *Civilsation and its Discontent* (Das Unbehagen in der Kultur) London: Indiebooks
- Garrard, Greg (2012) Ecocriticism The New Critical Idiom. London: Routledge
- Gieryn, Thomas F. (2018) *Truth Spots How Places makes people believe*. Chicago and London: The University of Chicago Press
- Giddens, Anthony (2009) *The Politics of Climate Change*. Cambridge: Polity Press Cambridge
- Gifford, Terry (1999) Pastoral: The New Critical Idiom. New York: Routledge
- Glaser, Barney and Strauss, Anselm (1967) *The Discovery of Grounded Theory*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter
- Glotfelty, Cheryll and Harold Fromm (Eds). (1996) *The Ecocriticism Reader: Landmarks in Literary Ecology*. Athens and London: University of Georgia
- Goodbody, Axel (2007) Nature Technology and Cultural Change in Twentieth Century German Literature. Barringstroke: Palgrave Macmillan,
- Goodbody, Axel. Rigby, Kate Eds. (2011) *Ecocritical Theory: New European Approaches* (*Under the Sign of Nature.*) Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press
- Goodbody, Axel (2011) "Sense of Place and Lieu de Mémoire: A Cultural Memory Approach to Environmental Texts", in Goodbody, Axel. Rigby, Kate Eds. (2011) Ecocritical Theory: New European Approaches (Under the Sign of Nature) Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press

- Goffman, Ken (a.k.a R.U. Sirius). Joy, Dan. (2005) Counterculture Through the Ages From Abraham to Acid House. New York: Villard, New York
- Gottlieb Roger S (1996) *This Sacred Earth: religion, nature, environment.* New York: Routledge
- Gottlieb, Roger S. Ed. (2003) Liberating Faith Religious voices for Justice, Peace, & Ecological Wisdom. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Pub.
- Gottlieb, Roger S. (2003) "Saving the World: Religion and Politics in the Environmental Movement" in Gottlieb *Liberating Faith Religious voices for Justice, Peace, & Ecological Wisdom* Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Pub.
- Gottlieb, Roger S. (2003) "Tradition: Ethical Roots of Spiritual Social Activism" in Gottlieb *Liberating Faith Religious voices for Justice, Peace, & Ecological Wisdom*. Oxford: Rowman & Littlefield Pub.
- Gottlieb, Roger (2006) A Greener Faith: Religious environmentalism and our planet's future. New York: Oxford University Press
- Greer, John Michael (2008) *The Long decent: A users guide to the end of the industrial age.* Gabriola island: New Society
- Greer, John Michael (2012) Apocalypse: A History of the End of Time. London: Quercus
- Greer, John Michael (2018) *Not the Future We Ordered: Peak Oil. Psychology, and the Myth of Progress.* London: Karnac Books
- Greyson, Lauren (2019) Vital Reenchantments: Biophilia, Gaia, Cosmos, and the Affectively Ecological. Santa Barbara, CA: Punctum Books
- Griffiths, Jay (2006) Wild: An Elemental Journey. London: Penguin Book
- Grim, John (2017) "Indigenous Cosmovisions", in Jenkins, Willis. Tucker, Mary Evelyn and Grim, John (2017) *Routledge Handbook of Religion and Ecology*. London: Routledge
- Grober, Ulrich (2012) Sustainability: A Cultural History. Totnes: Dartington Space
- Gros, Frédéric (2014) A Philosophy of Walking. London: Verso
- Habermas, Jürgen (2008) "Religion in the public sphere: Cognitive Presuppositions for the 'Public Use of Reason' by Religious and Secular citizens" in *Between Naturalism and Religion Philosophical Essays*. Cambridge: Polity Press
- Haivens, Max. and Khasnabish, Alex (2014) *The Radical imagination Social movement research in age of austerity*. London: Fernwood Publishing, Zed Books
- Hall, Matthew (2011) *Plants as Persons A philosophical Botany*. Albany: The State University of New York Press
- Hamilton, Clive (2010) Requiem for a lost species. Why we resist the truth about Climate Change. New York: Earthscan
- Hamlin, Christopher, and Lodge, David M. (2006) "Beyond Lynn White" in *Religion and New Ecology Environmental Responsibility in a World in Flux*, Lodge and Hamlin eds. Indiana: University of Notre Dame

- Hamlin, Christopher, and Lodge, David M. eds. (2006) *Religion and New Ecology Environmental Responsibility in a World in Flux*. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame
- Hammersley, Martyn. Atkinson, Paul (1993) *Ethnography Principles in Practice*. London: Routledge
- Hanegraaff, Wouter J. (2003) "How magic survived the disenchantment of the world" in *Religion*. 2003 33(4):357-380 p.
- Harding, Stephan (2009) *Animate earth: Science, Intuition and Gaia*. Totnes: Green Books.
- Harvey, Graham (2004) "Pagan Studies or the study of Paganism? A case study in the study of religions" in *Research Paganism*, eds, Blain, Jenny. Ezzy, Douglas, and Harvey, Graham. Waknut Creek: AltaMira Press
- Harvey, Graham (2011) Contemporary Paganism: Religion of the Earth from Druids and witches to heathens and ecofeminists (2nd ed). New York: New York University Press
- Harvey, Graham (2012) "Rituals is Etiquette in the Larger than Human world: the Two Wildernesses in Contemporary Eco-Paganism" in Feldt, Laura. Ed. (2012) Wilderness in Mythology and Religion: Approaching Religious Spatialities, Cosmologies, and Ideas of Wild Nature. Boston: De Gruyter
- Harvey, Graham (2013) Food, Sex and Strangers: Understanding Religion as Everyday Life. Durham: Acumen pub.
- Harvey. Graham (2017) "Paganism and Animism" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. Abidington Oxon: Routledge,
- Harvey, Graham (2011) Killing of the Countryside. London: Vintage Books.
- Hanegraaff, Wouter J. (2003) "How magic survived the disenchantment of the world" in *Religion*. 2003 33(4):357-380 p.
- Haraway, Donna J. (2008) *When Species Meet.* Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press,
- Haraway; Donna J. (2016) *Staying with the Trouble: making kin in the Chthulucene*. Durham: Duke University Press
- Harding, Stephan (2009) Animate Earth: Science, Intuition, And Gaia. Totnes. Green Books
- Harrari, Yuval Noah (2015) *Sapiens: A Brief History of Humankind*. New York: Harper Collins publishers
- Hardt, Michael and Negri, Antonio (2005) *Multitude: War and Democracy in the Age of Empire*. New York: Penguin Press
- Hartman, Laura M. (2017) "Consumption" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. New York, NY: Routledge,
- Harrison, Robert Pogue (1992) Forests: The Shadow of Civilization. Chicago: University of Chicago Press
- Hayes, B.C. and Marangudakis, M (2001) "Religion and attitudes towards nature in Britain" BrJ *Social Comparative study* 2001 Mar; 52(1):139-55

- Hellas, Paul (2002, second edition 2005) "The spiritual Revolution: From 'Religion' to 'Spirtuality" in Woodhead, Linda. Fletcher, Paul. Kawanami, Hiroko. Smith, David Eds. *Religions in the Modern World*. London: Routledge
- Heelas, Paul and Woodhead, Linda (2005) *The Spiritual Revolution: Why Religion is giving way to spirituality.* Malden Mass.: Blackwell
- Heelas, Paul (2008) Spiritualities of life: new age Romanticism and consumptive capitalism Malden Mass.: Blackwell
- Heilbroner, Robert (2000, 1953) The Worldly Philosophers: The Lives, Times and Ideas of the Great Economic Thinkers. London: Penguin Books
- Heinberg, Richard (2010) *Peak Everything Waking up to the Century of Decline*. Gabriola island: New Society Publishers.
- Hejnol, Andreas (2017) "Ladders, Trees, complexity and other metaphors in evolutionary thinking" in Tsing, Anna. Swanson, Eline Gan, Budant, Nils. Eds *Art of Living in a Damaged Planet*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press
- Hempton, Gordon (2009) One Square Inch of Silence. New York: Free Press
- Dieter Hesse, Dieter and Radford Ruther, Rosemary (2000) *Christianity and ecology. For the well-being of earth and humans.* Cambridge mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Hoffman, Andrew *How culture shapes the climate change debates*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press
- Holloway, John (2002, 2005) Change the World without taking Power- The Meaning of Revolution Today. London: Pluto Press
- Holtorf, Cornelius (2017) "The Meaning of Time Travel", in *The Archaeology of Time Travel: Experiencing the Past in the 21st Century*, Eds. Petterson, Bodil and Holtorf, Cornelious. Oxford: Archaeopress Archaeology
- Hopkins, Rob (2008) *The Transition Handbook From Oil Dependency to Local Resilience Chelsea*. Dartington Totnes: Green Publishing Company
- Hornborg, Anne-Christine (2008) "Protecting the Earth? Rappaport's vision of Rituals as Environmental Practices". *Journal of Human Ecology*. 23(4):275-283
- Howker, Ed and Mailk, Shiv (2010) *Jilted generation How Britain has bankrupted its youth.* London: Icon Books
- Huan, Qingzhi Ed. (2010) *Eco-Socialism as Politics Rebuilding the Basics of our Modern Civilisation*. London: Springer
- Hubert, Jane (1994) "Sacred beliefs and beliefs of sacredness" in Carmichael et al 1994
- Huét, Marie-Hélène (2012) A Culture of Disasters. London: Chicago University Press
- Hulme, Mike (2009) Why we Disagree about Climate Change understanding controversy, interaction and opportunities. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Hulme, Mike (2013) Exploring Climate Change through Science and in Society An anthology of Mike Hulme's essays, interviews and speeches. New York: Routledge
- Hulme, Mike (2017) "Climate Change: varieties of Religious engagement" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. Abidington Oxon: Routledge,

- Huntington, Samuel P (1996) *The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World Order*. New York: Simon & Schuster
- Hynes, Kevin (2014) Haunted Dartmoor. The mill, Brimscombe: The history Press,
- Ingold, Tim (2000) *The Perception of the Environment Essays in Livelihood, Dwelling and Skill.* London: Routledge
- Jamison, Andrew and Eyerman, Ron (1995) *Seeds of the Sixties*, Berkeley: University of California Press
- Jamison, Andrew (2001) *The Making of Green knowledge Environmental Politics and Cultural Transformation*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Jenkins, Richard (2000) "Disenchantment, Enchantment and Re-enchantment: Max Weber and the Millenium" *Max Weber Studies* 1, 2000 11-32 p.
- Jenkins, Willis, Tucker, Mary Evelyn, and Grim, John Ed. (2017) *Routledge Handbook of Religion and Ecology*. Abingdon: Routledge,
- Jenkins, Willis (2017) "Whose Religion? Which Ecology? Religious studies in the environmental humanities" in *Routledge Handbook of Religion and Ecology*, Jenkins, Willis, Tucker, Mary Evelyn, and Grim, John Eds. Abingdon: Routledge
- Jensen, Derrick (2006) *Endgame the Problem of Civilization*. New York: Seven Stories Press
- Johnson, Richard (2013) "Optimism of the intellect?: hegemony and hope" *Soundings: A Journal of Politics and Culture*, Issue 54, Summer 2013 pp. 51-65
- Johns, David (2019) The History of Rewilding. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Jones, Owain and Jones, Katherine (2017)" On narrative, affect and threatened ecologies of tidal landscapes" in Thorpe, Jocelyn, Rutherford, Stephanie, and Sandberg, Anders L. (Eds.) *Methodological Challenges in Nature-culture and Environmental Research*. Abingdon, Axon: Routledge
- Judt, Tony (2010) Postwar A History of Europe since 1945. London: Vintage Books
- Juniper, Tony (2013) What has nature ever done for us? how money really does grow on trees. London: Profile Books Ltd,
- Keck, Markus. Sakdapolrak, Patrick (2013) "What is Social Resilience? Lessons learned and ways forward" *Erkunde* Vol. 67 No. 1 . 5-19
- Kelley, Colin P. Mohtadi, Shahrzad. Cane, Mark A. Seager, Richard, and Kushnir, Yochanan. (2015) "Climate change in the Fertile Crescent and implication of the recent Syrian drought", PNAS - Proceedings of the National Academy of Science of the United States of America, March 17, 2015 112 (11) 3241-3246
- Kingsnorth, Paul (2008) *Real England The Battle Against the Bland*. London: Portobello Book
- Kingsnorth (2009) "Victims of Success: Green Politics Today" in Pugh, Jonathan ed., What is Radical Politics Today? Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan
- Kitson, Jennifer & McHugh Kevin (2015) "Historic enchantments materalizing nostalgia". *Cultural geographies* 2015, vol. 22(3) 487-508
- Klein, Naomi (2014) *This changes Everything Capitalism vs Climate.* London: Allen Lane,

- Knott, Kim (2005) "Spatial Theory and Method for the Study of Religion" *Temenos* Vol. 41, No.2 (2005), 153-184
- Knott, Kim (2008) "Spatial Theory and the Study of Religion" *Religion Compass* 2/6 (2008):1102-1116.
- Kvale, Steinar (2008) *Doing Interview*. Thousand Oaks, Calif.: Sage Publications
- Kolbert, Elizabeth (2014) *The Sixth Extinction: An Unnatural History*. London: Bloomsbury,
- Kumar, Satish (1992) *No Destination Autobiography of a Earth Pilgrim*. Totnes: Green Books
- Kumar, Satish Ed. (2006) The Green Imperative Celebrating Forty Years of Resurgence Magazine. Winchester: Resurgence Books, England
- Landy, Joshua and Saler, Michael Eds. (2009) *The Re-enchantment of the World Secular Magic in a Rational Age*. Stanford California: Stanford University Press
- Lange, Peter (1990) "Rural Society and Agricultural Change "in Chartres, John. Hey, David (1990) English Rural Society, 1500-1800 Essays in honor of Joan Thirsk. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Latour, Bruno (2017) Facing Gaia: Eight lectures on the new climate regime. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Lee, Raymond L.M. (2010) "Weber, Re-enchantment and Social Futures". *Time & Society*, Vol. 19No. 2 (2010), pp. 180-192
- Lindebaug, Peter (2014) *Stop, Thief! The Commons, Enclosures and Resistance*. Oakland: Spectre, PM press
- Linkater, Andro (2014) *Owning the Earth The Transforming History of Land Ownership*. London: Bloomsbury publishing
- Lovelock, James (2009) *The Vanishing Face of Gaia: A Final Warning*. London: Basic Books.
- Lovejoy, Thomas E. (2017) "Biodiversity: An inordinate fondness for living things" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. Abidington Oxon:

Routledge

- Lemart, Charles C. and Garth, Gillian (1982) *Michel Foucault Social History as Transgression*. New York: Colombia University Press
- Letcher, Andy (2002) "'Gaia Told me to Do it': Resistance and the Idea of Nature in contemporary British Eco-Paganism" *Ecotheology: Journal of Religion, Nature & the Environment.* Aug 2003, Vo. 8 Issue 1, p 61-84. 24p
- Letcher, Andy (2002) "' If You Go Down the Woods Today...': Spirituality and Eco-Protest Lifestyle. *Ecotheology: Journal of Religion, Nature &the Environment*. Jul 2002, Vol. 7 Issue 1, p81.7 p.
- Letcher, Andy (2004) "Raising the Dragon: Folklore and the Development of Contemporary British Eco-Paganism" *Pomegranate*. Nov 2004, Vol 6 Issue 2 p 175-198. 24p

- Light, Andrew and Rolston III, Holmes (2003) *Environmental Ethics An Anthology*. Oxford: Blackwell publishing
- Lévi-Strauss, Claude (1962) La Pensée sauvage. Paris: Plon
- Levitas, Ruth (2013) *Utopia as Method the imaginary reconstruction of society*. London: Palgrave Macmillan
- Kolbert, Elizabeth (2014) *The Sixth Extinction: An Unnatural History*. London: Bloomsbury,
- Lilley, Sasha (2012) "The Apocalyptic Politics of Collapse and Rebirth" in Pugh, Jonathan Ed., *What is Radical Politics Today?* Hampshire: Palgrave Macmillan
- Lincoln, Martha and Lincoln, Bruce (2015) "Toward a Critical Hauntology", in *Comparative studies in society and History*, Vol. 57, No. 1 (January 2015), pp. 191-220 (30 pages)
- Lovelock, James (2009) *The Vanishing Face of Gaia: A Final Warning*. New York: Basic Books, New York
- Longacre, R.E. (1996) The grammar of discourse. New York: Plenum Press
- Lynas, Mark (2008) Six Degrees Our future on a Hotter Planet. Washington: National Geographic
- Lynas, Mark (2011) *Gods Species–Saving the Planet in the Age of Humans*, Washington: Harper Collins Publishers Ltd.
- Macfarlane, Robert (2008) The Wild Places. London: Penguin books
- Macfarlane, Robert and Morris, Jackie (2018) The Lost words. London: Hamish Hamilton
- Macfarlane, Robert (2016) Landmarks. London: Hamish Hamilton
- Manes, Christopher (1990) *Green Rage Radical Environmentalism and the Unmaking of Civilization*. Boston: Little, Brown and Company
- Maitland, Sara (2009) A Book of Silence. London: Granta Books
- Marcuse, Herbert (1966) One dimensional man: studies in the ideology of advanced industrial society. Boston: Beacon Press,
- Marshall, George (2014) Don't even talk about it Why we are wired to ignore climate change. New York: Bloomsbury Books
- Martin, Brian (2007) "Activism, social and political", in Anderson, Gary L. and Herr, Kathryn G. (eds) *Encyclopedia of Activism and Social Justice*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage
- Mason, Paul (2013) Why it's still kicking of everywhere the new global revolution. London: Verso Books
- McAnany, Patricia A. Yoffee, Norman, Eds. (2010) *Questioning Collapse Human Resilience, Ecological Vulnerability and the Aftermath of Empire*. Cambridge; Cambridge University Press.
- McAnany, Patricia A. Yoffee, Norman (2010) "Why We Question Collapse and Study Human Resilience, Ecological Vulnerability, and the Aftermath of Empire", in McAnany, Patricia A. Yoffee

- McKown, Delos B. (1975) *The Classical Marxist Critiques of Religion: Marx, Engels, Lenin, Kautsky.* Hauge: Martinus Nijhoff
- McKibben, Bill (1990) The End of Nature. New York: Anchor Books
- McKibben, Bill (2010) *Eaarth: Making life on a tough new planet*. New York: Times Books.
- McClutheon, Russell (1997) Manufacturing Religion The source on Sui Generis Religion and Politics of Nostalgia. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- McPhee, John (1981) Basin and Range. Edinburgh: Scottish Academic Press Ltd.
- Melucci, Alberto (1998) Nomads of the Present: Social Movement and the individual need in contemporary society. London: Raduis
- Menzines, Heather (2014) Reclaiming the commons for the common good. A memoir and manifesto. Gabriola BC: New Society publisher
- Merchant, Carolyn (1980) Death of Nature. San Francisco: Harper& Row
- Merchant Carolyn (2013) Reinventing Eden: the fate of nature in Western culture. New York: Routledge
- Merchant, Carolyn (2020) The Anthropocene and the Humanities: from Climate change to a new age of sustainability. New Haven: Yale University Press
- Michaels, Debra (2002) "From 'Consciousness Expansion' to 'Consciousness Raising' Feminism and the Countercultural Politics of the Self', in Braunstein, Peter and Doyle,
- Michael William. Eds, (2002) *Imagine Nation The American Counterculture of the* 1960s &70s. London: Routledge
- Monbiot, George (2013) Feral: Searching for Enchantment on the Frontiers of Rewilding.
- Allen Lane: Penguin group (The book has also been published as *Feral: rewilding the land, sea and human life*, paperback and American editions, Monbiot, George 2013 *Feral Rewilding the land, Sea and Human Life*, London: Penguin Books)
- Morton, Timothy (2016) *Dark ecology: for a logic of future coexistence*. New York: Columbia University Press
- Morton, Timothy (2018) *Being ecological*. London: Pelican (Penguin Books)
- Mulvey, Kathy. Shulman, Seth (2015) *The Climate Deception Dossiers: International Fossil Fuel Industry Memos reveal Decades of Corporate Disinformation*, Report from The Union of Concerned Scientists Science for a healthy planet and a Safer World. Published 29 June 2015
- Nash, Linda (2013) "Furthering the Environmental Turn" in *The Journal of American History*, June 2013:135
- Neiman, Susan (2004) Evil in Modern Thought: An Alternative History of Philosophy. Princeton: Princeton Univ. Press.
- Nelson, Michael P. (2003) "An Algamation of Wilderness Preservation Arguments" Light, Andrew and Rolston III, Holmes (2003) *Environmental Ethics An Anthology*. Oxford: Blackwell publishing
- Næss, Arne (1973) "The Shallow and the Deep, Long Range Ecology Movements, A Summary", originally published in *Inquiry* (Oslo) 16, 1973

- Nightingale, Andrea (2009) "Broken Knowledge" in Landy and Saler *The Re-enchantment of the World Secular Magic in a Rational Age*. Stanford California: Stanford University Press
- Nixon, Rob (2011) *Slow Violence* and *the Environmentalism of the Poor*. London: Harvard University Press
- Noss, Reed F. (2003) "Wilderness Now More Than Ever: A response to Callicott" in Light, Andrew and Rolston III, Holmes (2003) *Environmental Ethics An Anthology*. Oxford: Blackwell publishing
- Nussbaum, Martha (2016) *Anger and forgiveness: resentment, generosity, justice.* New York: Oxford University Press
- Olsson, Tord. 1983. "The Apocalyptic Activity. The Case of Jamasp Namag." In D.Hellbom ed., *Apocalypticism in the Mediterranean World and the Near East*, pp. 21-51. Tübingen: J. C. B. Mohr (Paul Siebeck).
- Ong, Walter J (1971) *Rhetoric, Romance, and Technology: Studies in the Interaction of* Expression and Culture. Ithaca: Cornell University Press
- Oreskes, Naomi, and Conway, Erik M. (2011) *Merchants of Doubts How a handful of scientists obscured the truth in issues from tobacco smoke to global warming*. London: Bloomsbury publishing
- Oreskes, Naomi, and Conway Erik M. (2014) *The collapse of Western civilization: a view from the future*. New York: Colombia University Press
- Papworth, S.K. Rist, J. And Milner-Gulland, E.J (2009) "Evidence for shifting baseline syndrome in conservation" in *Conservation Letters* 2 (2009) 93–100
- Parenti, Christian (2011) *Tropic of Chaos Change and the New Geography of Violence*. New York: Nation Books
- Parker Pearsson, Michael (2005) Bronze Age Britain. New York: BT Batesford
- Partridge, Christopher (2005) Re-enchantment in the West: Understanding Popular Culture, Vol I. London: T&T Clark International
- Partridge, Christopher (2006) Re-enchantment in the West: Alternative Spiritualities, Sacralization, Popular Culture and Occulture. Vol II, London: T&T Clark
- Pedelty, Mark (2012) *Ecomusicology Rock, Folk and the Environment*. Philadelphia: Temple University,
- Pepper, David (1993) From Deep Ecology to Social Justice. London: Routledge
- Phillips, Nelson and Hardy, Cynthia (2002) *Discourse Analysis Investigating* Processes of *Social Constructing*. Thousand Oaks California: Sage
- Pike, Kenneth L. (1967) Language in Relations to a Unified Theory of Human Behavior. Hauge: Mouton &Co
- Pierce Cofter, Carol J. et al. (2005) "Understanding Forest people links" in Michael M. Cernea, Amir H. Eds. (2005) *Researching the Culture in Agri-culture: Social research for international.* Washington: George Washington University
- Pike, Sarah M. (2017) For the Wild Ritual and Commitment in Radical Eco-Activism. Oakland California: University of California Press,

- Plotkin, Bill (2003) Soulcraft Crossing into the Mysteries of Nature and Psyche. Novato California: New World Library
- Plotkin Bill (2013) *Wild mind: A Field Guide to the Human Psyche*. Novato California: New World Library
- Plumwood, Val (1996, 2014) "Being Prey" in Bohannon (2014) Bohannon, Richard ed. (2014) *Religions and Environments A Reader in Religion, Nature and Ecology.* New York: Bloomsbury
- Pole, Robert (2009) Earthrise: How Man First Saw the Earth. New Haven: Yale University Press
- Porritt, Jonathon (1984) Seeing Green. Oxford: Blackwell
- Portwood-Stacer, Laura (2013) *The Practice of Everyday Politics: Lifestyle and Identity as radical Activism.* New York: Bloomsbury
- Pyyry, Nora and Aiava, Raine (2020) "Enchantment of fundamental encounter: wonder and the radical reordering of the subject/world", *Cultural Geographies* 1-15
- Pugh, Jonathan Ed. (2009) What is Radical Politics Today? Hampshire, Palgrave Macmillan
- Radkau, Joachim (2008) Nature and Power A Global History of the Environment Movement. New York: Cambridge University Press
- Radkau, Joachim (2014) The Age of Ecology A Global History. Cambridge: Polity Press
- Ralley, Robert (2010) Magic A Beginners Guide. Oxford: One World
- Ray, Paul and Anderson, Sherry (2000) *The Culture Creatives: How 50 million people are changing the world.* New York: Three Rivers Press 2000
- Reinert, Al "The Blue Marble Shot: Our First Complete Photograph of Earth" *The Atlantic*, April 12, 2011.
- Rees, Martin (2004) Our Final Century. London: Arrow
- William J. Ripple, Christopher Wolf, et al (2017) "World Scientists' Warning to Humanity: A Second Notice" *BioScience*, Volume 67, Issue 12, December 2017, Pages 1026–1028,
- Rockström, Johan et al, (2009) "A Safe Operating Space of Humanity" *Nature* Vol. 461, 24 September 2009
- Roskos, Nicole (2005) "Catedral Forests and the falling of Sacred grows" in *Encyclopedia of religion and Nature*, Ed Bron Taylor
- Riis, Ole and Woodhead, Linda (2010) *A sociology of Religious Emotions*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Rome, Adam Ward (2001) *The Bulldozer in the countryside: suburban sprawl and the rise of American Environmentalism.* New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Rossinow, Doug (2002) "The Revolution is about Our Lives The new Left's Counterculture" in Braunstein, Peter and Doyle, Michael William. Eds, (2002) Imagine Nation – The American Counterculture of the 1960s &70s. London: Routledge
- Roszak, Theodore (1969) *The Making of a Counter Culture*; reflection on the technocratic society and its youthful opposition. Berkeley: the University of California Press

- Rothenberg, David (1995)" Have a Friend for Lunch: Norwegain Radical Ecology versus Tradition", in Taylor, Bron R. ed. *Ecological Resistance Movements The global Emergence of Radical and Popular Environmentalism*. Albany: State University of New York Press,
- Rowell, Andrew (1996) *Green Backlash Global subversion of the environmental movement.* London: Routledge
- Rüding, Wolfgang (1995) "Between Moderation and Marginalization: Environmentalism in Britain", in Taylor, Bron R. ed. *Ecological Resistance Movements The global Emergence of Radical and Popular Environmentalism*. Albany: State University of New York Press
- Sargisson, Lucy (2012) *Fool's Gold: Utopianism for the Twenty-first Century*. Basingstoke: Palgrave Macmillian
- Sassen, Saskia (2014) *Expulsion: Brutality and complexity in the global economy*. Cambridge: The Belknap Press of Harvard University
- Saunders, Peter (1981, second ed. 1986) *Social Theory and the Urban Question*. London: Routledge
- Saunders, Robert A. (2012) "Pagan Places: Towards a religiogeography of neopaganism". *Progress in Human Geography*, 37(6) 786-810
- Schatzki, Theodore (1996) Social Practices: A Wittgensteinian Approach to Human Activity and the Social. Cambridge. Cambridge University Press
- Schatzki, Theodore (2002) The Site of the Social. Pennsylvania: State University Press
- Schumacher, Ernst Fredrich (1973) Small is beautiful. London: Blond and Briggs
- Scoville, Judith N. (1996) "Valuing the Land: Ecological Theology in the Context of Agriculture" in Gottleib, Roger Ed. *This Sacred Earth Religion, Nature, Environment*. London: Routledge
- Scranton, Roy (2018) We're doomed. now what?: essays on war and climate change. New York: Soho Press
- Scranton, Roy (2015) Learning to die in the Anthropocene: Reflections on the end of a civilization. San Francisco: City Light Books
- Sennet, Richard (2009) The Craftsman. London: Penguin
- Sennet, Richard (2013) *Together: The Rituals, Pleasures and Politics of Cooperation*. London: Penguin Books
- Sessions, George Ed. (1995) *Deep Ecology for the 21st century Readings on the philosophy and practice of the New Environmentalism*. London: Shambala
- Shaw, Martin (2014) *Snowy Tower: Parzival and the Wet, Black Branch of Language*. Ashland Oregon: White Cloud Press
- Shaw, Sylvie (2004) "At the Water's Edge: An Ecologically Inspired Methodology" in *Researching Paganism* (2004) Blain, Jenny. Ezzy, Douglas. and Harvey, Graham. Walnut Creek: Altamira Press,
- Shoard, Marion (1980) The Theft of the Countryside. London: Temple Smith.
- Selby, Jan and Hulme, Mike (2015) "Is climate change really to blame for Syria's civil war?" *The Guardian*, Sunday 29 November 2015

- Shaikh, Nermeen (2007) *The Present as History: Critical Perspectives on Global Power*. New York: Columbia University Press
- Simmons, Ian G. (2001) An Environmental History of Great Britain From 10.000 Years Ago to the Present. Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press
- Singer, Peter (2000, 1975) Animal liberation. New York: Harper Collins Publishers
- Smith, Jonathan Z. (1982) *Imagine Religion: From Babylon to Jonestown*. Chicago: Chicago University Press
- Smith, Jonathan Z (1993) *Map is not Territory: Studies in the History of Religions*. Chicago: Chicago University Press
- Smith, Mark J. (2012). "Practical utopianism and ecological citizenship: new struggles for 'the political'." In: Campagna, Federico ed. *What are we struggling for?* London: Pluto Press (In Press).
- Soper Kate (2011) "Passing Glories and Romantic Retrievals: Avant-garde Nostalgia and Hedonist Renewal" in Goodbody, Axel. Rigby, Kate Eds. (2011) *Ecocritical Theory:* New European Approaches (Under the Sign of Nature.) Charlottesville: University of Virginia Press
- Strong, Roy (2012) *Visions of England Or Why We Still Dream of a Place in the Country*. London: Vintage Books
- Svirsky, Marcelo (2010) "Defining Activism", *Deleuze Studies* Volume 4: 2010 supplement: 163-182
- Taylor, Bron (1991) "The Religion and Politics of Earth First!" *The Ecologist*, 21 (6), pp. 258-266
- Taylor, Bron R. Ed. (1995) Ecological Resistance Movements The global Emergence of Radical and Popular Environmentalism. Albany: State University of New York Press
- Taylor Bron. And Kaplan Jeffrey. Eds. (2005) *Encyclopedia of religion and Nature*. London: Thoemmes Continuum
- Taylor, Bron (2010) *Dark Green Religion Nature Spirituality and the Planetary Future*. Berkley: University of California Press
- Taylor, Bron (2016) "The Greening of Religion Hypothesis (Part One): From Lynn White, Jr and Claims That Religions Can Promote Environmentally Destructive Attitudes and Behaviors to Assertions They Are Becoming Environmentally Friendly" *Journal of the Study of Religion and Culture* 10.3 (2016) 268-305
- Thirsk, Joan (2003) The Rural Economy of England. London: The Hambledon Press
- Thirsk, Joan (1997) *Alternative Agriculture A History from Black Death to Present Day*. Oxford: Oxford University Press
- Thorpe, Jocelyn. Rutherford, Stephanie. Sandberg, L. Anders. (2017) *Methodological Challenges in Nature-Culture and Environmental Research*. London: Routledge
- Toynbee, Arnold (1972) "The Religious Background of the Present Environmental Crisis" *International Journal of Environmental Studies*, 3 141-146,
- Trulsson, Åsa (2010) Cultivating the Sacred Ritual Creativity and Practice among Women in Contemporary Europe. Lund: Lund University

- Tsing, Anna. Swanson, Eline Gan, Budant, Nils. Eds (2017) *Art of Living in a Damaged Planet*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press
- Tucker, Mary Evelyn. Grim, John (2017) "The Movement of Religion and Ecology: Emerging field and dynamic force" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. New York; NY: Routledge,
- New York, NY: Turner, Alwyn W. (2013) Rejoice Rejoice Britain in the 1980s. London:
- van Wieren, Gretel (2017) "Conservation and Restoration" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology. New York, NY: Routledge,
- Upton, Charles (2004) Legends of the End Prophecies oof the End Times, Antichrist, Apocalypse, and Messiah from Eight Religious Traditions. Hillsdale Ny: Sophia Perennis
- Waldau, Paul (2017) "Animals" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. New York, NY: Routledge,
- Wallerstein, Immanuel (1999) "Ecology and the Capitalist Costs of Production No Exit" in *The end of the World as we Know it Social Science for the Twenty-first Century*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press,
- Wake, David B and Vredenburg, Vance T. (2008) "Are we in the midst of the sixth mass extinction? A view from the world of the amphibians", *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. August 12, vol. 15 suppl.1
- Weber, Max (1965) The Sociology of Religion. London: Methuen & Co Ltd
- Weltzer, Harald (2012) *Climate Wars What people will be killed for in the 21th century*. Cambridge: Polity Press
- Wientrobe, Sally (2014) Engaging with Climate Change. Abingdon; Oxon: Bloomsbury
- Weintrobe, Sally (2021) Psychological Roots of the Climate Crisis. Neoliberal Exceptionalism and the Culture of Uncare. New York: Bloomsbury
- Wilson, Edward O. (1984) *Biofilia The human bound with other Species*. Cambridge Mass.: Harvard University Press
- Wilson, Edward O. (2016) *Half Earth Our Planet Fights for Life*. New York: Liveright Publishing Corporation
- Wilson, Edward O (1998) "Is Humanity Suicidal? if Homo sapiens goes away of the dinosaur, we have only ourselves to blame", *Resurgence*, January/ February No. 186, 1998
- White, Lynn Jr (1967) "The Historical Roots of Our Ecological Crisis", *Science* 155: 1203-1207.
- Whitney, Elspeth (2006) "Christianity and Changing Concept of Nature: An Historical Perspective", in Lodge and Hamlin (2006) Religion and the new ecology: environmental responsibility in a world in flux. Notre Dame: University of Notre Dame Press
- Wohlleben, Peter (2016) 'The Hidden Life of Trees: What They Feel, How They Communicate. Vancouver/ Berley: Greystone books,
- Wohlleben, Peter (2021) *The Heartbeats of trees Embracing Our Ancient bound with Forests and Nature.* Vancouver/Berkley: Greystone books.

- Worster, Donald (1998) *Nature's Economy A History of Ecological Ideas*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Worster, Donald (2017) "History" in Jenkins, Tucker and Grim Eds. *Routledge Handbook of religion and Ecology*. New York; NY: Routledge,
- Zerzan, John (2002) Running on Emptiness: The Pathology of Civilization. London: Feral House
- Zwissler, Laurel (2007) "Spiritual, but religious 'Spirituality' among religiously motivated feminist activists", Culture and Religion, vol. 8, no. 1 March 2007
- Young, Rob (2010) Electric Eden Unearting Britain's Visionary Music. London: Faber and Faber
- Zunes, Stephen. Kurtz, Lester R. and Asher, Sarah Beth (1999) *Nonviolent Social Movements A Geographical Perspective*. Oxford: Blackwell Publishers